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Date Receded Renewal Certification 
Number 

ORIGINAL CRS 
Case Number 

02 "1828 - GA-CRS 

RENEWAL CERTIFICATION APPLICATION 
COMPETITIVE RETAIL NATURAL GAS SUPPLIERS 

Please type or print all required information. Identify all attachments with an exhibit label and title {Example: Exhibit 
A-16 - Company History). All attachments should bear the legal name ofthe Applicant. Applicants should file completed 
applications and all related correspondence with the Public Utilities Commission of Ohio, Docketing Division, 13*** Floor, 
180 East Broad Street, Columbus, Ohio 43215-3793. 

This PDF form is designed so that you may directly input Information onto the form. You may also download the form by 
saving It to your local disk. 

A-1 Applicant intends to renew its certificate as: (check all that apply) 

Q Retail Natural Gas Aggregator D Retail Natural Gas Broker IZl Retail Natural Gas Marketer 

A-2 Applicant information: 

Commerce Energy, Inc. d/b/a/ Commerce Energy of Ohio, Inc. 

600 Anton Blvd., Suite 2000, Costa Mesa. CA 92626 
Legal Name 

Address 

800-962-4655 Telephone No. 

Current PUCO Certificate No. 02-023 (2) 
Effective Dates 

Web site Address www.commerceenergy.com 

September 17, 2004 - September 17,2006 

A-3 Applicant information under which applicant will do business in Ohio: 

Name Commerce Energy of Ohio, Inc. 

Address Grosswoods Center, #250 100 East Campus Blvd, Columbus. OH 43235 

Web site Address www.commerceenergy.com Telephone No. 877-226-5371 

A-4 List all names under which the applicant does business in North America: 

Commerce Energy Group 

Commerce Energy. Inc. 

A-5 Contact person for regulatory or emergency matters: 

Name Inger Goodman Title Midwest Market Specialist 

Business Address 600 Anton Blvd., Suite 600, Costa Mesa CA 92626 
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Telephone No. 714-259-2508 Fax No. 714481-6589 Email Address igoodman@commerceenergy.coi 
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A-6 Contact person for Commission Staff use in investigating customer complaints: 

Name fnger Goodman Title Midwest Market Specialist 

Business address ^^° ^"*°" ^ '^• ' ^"'^^ ^ ° ' ^ ^ ^^^^ ^ ^ ^^626 

Telephone No. 714-259-2508 p ^ ^ ^ 714-481-6589 Email Address i9oodman@commerceener9y-C 

A-7 Applicants address and toll-free number for customer service and complaints 

Customer service address ^^0 Anton Blvd., Suite 600. Costa Mesa CA 92626 

Toil-Free Telephone No. 877-226-5371 ^ ^ ^ ^ 877-332-1067 Email Address contactus@commerceenerg 

A-8 Provide "Proof of an Ohio Office and Employee," in accordance with Section 4929.22 ofthe Ohio 
Revised Code, by listing name, Ohio office address, telephone number, and Web site address of the 
designated Ohio Employee 

Name ^®" Timmenrnan Tjtjg Legal Assistant 

Business address Grosswoods Centre, #250, 100 E. Campus Blvd. Columbus, OH 43235 

Telephone No. 877-226-5371 Fax No. 877 -332 -1067 Email Address btimmermanfl conimerceenergy.com 

A-9 Applicant's federal employer identification number 33-0769555 

A-10 Applicant's form of ownership: (Check one) 

I I Sole Proprietorship d l Partnership 

L J Limited Liability Partnership (LLP) d l Limited Liability Company (LLC) 

13 Corporation d l Other 

A-11 (Check all that apply) Identify each natural gas company service area in which the applicant is 
currently providing service or Intends to provide service, including identification of each customer 
class that the applicant is currently serving or intends to serve, for example: residential^ small 
commercial, and/or large commercial/industrial (mercantile) customers, (A mercantile customer, as defined 
in Section 4929.01 (L)( I) ofthe Ohio Revised Code, means a customer that consumes, other than for residential use, more 
than 500,000 cubic feet of natural gas per year at a single location within the state or consumes natural gas, other than for 
residential use, as part of an undertaking having more than three locations within or outside of this state. In accordance with 
Section 4929.01(L)(2) ofthe Ohio Revised Code, "Mercantile customer" excludes a not-for-profit customer that consumes, 
other than for residential use, more than 500,000 cubic feet of natural gas per year at a single location within this state or 
consumes natural gas, other than for residential use, as part of an undertaking having more than three locations within or 
outside this state that has filed the necessary declaration with the Public Utilities Commission.) 
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Cinciniiati Gas & Electric 

Columbia Gas of Ohio 

Dominion East Oliio 

Vectren Energy Delivery of Ohio 

/ 

/ 

Residential 

Residential / 

Residential / 

^ Residential / 

Small Commercial 

Small Commercial 

SmaU Commercial 

SmaU Commercial 

/ 

/ 

/ 

Large Commercial / Indostrial 

Large Commercial / Industrial 

Large Commercial / Indastrial 

Large Commercial / Industrial 

A-12 If applicant or an affiliated interest previously participated in any of Ohio's Natural Gas Choice 
Programs, for each service area and customer class, provide approximate start date(s) and/or end 
date(s) that the applicant began delivering and/or ended services. 

I I Cincinnati Gas & Electric 

I Residentiai Beginning Date of Service 

Small Commercial Beginning Date of Service 

Large Commercial Beginning Date of Service 

Industrial Beginning Date of Service 

End Date 

End Date 

End Date 

End Date 

[/jColumbia Gas of Ohio 

I / [Residential Beginnmg Date of Service 7/20/05 

/ Small Commercial Beginning Date of Service 7/20/05 

Large Commercial Beginning Date of Service 7/20/05 

Industrial Beginning Date of Service 7/20/05 

LLlDominion East Ohio 

I / I Residential Beginning Date of Service 7/20/05 

0 

Small Commercial Beginning Date of Service 7/20/05 

Large Commercial Beginning Date of Service 7/20/05 

Industrial Beginning Date of Service 7/20/05 

End Date 

End Date 

End Date 

End Date 

End Date 

End Date 

End Date 

End Date 

I I Vectren Energy Delivery of Ohio 

Residential Beginning Date of Service 

Small Commercial Beginning Date of Service 

Large Commercial Beginning Date of Service 

Industrial Beginning Date of Service 

End Date 

End Date 

End Date 

End Date 

A-13 If not currently participating in any of Ohio's four Natural Gas Choice Programs, provide the 
approximate start date that the applicant proposes to begin delivering services: 
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I I Cincinnati Gas & Electric Intended Start Date 

I I Columbia Gas of Ohio Intended Start Date 

Dominion East Ohio Intended Start Date 

Vectren Energy Delivery of Ohio Intended Start Date March 2009 / 

PROVIDE THE FOLLOWING AS SEPARATE ATTACHMENTS AND LABEL AS INDICATED. 

A-14 Exhibit A-14 "Principal Officers, Directors & Partners," provide the names, titles, addresses and 
telephone numbers ofthe applicant's principal officers, directors, partners, or other similar officials. 

A-15 Exhibit A-15 "Corporate Structure," provide a description of the applicant's corporate structure, 
including a graphical depiction of such structure, and a list of all affiliate and subsidiary companies that 
supply retail or wholesale natural gas or electricity to customers in North America. 

A-16 Exhibit A-16 "Company Historv." provide a concise description ofthe applicant's company history 
and principal business interests. 

A-17 Exhibit A-17 "Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws, provide the articles of incorporation 
filed with the state or jurisdiction in which the applicant is incorporated and any amendments 
thereto, only if the contents ofthe originally filed documents changed since the initial application, 

A-18 Exhibit A-18 "Secretary of State," provide evidence that the applicant is still currently registered with 
the Ohio Secretary ofthe State. 

SECTION B - APPLICANT M A N A G E R I A L CAPABILITY AND E X P E R I E N C E 

PROVIDE THE FOLLOWING AS SEPARATE ATTACHMENTS AND LABEL AS INDICATED 

B-1 Exhibit B-1 "Jurisdictions of Operation," provide a current list of all jurisdictions in which the 
applicant or any affiliated interest of the applicant is, at the date of filing the application, certified, 
licensed, registered, or otherwise authorized to provide retail natural gas service, or retail/wholesale 
electric services. 

B-2 Exhibit B-2 "Experience & Plans." provide a current description of the applicant's experience and 
plan for contracting with customers, providing contracted services, providing billing statements, and 
responding to customer inquiries and complaints in accordance with Commission rules adopted pursuant 
to Section 4929.22 ofthe Revised Code and contained in Chapter 4901:1-29 ofthe Ohio Administrative 
Code. 

B-3 Exhibit B-3 "Summary of Experience." provide a concise and current summary ofthe applicant's 
experience in providing the service(s) for which it is seeking renewed certification (e.g., number and 
types of customers served, utility service areas, volume of gas supplied, etc.). 

B-4 Exhibit B-4 "Disclosure of Liabilities and Investigations," provide a description of all existing, 
pending or past rulings, judgments, contingent liabilities, revocations of authority, regulatory 
investigations, or any other matter that could adversely impact the applicant's financial or operational 
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status or ability to provide the services for which it is seeking renewed certification since applicant last 
filed for certification. 

B-5 Exhibit B-5 "Disclosure of Consumer Protection Violations," disclose whether the applicant, 
affiliate, predecessor ofthe applicant, or any principal officer ofthe applicant has been convicted or held 
liable for fraud or for violation of any consumer protection or antitrust laws since applicant last filed for 
certification. 

0 No DYes 

If Yes, provide a separate attachment labeled as Exhibit B-5 "Disclosure of Consumer Protection 
Violations," detailing such yiolation(s) and providing all relevant documents. 

B-6 Exhibit B-6 "Disclosure of Certification Denial, Curtailment, Suspension, or Revocation," disclose 
whether the applicant or a predecessor of the applicant has had any certification, license, or application 
to provide retail natural gas or retail/wholesale electric service denied, curtailed, suspended, or revoked, 
or whether the applicant or predecessor has been terminated from any of Ohio's Natural Gas Choice 
programs, or been in default for failure to deliver natural gas since applicant last filed for certification. 

IZl No DYes 

If Yes, provide a separate attachment, labeled as Exhibit B-6 "Disclosure of Certification Denial, 
Curtailment, Suspension, or Revocation," detailing such action(s) and providing aU relevant documents. 

S E C T I O N C - APPLICANT FINANCIAL C A P A B I H T Y AND E X P E R I E N C E 

PROVIDE THE FOLLOWING AS SEPARATE ATTACHMENTS AND LABEL AS INDICATED 

C-1 Exhibit C-1 "Annual Reports," provide the two most recent Annual Reports to Shareholders. If 
applicant does not have annual reports, the applicant should provide similar information, labeled as 
Exhibit C-1, or indicate that Exhibit C-1 is not applicable and why. 

C-2 Exhibit C-2 "SEC Filings," provide the most recent 10-K/8-K Filings with the SEC. If applicant does 
not have such filings, it may submit those of its parent company. If the applicant does not have such 
filings, then the applicant may indicate in Exhibit C-2 whether the applicant is not required to file with 
the SEC and why. 

C-3 Exhibit C-3 "Financial Statements." provide copies of the applicant's two most recent years of 
audited financial statements (balance sheet, income statement, and cash flow statement). If audited 
financial statements are not available, provide officer-certified financial statements. If the applicant has 
not been in business long enough to satisfy this requirement, it shall file audited or officer-certified 
financial statements covering the life ofthe business. 

C-4 Exhibit C-4 "Financial Arrangements," provide copies of the applicant's current financial 
arrangements to conduct competitive retail natural gas service (CRNGS) as a business activity (e.g., 
guarantees, bank commitments, contractual arrangements, credit agreements, etc.) 

C-5 Exhibit C-5 "Forecasted Financial Statements," provide two years of forecasted financial statements 
(balance sheet, income statement, and cash flow statement) for the applicant's CRNGS operation, along 
with a list of assumptions, and the name, address, email address, and telephone number ofthe preparer. 
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C-6 Exhibit C-6 "Credit Rating," provide a statement disclosing the applicant's current credit rating as 
reported by two of the following organizations: Duff & Phelps, Dun and Bradstreet Information 
Services, Fitch IBCA, Moody's Investors Service, Standard & Poors, or a similar organization. In 
instances where an applicant does not have its own credit ratings, it may substitute the credit ratings of a 
parent or affiliate organization, provided the applicant submits a statement signed by a principal officer 
ofthe applicant's parent or affiliate organization that guarantees the obligations ofthe applicant. 

C-7 Exhibit C-7 "Credit Report," provide a copy ofthe applicant's current credit report from Experion, 
Dun and Bradstreet, or a similar organization. 

C-8 Exhibit C-8 "Bankruptcy Information." provide a list and description of any reorganizations, 
protection from creditors, or any other form of bankruptcy filings made by the applicant, a parent or 
affiliate organization that guarantees the obligations ofthe applicant or any officer ofthe applicant in the 
current year or since applicant last filed for certification. 

C-9 Exhibit C-9 "Merger Information," provide a statement describing any dissolution or merger or 
acquisition ofthe applicant since applicant last filed for certification. 

SECTION D-APPLICANT TECHNICAL C A P A B I U T Y 

PROVIDE THE FOLLOWING AS SEPARATE ATTACHMENTS AND LABEL AS INDICATED. 

D-1 Exhibit D-1 "Operations," provide a current written description of the operational nature of the 
applicant's business. Please include whether the applicant's operations will include the contracting of 
natural gas purchases for retail sales, the nomination and scheduling of retail natural gas for delivery, 
and the provision of retail ancillary services, as well as other services used to supply natural gas to the 
natural gas company city gate for retail customers. 

D-2 Exhibit D-2 "Operations Expertise," given the operational nature ofthe applicant's business, provide 
evidence ofthe applicant's current experience and technical expertise in performing such operations. 

D-3 Exhibit D-3 "Key Technical Personnel," provide the names, titles, email addresses, telephone 
numbers, and background of key personnel involved in the operational aspects ofthe applicant's current 
business. 

Applicant Signature and Title Greg Craig Chief Executive Officer 

Sworn and subscribed before me this ^̂ ^ day of August Month 2008 Year 

Carol Smart, Notary Public 

Signature of official administering oath Print Name and Title 

My commission expires on 
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ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

State of California 
County of (U n ^ J i 

On .̂C-MO/- S', gcoZ wore me, J c u ^ A . j M " 
U însert name and title ofthe offi( (insert name and title ofthe officer) 

personally appeared _ 
who proved to me on the bisfs of §4tisfa:6tory evidence to be ̂ ^ person(s) whose name(s) is/are 
subscribed to the within instrument and acknowledged to me that he/she/they executed the same in 
his/her/their authorized capacity(ies), and that by his/her/their signature(s) on the instrument the 
person(s), or the entity upon behalf of which the person(s) acted, executed the instrument. 

I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing 
paragraph is true and correct. 

A « i * * r i ^ M k 
WITNESS my hand and official seal. 

i 
Signature / ( ^ J i ^ < ^ ^ (Seal) ' ^ ' ' • - T T i T l i . t t 

/^l.U^cJk. ô  AazW yt^e^c^ - /V^ ^ - ^ ^ . 



The PubUc Utilities Commission of Ohio 
Competitive Retail Natural Gas Service 

Amdavit Form 
(Version 9.05) 

In the Matter ofthe Application of 

Commerce Energy, Inc. d/b/a Commerce Energy of Ohio, Inc. 

for a Certificate or Renewal Certificate to Provide 

Competitive Retail Natural Gas Service in Ohio. 

County of Orange 
State of California 

CaseNo. 02 _ 1828 GA-CRS 

I Greg Craig [Affiant], being duly swom/afFirmed, hereby states that: 

(1) The information provided within the certification or certification renewal application and supporting information is 
complete, true, and accurate to the best knowledge of affiant. 

(2) The applicant will timely file an annual report of its intrastate gross receipts and sales of hundred cubic feet of 
natural gas pursuant to Sections 4905.10(A), 4911.18(A), and 4929.23(B), Ohio Revised Code. 

(3) The applicant will timely pay any assessment made pursuant to Section 4905.10 or Section 4911.18(A), Ohio 
Revised Code. 

(4) Applicant will comply with all applicable rules and orders adopted by the Public Utilities Commission of Ohio 
pursuant to Title 49, Ohio Revised Code. 

(5) Applicant will cooperate with the Public Utilities Commission of Ohio and its staff in the investigation of any 
consumer complaint regarding any service offered or provided by the applicant. 

(6) Applicant will comply with Section 4929.21, Ohio Revised Code, regarding consent to the jurisdiction of the Ohio 
courts and the service of process. 

(7) Applicant will inform the Public Utilities Commission of Ohio of any material change to the information supplied in 
the certification or certification renewal application within 30 days of such material change, including any clange in 
contact person for regulatoiy or emergency purposes or contact person for Staff use in investigating customer 
complaints. 

(8) Affiant ilirther sayeth naught 

Affiant Signature & 

Sworn and subscribed before me this 8th day of August Month 

Chief Executive Officer 

2008 Year 

Signature of Official Administering Oath 

/(j£JL^ (y\..yt7^C^^^^. My commission expires on 

Carol Smart, Notary Public 

Print Name and Title 
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Commerce Energy, Inc. dba 
Commerce Energy of Ohio, Inc. 
Case No. 02-1828-GA-CRS 

EXHIBIT A-14 
PRINCIPAL OFFICERS, DIRECTORS and PARTNERS 

OFFICERS 

Gregory L. Craig, Cliief Executive Officer 
600 Anton Blvd., Suite 2000 
Costa Mesa, CA 92626 
Phone:714-481-6602 
E-mail: gcraig@commerceenergy.com 

Michael Fallquist, Chief Operating Officer 
600 Anton Blvd., Suite 2000 
Costa Mesa, CA 92626 
Phone: 714-481-6605 
E-mail: mfallquist@commerceenergy.com 

C. Douglas Mitchell, Chief Financial Officer 
600 Anton Blvd., Suite 2000 
Costa Mesa, CA 92626 
Phone: 714-481-6601 
E-mail: dmitchell@commerceenergy.com 

David Yi, Chief Risk Officer 
600 Anton Blvd., Suite 2000 
Costa Mesa, CA 92626 
Phone: 714-481-6650 
E-mail: dyi@commerceenergy.com 

John Bomgardner, Senior Vice President and General Coimsel 
600 Anton Blvd., Suite 2000 
Costa Mesa, CA 92626 
Phone:714-481-6604 
E-mail: jbomgardner@commerceenergy.com 

..-ring a^:^ ^ ^ 

^ 4a i& €© ^'•'^^l^^ste ^«^^-'^*^^ntr courao o£ ^^^ 

igs««®»* * _ _ _ _ — 

mailto:gcraig@commerceenergy.com
mailto:mfallquist@commerceenergy.com
mailto:dmitchell@commerceenergy.com
mailto:dyi@commerceenergy.com
mailto:jbomgardner@commerceenergy.com


Commerce Energy, Inc. dba 
Commerce Energy of Ohio, Inc. 
Case No. 02-1828-GA-CRS 

EXfflBITA-14 
PRINCIPAL OFFICERS, DIRECTORS and PARTNERS 

(continued) 

DIRECTORS 

Gregory L. Craig, Chairman 
600 Anton Blvd., Suite 2000 
Costa Mesa, CA 92626 
Telephone: 800-962-4655 

Charles Bayless 
600 Anton Blvd., Suite 2000 
Costa Mesa, CA 92626 
Telephone: 800-962-4655 

Rohn Crabtree 
600 Anton Blvd., Suite 2000 
Costa Mesa, CA 92626 
Telephone: 800-962-4655 

Gary J. Hessenauer 
600 Anton Blvd., Suite 2000 
Costa Mesa, CA 92626 
Telephone: 800-962-4655 

Mark S. Juergensen 
600 Anton Blvd., Suite 2000 
Costa Mesa, CA 92626 
Telephone: 800-962-4655 

Dennis R. Leibel 
600 Anton Blvd., Suite 2000 
Costa Mesa, CA 92626 
Telephone: 800-962-4655 

Robert C. Perkins 
600 Anton Blvd., Suite 2000 
Costa Mesa, CA 92626 
Telephone: 800-962-4655 



Commerce Energy, Inc. dba 
Commerce Energy of Ohio, Inc. 
Case No. 02-1828-GA-CRS 

EXHIBIT A-15 
CORPORATE STRUCTURE 

Below, please see Commerce Energy's corporate structure. Commerce is an independent 
retail electricity and natural gas provider, not affiliated with any utility distribution 
company. In Ohio, Commerce Energy is operating under the name Commerce Energy of 
Ohio. 

Commerce Energy Group, Inc. 

Commerce Enei^ , Inc. 

rechnician 

Date processea-



Commerce Energy, Inc. dba 
Commerce Energy of Ohio, Inc. 
Case No. 02-1828-GA-CRS 

EXHIBIT A-16 
COMPANY HISTORY 

Commerce Energy Group, Inc. (AMEX:EGR) is a leading independent U.S. electricity 
and natural gas marketing company, operating through its wholly owned subsidiary. 
Commerce Energy, Inc. Commerce Energy, Inc. is licensed by the Federal Energy 
Regulatory Commission and by the state regulatory agencies in 13 states as an 
unregulated retail marketer of natural gas and electricity to homeowners, commercial and 
industrial consxmiers and institutional customers. Commerce Energy currently operates in 
nine states and serves over 150,000 customers. 

For over ten years. Commerce Energy has been delivering to its customers competitively 
priced and innovative energy products and personalized customer care in addition to 
quality gas and electric services. Commerce Energy continues to focus on superior 
customer service and providing customers with product choices that allow them to buy 
energy in ways that fit their business or personal budget requirements. 



Commerce Energy, Inc. dba 
Commerce Energy of Ohio, Inc. 
CaseNo. 02-1828-GA-CRS 

EXHIBIT A-17 
ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION AND BYLAWS 

Not Applicable 



Commerce Energy, Inc. dba 
Commerce Energy of Ohio, Inc. 
CaseNo. 02-1828-GA-CRS 

EXHIBIT A-18 
SECRETARY OF STATE 

Commerce Energy is currently registered with the Secretary of State. Certificate attached. 



ARTICLES 



Delaware BASE 1 
Mir ! • ' Il IW 

The f i r s t State 

Ir HASRisr smva mnosoRf SSCBETARST OF STATE OF THB STATE OF 

DJStAmttB^ DO aSStEBY CERTIFY TEE ATTACHED I S A TRUE Aim COPPECT 

COPY OF TEE CEPTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT OF "AM^ICAN SEBRiGY GBC^JP, 

INC. % CEANGim ITS EAME FPXXi "AMERICAN EJHEPJSY GBOfJBr X^^- " 2 ^ 

"CamSBPCE ENERGY WOUPr I N C ' r FILED IN TBIS OFFICE OE TBB 

TEEETY-TUIPD DAT OF FEBRUARY, A.D. 2 0 0 4 , AT 7:41 O'CLOCK P.M. 

A FILED CO^r OF THIS CERTIFICATE BAS BEEN FORWARDED TO THE 

l̂ Sff CASTLE COmSTY RECORDER OF DEEDS, 

3741290 9100 

040129379 

J j . & A A A J ^ Jnn,Sj-*^'9i:l^ 
Harriet Smith Windsor, Secretary of State 
AUTEEmilCATlO^: 2 9 4 8 4 7 7 

DATE: 0 2 - 2 4 - 0 4 



Stata c f Delauara 
Sacrst^xy o£ Statm 

DLvisi.cn o£ CozpcMmti* 
Dslirextd 07:41 Sti 02/23/2004 

FH^D 07:41 Sfi 02/23/20(^4 
SSar &40128379 - 374X290 fiUS 

CEBI inCATE OF A M B N D M Q S N T O F 

carrmc ATE or INCORPORATION 
or 

AMSRICANESEBSY GROUP, i N C 

The uad«nigRed heieby certifies as Mows: 

1. HBi3d»(bify«lected,qiialifiedaiidactbgOiainnaDofteBcard. 
CbiefExoHdve OfSp^, l̂ residBat and Tieasurer of Aniencaa Hner^ 
coipoiaAioo organized and exisdng under 0» G^en l Coiporation ^ 
Dekware (tte "CinpoxatioA'*). 

2. ArCielcH)Rj8T^dieCoxpoiatiim*«CectiiScat&Driiicoi]io{atian is 
liersby amended to read aa follows: 

"Tba name of thecoiportfion ia Comraeice Energy Omap. lac/* 

3. Tluamcndaieat set foidiherdbi has been duly approved and 
adopted by ibe Board of Directais ofthe Coipocation. 

4. Tbenecessaiy number of issued and (Httstsnding shares of ccq»tal 
amckof Cl)e Coipocatioa xequned by stahite were voted in finrar of the arneiidn^ 

5. Such asieodmentviras duly adopted in accordance with the 
piovisio&sof Sections 228 and 242 of the General Corporation Law of the Slate of 
Delaware. 

IN WITPQSSS WHERiX^, American Boergy Gtot^ he . has caused 
tbisCcrlifii»te of Amendment to be signed by its Cha^oaan of the Board* Chief 
Executive Officer, President and Txeasurer, thift3M&ay of FebmaEy, 2004. 

Tide: Chmnnsa of the Board, Cl^cf 
Executive OSScer, Preudmt and Treasurer 

ocsytw.} 

http://DLvisi.cn


Dehware .... 
The first State 

1, BftRRI£7 SMIIE WINDSOR, SECSS^FARY OF 3!EAT£ OF THE STATE OF 

DELAWARE, DO HEREBY CERTIFY TEE ATTACHED IS A TRUE ARD CORRECT 

COPY OF THE CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION OF "AMERICM ENERGY 

GROUP, INC,"/ FIIiED IN THIS OFFICE ON THE EIGHTEENTH DAY OF 

DECmBER, A.D. 2003, AT 4:17 O'CLOCK P.M. 

A FIIED COPY OF THIS CERTtFICATE HAS BEEN FORWARDED TO THE 

NEW CASTLE COUNTY RECORDER OF DEEDS. 

Harriet Smith Windsor Secretary of State 

3741290 eiOO ^"^'^ AUTHENTICATION: 2628199 

030819607 DATS: 12-20-03 



S t a t e of De-lawAre 
SBct-Bt&ry of S t a t e 

D i v i E x a a o f Corpox-at ioas 
DalivQjred 0 4 : 2 0 PM 1 2 / 1 8 / 2 0 0 3 

-TZBD 0 4 : 1 ? PM X2/18/20Q3 
030619607 - 3741290 r i L E 

CERTEFICAIE OF INCORPORATION 

OF 

AMERICAN ENERGY (HtDUP, INC. 

ESSL- The nsDiooftiieeoqKnadon is Ainerican Energy GxDiqp» Inc. 
Owrcinefter called (be "CoipcMitlon^, 

SECC^lD: The aiMMayindudieg street nambei; city and county, of the 
le îMfired office of te Covponlsoain fte State c^Ddawace is ;2711 C e o l ^ ^ 
Sldto400.in1heCiiyofWainiDgtonp Covoly of New Castle, 1SF8D8̂  Thenameofthe 
KegbUnd ai0Bnt of ̂  Ocnpontiim m tiio State of D d s m ^ 
Cospocatiaii Scfviee Coinsuny. 

TBURP' Ihepaiiiosa ofthe Cocpnatian is to engage ki any iawM act (V 
astihdly fcur̂ HMĉ  coiponlioau inagr be mganized under die General CotpmdonLawof 
e s t a t e of Ddawaie. ^ 

BOURTH! HieCozpaxatioa is an&odzed to issue »ie class of stodc 
designated ̂ 'CdOiQiaaiStaek.'' The total nnnibBr of dnies of Ouinnon Stock auflunized 
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Commerce Energy, Inc. dba 
Commerce Energy of Ohio, Inc. 
Case No. 02-1828-GA-CRS 

EXHIBIT B-1 
JURISDICTIONS OF OPERATION 

Commerce Energy currently serves gas commodity to retail consumers in California, 
Maryland, Ohio, Georgia, Florida and Permsylvania. In addition, Applicant has obtained 
a gas license in Illinois and New York as well as electrical licenses in Ohio, Illinois, 
Delaware, Virginia and New York. 

Commerce Energy also serves electric commodity and related services to retail 
consumers in California, Maryland, Michigan, Texas, New Jersey and Permsylvania. 



Commerce Energy, Inc. dba 
Commerce Energy of Ohio, Inc. 
CaseNo. 02-1828-GA-CRS 

EXHIBIT B.2 
EXPERIENCE & PLANS 

OUR EXPERIENCE 

Commerce has over ten years experience offering competitively priced gas and 
electric service. In those ten years, Commerce has provided varied offerings of monthly 
variable rates, fixed term variable rates, 12 month fixed rates and 24 month fixed rates. In 
addition, Commerce has the ability to invoice its own customers and provide direct 
customer contact through its in-house customer service department. In many states, 
Commerce acts as the direct contact with the customer for switching service providers, 
customer complaints, billing, and other services. 

OUR SERVICE 

Commerce provides the following services in Ohio: 
• Consolidated Billing through the utilities billing system using the bill ready 

format; 
• Customer service representatives to respond to customer service questions, 

complaints, billing questions, and customer accotmt transfers as well as 
general customer inquiries; 

• Service offerings in Ohio include: 
o Month to month variable pricing and terms; 
o Fixed term month to month variable pricing; 
o 12 month fixed term pricing and terms; and 
o 24 month fixed term pricing and terms. 
o Question: do we provide any kind of conservation advice or services? 

• We make every effort to be the first point of contact in dealing with customer 
transfers to or fi*om another supplier. 

OUR PLANS 

Commerce Energy plans on participating in the Standard Contract Offer (SCO) 
auctions in February of 2009. Further, Commerce Energy expects to begin competitive 
service in the VEDO market in conjunction with the SCO auctions. 

Commerce Energy also intends to expand providing retail service in partnership 
with city aggregators, with an emphasis on smaller cities throughout the indicated service 
areas. Commerce Energy has an internal Customer Service Department that handles all 
incoming calls from our customers. That department currently employs 35 customer 
service representatives that answer telephone calls Monday through Saturday. About 20% 
of our calls are recorded and reviewed by our internal Quality Assurance department. If a 
Customer Service representative is imable to resolve a complaint, the call is escalated to a 



Customer Service Manager. That Manager will either resolve the complaint or forward 
the complaint to our Consumer Affairs department. The Consumer Affairs department is 
responsible for resolving all issues brought to their attention by the Customer Service 
Manager and complaints filed through the utility. They are also responsible for any 
informal or formal complaint filed through any regulatory bodies. Commerce Energy 
will comply with PUCO and OCC guide lines when handling complaints filed through 
their Consumer Services Division, 

OUR PEOPLE 

Our 197 dedicated employees focus every day on providing the best retail energy 
service to the Commerce Customers. 



Commerce Energy, Inc. dba 
Commerce Energy of Ohio, Inc. 
CaseNo. 02-1828-GA-CRS 

EXHIBIT B-3 
SUMMARY OF EXPERIENCE 

Commerce Energy is a publicly traded retail marketer of natural gas and 
electricity licensed in 13 states and currently operating in nine states. In Ohio, 
Commerce Energy solely serves the competitive gas market Commerce Energy has 
been a competitive retail energy supplier since 1997 when it was originally founded 
as Commonwealth Energy Corporation 

In Ohio, Commerce Energy serves gas customers with competitive retail 
natural gas service in the Columbia of Ohio (COH) and Dominion East Ohio (DEO) 
service areas. It currently serves over 15,000 customers. Commerce Energy focuses 
on residential and small commercial customers in each service area. Commerce 
Energy serves two aggregators in Ohio, the Townships of Howland and Newton. 

Commerce Energy provides consolidated billing in a bill ready format 
through each utility, although it has its own billing system that it uses in other 
jurisdictions and could use in Ohio if necessary. 

08/14/2008 10469182 



Commerce Energy, Inc. dba 
Commerce Energy of Ohio, Inc. 
CaseNo. 02-1828-GA-CRS 

EXHIBIT B-4 
DISCLOSURE OF LIABILITIES AND INVESTIGATIONS 

Not Applicable. 



Commerce Energy, Inc. dba 
Commerce Energy of Ohio, Inc. 
CaseNo. 02-1828-GA-CRS 

EXHIBIT C-1 
ANNUAL REPORTS 

Attached are Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s two most recent Form 10-Ks which are 
issued by Commerce as the Annual Report to Shareholders. 



Commerce Energy, Inc. dba 
Commerce Energy of Ohio, Inc. 
Case No. 02-1828-GA-CRS 

UNFFED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 
Washington, D.C. 20549 

Form 10-K 

(Mark One) 
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TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Face 

PARTI 

Item 1. Business 2 

Item iA. Risk Factors 15 

Item IB. Um-esolved Staff Comments 21 

Item IC. Executive Officers ofthe Regisfrant 22 

Item 2. Properties 24 

Item 3. Legal Proceedings 24 

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders 25 

PART II 

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of 

Equity Securities 26 

Item 6. Selected Financial Data 28 

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation 29 

Item 7A. Qumititative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 43 

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 44 

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Fmancial Disclosure 44 

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures 44 

Item9B. Other Information 44 

PART III 

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance 45 

Item 11. Executive Compensation 49 

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certaui Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder 

Matters 73 

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence 75 

Item \4. Principal Accounting Fees and Services 75 

PART IV 

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules 77 

Signatures g4 



You should carefully consider the risk factors described below, as well as the other information included in this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K prior to making a decision to invest in our securities. The risks and uncertainties 
described below are not the only ones facing our company. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known 
or that we currently believe to be less significant may also adversely affect us. Unless the context requires otherwise, 
references to the "Company," "Commerce," "we," "us," and "our" refer specifically to Commerce Energy Group, 
Inc. and its subsidiaries. 

SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

On one or more occasions, we may make statements regarding our assumptions, projections, expectations, 
targets, intentions or beliefe about future events. All statements other than statements of historical fects included in 
this Annual Report on Form 10-K relating to expectation of future financial performance, continued growth, changes 
in economic conditions or capital markets and changes in customer usage patterns and preferences, are forward-
looking statements. 

Words or phrases such as "anticipates," "believes," "estimates," "expects," "intends," "plans," "predicts," 
"projects," *targets," "will likely result," "will continue," "may," "could" or similar expressions identify forward-
looking statements. Forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertamties which could cause actual results or 
outcomes to differ materially from those expressed. We caution that while we make such statements in good feith 
and we believe such statements are based on reasonable assimiptions, including without limitation, management's 
examination of historical operating trends, data contained in records and other data available from third parties, we 
cannot assure you that our expectations will be realized. 

In addition to the factors and other matters discussed in Item I A. Risk Factors in this Atmual Report on Form 10-
K, some important &ctors that could cause actual resuhs or outcomes for Commerce Energy Group, Inc. or om 
subsidiaries to differ materially from those discussed in forward-looking statements include: 

• regulatory changes in the states in which we operate that could adversely affect our operations; 

• fluctuations in the market price of enei^ resulting from seasonal weather and other factors that adversely 
impact the cost of our energy supplies and could prevent us from competitively servicing the demand 
requnements of our customers; 

• changes in the restructuring of retail markets which could prevent us from selling electricity and natural gas 
on a competitive basis; 

• our dependence upon a limited number of third-party suppliers of electricity and natural gas; 

• our dependence upon a limited number of local electric and natural gas utilities to transmit and distribute the 
electricity and natural gas we sell to our customers; 

• decisions by electricity and natural gas utilities not to raise then rates to reflect higher market cost of 
electricity and natural gas, thereby adversely affecting our competitiveness; 

• our ability to obtain and retain credit necessary to support both current operations and futiu*e grovrth and 
profitability; 

• om* ability to successfully integrate businesses we may acquire; 

• our ability to successfully compete in new electricity and natural gas markets that we may enter, and; 

• our dependence upon independent system operators, regional transmission organizations, natural gas 
transmission companies, and local distribution companies to properly coordinate and manage their 
transmission grids and distribution networks and to acciu^tely and timely calculate and allocate the cost of 
services to market participants. 

Any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which such statement is made, and, except as 
required by law, we undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect events or 
circiunstances after the date on which such statement is made or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events. 
New factors emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for management to predict all such factors. 



PARTI 

Item 1. Business 

Overview 

Commerce Energy Group, Inc., or Commerce, is an independent energy marketer of retail electric power and 
natural gas supply to residential, commercial, industrial and uistitutional customers. We also provide consultmg, 
technology and transaction data management services lo energy-related businesses. Unless otherwise noted, as used 
herein, the "Company," "we," "us," and "our" means Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries. 

Commerce operates through its two wholly-owned subsidiaries. Commerce Energy, Inc. and Skipping Stone Inc. 
Commerce Energy, Inc., or Commerce Energy, formerly Commonwealth Energy Corporation and domg business as 
"electricAmerica", is licensed by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, or FERC, and by state regulatory 
agencies as an um-egulated retail marketer of natural gas and electricity. As of July 31, 2007, we provided natural 
gas and electricity to approxnnately 196,000 residential, commercial, industrial and institutional customers in ten 
states. Skipping Stone Inc., or Skipping Stone, provides energy-related consulting and information to utilities, 
electricity generators, natural gas pipelines, wholesale energy merchants, energy technology providers and financial 
institutions. 

Commerce's predecessor, Commonwealth Energy Corporation, or Commonwealth, was formed in California in 
August 1997. On July 6, 2004, Commonwealth reorganized into a holding company structure, whereby 
Commonwealth became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Commerce. 

Commerce was incorporated in the State of Delaware on December 18, 2003. Our executive offices are located 
at 600 Anton Boulevard, Suite 2000, Costa Mesa, California 92626 and our telephone number is (714) 259-2500. 
Our fiscal year ends July 31. 

Industry Background 

Electricity 

In order to increase consumers' competitive options beginning in 1992, the U.S. electric utility industry began a 
process of deregulation, which primarily served to unbundle generation, transmission, distribution and anciil^ 
services into separate components of a utility's service. As in other industries that have been deregulated, 
competition m the electric service industry was intended to provide consumers with a choice of multiple suppliers 
and was expected to promote product differentiation, lower costs and delivery of enhanced services. To obtain these 
benefits, customers in deregulated utility markets would be able to choose to switch their electric supply service 
from then local utility to an altemative supplier. 

In 1996, some states, and some ofthe utilities within those states, proceeded to allow their end-use customers 
direct access to marketers, enabling them to purchase their electricity commodity from entities other than the local 
utilities in competitive retail markets. These proceedings created new market participants of which Commerce 
Energy is one. They are known in Califomia as Electricity Service Providers, or ESPs, and m other states by this or 
similar terms. Presently, approximately one-half of the states in the United States have either enacted enabling 
legislation or issued regulatory orders to proceed with such retail direct access. 

The electricity distribution mfî structure in place prior to deregulation remains largely unchanged, with the 
primary difference being that parties other than the local utility can utilize the delivery infrastructure by paying 
usage fees. ESPs use this established electricity network for the delivery of energy to then customers. 

Electricity is a real-time commodity and cannot be stored. As soon as it is produced, it must be simultaneously 
delivered into the grid to meet the demand of end users. Most electricity grids and wholesale market clearing 
activities are managed by third party entities known as Independent System Operators or ISOs, or Regional 
Transmission Organizations or RTOs. The ISO or RTO is responsible for system reliability and ensures that physical 
electricity transactions between market participants are managed in such a way as to assure that proper electricity 
reserve margms are in place, grid capacity is maintained and supply and demand are balanced. 



To maintain profitability, we must effectively manage or shape our purchased electricity supply to the real-time 
demand or load of our customers. These load-shaping activities, required by the hourly variability in the electricity 
usage patterns of our customers compared to the fixed hourly volume purchased from our suppliers, results in our 
holding of long or short energy positions. A long position occurs when we have committed to purchase more 
electricity than our customers need, and a short position occurs when our customers' usage exceeds the amount of 
electricity we have committed to purchase. In both situations, we utilize the wholesale electricity spot market and 
ISO clearing markets to balance our long or short energy positions, selling supply when m a long position and 
buying when in a short position. It is not possible to be completely balanced on every delivery hour; therefore we 
always have some exposure to price volatility in the wholesale market for electric power. 

Purchases and sales in the wholesale market are regulated by FERC, to whom we report regularly. Weather, 
generation capacity, transmission, distribution and other market and regulatory issues also are significant factors in 
determining our wholesale procurement and sales strategies in each ofthe markets we serve. 

FERC has deregulated the wholesale electricity market by allowing power marketers and utilities who do not 
have market controlling power, to sell wholesale electric power at market rates (/.e., whatever rate the buyer and 
seller agree upon), as opposed to requuing that prices be cost-based (i.e., based on the supplier's cost of the 
electricity). 

FERC has further encouraged competition in the wholesale bulk power markets by promulgatuig open access 
fransmission rules in 1996, which have led to the increasing commoditization of electricity markets. FERC's open 
access transmission rules require transmission providers under its jiuHsdiction to allow eligible customers access to 
their transmission systems at cost-based rates. This has enabled purchasers of wholesale power to access a larger 
number of potential suppliers, thereby enhancing competition. 

FERC has continued to promote mcreased competition in RTOs which have ultimate control over the bulk 
transmission system in a particular geographic area. Wholesale electricity or bulk power, once purchased and sold 
almost exclusively between traditional utilities under bilateral arrangements, is now traded by many different market 
participants on organized markets, including hourly, daily and montiily spot markets, power exchanges and fmancial 
markets, such as futures and options markets. Competitive markets now exist in many regions of the coimtry for 
energy, automatic generation control, spinning reserves, other categories of ancillary services and capacity. 
Organizations such as the New York Mercantile Exchange, or NYMEX, and the Intercontinental Exchange, or ICE, 
offer trading opportunities in electricity futures and options at various locations across the country. The price of 
electricity is lai^ely set by these competitive markets. Recentiy, the growth and evolution of wholesale electricity 
markets has been accelerated with the formation of RTOs. These RTOs are developing organized market structures 
for the purpose of providing more efficient and competitive wholesale marketplaces for the benefit of consumers in 
the regions in which they operate. 

Retail electric marketers procure power supplies for delivery to end-use customers from a variety of wholesale 
power producers or merchant generation companies, either through term supply contracts or on a spot basis. In 
addition, short-term daily or hourly supply requirements can be piu-chased or sold through the balancing markets 
operated by the ISO or RTO. The physical distribution of electricity to retail customers remains the responsibility of 
the local utility, which collects fees for its services. Most states also allow the utility to provide additional services, 
such as reading meters, generating customer bills, collecting bills and taking requests for service changes or 
problems, while in other states the utility is not allowed to, or chooses not to, perform these services. 

Natural Gas 

The natural gas industry, goverrunent regulated since 1938, began a process of deregulation in the early 1980s 
leaduig to a dynamic industry with a highly competitive market place and a commodity that is widely traded in the 
daily and futures markets. The market price of natural gas is quoted at various locations or regional hubs around the 
country. These regional hubs are usually priced at a differential to the largest centralized point for natural gas spot 
and futures tradmg in the United States known as the Henry Hub, located in Louisiana, and used by the NYMEX as 
the contractual point of delivery for its natural gas futures contracts. There are over 70 major market hubs, or 
intersections of various pipeline systems, where natural gas transactions occur. In addition, purchases and sales are 



made at thousands of gas processing plants where gas enters the national grid, city gate interconnections where gas 
leaves the national grid, and industrial and electric generator direct connections with large pipelines making up the 
national grid. Thousands of contracts are bought and sold daily at the market centers. These market centers have 
various degrees of liquidity in both the cash and forward markets. Prices may vary widely from hub to hub, 
reflecting regional market conditions. Additionally, thousands of transactions occur at non-market hub 
interconnections and often these transactions are based upon or priced relative to the major market hub or hubs in 
then vicinity. 

Although transactional prices of natural gas are determined by market forces, the cost of transportation of natural 
gas from the outlet of gathering systems and processing plants to the "city gate" interconnection with local gas 
distributors is performed by regulated pipelines which essentially act as common carriers. Any market participant 
desirmg transportation services from such pipelines must be offered such services on an equal basis with other 
market participants. Transportation from the city gate to the burner tip, a common term for where a consumer uses 
the gas, is performed by regulated local utilities. Unlike the interstate natural gas pipelines that act as common 
carriers, the local gas distribution companies are a mixture of common carrier, selective carrier, and non-carrier 
systems. Only common carrier and some selective carrier systems can be accessed to serve retail residential and 
commercial/industrial customers. 

Retail natural gas providers for the most part procure natural gas supplies for delivery to end-use customers from 
a variety of wholesale natural gas suppliers, mostly at a relevant market hub, either through term supply contracts or 
on a spot basis. The physical distribution of natural gas to retail customers remains the responsibility of the local 
natural gas utility, which collects a fee for the use of its distribution system. 

Core Products and Services 

Our core business is the retail sale of electricity and natural gas to end-use customers. We also provide 
professional consulting and technology services to utilities, electricity generators, wholesale energy merchants, 
financial institutions and energy technology companies. 

Commerce Energy, Inc, 

We sell electricity and natural gas service to customers under both month-to-month and longer-term service 
contracts. The difference between the sales price of energy delivered to our customers and the related cost of our 
energy supplies, transmission costs, distribution costs and ancillary services costs provides our gross profit margin. 
The electricity and natural gas we sell is generally metered and delivered to o\n customers by the local utilities. The 
local utilities also provide billing and collection services for many of our customers on our behalf 

We buy electricity and natural gas in the wholesale market in time-specific, bulk or block quantities usually at 
fixed prices. With respect to electricity markets, we balance the differences between the actual sales demand or 
usage of oiu" customers and oiu" bulk or block purchases by buying and sellmg any shortfall or excess in the spot 
market. ISOs and RTOs perform real-time load balancing for each of the elecU-ic grids ui which we operate. 
Similarly, with respect to natural gas markets, supply and demand balancing is performed by Commerce Energy in 
cormection with agreements with the local distribution company or LDC utilities or by the LDCs themselves on 
behalf of Commerce Energy, for each ofthe natural gas markets in which we operate. We are charged or credited by 
the ISOs and LDCs for balancing the electricity and natural gas purchased and sold to oiu customers. 

Skipping Stone Inc 

Skipping Stone offers a number of related professional consulting services and technologies to energy companies 
such as utilities, electricity generators, natural gas pipelines, wholesale enei^ merchants, energy technology 
providers and investment banks. Skipping Stone is focused on assisting clients with business process improvements, 
market research, training, Sarbanes-Oxley process level implementations, systems design and selection, and 
strategic and tactical planning for new market or merger activities. Additionally, Skipping Stone provides natural 
gas pipeline information to market participants and government customers through its technology center using its 
capacitycenter.com website. 

http://capacitycenter.com


Our Customers and Markets 

As of July 31, 2007, we were delivering electricity and natural gas supply to customers in 10 states and 22 LDC 
markets. We periodically review and evaluate the profitability of our operations in each of these markets and the 
advantages to us of entermg other potential LDC markets that are open for direct access sales to end-use customers. 
The review of entrance in a new market area would include exploring opportunities to acquire existing portfolios of 
customers from ciurent suppliers in targeted markets. 

We operate in one reportable business segment, energy retailing, in one geographic area, the United States. Our 
customer base consists of residential, commercial, industrial and institutional customers. Our business is not 
dependent upon any one customer or a few major customers and, during fiscal 2007, no one customer accounted for 
more than 10% of our net revenues. In addition to expansion of our core products and services into new deregulated 
markets and targeted customer classes, we are working to broaden the scope of our energy-related products and 
services to include energy efficiency offerings and additional outsourced services. 

As of July 31, 2007, we served approximately 196,000 electricity and natural gas customers. Although a number 
of oiw customers, particularly in our commercial and industrial sales segment, have more than one account, we 
determine and report our customer count with each customer defined as an individual customer account. We served 
electricity customers in 12 LDC markets within sbc states: Califomia, Pennsylvania, Michigan, Maryland, New 
Jersey and Texas and natural gas customers m 13 LDC markets withm seven states: California, Florida, Georgia, 
Maryland, Nevada, Ohio and Pennsylvania. 

Sales of elecu-icity and natural gas comprised 64% and 34%, respectively, of total net revenues during fiscal 
2007; 74% and 25%, respectively, during fiscal 2006; and 89% and 10%, respectively during fiscal 2005. 

Skipping Stone is engaged by over 50 clients under master agreements, with up to a dozen active engagements in 
any given month. Approximately l%-2% of total net revenues in fiscal 2005 through 2007 have been attributable to 
Skipping Stone. 

Strategy 

Commerce Energy's profitability depends on our ability to achieve sufficient customer scale in order to create a 
profitable operating cost stmcture. To achieve this scale, we intend to substantially grow our customer base m 
markets that offer adequate gross margins, shed customers which may no longer be served economically, evaluate 
and align our market presence to achieve optimum returns on investments and seek out acquisition opportunities that 
will advance our growth goals. Growth plans include: 

• Substantially growing our customer base in energy markets that have rate stmctures, market mles, consinner 
demographics, energy consiunption pattems, access to favorable energy supply and risk management profiles 
that allow us to economically serve tiie market. 

• Establishuig a market position for the Commerce Energy brand that is differentiated from competitors, 
relevant to customers and other key stakeholders and executable by the Company. 

• Withm our mass market division, continuing to develop a robust sales channel mk including outboimd and 
inbound telesales, online sales and emolbnent, affinity alliances, dnect mail and advertismg, as well as 
various uidnect sales partnerships, includmg network marketing, door-to-door solicitations, independent 
agents and online affiliates. 

• Establishing strategic supplier relationships that will enable us to offer a broad range of iimovative service 
plans, pricing flexibility and competitive rates. 

• Offering additional products and services to our customers designed to help consumers use energy more 
efficiently and to otherwise bring better control of their energy costs. 

• Pursuing community aggregation programs that enable us to enroll larger numbers of consumers more 
economically than through traditional one-by-one marketing efforts. 



• Continuing to develop our Commercial & Industrial or C&I division in its pursuit of small- and medium-size 
commercial consumers, particularly those with multiple-location (multi-state) requirements. 

Sales and Marketing 

Commerce Energy markets electricity and natural gas utilizing contract terms based either on fixed or variable 
rates. The majority of our fixed-rate contracts are for a duration of 12 to 24 months, with occasional shorter-term 
offerings based on market conditions and customer preferences. Om monthly variable rate contracts are cancellable 
after 30 days' notice, allowing customer flexibility with respect to a longer term price or supplier commitment. 
Dming fiscal 2007, approxhnately 85% of om new customer sales contracts were under fixed-rate contract terms. 
As expected, following unprecedented increases in the wholesale cost of energy and significant volatility of market 
prices during the second half of calendar 2006, customers were more inclined to lock m certainty in the cost of theu-
energy. As the wholesale market price of energy declines, we believe customers may increasingly move toward our 
monthly variable-rate contracts, thus allowing them to take advantage of decreasing market prices. 

A variety of approaches are utilized in acqiuring customers, including a professional sales force calling on C&I 
end-users and various mass market sales channels in pmsuit of residential and small busmesses. Historically, a 
majority of om customers have been acquned through telesales and network marketing. More recently, door-to-door 
sales have been added as well as targeted broadcast advertising, dnect mail and on-line affiliates. 

Service after the sale is a critical part of om success. During fiscal 2007, high levels of customer growth resulted 
in hiring and training new staff members, as well as improving technology platforms to expedite the processing of 
new customer accoimts, to ensme timely and accmate billing and to provide one-call resolution to customer 
inquuies. 

Om sales efforts are divided mto two divisions: C&I, representing sales to medium-sized and larger commercial 
accounts, and Mass Market, comprised of residential customers and small businesses. 

Commercial <£ Industrial 

The C&I segment comprises electricity and natural gas sales to small and medium-size commercial consumers, 
municipal and government entities. These sales primarily consist of stmctmed products and negotiated contracts 
developed to meet the budgetary needs and risk tolerance of an individual customer. The typical C&I customer 
possesses a high level of understanding ofthe energy business and cuirent market conditions. Competition for these 
types of customers is robust, with several established competitors in each geographic market. C&l sales uivolve a 
longer sales cycle, higher energy usage and lower per imit margms than the typical mass market customer. 

Commerce Energy has established itself as a preferred provider of customers with muhi-location, multi-state 
requnements. Leveraging om information systems and operational capabilities, we are able to atd-act and retain 
customers such as retail chains, hotel/motel chams, food service chains and school districts, in addition to small- and 
medium-sized, single-location commercial consmners. Ahhough other indirect sales channels are utilized, we make 
sales to this customer segment largely through the establishment of direct customer relationship by experienced 
account executives. 

Mass Market 

Sales to mass market customers are comprised of pre-defined service plans developed on the usage pattems of a 
typical small business or residential consumer. Historically, telesales and network marketing were utilized almost 
exclusively for the acquisition of customers in the mass market. In order to significantly increase om sales in this 
customer segment, we began utilizing a number of other sales channels for the acquisition of mass market 
customers, during fiscal 2007, including third-party door-to-door commissioned salespersons, online shoppmg sites, 
direct mail and targeted print and broadcast advertising. 



Energy Supply 

We do not own electricity generation assets or natmal gas producing properties. All ofthe elecfricity and natmal 
gas we sell to om customers is pmchased in the wholesale market from third-party suppliers in time-specific block 
quantities under short-term and long-term contacts, usually at fixed prices. Although we have open lines of credit 
with suppliers, contractual pmchase terms with suppliers often require additional collateral to support om energy 
pmchases. We utilize om available cash and letters of credit issued under om bank credit facility to meet any 
collateral requnements of om energy suppliers. 

With respect to electricity markets, we balance the differences between the actual sales demand or usage of om 
customers and om bulk or block pmchases by buying and selling any shortfall or excess m the spot market. ISOs 
and RTOs perform real-time load balancing for each of the electric grids in which we operate. Similarly, with 
respect to the natmal gas market, supply and demand balmicing is perfonned by Commerce Energy in connection 
witii agreements with the LDC utilities or by the LDC themselves on behalf of Commerce Energy, for each ofthe 
natural gas markets in which we operate. We are charged or credited by the ISOs and LDCs for balancing of our 
electricity and natural gas pmchased and sold for om account, and we are subject to costs or fees charged by the 
ISOs or LDCs for these electricity and natural gas balancing activities related to om account. 

Wholesale electricity and natural gas are readily available from various thnd party suppliers in om markets, 
except for the state of Michigan, where all of om electricity is pmchased from one supplier. In fiscal 2007, two 
electricity suppliers each accounted for 10% of om direct energy costs and one gas supplier accounted for 25% of 
om dnect energy costs, and their relationships are not seemed by long-term contracts. Based upon current 
mformation from om suppliers, we do not anticipate any shortage of supply. However, in the event of a supply 
shortage, there can be no assurance that we would be able to timely secme an altemative supply of electricity or 
natural gas at prices comparable to om ciurent contracts, and the failme to replace a supplier m a timely manner at 
comparable prices could materially harm om operations. 

We employ risk management policies and procedmes to control and monitor the risks associated with volatile 
commodity markets and to assme a balanced energy-sales-and-supply portfolio withm defined risk tolerances. 

Competition 

Commerce Energy^ Inc 

In markets that are open to competitive choice of retail energy suppliers, there are generally three types of 
competitors: the incumbent utilities, utility-affiliated retail marketers and small to mid-size independent retail energy 
companies, such as Commerce Energy. Competition is based primarily on price, product offerings and customer 
service. 

The competitive landscape differs in each utility service area, and within each targeted customer segment. For 
residential and small commercial customers in most service territories, the primary competitive challenges come 
from the incumbent utility and affiliated utility marketing companies. For the medium-sized commercial customer, 
competitive challenges come from the utility and its affiliated marketing company, as well as other independents. 
However, this segment is still the least targeted segment among om competition due to the difficulty in balancing 
cost of acquisition ^id margin objectives. The large commercial, institutional and industrial segments are very 
competitive in most markets with nearly all customers having already switched away from the utility to an altemate 
provider. National affiliated utility marketers, energy producers and other independent retail energy companies often 
compete for customers in this segment. 

The mcumbent regulated utilities and the nationally-branded utility affiliates typically benefit from the 
economies of scale derived from the strength of substantial asset-based balance sheets, and vertically mtegrated 
business models that combine production, U ânsmission and distribution assets. For incumbent utilities these 
advantages are often offset by the lack of flexibility to offer multiple product choices to their customers, while the 
nationally- branded affiliates often stmggle with long-term focus and cultural adaptation to a non-regulated market 
environment. 



Increasmg om market share depends on om ability to convince customers to switch to om service. The local 
utilities have the advantage of long-standing relationships with their customers, and they have longer operating 
histories, greater financial and other resomces and greater name recognition in then markets than we do. In addition, 
local utilities have been subject to many years of regulatory oversight and thus have a significant amount of 
experience regarding the policy preferences of their regulators, as well as a critical economic mterest in the outcome 
of proceedmgs conceming then revenues and terms and conditions of service. Local utilities may seek to decrease 
then tariff retail rates to limit or to preclude the opportunities for competitive energy suppliers and may seek to 
establish rates, terms and conditions to tiie disadvantage of competitive energy suppliers. There is an emergmg trend 
among some local utilities to exit the merchant function and actively encourage customers to change then* energy 
supply service. This is sometimes encomaged by the framework for deregulation within which the local utility 
operates. 

Among the retail marketers and wholesale merchants, competition is most intense for the larger volume 
commercial and industrial accounts. Om primary target customer segments are small to medium commercial 
customers. We expect that the combination of om existing residential customer base and om continued growth will 
enhance om ability to successfully compete for larger commercial and uistitutional customers. 

Most customers who switch away from the local utility do so for economic benefit. Once switched, customer 
retention is based on continuuig competitive pricing, reliability of supply and customer service. 

Some of om competitors, including local utilities, have formed alliances and jomt ventmes in order to compete in 
the resUTictured retail electricity and natmal gas industries. Many customers of these local utilities may decide to 
stay with their long-time energy provider if they have been satisfied with then service in the past. Therefore, it may 
be difficult for las to compete against local utilities and their affiliates. 

We also may face competition from other nationally-branded providers of consumer products and services. Some 
of these competitors or potential competitors may be larger and better capitalized than we are. 

Skipping Stone Inc. 

We fece competition in selling consultmg and outsomced services from a large variety of companies. These 
competitors may be engaged in the energy business, as we are, or may be national and mtemational management 
and information technology firms. 

Seasonality 

Om sales volumes and revenues are subject to fluctuations during the year due primarily to the impact of 
seasonal weather fectors on customer energy demand and the related market prices of electricity and natmal gas. 
Electricity sales volumes are historically higher in the summer months for cooling purposes, followed by the winter 
months for heating and lighting purposes. Natmal gas sales volumes are higher in the winter heating season, with the 
lowest demand occurring during the summer. 

Governmental Regulation 

In states that have adopted deregulation, state Public Utility Commissions or PUCs, Public Service Commissions 
or PSCs, or equivalent bodies, have authority to license, certify and regulate certain activities of electric and natural 
gas retailers. Commerce Energy is subject to regulation by the Commissions in each state in which we sell electricity 
and natural gas. As of July 31, 2007, we were licensed or certified by the applicable Commissions in 11 states. 
These licenses and certificates permit us to sell electricity and natural gas to commercial, industrial, institutional and 
residential customers. The requirements for licensing and the level of regulation vary from state to state. 

We consider each utility service territory within which we operate to be a distinct market due to the unique 
characteristics of each. A discussion of regulations for our market service areas follows. 



State Regulations 

Wholesale market mles are expected to change over the next several years as RTOs continue in their efforts 
through a variety of FERC-filed or state Commission mles and procedmes to relieve congested transmission 
systems, encomage expansion of transmission networks and attempt to enhance competition in the bulk power 
markets. These changes will likely impact om retail electricity business in several RTOs in which we operate, 
specifically: Pennsylvania — New Jersey ̂  Maryland or PJM Interconnection, referred to as the PJM Market, 
Electric Reliability Council of Texas, referred to as ERCOT, and the Califomia Independent System Operator or 
CAISO. These proposed changes could increase transmission charges in the form of congestion pricing to relieve 
congestion at certain delivery or intercormection points on a transmission system (nodal pricing and related 
measures) and through higher transmission capacity charges permitted by FERC to stimulate more investment in 
new transmission lines and facilities. While these changes will likely increase transmission charges, at least in the 
short run, they may lead to a more efficient and expanded fransmission system within these RTOs that can 
accommodate more transactions, and help the Company to access more customers at the wholesale and retail level. 
There is no way to impute an exact effect through a cost^nefit analysis because there are many variables, and 
RTOs may be permitted different ways to achieve the same objective of enhancing competition m the bulk power, 
wholesale markets. 

Electricity 

California. In 1996, Califomia Assembly Bill 1890 codified the restructuring ofthe Califomia electric mdustry 
and provided for the right of Dfrect Access. Dnect Access allowed electricity customers to buy their power from a 
supplier other than the electric distribution utilities beginnmg January I, 1998. On April 1, 1998, we began 
supplying customers in Califomia with electricity as an ESP. (3n September 20, 2001, the Califomia Public Utilities 
Commission or CPUC, issued a mling suspending electricity Direct Access. This ruling permits ESPs to keep then 
current customers and to solicit Direct Access customers served by other ESPs; however, it prohibits us from 
signing up new non-Dfrect Access customers m Califomia, for an undetermined period of time. The amount of 
statewide load on Direct Access service has declined to approximately 10%. 

On May 24, 2007, tiie CPUC voted 4-1 to begui a new proceeding— Order Instituting Rulemakmg or OIR, 
which will examine, among other things, the legal authority of the CPUC to reopen the retail electric market 
unilaterally, (without fiuther legislation), the public policy benefits of lifting the Du-ect Access suspension, and the 
retail mles governing a reconstituted Direct Access market. It is anticipated the OIR will be completed in the second 
half of 2008, and that as a result, the Direct Access market may reopen in 2009, unless legislation is introduced to 
prevent such a result. 

Under legislative mandate, the CPUC is implementing the state's Resource Adequacy Requirement or RAR. In 
September 2005, California Assembly Bill 380, covering electrical restmcturing and resomce adequacy was passed 
into law. This bill requires the CPUC, m consultation with the ISO, to establish RARs for all Load-Serving Entities 
or LSEs. The bill requires each LSE to secme generating capacity adequate to meet its load requirements, includmg 
but not limited to, peak demand and pluming and operating reserves, deliverable to locations and at times as may be 
necessary to provide reliable electric service. The CPUC issued its Final Decision on system RARs on October 27, 
2005. Tlie Final Decision requires LSEs, mcluding Investor-Owned Electric Utilities or lOUs, or ESPs, and 
Community Choice Aggregators or CCAs, to have capacity to serve then retail customers' forecasted loads and a 
15-17% reserve margin begiimmg m June 2006. On June 29, 2006, the CPUC issued its decision on local RARs, for 
which requirements are established annually under CPUC allocation principles. The CPUC adopted a penalty of $40 
per kW-year on the amount a LSE is deficient in meeting the annual requnements, m addition to backstop 
procmement costs. As a LSE, Commerce Energy is subject to the RARs and its provisions, including penalties for 
non-compliance. The ability of Commerce Energy to recover costs associated with RAR from its customers will be 
subject to market pricing and competitive forces. 

On September 26, 2006, Califomia Senate Bill 107 was signed into law. The bill amends the existing law 
conceming renewable portfolio standards or RPS, for LSEs in the state. The bill accelerates the procmement targets 
such that 20% of retail sales are procmed from eligible renewable energy resomces no later than December 31, 
2010. The former law requu-ed 20% by 2017. Rules to implement California's RPS, including development of a 
renewable energy certificate market and flexible compliance measmes, continue to evolve. As such, the associated 
costs to Commerce Energy or its customers are not fully known. 



On September 27, 2006, CaUfomia Assembly Bill 32, "The Califomia Global Warmmg Solutions Act of 2006," 
was signed into law. AB 32 sets in statute mechanisms to reduce greenhouse gas or GHG, emissions to 1990 levels, 
by the year 2020. Carbon dioxide or CO2 makes up about 83% of California's GHG emissions, largely from fossil 
fuel combustion. Transportation is responsible for 42% of CO2 emissions and electric power emits 19.6% of CO2 
emissions. The impact of this bill is not yet known. The regulatory agencies continue to debate whether the GHG 
reporting responsibilities and reduction requnements should be imposed as either a "first seller" or "load based" 
method. "First seller" method covers the generating plants responsible for GHG emissions. A "load based" method 
would pose a regulatory bmden on us, and perhaps a cost increase to om retail customers. 

CAISO is expected to implement a nodal market design on April 1, 2008, known as Market Redesign and 
Technology Upgrade or MRTU. The design provides better market efficiencies, in terms of congestion management 
and market price signals. However, the design poses systems complexity, higher transaction volumes, and requires 
greater hedging sophistication for market participants such as Commerce Energy. Additionally, MRTU may pose 
higher credit requirements because of congestion revenue rights being allocated to, and auctioned among, load-
serving entities such as Commerce Energy. We are taking pmdent steps to prepare for MRTU. We have engaged 
third-party project management and information technology services to guide this effort and convert om transaction 
systems. 

Califomia Refund Proceeding 

In 2001, FERC ordered an evidentiary hearing (Docket No. ELOO-95) to determine the amount of refunds due to 
Califomia energy buyers for pmchases made in the spot markets operated by the CAISO and the Califomia Power 
Exchange or CPX, during the period October 2, 2000 through June 20, 2001, or the Refund Period. Among other 
holdmgs m the case, FERC determined that the Automated Power Exchange or the APX, and its market participants 
could be responsible for, or entitled to, refunds for ttmisactions completed in the CAISO and the CPX spot markets 
through APX. FERC has not issued a final order determinmg "who owes how much to whom" in the Califomia 
Refund Proceeding, and it is not clear when such an order will be issued. As discussed above, APX and its market 
participants have entered into a settlement that resolves how refunds owed to APX will be allocated among its 
rnarket participants. 

In the course ofthe Califomia Refimd Proceeding, FERC has issued dozens of orders. Most have been taken up 
on appeal before the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit or the Ninth Circuit, which has issued 
opinions on some issues in the last several years. These cases are described below m the section as the Califomia 
Litigation. 

California Litigation. Lockyerv. FERC. On September 9, 2004, the Ninth Cncuit issued a decision on the 
Califomia Attomey General's challenge to die validity of FERC's market-based rate system. This case was 
originally presented to FERC upon complaint that the adoption and implementation of market based rate authority 
was flawed. FERC dismissed the complaint after sellers refiled reports of sales in the CAISO and the CPX spot 
markets and bilateral sales to Califomia Department of Water Resomces during 2000 and 2001. The Nuith Cncuit 
upheld FERC's authority to authorize sales of electric energy at market-based rates, but found that the requnement 
that sales at market-based rates be reported quarterly to FERC for mdividual transactions is integral to a market-
based rate regime. The State of Califomia, among others, has publicly interpreted the decision as providing authority 
to FERC to order refunds for different time frames and based on different rationales than are cmrently pending in 
the Califomia Refund Proceedings, discussed above m "Califomia Refund Proceeding." The decision remands to 
FERC the question of whether, and in what circumstances, to impose refunds or other remedies for any alleged 
failure to report sales transactions to FERC. On December 28, 2006, several energy sellers filed a petition for a writ 
of certiorari to the U.S. Supreme Court. The U.S. Supreme Court denied the petition. We cannot predict the scope or 
nature of, or ultimate resolution of this case. 

CPUCv. FERC. On August 2, 2006, after reviewing certain FERC decisions in the Califomia Refund 
Proceedings, the Ninth Circuit decided that FERC erred in excluding potential relief for alleged tariff violations 
related to transactions m the CAISO and the CPX markets for periods that pre-dated October 2, 2000 and 
additionally mled that FERC should consider remedies for certain bilateral transactions with the Califomia 
Department of Water Resomces previously considered outside the scope of the proceedings. The decision may 
expose Commerce to claims or liabilities for transactions outside the previously defmed "refund period." At this 
time, the ultimate financial outcome for Commerce is unclear. 
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To allow parties the opportunity to consider ways to settle disputes, the Ninth Circuit extended the deadline for 
seeking rehearing of the CPUC and Lockyer decisions to November 16, 2007 and delayed issuing the order 
remanding the CPUC and Lockyer cases back to FERC. We are studying the court's decision, but are unable to 
predict either the outcome ofthe proceedmgs or the uhimate financial effect to us, 

Pennsylvania. In 1996, the Electricity Generation Customer Choice and Competition Act was passed. The law 
allowed electric consumers to choose among competitive power suppliers beginning with one-third of the State's 
consumers by January 1999, two-thuds by January 2000, and all consumers by January 2001. Commerce Energy 
began serving customers in Permsylvania in 1999. 

Current utility default rates are capped until 2010 as a resuh ofthe restmctming related to the Electric Choice 
Law. As power prices rise significantly, it has become clear that the utility price cap is not realistic or representative 
of tme market power costs. Squeezed between a capped utility rate, high wholesale electricity costs and the high 
cost of servicing customers in Pennsylvania due to the market mles and market stmctme, many companies, 
includmg Commerce Energy, have reduced the number of customers they serve in the state. The Pennsylvania 
Office of Consumer Advocate is circulating a pricing analysis in an attempt to show that post-rate-cap rate increases 
will be severe. This action is an attempt to support its position that the Electric Choice Law needs to be modified to 
eliminate the "prevailing market prices" standard and replace it with a "lowest reasonable cost" standard, in addition 
to other anti-competitive proposals that it is supporting. 

There are no current rate cases or filings at the Pennsylvania PUC which would impact the Company's fmancial 
results. 

PJM. PJM, the regional ttansmission organization, comprising the wholesale transmission system for om retail 
customers served in Pennsylvania, New Jersey and Maryland, implemented a new Capacity Market design effective 
June I, 2007. Known as the Reliability Pricing Model or RPM, this design auctioned generating capacity between 
sellers and buyers. However, unlike the previous Capacity Market design, RPM divided the PJM system into three 
geographic zones, and awarded a single-clearing price for each zone and for each year of three years forward. 
Capacity prices under RPM were significantly higher than seen previously. As a capacity buyer on PJM, this new 
design made it difficult for us to remain competitive with default or bundled service offerings by the incumbent 
utility in certam retail markets such as Baltimore Gas & Electric or BGE. 

Michisan. The Michigan state legislatme passed two acts, the Customer Choice Act and Electricity Reliability 
Act, signed mto law on June 3, 2000. Open Access, or Choice, became available to all consumers of Michigan 
electric distribution utilities, begiiming January I, 2002. We began marketing m Michigan's Detroit Edison service 
territory in September 2002. 

On February 4, 2005, Detroit Edison filed an application to unbundle and realign its electric rates. The 
application proposed the unbundling of Detroit Edison's existmg rate classes uito their cost components attributable 
to the generation, including transmission, and distribution functions and the phasing out of rate class imbalances 
relative to cost of service. Detroit Edison explained that its application would allow the utility to unbundle its 
residential, commercial and industrial retail electric rate schedules into then separate components based on 2004 
fully allocated embedded costs. 

On December 22, 2005, the Michigan Public Service Commission or the MPSC approved Detroit Edison's 
filing. The MPSC directed that distribution charges for choice and bundled customers should be brought mto parity 
through aligning their rates, effective Febmmy 2006. This order resulted in a rate reduction for bundled commercial 
and industrial customers. This order had a major impact on Choice customers because the MPSC allowed the utility 
to shift costs earlier associated with energy charges to the distribution portion of the customer bill. As a result. 
Choice customers saw an increase in their distribution charges, which ultimately resulted in a "total bill" increase. 

New efficient meter mles and a removal of Detroit Edison's stranded cost charge in combuiation with a higher 
power cost recovery smcharge is closing the gap between the utility's rate and the rate offered by suppliers. 
However, competition has been effectively halted in Michigan due to the design of Detroit Edison's rate. 
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On April 19, 2007, a package of three pro-competitive bills was introduced in the state Senate. One of those bills 
was also introduced in the state House of Representatives. These bills are supported by members of the Customer 
Choice Coalition, an umbrella group of residential, commercial and industrial customers as well as altemate electric 
suppliers and independent generators. These bills take Michigan's laws toward allowing choice and competition m 
the electric system and open the door to additional movement toward a free market in a deliberate manner. 

Maryland. In 1999, the Maryland General Assembly passed the Electric Choice and Competition Act. Part of 
this Act required that all customers receive a rate reduction, followed by a rate freeze. The rate reduction of 6.5% for 
BGE customers was based on the last BGE rate case in 1993. The rate freeze in the BGE service territory expired on 
July I, 2006. The market price obtained through the standard offer service competitive auction process in tiie BGE 
service territory increased 72%. This increase paved the way for Commerce Energy to start offering products to all 
classes of customers at rates that are market based and highly competitive to BGE's standard offer service rate. 
Commerce Energy was licensed by the Maryland PSC on July 7,2004. 

]R an attempt to mitigate the impact ofthe BGE rate increase, the Maryland General Assembly in special session 
m June, 2006 passed Senate Bill One which among other things limited the BGE rate increase to 15% for the period 
July I, 2006 through May 31, 2007; however, that limit was imposed as a credit to the utility's transportation fees 
and did not affect the commodity price increase. 

In the closing horns of the 2007 session, tiie Maryland General Assembly passed SB 400. The bill instmcts die 
PSC to conduct investigatory and evidentiary proceedings including the use of outside experts and consultants to 
reevaluate the general regulatory stmcture, agreements, orders and other prior actions of the PSC under the Electric 
Customer Choice and Competition Act of 1999, including the determmation of, and allowances for, stranded costs. 
The PSC is requned to file an mterim report on or before December I, 2007 to the governor and a final report to the 
General Assembly on or before December 1,2008. 

New Jersey. Deregulation activities began in New Jersey in November 1999 when the Board of Public Utilities 
or the BPU, approved the unplementation plan. Commerce Energy began marketing in New Jersey in the Public 
Service Gas & Electric Company or PSE&G, service territory in December 2003. 

Since 2002, the fom New Jersey Electric Distribution Companies including PSE&G have procmed electric 
supply to serve then Basic Generation Service or BGS, customers through a statewide auction process held each 
year in February. BGS customers are customers who are not served by a third party supplier or competitive retailer. 
The utility uses a rolling procmement structure whereby each year one-third ofthe load is procmed for a three-year 
period, A portion ofthe load that was bid on three years ago will come up for re-bidding in 2007. We anticipate that 
this will cause the auction rate to increase and create a BGS rate that is closer to the current market price. 

The New Jersey Board of Public Service has proposed revisions to its energy competition standards. The mles 
will be applicable to electric power suppliers, gas suppliers, BGS providers and basic gas supply service or BGSS 
providers, electric public utilities, gas public utilities, aggregators, energy agents, energy public utilities and public 
utility holding companies. 

The proposed mle changes include anti-slamming provisions, affiliate relations, licensing and registration, 
government aggregation programs and retail choice consumer protection changes. We believe that we are in 
compliance with these pending mle changes and see no material impact to om operations. 

Texas The Texas deregulation law, or SB7, was enacted in 1999, enabling the Texas electric market to open for 
retail competition and customer choice on January 1, 2002. On that date Texas consumers could choose then Retail 
Electric Provider or REP. Commerce Enei^ began serving electric customers in the Oncor (formerly TXU Electric 
Delivery) and CenterPoint service territories of ERCOT. On May 16, 2005, we expanded further mto the Texas 
service territories of American Electric Power or AEP, and Texas New Mexico Power or TNMP. On January I, 
2007, the defeult service known as "Price to Beat" expired under SB7, resulting in full price competition between 
retailers affiliated with the incumbent utility and non-affiliated retailers. Approximately 55% of retail load, 
approximately 43% in the residential class alone, has switched to non-affiliated retail electric providers, such as 
Commerce Energy. 
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Wholesale costs for congestion management, system reliability, and balancing energy on the ERCOT grid may 
increase to an unknown extent for market participants, such as Commerce Energy. Specifically, cost responsibility 
and allocation for replacement reserve service, an ancillary service for ERCOT grid operations, continues under 
policy review in ERCOT's stakeholder process, along with a proposal to implement "aitaiinistrative pricing" as an 
adder to the balancing energy market price under certam emergency conditions. Whether these costs will be directly 
assigned to certam market participants, or "uplifted" to all market participants based on a load-ratio share, is 
unknown and continues under policy development. Om ability to recover these charges from om retail customers is 
subject to market pricing and competitive forces. 

ERCOT is expected to shift its current operation of the wholesale transmission system from zonal to nodal 
design in December 2008. The nodal design will assign congestion costs directly to those responsible, unlike the 
zonal design in which most congestion costs are "uplifted" to all market participants. However, like the nodal design 
expected for Califomia, and currently existing in the PJM market, nodal poses systems complexity, higher 
transaction volumes, and requires greater hedging sophistication for market participants such as Commerce Energy, 
During the fiscal year ending July 31, 2008, or fiscal 2008, we will be working with om qualified scheduling entity 
on the ERCOT system to prepare for the nodal design changes. 

Credit risks have mcreased for retail electric providers selling to residential customers. Under existing law. 
Commerce and other retail electric providers can only use electric bill payment history to deny service begiiming on 
January I, 2007. However, a common database providing electric bill payment history is not available for retail 
electric providers. Until the database is voluntarily created, or mandated by policy, we will continue to rely on the 
Public Utility Commission of Texas Customer Protection Rules to manage credit risk. Those mles give us the right 
to request a deposit or advanced payment and to disconnect for non-payment. 

Natural Gas 

Begiiming with the Natmal Gas Policy Act of 1978, the U.S. Congress initiated a process that ended federal 
control over the price of natmal gas at the wellhead. This ultimately set in motion a series of public policy changes 
by the FERC and state utility commissions that have resulted in consumer choice programs for all natmal gas users 
m certaui states. 

We serve natural gas customers in 13 utility gas market areas in the following seven states: 

California. We currently serve residential and small commercial customers in the Southern Califomia Gas and 
Pacific Gas& Electric gas markets. We are the only core aggregation transportation provider to residential 
customers m these market areas. There are no current rate cases or filings pending before the Califomia PUC that 
are anticipated to impact om financial results. 

Florida. In April 2000, the Florida Public Service Commission adopted rules that extend customer choice to all 
nomesidential users of natural gas m the State regardless of volume. This gives small businesses in Florida the same 
option that was previously available only to large industrial and commercial customers. The rules also specify that 
local distribution companies may offer transportation services to residential customers. Commerce Energy's entry 
into the Florida natmal gas market is a result of the acquisition of commercial and mdusttial customers pmchased 
from Houston Energy Services Company, L.L.C., or HESCO, completed in September 2006. We operate in fom 
LDC markets in Florida. 

Georgia. In 1997, the Georgia General Assembly passed the Georgia Natural Gas Competition and Deregulation 
Act, or the Georgia Gas Act. The Georgia Gas Act reorganized the Georgia retail natural gas market and allowed 
natmal gas marketers to serve retail consumers. The Georgia Public Service Commission has implemented a 
comprehensive unbundling program in the state. Over 80% ofthe state's residential gas consumers are serviced by 
certified gas marketers. The ability to disconnect customers for non-payment of invoices is severely constrained by 
system design and human resource limitations in this market. This may affect om ability to limit losses within this 
market. 
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Maryland. In 1997, natural gas choice was brought to Maryland consumers. We provide gas service to 
residential and small commercial customers in the Baltimore Gas & Electric market area. There are other gas 
marketers that serve these types of customers. In July 2005, the Maryland Public Service Commission proposed 
enhanced customer protection mles, yet to be adopted which will be applied to the retail energy market. The 
approval of these mles will not impact financial results as the Company we are currently compliant. 

Nevada. In 1985, the Nevada State Legislatme passed legislation permitting the selling of natmal gas as a 
discretionary service hi Nevada. Consequently, industrial and large commercial consumers of natural gas have been 
able to choose their supplier. Conunerce Energy's entry into the Nevada natural gas market is a result of the 
acquisition of commercial and mdustrial customers pmchased from Houston Energy Services Company, completed 
in September 2006. We operate in one LDC market in Nevada. 

Ohio. In 1997, natmal gas choice programs began in Ohio. We provide gas service to residential and small 
commercial customers in the Dominion East Ohio, or DEO, and Columbia Gas of Ohio service areas. 

DEO will exit the merchant function in Ohio, and its plan was approved by the Public Utilities Commission of 
Ohio, or PUCO, earlier this year. The plan was divided into two sections, Phase I and Phase II. In Phase 1, suppliers 
and marketers bid for supply only. In Phase II, suppliers and marketers will bid to serve any bundled customers 
remammg with DEO. On August 29, 2006, DEO conducted an auction for pricing of its natural gas wholesale 
supply of natural gas for the time period October 2006 tiirough August 2008. 

The auction participants will bid a monthly retail price adjustment to be added to the monthly NYMEX 
settlement price. The sum of these will become the Standard Offer Service, or SOS, price that will replace the 
current Gas Cost Recovery, or OCR, rate. The GCR rate has traditionally been calculated on a monthly basis using 
imbalances from prior months. The new SOS rate will more closely reflect Urue market costs. 

It is expected that DEO will be submitting an application to tiie PUCO by October 31,2007 for Phase II. 

Pennsylvania. In 1997, the natural gas supply service in Pennsylvania was fully opened to competition for all 
customer classes. The Natural Gas Choice and Competition Act specified that after five years (July 2004) the PUC 
was to initiate processes to evaluate the competitiveness of natmal gas supply services in the state and report its 
findings to the General Assembly. As a result, the Pennsylvania PUC released a report on its fmdings in 2006. It was 
discovered that the State at this time could be more supportive of competition by changing some of the mles and 
taxes currently unposed on suppliers. A report regarding then findings is expected to be released later this year. 

Federal R^ulations 

Federal Energy Regulatory Commission 

We also are subject to regulation by various other federal, state and local govemmental agencies. Om electric 
pmchases and sales are subject to the jmisdiction ofthe Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, or FERC, under 
the Federal Power Act. We make sales of electricity pursuant to a Power Marketer certificate issued by FERC. 
While not generally regulating the rates or terms or conditions of electricity sales, FERC has the authority to 
uistitute proceedmgs to identify transactions involving rates that are not just and reasonable due to market 
manipulation and to reverse or unwind such transactions to ensme just and reasonable rates. 

The Federal Energy Policy Act of 2005 

On August 8, 2005, the Energy Policy Act of 2005, or EPA 2005, was signed into law. The scope of EPA 2005 is 
broad, adtfressing fossil, nuclear and renewable energy, energy efficiency and tax credits and incentives, across a 
range of energy producing and consuming sectors. Certain changes mandated by EPA 2005 may have a dnect or 
uidirect effect on om business. In particular, provisions intended to enhance the reliability of electric transmission 
and delivery systems, further the transparency of electricity and natural gas markets, encourage the constmction of 
new electric transmission infrastmctme, and facilitate the importation of natural gas should increase the efficiency 
of the competitive wholesale natural gas and electticity markets in which we participate. Furthermore, effective 
Febmary 8, 2006, EPA 2005 replaced tiie Public Utility Holdmg Company Act of 1935, or PUHCA 1935, witii the 
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Public Utility Holding Company Act of 2005, or PUHCA 2005. PUHCA 2005 involves much less extensive 
regulation than PUHCA 1935, but does uiclude provisions mvolving FERC access to books and records of public 
utility holding companies and then affiliates, as well as certam oversight over affiliate transactions. In accordance 
with EPA 2005, FERC has finalized mles (RM05-32-000) to address certain issues related to unplementation of 
PUHCA 2005, including implementmg the Federal access to books and records. 

In the past, through a series of no action letters, the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, has 
concluded that electric and gas marketers who did not own or operate electric generation, transmission or 
distribution facilities or gas retail distribution facilities were not public-utility companies, and then parent 
companies were not public-utility holding companies, under PUHCA 1935. In its final mle, FERC confirmed that 
such electric and gas marketers are not public-utility companies under PUHCA 2005, and that their parent 
companies are not holding companies under PUHCA 2005 (provided such parent companies do not own other 
entities that would be considered public-utility companies), so they would not be subject to the provisions ofthe new 
law. 

In June 2007, mandatory, enforceable reliability standards were unposed on the bulk power industry under the 
Energy Policy Act of 2005. The bulk power industry includes power plants and transmission infi-astmctme. The 
North American Electric Reliability Corporation or NERC is responsible for developuig and enforcmg 83 reliability 
standards. NERC maintains a compliance registiy of 1,400 entities, and any violation ofthe reliability standards can 
result m enforcement actions and fines. We are not mcluded among the 1,400 entities, but nonetheless believe that 
such standards will serve to protect the operation of the bulk power system, through which we procme and deliver 
wholesale power supplies to om retail loads. 

Intellectual Property 

Intellectual property assets include om proprietary software and service products, om registered ttademarks 
(electricAmerica®, Green Smart®, 1-800-Electric®, electric.com®, capacitycenter.com® and Utilihost, Inc.®), om 
I-800-Electric telephone number and rights to our internet domain names electric.com, commerceenergy.com and 
electricAmerica.com. We believe that each of om intellectual property assets offers us strategic advantages in om 
operations. 

Om strategy for protection of om trademarks is to routinely file U.S. federal and foreign trademark applications 
for the various word names and logos used to market om services to licensees and tiie general public. The duration 
ofthe U.S. and foreign registered trademarks can typically be maintained indefmitely, provided proper fees are paid 
and trademarks are contuiuaUy used or licensed by us. 

Employees 

As of July 31, 2007, we employed 255 fiill-time employees, including 45 in administration, 50 in marketing and 
sales, and 160 ui operations. Om employees are not covered by a collective bargaining agreement or represented by 
a labor union. We have not experienced any work stoppages and consider om employee relations to be good. 

Available Information 

Om Internet address is www.CommerceEnergy.com. There, we make available, fi*ee of charge, om annual report 
on Form lO-K, quarterly reports on Form lO-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and any amendments to those reports, 
as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. Om SEC 
reports can be accessed through the Investor Relations section of om Web site. The other information found on om 
Web site is not part of this or any other report we file or fumish to the SEC. 

Any ofthe materials we file with the SEC may also be read and copied at the SEC's Public Reference Room at 
100 F Stt'eet, NE, Washington, D.C. 20549. Information on the operation ofthe SEC's Public Reference Room may 
be obtained by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC mamtains an Intemet website that contains reports, 
proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC at 
http://www.sec.gov. 
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Item lA. Risk Factors. 

If competitive restructuring ofthe retail energy market is delayed or does not result in viable competitive market 
rules, our business will be adversely affected. 

The Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, or FERC, has maintamed a strong commitment to the deregulation 
of wholesale electricity markets. The new provisions of EPA 2005 should serve to fiuther enhance the reliability of 
the electric transmission grid which om electric marketnig operations depend on for delivery of power to om 
customers. This movement at the federal level has in part helped spm deregulation measmes in the states at the retail 
level. Twenty-three states and the District of Columbia have either enacted enabling legislation or issued a 
regulatory order to unplement retail access. In 18 of these states, retail access is either cmrently available to some or 
all customers, or will soon be available. However, ui many of these markets the market mles adopted have not 
resulted in energy service providers being able to compete successfully with the local utilities, and customer 
switching rates have been low. Om business model depends on other favorable markets opening under viable 
competitive mles in a timely manner. In any particular market, there are a number of mles that will ultimately 
determme the attractiveness of any market. Markets that we enter may have botii favorable and unfavorable mles. If 
the trend towards competitive restmctming of retail energy markets does not continue or is delayed or reversed, om 
business prospects and financial condition could be materially adversely impaired. 

Retail energy market restmcturing has been and will continue to be a complicated regulatory process, with 
competing interests advanced not only by relev^it state and federal utility regulators, but also by state legislators, 
federal legislators, local utilities, consumer advocacy groups and other market participants. As a result, the extent to 
which there are legitimate competitive opportunities for altemative energy suppliers ui a given jmisdiction may vary 
widely, and we cannot be assmed that regulatory stmctures will offer us competitive opportunities to sell energy to 
consumers on a profitable basis. The regulatory process could be negatively impacted by a number of factors, 
including mtermptions of service and significant or rapid price increases. The legislative and regulatory processes in 
some states take prolonged periods of time. In a number of jurisdictions, it may be many years from the date 
legislation is enacted until the retail markets are truly open for competition. 

Otiier aspects of EPA 2005, such as the repeal of PUHCA 1935 and replacing it witii PUHCA 2005, may also 
impact om business to the extent FERC does not continue the SEC's precedent of not regulating electric and gas 
marketers under PUHCA. A proposed mlemaking implementing PUHCA 2005 is currently pending before FERC. If 
marketers and then* parent companies and affiliates are to be regulated under PUHCA 2005, FERC may have access 
to their books and records and has oversight of their affiliate transactions. Various parties participating in FERC 
mlemaking have mged FERC not to regulate marketers and other entities that do not own or operate gas or electric 
facilities. 

In addition, although most retail energy market restmcturing has been conducted at the state and local levels, 
bills have been proposed in Congress in the past that would preempt state law conceming the restmcturing of the 
retail energy markets. Although none of these initiatives has been successful, we cannot assme stockholders that 
federal legislation will not be passed m the futme that could materially adversely affect om business. 

We face many uncertainties that may cause substantial operating losses and we cannot assure stockholders that 
we can achieve and maintain profitability. 

We intend to increase om operating expenses to develop and expand om business, including brand development, 
marketing and other promotional activities and the continued development of om billing, customer care and power 
procmement mfi-nstmcture. Our ability to operate profitably will depend on, among other things: 

• om ability to attract and to retam a critical mass of customers at a reasonable cost; 

• om ability to continue to develop and maintain internal corporate organization and systems; 

• the continued competitive restmctming of retail energy markets with viable competitive market mles; 
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* om ability to effectively manage om energy procmement and shapuig requu-ements, and to sell om energy at 
a sufficient profit margin; and 

• om ability to obtam and retain credit necessary to support futme growth and profitability. 

We may have difficulty obtaining a sufficient number of customers. 

We anticipate that we will incm significant costs as we enter new markets and pmsue customers by utilizing a 
variety of marketing methods. In order for us to recover these expenses, we must attract and retain a large number of 
customers to om service. 

We may experience difficulty attracting customers because many customers may be reluctant to switch to a new 
supplier for commodities as critical to their well-being as electricity and natmal gas. A major focus of om marketing 
efforts will be to convince customers that we are a reliable provider with sufficient resomces to meet om 
commitments. If om marketing strategy is not successful, om business, results of operations and financial condition 
could be materially adversely affected. 

We depend upon internally developed, and, in the future will rely in part on vendor-developed, systems and 
processes to provide several crUical functions for our business, and the loss of these functions could materially 
adversely impact our business. 

We have developed om own systems and processes to operate om back-office functions, including customer 
enrollment, metering, forecasting, settlement and billmg. We are cmrently in the process of replacmg a number of 
om mtemally developed legacy software systems with vendor-developed systems. Problems that arise with the 
performance of such back-office functions could result in increased expenditmes, delays in the launch of om 
commercial operations mto new markets, or unfavorable customer experiences that could materially adversely affect 
our business strategy. Any uitermption of these services could also be dismptive to om business. As we transition 
from om own systems to new vendor-developed systems, we may incm duplicative expenses for a period of time, 
and we may experience installation and integration issues with the new systems or delays in the implementation of 
the new systems. If we experience some or all of these new system implementation risks and these result in 
unreliable or inaccurate data for om financial reportmg, we may not be able to establish a sufficient operating 
history for Sarbanes-Oxley 404 attestation requirements, which we expect we must meet by no later than fiscal year 
enduig July 31, 2008 for management's attestation, and July 31, 2009 for the attestation of om independent auditors. 
Should om market capitalization exceed $75 million (as defined) on January 31, 2008, we would require the 
attestation of om independent accountants on July 31,2008. 

Substantial fluctuations in electricity and natural gas prices or the cost of transmitting and distributing 
electricity and natural gas could have a material adverse affect on us. 

To provide electricity and natural gas to om customers, we must, from time to time, purchase the energy 
commodity in the short-term or spot wholesale energy markets which can be highly volatile. In particular, the 
wholesale electricity market can experience large price fluctuations during peak load periods. Furthermore, to the 
extent that we enter into contracts with customers that requne us to provide electricity and natmal gas at a fixed 
price over an extended period of time, and to the extent that we have not purchased the entire commodity to cover 
those commitments, we may incm losses caused by rising wholesale prices. Periods of rising prices may reduce om 
ability to compete with local utilities because then regulated rates may not immediately increase to reflect these 
mcreased costs. Energy Service Providers like us take on the risk of pmchasing power for an uncertain load, and, if 
the load does not materialize as forecast, it leaves us in a long position that would be resold into the wholesale 
electricity and natural gas market. Sales of this surplus electricity could be and often are at prices below om cost. 
Long positions of natural gas must be stored hi inventory and are subject to the lower of cost or market valuations 
that can produce losses. Conversely, if unanticipated load appears that may result in an insuffment supply of 
electricity or natural gas, we would need to pmchase the additional supply. These purchases could be and often are 
at prices that are higher than om sales price to om customers. Either situation could create losses for us if we are 
exposed to the price volatility ofthe wholesale spot markets. Any of these contingencies could substantially increase 
om costs of operation. Such factors could have a material adverse effect on om financial condition. 
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We are dependent on local utilities for distribution of electricity and natmal gas to om customers over their 
distribution networks. If these local utilities are unable to properly operate their distribution networks, or if the 
operation of their disfribution networks is mtermpted for periods of time, we could be unable to deliver electricity or 
natural gas to om customers during those intermptions. This would result in lost revenue to us, which could 
adversely impact the results of om operations. 

The terms of our credit facility may restrict our financial and operational flexibility. 

The terms of om asset-based credit facility restrict, among other things, om ability to incm additional 
mdebtedness, pay dividends or make certaui other restricted payments, consummate certain asset sales, enter into 
certain fransactions with affiliates, merge or consolidate with other persons or sell, assign, transfer, lease, converge 
or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of om assets. Further, we and om subsidiary. Commerce Energy, are 
required to maintain specified financial ratios and satisfy certain financial condition tests. Om ability and Commerce 
Energy's ability to meet those financial ratios and tests can be affected by events beyond om ability and control, 
respectively, and there can be no assmance that we will meet those tests. Substantially all of om assets and om 
operatmg subsidiaries' assets are pledged as secmity under om asset-based credit facility. 

We may need additional capital in the future and it may not be available on acceptable terms, or not at all 

In the future, we may need to raise additional capital to fund die working capital requnements of om operations 
and growth, enhance or expand the range of services or products we offer to om customers, or respond to 
competitive pressmes or perceived opportunities, such as mvestment, acquisition and expansion activities; if such 
additional capital funds are not available when requned or on acceptable terms, om busmess ^id fmancial results 
could suffer. 

We may issue additional shares of common stock that may dilute the value of our common stock and adversely 
affect the market price of our common stock. 

In addition to the approximately 30.4 million shares of om common stock outstanding at July 31, 2007, we may 
issue additional shares of common stock in the following scenarios: a significant number of additional shares of om 
common stock may be issued if we seek to raise capital through offerings of our common stock, securities 
convertible into om common stock, or rights to acquire such secmities of om common stock. Additionally, as of 
July 31, 2007, we may issue approximately 7.0 million shares of om common stock pmsuant to outstanding stock 
options; and 1.0 million shares of om common stock pmsuant to awards under om 2006 Stock Incentive Plan. 

A large issuance of shares of om common stock will decrease the ownership percentage of current outstanding 
shareholders and may resuh in a decrease m the market price of om common stock. Any large issuance may also 
result in a change in conttol ofthe Company, 

If the wholesale price of electricity decreases, we may be required to post letters of credit for margin to secure 
our obligations under our long term energy contracts. 

If the market price of wholesale electricity decreases below the price ofthe electricity we pmchase under long-
term contracts, the power suppliers may require us to post margin in the form of a letters of credit, or other 
collateral, to protect them agauist our potential default on the contract. If we are requned to post such secmity, it 
could adversely affect om liquidity. 

Some suppliers of electricity have been experiencing deteriorating credit quality. 

We contmue to monitor the credit quality of om energy suppliers to attempt to reduce the impact of any potential 
counterpmty defauh. As of July 31, 2007, the majority of om counterparties me rated investment grade or above by 
the major rating agencies. These ratings are subject to change at any time with no advance warning. Deterioration in 
the credit quality of om energy suppliers could have an adverse impact on om somces of electricity purchases. 
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We are required to rely on utilities with whom we compete io perform some functions for our customers. 

Under the regulatory stmctures adopted in most jmisdictions, we are required to enter into agreements wilh local 
utilities for use ofthe local distribution systems, and for the creation and operation of functional interfaces necessary 
for us to serve om customers. Any delay ui these negotiations or om inability to enter into reasonable agreements 
with those utilities could delay or negatively impact om ability to serve customers in those jmisdictions. This could 
have a material negative impact on om business, results of operations and financial condition. 

We are dependent on local utilities for mahitenance of the uifi*astmctme through which electricity and natural 
gas is delivered to om customers. We are limited in om ability to control the level of service the utilities provide to 
om customers. Any infrastmctme failme that intermpts or impans delivery of electricity or natmal gas to om 
customers could have a negative effect on the satisfaction of om customers with om service, which could have a 
material adverse effect on om busmess. Regulations in many markets requne that the services of readmg om 
customers' energy meters and the billing and collection process be retained by the local utility. The local utility's 
systems and procedmes may limit or slow down om ability to add customers. 

We are required to rely on utilities with whom we compete to provide us accurate and timely data. 

In some states, we are required to rely on the local utility to provide us with om customers' energy usage data 
and to pay us for om customers' usage based on what the local utility collects from our customers. We may be 
lunited m om ability or unable to confum the accmacy ofthe information provided by the local utility. In addition, 
we are unable to control when we receive customer payments from the local utility. If we do not receive payments 
from the local utility on a tunely basis, om working capital may be impafred. In the event we do not receive timely 
or accmate usage data, om ability to generate timely and accurate bills to om customers will be adversely affected 
which, m turn, will impact the ability of om customers to pay bills in a timely manner. 

We are subject to federal and state regulations in our electricity and natural gas marketing business and the 
rules and regulations of regional Independent System Operators, or ISOs, in our electricity business. 

The mles under which we operate are imposed upon us by federal and state regulators, the regional ISOs and 
mterstate pipelines. The mles are subject to change, challenge and revision, including revision after the fact. 

In California, the FERC and other regulatory and judicial bodies continue to examine the behavior of market 
participants during the Califomia Energy Crisis of 2000 and 2001, and to recalculate what market clearing and bi­
lateral contract prices should have or might have been under altemative scenarios of behavior by market 
participants. In the event the historical costs of market operations were to be reallocated among market participants 
or recalculated in the event of bi-lateral contracts, this could have a material adverse fmancial impact on us, but the 
extent of any such amount cannot be predicted. Please see the discussion under Parti, Iteml. Busmess — 
Govemmental Regulation — Electricity — Califomia. 

In some marked, we are required to bear credit risk and billing responsibility for our customers. 

In some markets, we are responsible for the billing and collection functions for om customers. In these markets, 
we may be limited in om ability to terminate service to customers who are delinquent in payment. Even if we 
terminate service to customers who fail to pay then utility bill in a timely manner, we may remain liable to om 
suppliers of electricity or natural gas for the cost ofthe electricity or natmal gas and to the local utilities for services 
related to the transmission and distribution of electricity or natural gas to those customers. The failme of om 
customers to pay then* bills in a timely maimer or om failme to maintain adequate billing and collection programs 
could materially adversely affect om busmess. 

Our revenues and results of operations are subject to market risks that are beyond our control. 

We sell electricity and natmal gas that we pmchase from third-party power supply companies and natmal gas 
suppliers to our retail customers on a contractual or monthly basis. We are not guaranteed any rate of retum through 
regulated rates, and om revenues and results of operations are likely to depend, in large part, upon prevailuig market 
prices for electricity and natmal gas in om regional markets. These market prices may fluctuate substantially over 
relatively short periods of time. These factors could have an adverse impact on our revenues and results of 
operations. 
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Volatility in market prices for electricity and natural gas results from multiple factors, including: 

• weather conditions, uicludmg hydrological conditions such as precipitation, snow pack and stream flow; 

• seasonality; 

• unexpected changes ui customer usage; 

• transmission or transportation constramts or mefficiencies; 

• planned ^id unplanned plant or transmission line outages; 

• demand for electricity; 

• natmal gas, cmde oil and refined products, and coal supply availability to generators from whom we pmchase 
electricity, natural disasters, wars, embargoes and other catastrophic events; and 

• federal, state and foreign enei^ and environmental regulation and legislation. 

We may experience difficulty in successfully identifying, integrating and managing the risks related to 
businesses or assets that we may acquire and in realizing the anticipated economic benefits related thereto. 

We do not have a great deal of experience acquuing companies or large blocks of assets, and the companies and 
assets we have acquired have been small. We have evaluated, and expect to continue to evaluate, a wide array of 
potential strategic transactions. From time to time, we may engage in discussions regarding potential acquisitions. 
Any of these transactions could be material to om financial condition and resuhs of operations. In addition, the 
process of integratuig an acquired company, business or group of assets may create unforeseen operating difficuhies 
and expenditmes and risk. TTie areas where we may fece risks include: 

• The need to implement or remediate controls, procedmes and policies appropriate for a public company at 
companies that prior to the acquisition lacked these controls, pmcedmes and policies; 

• Diversion of management time and focus from operatuig our business to acquisition integration challenges; 

• Cultural challenges associated with integrating employees from the acquned company into om organization; 

' Retaining employees working in the businesses or group of assets we acquire; 

• The need to uitegrate the accounting, management mformation, human resomce and other administrative 
systems of an acquned business or assets to permit effective management; 

• The possibility of increased customer attrition with respect to the assets we acqune; and 

• The need to secme adequate supplies of electricity and natural gas to service the demands of the acquired 
business or assets. 

Also, the anticipated benefit of many of om acquisitions may not materialize. Futme acquisitions or dispositions 
could result m potentially dilutive issuances of om equity secmities, the incurrence of additional debt, contmgent 
liabilities or amortization expenses, or write-offs of goodwill, any of which could harm om financial condition. 
Futme acquisitions may require us to obtain additional equity or debt fmancing, which may not be available on 
favorable terms or at all. 
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If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls, we may not be able to accurately report our 
financial results or prevent fraud. As a result, current and potential stockholders could lose confidence in our 
financial reporting; which would harm our business and the trading price of our stock. 

We pmchase substantially all of om power and natmal gas under forward physical deliveiy contracts, which are 
defined as commodity derivative contracts under SFASNo. 133. We also utilize other financial derivatives, 
primarily swaps, options and fiitmes, to hedge om price risks. Accordingly, proper accounting for these contracts is 
very important to om overall ability to report tunely and accmate financial results. 

We have devoted significant resomces to remediate and improve om internal controls. Although we believe that 
these efforts have strengthened om mtemal controls and addressed the concerns that gave rise to reportable 
conditions and material weaknesses in fiscal 2004 and 2005, we are continumg to work to improve om mtemal 
controls, particularly in the area of energy accounting. We carmot be certain that these measmes will ensme that we 
implement and maintain adequate controls over om financial processes and reportmg m the fiitme. Any failme to 
unplement requfred new or improved controls, or difficulties encountered in theu* implementation, could harm om 
operatmg results or cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations. Inferior internal controls could also cause 
mvestors to lose confidence in om reported financial information, which could have a negative effect on the trading 
price of om stock. 

Investor confidence and share value may be adversely Impacted if our Independent registered public 
accountants are unable to provide us with the attestation ofthe adequacy of our internal controls over financial 
reporting, as required by Section 404 ofthe Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 

As directed by Section 404 of the Smbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the Securities and Exchange Commission 
adopted mles requiring us, as a public company to include a report in om Annual Report on Form lO-K that contains 
an assessment by management of tiie effectiveness of om intemal controls over financial reportmg for fiscal 2008. 
In addition, om uidependent registered public accountants must attest to and report on the effectiveness of om 
mtemal controls over financial reporting. The requirement pertaining to om uidependent registered public 
accountant's attestation report may initially apply to om Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year enduig 
July 31, 2008, if our market capitalization (as defmed) exceeds $75 million on January 31, 2008. How companies 
implement these requnements, mcludmg mtemal control revisions, if any, to comply with Section 404's 
requnements, and how independent registered public accountants will apply these new requnements and test 
companies' intemal controls, are continually evolving. Although we are diligently and vigorously reviewing om 
intemal controls over financial reportmg to comply with the new Section 404 requirements, we cannot be certam as 
to the outcome of the testing of om intemal confrols and any remediation efforts that may be needed. When 
independent registered public accountant attestation is requned, there is the risk that om independent registered 
public accountants may not be satisfied with om intemal controls over financial reportmg or the level at which these 
controls are documented, designed, operated or reviewed, or that the uidependent registered public accountants 
mterpret the requnements, mles or regulations differently than we do. This could result m an adverse reaction in the 
financial marketplace due to a loss of investor confidence ui the reliability of om financial statements, which 
ultimately could negatively impact the market price of om shares. 

Item IB. Unresolved Staff Comments. 

Not Applicable. 

21 



Item IC. Executive Officers ofthe Registrant 

Information About Our Executive Officers 

The following table sets forth mformation regarding om executive officers, including their respective business 
experience during the last five yems and age as of October 16, 2007. Executive officers are elected by, and serve at 
the pleasme of, tiie Board of Dnectors. There are no arrangements or understandings pursuant to which any of the 
persons listed below was selected as an executive officer. 

Name and Position 

Steven S. Boss 
Chief Executive (Officer and Director 

J. Robert Hipps 
Interim Chief Financial Officer 

Aze Princinal Occnnation and Other Information 

61 Mr. Boss has served as a director of the Company since 
July 2005 and was appointed Chief Executive Officer ofthe 
Company in August 2005. Since August 2005, Mr. Boss 
also has served as a director and President of the 
Company's principal operating subsidiary. Commerce 
Energy, Inc., and as a dnector and Chief Executive Officer 
of Skippmg Stone Inc., another wholly-OAvned subsidiary of 
the Company. 

From 2003 to August 2005, Mr. Boss practiced law, 
specializmg in the representation of energy companies and 
commercial energy users. He also has significant operating 
experience m the retail enei^y industry. From 2000 to 
2003, he served as President of Energy Buyers Network 
LLC, an energy consulting firm that provided regulatory 
representation and stmctmed dfrect-access energy 
transactions for commercial energy users. 

Before liiat, Mr. Boss served as President of Sierra Pacific 
Energy Company and Nevada Power Services, both of 
which were non-regulated energy services operatuig 
subsidiaries of Sierra Pacific Resomces, and served as 
President and Chief Executive Officer of Sunrise Energy 
Services Inc. an uidependent, natural gas marketing 
company whose stock was publicly traded on the Amex and 
London stock exchanges. 

He earned a Bachelor of Science degree in Aerospace 
Engmeering from the University of Texas, a Juris Doctorate 
from the University of Southem Califomia and has been a 
member ofthe Califomia State Bar since 1974. 

67 Mr. Hipps joined the Company as Interim Chief Financial 
Officer in July 2007. Mr. Hipps has been a partner with 
Tatum, LLC, an executive service and consulting fmn, 
since April 1998 and a member of its board of managers 
since January 2003. While at Tatum, he served as Interim 
Chief Financial Officer of Southstar Energy, the parent 
company of Georgia Natural Gas, a natmal gas marketer, 
from October 2001 to Febmary 2004 and Interim Chief 
Fmancial Officer for the Municipal Electric Authority of 
Georgia for a three month period. 

Earlier, Mr. Hipps was Senior Vice President of Finance 
and Chief Financial Officer of National Services Industries 
(NSI), a diversified New Yoric Stock Exchange (NYSE) 
company, from 1990 to 1996. He previously served as Vice 
President and Controller, and Vice President and Treasmer 
of General Signal Corporation, a Fortune 300 company and 
producer of electronic and electrical control systems. Prior 
to that, Mr. Hipps was vice president and treasmer of 
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Name and Position 

Thomas L. Uhy 
Senior Vice President, Sales and Marketing 

R.NickCioll 
Vice President, Chief Risk Officer 

Age Principal Occapatinn and Other Information 

Nepttme Intemational Corporation, a NYSE company 
mvolved in fluid measmement and water pollution contt-ol 
equipment. 

Mr. Hipps began his career at Price Waterhouse & Co.'s 
New York office. He earned a Bachelor of Arts degree 
from Yale University and a Master of Business 
Administration degree from Stanford University. He 
received his CPA certification m New York State. 

43 Mr. Uhy jouied the Company in February 2005 as Senior 
Vice President, Sales and Operations and currently serves 
as Senior Vice President, Sales and Marketing teams. 

From October 2003 until he jouied Commerce, Mr. Uhy 
served as Global Vice President and Chief Operatmg 
Officer of ACN Energy, a network sales organization witii 
a broad range of services across die deregulated uidustries 
tiiat we acquned in Febmary 2005. ACN Energy is a 
division of ACN, Inc. 

From November 2001 to July 2003, Mr. Uhy served as 
Senior Vice President for Nicer Energy LLC, a diversified 
company providing natural gas distribution, where he was 
responsible for managing the profit and loss center for its 
consumer busmess unit. 

Prior to tiiat, Mr. Uhy served as President and Chief 
Operatmg Officer for Energy.com Corporation, a company 
providuig comparison energy shoppmg over the Worldwide 
Web. 

Mr. Uhy has also worked at Access Energy Corporation 
and with Unicorp Energy Inc., as Manager of Information 
Systems. In addition, Mr. Ulry served as Director of 
Operations for Aquila Inc. /Broad Stteet Oil & Gas where 
he designed, built and implemented office systems. 

49 Mr. Cioll was appomted Chief Risk Officer of tiie 
Company m October 2006. Mr. Cioll has served as Vice 
President of Risk Management for Commerce Energy since 
July 2004. 

From April 2002 to July 2004, Mr. Cioll served as du-ector 
of Risk Management at TXU Corporation, a company that 
engages in elecU-icity generation, residential and business 
retail electricity sales, and wholesale power and natural gas 
market activities. From 2001 to 2002, Mr. Cioll served as 
Intemal Business Consuhant at TXU Corporation. From 
1999 to 2001, Mr. Cioll served as Senior Vice President 
and Chief Sttategy Officer of RateXChange Corporation, 
an e-commerce startup. 

Mr. Cioll received a Bachelor of Science degree in 
Economics from Louisiana State University and a Master of 
Business Administration degree with a fmance option from 
the University of New Orleans. Mr. Cioll became a 
Certified Public Accountant in 1993. 
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Item 2. Properties, 

We sublease approximately 39,000 square feet of office space m Costa Mesa, Califomia, which houses om 
principal executive offices and administrative and operations space. This lease expues in September 2009. We also 
lease approximately 17,000 square feet of office space in Irvmg, Texas which expfres in January 2010 and lease 
office space m Boston, Massachusetts and Houston, Texas. The Boston office consists of approximately 
3,200 square feet under a lease that expires in June 2010, and the Houston office consists of approximately 
5,000 square feet under a lease that expnes in September 2009. 

We believe that om current facilities are sufficient for the operation of om business, and we believe that suitable 
additional space in various local markets is available to accommodate any needs that may arise. 

Item 3. Legal Proceedings, 

American Communications Network 

On February 24,2006, American Communications Network, Inc., or ACN, delivered to us an arbitration demand 
claim, alleging that Commerce was liable for significant actual, consequential and punitive damages and restitution 
on a variety of causes of action uicluding anticipatory breach of contract, unjust em-ichment, tortuous interference 
with prospective economic advantage and prima facie tort with respect to alleged futme commissions arising after 
then* termination of the Sales Agency Agreement effective February 9, 2006. ACN, Commerce Energy and the 
Company entered into the Sales Agency Agreement in connection with the Company's purchase of certain assets of 
ACN and certaui of its subsidiaries in Febmary 2005. This claun was delivered via mail to the Company but was not 
filed with the American Arbitration Association, or the AAA. 

On Mmch23, 2006, Commerce Energy filed a Demand for Arbitration with the AAA m New York of this 
dispute, assertuig claims for declaratory relief, material breach of contract and breach of the implied covenant of 
good ftiith and feir dealuig. Om Demand for Arbitration sought compensatory damages ui an amount to be 
determmed at the arbitration. On May 4, 2006, ACN filed with the AAA in New York its Demand for Arbitration of 
this dispute with the Commerce Energy. In its Demand, ACN alleges claims agauist Commerce Energy for breach of 
contract and breach of unplied duty of good faith and fau* dealuig, seeking damages and restitution in amounts to be 
determmed at the hearing. 

On June 11, 2007, the Company, Commerce Energy, Peter Weigand, an individual, and ACN, entered into a 
Settlement Agreement and Mutual Release or the Settlement Agreement. Pursuant to the Settlement Agreement, 
Commerce and ACN mutually released all claims agamst one another, and Commerce made a cash payment of 
$3.9 million to ACN. In addition, the Company, Commerce Energy and ACN have filed with the American 
Arbitration Association a Stipulation to Dismiss All Claims with Prejudice relating to the pending arbitration 
proceeding between the Company, Commerce Energy and ACN, Case No. 13 198 Y 00688 06. Pmsuant to the 
Settlement Agreement, the Company and Commerce Energy have no futme financial or other obligations lo ACN, 
other than customary covenants set forth in the Settlement Agreement. 

Califomia Refund Case 

During 2000 and 2001, we bought, sold and scheduled power in the Califomia wholesale energy markets through 
the markets and services of APX, Inc. or APX. As a result of a complaint filed at FERC by San Diego Gas and 
Electric Co. in August 2000 and a line of subsequent FERC orders, we became mvolved m proceedings at FERC 
related lo sales and schedules m the CPX, and the CAISO, markets. Docket No. ELOO-95; which we refer to as the 
Califomia Refund Case. A part of that proceeding related to APX's involvement in those markets. 

On January 5, 2007, APX, we and certam other parties, whom we refer to as the Settling Parties, signed an APX 
Settlement and Release of Claims Agreement, or the APX Settlement Agreement, and filed such agreement along 
with a Jomt Offer of Settlement and Motion for Expedited Consideration with FERC in the Califomia Refund Case. 
The APX Settlement Agreement, among other thmgs, established a mechanism for allocating refunds owed to APX 
and to resolve certam other matters and claims related to APX's participation in the CPX and CAISO centtalized 
spot markets for wholesale electricity from May I, 2000 through June 20, 2001. The APX Settlement Agreement 
became effective on March 1,2007. 
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Under the APX Settlement Agreement, several Settling Parties are entitled to payments from APX, with 
Commerce expected to receive up to approximately $6,5 million. We received $5.1 million of the settlement 
payment in April 2007 and received the remainuig $1.4 million in August 2007. By entering into the APX 
Settlement Agreement, claims against us by any party to the APX Settlement Agreement for refunds, disgorgement 
of profits or other monetary or non-monetary remedies for APX-related claims shall be deemed resolved with 
prejudice and settled msofar as APX remains a net payment recipient (as that term is defined ui the APX Settlement 
Agreement) m the proceeding at FERC. 

In addition, the APX Settlement Agreement resolves and termmates certain disputes pending before FERC and 
the United States Court of Appeals for the Nuith Circuit relating to APX's actions in the PX and CAISO centralized 
spot markets for wholesale electricity, as well as disputes among participants in the APX market and the appropriate 
allocation of monies due among the APX p^icipants uisofer as APX contmues to be a net refund recipient (as that 
term is defined in the APX Settlement Agreement) dming the settlement period. 

The Settlement Agreement is subject to possible court review. We could be requfred to retum or redistribute 
some or all of the funds received under the Settlement Agreement. Also see Parti, Iteml. Busmess — 
Govemmental Regulation — Electricity — Califomia. 

Lawrence Clayton, Jr, 

On August 5, 2007, we received a statement of claims agauist us, which also references certain of om officers 
and dnectors, on behalf of Lawrence Clayton, Jr., the former Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and 
Secretary of the Company, in connection with Mr. Clayton's termination on July 25, 2007. In his statement of 
claims, Mr. Clayton disputes the basis for his termination. The principal relief sought by Mr. Clayton is a lump sum 
payment of approximately $1.6 million. In accordance with the dispute resolution procedure set forth in his 
employment agreement with the Company, a mediator has been selected for the resolution of this dispute and a 
mediation session has been scheduled to be held in November 2007. In the event that the mediation is not successful, 
the parties have agreed to buiding arbitration pursuant to the Employment Dispute Rules of Judicial Arbitration mid 
Mediation Services, Inc. We believe that no severance payments or other obligations were due to Mr. Clayton upon 
his termination and the Company has not accmed for such payments or any other litigation-related amounts. We 
mtend to vigorously defend Mr. Clayton's claims. 

Other Matters 

We currently are, and from time to time may become, mvolved in litigation conceming claims arising out of om 
operations m the nonnal course of business. While we cannot predict the ultimate outcome of om pending matters or 
how they will affect om results of operations or fmancial position, om management cmrently does not expect any of 
the legal proceedings to which we are cmrently a party, includmg the above-referenced claims raised by 
Mr. Clayton, to have a material adverse effect on om results of operations or financial position. 

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders. 

No matters were submitted to security holders in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007. 
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Fnst Quarter 
Second Quarter. 
Thnd Quarter.... 
Fourth Quaiter.. 

FART 11 

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity 
Securities. 

Market Infornpation 

On July 8, 2004, om common stock began trading on the American Stock Exchange under the symbol "EGR.' 
The following lable sets forth, the high and low sales price per share of common stock for the periods mdicated, as 
reported on the American Stock Exchange: 

Fiscal Year Ending July 31.2006 High Low 

Fiscal Year Ending July 3L 2007 

$1.80 
$1.68 
$1.51 
$1.62 

Hish 

$1,32 
$1,20 
$0.82 
$1.05 

Low 

Fu-st Quarter $1.49 $1.01 
Second Quarter $1.75 $1.32 
Third Quarter $3.25 $1.37 
Fourth Quarter $2.35 $1.71 

On October 16, 2007, tiie high and low sales price per share on the American Stock Exchange for om common 
stock was $2.23 and $2.15, respectively. 

Holders 

On October 16,2007, there were 1,600 holders of record of om Common Stock. 

Dividend Policy 

We have not declared or paid a cash dividend on om common stock, and we do not anticipate paying any cash 
dividends for the foreseeable futme. We presently intend to retain earnings to grow om customer base, finance 
future operations, and make capital hivestments. 

Om asset-based credit facility resfricts om ability to pay cash dividends on om common stock and restricts the 
abUity of om principal operatmg subsidiary Commerce Energy to pay dividends to us without the lenders' consent. 
See "Credit Facility" within Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Resuhs of 
Operations m Part II, Item 7 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and Note 4 to the Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements. 

Equity Compensation Plan Information 

Information conceming securities authorized for issuance under om equity compensation plans is set forth in 
Part III, Item 12 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K imder the caption. "Securities Authorized for Issuance under 
Equity Compensation Plans," and that information is incorporated herem by reference. 

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities 

None. 

Purchase of Equity Securities 

None. 
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Performance Graph 

The followmg performance graph shall not be deemed incorporated by reference by any general statement 
incorporatnig by reference this Aimual Report on Form lO-K into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended, or under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except to the extent that the Company 
specifically incorporates this information by reference, and shall not otherwise be deemed filed under such Acts. 

The Common Stock commenced trading on the American Stock Exchange on July 8, 2004. The last trading day 
ofthe Company's fiscal year 2007 was July 31,2007. 

Comparison of Initial Tradmg Period Cumulative Retum The comparisons in this table are required by the SEC 
and, therefore, are not mtended to forecast or be nidicative of possible futme performance ofthe Common Stock. 

The performance graph below illustrates a comparison of cumulative total returns based on an initial mvestment 
of $100 m the Common Stock as traded on the American Stock Exchange from July 31, 2004 to July 31, 2007, as 
compared with the S&P 500 Stock Index and the Utility Select Sector Index for the same period. The Utility Select 
Sector Index is a modified mmket capitalization based index mtended to track the movement of companies that are 
components of the S&P 500 index and are utilities. Utilities include communications services, electrical power 
providers and natural gas distributors. 

This performance chmt assumes: 

• $100 uivested on July31, 2004 m om Common Stock compared with a $100 investment in the S&P 500 
Stock Index and m the Utility Select Sector Index. 

• All dividends are reuivested. 
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Value of Investment 

July 31, 
2004 

Commerce Energy Group, Inc. Common Stock 
S&P 500 Index 
Utilities Select Sector Index 

July 31, 
2005 

$100.00 $ 90.30 
$100,00 $112.02 
$100.00 $133.80 

July 31, 
2006 

$ 83,64 
$115.88 
$140.49 

July 31, 
2007 

$127.27 
$132.09 
$157.48 
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data, 

The selected financial data in the following table sets forth (a) balance sheet data as of July 31, 2007 and 2006, 
and statements of operations data for the fiscal years ended July 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 derived from om audited 
consolidated financial statements, which were audited by an uidependent registered public accounting firm, for the 
fiscal year ended July 31, 2005, and audited by Hein& Associates LLP, uidependent registered public accountmg 
firm, for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2007 and 2006, which are included elsewhere in tiiis filing, and (b) balance 
sheet data as of July 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, and statements of operations data for tiie fiscal years ended July 31, 
2004 and 2003, derived from om audited consolidated financial statements, which were audited by an independent 
registered public accounting firm, which me not included in this filing. The uiformation below should be read m 
conjunction with "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Resuhs of Operations" m 
Part II, Item 7 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and om consolidated financial statements and the related notes 
thereto set forth herein. 

Fiscal Year Ended July 31. 
2007 2006 20^ 2004 2003 

(Amounis in thousands except per share information) 

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data: 
Net revenue $ 371,614 S 247,080 $ 253,853 $ 210,623 $ 165,526 
Direct energy costs 314,371 218,289 225,671 191,180 128,179 

Gross profit 57,243 28,791 28,182 19,443 37,347 
Operating expenses 47,933 32,170 35,585 33,313 22,732 

Income (loss) from operations 9,310 (3,379) (7,403) (13,870) 14,615 
Initial formation litigation expenses — — (1>601) (1,562) (4,415) 
Recovery of (provision for) unpafrment on 

mvesttnents — — 2,000 (7,135) — 
Loss on termination of Summit — — — (1,904) — 
Loss on equity mvestments — — — — (567) 
Minority mterest share of loss — — — 1,185 187 
ACN arbitration settlement (3,900) _ _ _ _ 
Interest income 1,296 1,140 890 549 715 
Interest expense (1,053) ^z ZZ ZZ — 

Income (loss) before provision for (benefit from) 
mcome taxes 5,653 (2,239) (6,114) (22,737) 10,535 

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes 122 ^ ^ (1,017) 5,113 

Net mcome (loss) $ 5,531 $ (2,239) $ (6,114) $ (21,720) $ 5,422 

Eamuigs (loss) per common share 

Basic $ 0.18 $ (0.07) $ (020) $ (0,77) $ 0.19 

Diluted $ 0.18 $ (0.07) $ (0.20) $ (0.77) $ 0.18 

Weighted-average shmes outstandmg: 
Basic 29,906 30,419 30,946 28,338 27,424 

Diluted 30,044 30,419 30,946 28,338 30,236 

2007 

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data: 
Working capital $ 38,863 
Total assets $ 116,576 
Stockholders'equity $ 70,520 

As of July 31. 
2006 2005 2004 

(Amounts in thousands) 

32,253 

99,076 

66,333 

36,719 

102,632 

70,061 

58.105 $ 
110,823 $ 
74.106 $ 

2003 

56,411 
125,870 
93,017 
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation. 

We are an independent marketer of electricity and natmal gas to end-user customers. As of July 31, 2007, we 
provided retail electricity and natural gas to residential, commercial, industrial and institutional customers in ten 
states. Our principal operating subsidiary. Commerce Energy, Inc., is licensed by the Federal Energy Regulatory 
Commission, or FERC, and by state regulatory agencies as an luiregulated retail marketer of natmal gas and 
electricity. 

We were founded ui 1997 as a retail electricity marketer m Califomia. As of July 31, 2007, we supplied 
electricity to approximately 136,200 customers in California, Maryland, Michigan, New Jersey, Pennsylvania and 
Texas; and natural gas to approximately 59,300 customers in Califomia, Florida, Georgia, Maryland, Nevada, Ohio 
and Pennsylvania. 

The electricity and natmal gas we sell to om customers is purchased from third-party suppliers under both short-
term and long-term contracts. We do not own electricity generation or transmission facilities, natural gas producing 
properties or pipeluies. The electricity and natmal gas we sell is generally metered and delivered to om customers by 
local utilities. The local utilities also provide billing and collection services for many of om customers on om behalf 
Additionally, to facilitate load shapuig and demand balancing for om customers, we buy and sell surplus electricity 
and natmal gas from and to other market participants when necessary. We utilize third-party facilities for the storage 
ofom natmal gas. 

The growth ofom retail business depends upon a number of factors, including the degree of deregulation in each 
state, om ability to acqune new customers and retain existing customers mid om ability to acqune energy for om 
customers al competitive prices and on ftivorable credit terms. 

APX Settlement 

On January 5, 2007, APX, we and certain other parties signed an APX Settlement and Release of Claims 
Agreement, or the APX Settlement Agreement, which among other things, established a mechanism for allocating 
refunds owed to APX and resolved certaui other matters and claims related to APX's participation m the PX and 
CAISO centralized spot markets for wholesale electricity from May 1,2000 through June 20, 2001. Under the APX 
Settlement Agreement, Commerce and certaui other parties were entitled to receive payments from APX, with 
Commerce expected to receive up to approximately $6.5 million. Subsequently, in April 2007, we received a 
payment of $5.1 million and the remaining settlement payment of $1.4 miUion in August 2007. 

HESCO Customer Acquisition 

Effective September 1, 2006, the Company acquned from Houston Energy Services Company, L.L.C., or 
HESCO certain assets consisting principally of contracts with end-use customers in Califomia, Florida, Nevada, 
Kentucky and Texas consuming approximately 12 billion cubic feet of natmal gas annually. The acquisition price of 
approxhnately $4.1 million in cash and $0.2 million in assumption of liabilities was allocated to customer contracts 
and is being amortized over an estimated life of fom years. 

ACN Energy Transaction 

Ol Febmary 9, 2005, we acquned certain assets of ACN Utility Services, Inc. or ACNU, a subsidiary of 
American Communications Network, Inc. or ACN, and its retail electricity business in Texas and Pennsylvania and 
its retail natmal gas business in Califomia, Georgia, Maryland, New York, Ohio and Pennsylvania. The aggregate 
pmchase price was $14.5 million in cash and 930,233 shares of om common stock, valued at $2.0 million. The 
common stock payment was contingent upon ACN meetmg certain sales requirements dming the year following the 
acquisition date. These sales requnements were not met and the shares were cancelled m April 2006. As a resuh, 
both goodwill and common stock were reduced by $2.0 million. We refer to this acquisition as the ACN Energy 
Transaction and the assets acquired as the ACN Energy Assets. 

ACN Energy Assets included approximately 80,000 residential and small commercial customers, natmal gas 
inventory associated with utility and pipeline storage and transportation agreements and natural gas and electricity 
supply, scheduling and capacity contracts, software and other infrasttuctme. No cash or accounts receivables were 
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acquired in the transaction and none of ACNU's legal liabilities were assumed. The ACN Energy Assets purchased 
and the operatuig results generated from the ACN Energy Transaction have been included in om operations as of 
February 1, 2005, tiie effective date ofthe acquisition. 

Market and Regulatory 

As of July 31, 2007, we served electricity and gas customers ni 10 states, operatuig withm the jurisdictional 
territory of 22 different local utilities or LDCs. Among other things, tariff filings by these LDCs for changes ui their 
allowed billing rate to then customers in the markets m which we operate, significantly impact the viability ofom 
sales and marketing plans and om overall operating and fmancial results. Although regulatory requirements m-e 
determmed by each state jurisdiction, and administered and monitored by state regulatory commissions, typically 
known as the PUC, operatmg mles and rate filmgs for each LDC even within the same state, are unique. 
Accordingly, we generally treat each LDC distribution territory as a distinct market. 

Electricity 

As of July 31, 2007, we marketed electricity in 12 LDC markets within the 6 states of Califomia, Maryland, 
Michigan, New Jersey, Pennsylvania, and Texas. 

(Dn April 1, 1998, we began supplying customers in Califomia with electticity as an Electric Service Provider, or 
ESP. On September 20, 2001, the California Public Utility Commission, or CPUC, issued a ruling suspendmg the 
right of Dfrect Access, which allowed electricity customers to buy their power from a supplier other than the electric 
utilities. This suspension, although permitting us to keep current dnect access customers and to solicit direct access 
customers served by other ESPs, prohibits us from soliciting new non-dnect access customers indefinitely. 

Currently, several important mles are under review by the CPUC, including the Resomce Adequacy 
Requirement and the Renewable Portfolio Standard. Additional costs to serve customers in Califomia are anticipated 
from these proceedmgs; however, the CPUC decisions will determine the allocation of costs across all market 
participants. We cannot currently estimate the impact that these issues and anticipated additional costs may have on 
om future financial resuhs. 

In connection with FERC's determination of the amounts of refunds due to Califomia energy buyers for 
pmchases made m the spot markets operated by the CAISO and the Califomia PX dmuig the period October 2,2000 
through June 20, 2001, referred to as the "refund period," FERC has issued dozens of orders, most of which have 
been taken up on appeal before the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit. Two of the cases, 
Lockyery. FERC and CPUCv. FERC each present issues which may have an adverse fmancial impact upon us; 
however, at this time, we are unable to predict either the outcome ofthe proceedmgs or the uhunate fmancial effect 
onus. 

Lockyerv. FERC. On September9, 2004, the Ninth Circuit issued a decision on the California Attomey 
General's challenge to the validity of FERC's market-based rate system. This case was origmally presented to FERC 
upon complaint that the adoption and implementation of market based rate authority was flawed. FERC dismissed 
the complaint after sellers refiled reports of sales in the CAISO and the Califomia PX spot markets and bilateral 
sales to Califomia Department of Water Resomces during 2000 and 2001. The Nuith Cncuit upheld FERC's 
authority lo authorize sales of electtic energy at market-based rates, but found that the requnement that sales at 
market-based rates be reported quarterly to FERC for individual ttansactions is integral to a market-based rate 
regime. The State of Califomia, among others, has publicly mterpreted the decision as providing authority to FERC 
to order refunds for different time fiames and based on different rationales than are currently pending in the 
Califomia Refund Proceedmgs, discussed in the immediately proceeding paragraph The decision remands to FERC 
the question of whether, and in what circumstances, to impose refunds or other remedies for any alleged failme to 
report sales transactions to FERC. On December 28, 2006, several enei^y sellers filed a petition for a writ of 
certiorari to the U.S. Supreme Court. The U.S. Supreme Court denied the petition. We cannot predict the scope or 
natme of, or uhimate resolution of this case. 

CPUCv. FERC. On August2, 2006, after reviewing certam FERC decisions in the Califomia Refimd 
Proceedings, the Ninth Cncuit decided that FERC erred in excluding potential relief for alleged tariff violations 
related to transactions in the CAISO and the Califomia PX markets for periods that pre-dated October 2, 2000 and 
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additionally mled that FERC should consider remedies for certaui bilateral transactions with the Califomia 
Depmtment of Water Resomces previously considered outside the scope of the proceedings. The decision may 
expose Commerce to claims or liabilities for transactions outside die previously defined "refund period." At this 
time, the uhimate financial outcome for us is unclear. 

There are proceedmgs and cases in other states in which we sell electricity, that could impact om financial 
resuhs, but we are actively engaged in advocacy or coalition groups to mitigate any adverse policy outcomes. 

Natural Gas 

As of July 31, 2007, we marketed natural gas in 13 LDC markets within the seven states of Califomia, Florida, 
Georgia, Maryland, Nevada, Ohio and Pennsylvania. Due to significant uicreases in the price of natmal gas, a 
number of LDCs have filed or communicated expectations of filing for approval of rate increases to their customers. 
Although the impact of these filings cannot currently be estimated, they are not anticipated to adversely impact om 
fmancial results. 

In 1997, natmal gas choice programs began in Ohio. We provide gas service to residential and small commercial 
customers in the Dominion East Ohio, or DEO, and Columbia Gas of Ohio service m"eas. 

DEO will exit the merchant function ui Ohio, and its plan was approved by the Public Utilities Commission of 
Ohio, or PUCO, earlier this year. The plan was divided into two sections. Phase I and Phase II. In Phase I, suppliers 
and marketers bid for supply only. In Phase II, suppliers and marketers will bid to serve any bundled customers 
remauiing with DEO. On August 29, 2006, DEO conducted an auction for pricuig of its natural gas wholesale 
supply of natmal gas for die time period October 2006 through August 2008. 

The auction participants will bid a monthly retail price adjustment to be added to the monthly NYMEX 
settlement price. The sum of these will become the Standard Offer Service, or SOS, price that will replace the 
current Gas Cost Recovery, or GCR, rate. The GCR rate has traditionally been calculated on a monthly basis using 
imbalances from prior months. The new SOS rate will more closely reflect tme market costs. 

It is expected that DEO will be submitting an application to tiie PUCO by October 31, 2007 for Phase II. 

Results of Operations 

The following table summarizes the results ofom operations for fiscal 2007, fiscal 2006, and fiscal 2005 (dollars 
in thousands): 

Fiscal Year Ended Julv 31. 
2007 2006 2005 

Dollars % Revenue Dollars % Revenue Dollars % Revenue 

Retail electricity sales $ 236,627 64% $ 176,290 71% $ 186,389 73% 
Nattiral gas sales 126,028 34% 61,701 25% 25,476 10% 
Excess energy sales(l) 1,535 — 7,627 3% 40,061 16% 
APX settlement 6,525 2% _ _„ _ _ 
Otiier 899 — 1,462 1̂% 1,927 1̂% 

Net revenue 371,614 100% 247,080 100% 253,853 100% 
Direct energy costs 314,371 %5% 218,289 88% 225,671 89% 

Gross profit 57,243 15% 28,791 12% 28,182 11% 
Selling and mmketing expenses 10,642 3% 5,231 2% 4,081 1% 
General and administrative expenses 37,291 10% 26,939 11% 31,504 13% 

Income (loss) from operations $ 9,310 2% $ (3,379) (1)% $ (7,403) (3)% 

(1) Electricity supply greater than retail electricity demand which is sold back into the wholesale market. 



Fiscal Year Ended July 31,2007 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended July 31,2006 

Operating results for fiscal 2007 reflect income from operations of $9.3 million compared to a loss of 
$3.4 million for fiscal 2006. The principal reasons for the increase in income from operations was a $28.5 million 
increase in gross profit and partially offset by a $15.7 million increase m total operatmg expenses, comprised of 
selling and marketing expenses and general and administrative expenses. Om net income for fiscal 2007 was 
$5.5 million, compared to a net loss of $2.2 million in fiscal 2006, reflectnig the unprovement m operatuig results. 

Gross profit mcreased $28.5 million to $57.2 million for fiscal 2007 from $28.8 million for fiscal 2006. Gross 
profit for fiscal 2007 uicludes $6.5 million for the APX Settlement. Gross profit from electricity totaled 
$46.6 million for fiscal 2007 compmed to $22.9 million for fiscal 2006, reflecting the impact of customer growth in 
the Texas and Maryland markets. Gross profit for natmal gas totaled $10.6 miUion for fiscal 2007 compared to 
$5.9 million for fiscal 2006. The increase in gross profit from natural gas reflected the impact of (i) customer growth 
ui the Ohio markets; (ii) gross maj^in contribution from the commercial and mdustrial natural gas customers 
acquired in the September 2006 HESCO acquisition; and (iii) a mark-to-market loss uicurred ui the second quarter 
of fiscal 2006 on natural gas supply contracts. 

Net revenue 

The following table summarizes net revenues for fiscal 2007 and 2006 (dollars in thousands): 

Fiscal Year Ended Julv 31. 
2007 2006 

Dollars % Revenue D<rflars % Revenue 

Retail Electricity Sales: 
Texas $ 102,357 28% $ 24,886 10% 
Califomia 58,152 16% 67,114 27% 
Pennsylvania/New Jersey 46,025 12% 63,200 26% 
Maryland , 21,005 6% 20 — 
Michigan and Otiier States 9,088 2% 21,070 8% 

Total Retail Electticity Sales 236,627 64% 176,290 71% 

Retail Natural Gas Sales: 
Ohio 34,193 9% 25,449 10% 
Califomia 22,187 6% 22,375 9% 
Georgia 2,758 1% 8,853 4% 
HESCO Customers 64,838 17% — — 
All Otiier States 2,052 ] % 5,024 2% 

Total Nattnal Gas Sales 126,028 34% 61,701 25% 

Excess Energy Sales 1,535 — 7,627 3% 
APX settlement 6,525 2% — — 
Otiier 899 — 1,462 1% 

Net Revenue $ 371,614 100% $ 247,080 100% 

Net revenues increased $124,5 million, or 50%, to $371.6 million for fiscal 2007 from $247.1 million for fiscal 
2006. The increase in net revenues was driven primarily by a 34% increase in electricity sales, a 104% increase in 
natural gas sales and the APX Settlement. Higher electricity sales reflects the impact of a 300% increase m sales 
volumes m Texas due to customer growth, partly offset by lower retail sales in the Permsylvania/New Jersey and 
Michigan markets resulting from customer attrition. Higher natmal gas sales primarily reflect the impact of the 
September 2006 acquisition ofthe HESCO customers. 

Retail electricity sales increased $60.3 million to $236.6 million for fiscal 2007 from $176.3 million for fiscal 
2006 reflectnig botii the impact of 16% higher sales prices, and a 16% increase in sales volume. For fiscal 2007, we 
sold 2,057 million kilowatt homs, or kWh, at an average retail price per kWh of $0,115, as compared to 
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1,767 million kWh sold at an average retail price per kWh of $0,099 in fiscal 2006. Excess electricity sales for fiscal 
2007 decreased $6.1 million compared to fiscal 2006 reflectmg the impact of shorter term forward supply 
commitments due primarily to higher wholesale electricity prices and increased price volatility. 

Natural gas sales increased $64.3 million to $126.0 million for fiscal 2007 from $61.7 million for fiscal 2006 
reflecting the impact of sales to customers acquned in the September 2006 the HESCO acquisition. In fiscal 2007, 
we sold 14.8 million dekatherms, or DTH, at an average retaU price per DTH of $8.51, as compared to 5.2 million 
DTH, sold at an average retail price per DTH of $12.00 during fiscal 2006. From the date ofthe HESCO acquisition 
in September 2006 through July 31, 2007, natmal gas sales to the customers that we acquired in that acquisition 
totaled $64.8 million on sales volume of 8.8 million DTH or $7.37 per DTH. 

We had approximately 136,200 and 80,000 retail electricity customers at both July 31, 2007 and 2006, 
respectively, and approximately 59,300 and 57,000 natmal gas customers at July 31,2007 and 2006, respectively. 

Direct energy costs 

Direct energy costs, which are recognized concurrently with related energy sales, include the commodity cost of 
natural gas and electricity, electricity transmission costs from the ISOs, ttansportation costs from LDCs and 
pipelines, other fees and costs uicurred fiom various energy-related service providers and energy-related taxes the 
majority of which cannot be passed directly through to the customer. 

Dnect energy costs for fiscal 2007 totaled $198.9 million and $115.4 million for electricity and natural gas, 
respectively, compared to $162.5 miflion and $55.8 million, respectively, for fiscal 2006. The increase in electricity 
costs is primarily due to a 16% mcrease ui sales volume and an 11% mcrease in price. Electricity costs averaged 
$0,097 per kWh for fiscal 2007 compared to $0,087 per kWh for fiscal 2006. The increase ui natural gas costs is 
primarily due to a 184% increase in sales volume reflecting the impact ofthe HESCO acquisition offset by a 28% 
decrease ui price. Dnect energy costs for natmal gas averaged $7.79 per DTH for fiscal 2007 as compared to $10.85 
per DTH m fiscal 2006. 

Operating expenses 

Selling and marketuig expenses were $10.6 million for fiscal 2007, an increase of $5.4 million from $5,2 million 
for fiscal 2006, reflectmg the impact of higher cost of advertismg and sales programs, telemarketmg, thfrd-party 
commissions and direct mail costs related to the Company's mcreased customer acquisition initiatives. These higher 
costs due to hicreased customer acquisition initiatives were partly offset by lower payroll costs. 

General and administrative expenses were $37.3 million for fiscal 2007, an mcrease of $10.4 million, from 
$26.9 million for fiscal 2006, reflecting higher customer service, and information technology persoimel costs, 
incentive compensation costs, and increased consultmg expenses. 

Other expenses 

On June 11, 2007, Commerce Energy and ACN entered into an agreement settling all arbittation claims and 
disputes. The total agreed upon settlement of $3.9 million was paid and recorded in April 2007. Related legal fees of 
$0,7 million were included in general and administrative expenses. 

Interest income 

Om interest income was $1.3 million for fiscal 2007, an increase of $0.2 million from SI.I million in fiscal 
2006. The mcrease was primarily higher market yields realized on investments offset in part by lower investable 
balances. 

Interest Expense 

Our interest expense was $1.1 million for fiscal 2007, primarily due to recordmg all costs of om new credit 
facility as interest expense in accordance with FAS 91, 
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Income before Provision for Income Taxes 

Our mcome before provision for income taxes was $5.7 million for fiscal 2007 an increase of $7.9 million, from 
$2.2 million loss for fiscal 2006, as a result ofthe items discussed above. 

Provision for Income Taxes 

We have a provision for income taxes for fiscal 2007 of $0.1 million, compared to none from the prior year. This 
amount reflects the application of Ahemative Minimum Tax to the portion of om current year tax basis income 
which cannot be offset by om tax loss carryforwards. As a result, om effective income tax rate for fiscal 2007 was 
2.2% compared to 0.0% for fiscal 2006. 

Year Ended July 31, 2006 Compared to Year Ended July 31,2005 

Operating results for fiscal 2006 reflect a loss from operations of $3.4 million compared to a loss of $7.4 million 
for fiscal 2005. The principal reasons for the decrease ui the loss from operations was a $0.6 million increase in 
gross profit and a $3.5 million decrease m total operatuig expenses, comprised of selling and marketing expenses, 
and general and administrative expenses. Om net loss for fiscal 2006 was $2.2 million, compared to a net loss of 
$6,1 miUion in fiscal 2005, reflecting the reduction in the loss from operations. 

Gross profit for fiscal 2006 was $28.8 million, a 2% increase compared to gross profit of $28.2 million in fiscal 
2005. Gross profit for fiscal 2005 mcluded a gain of $7.2 million from the sale of electricity supply confracts in 
Pennsylvania. Gross profit from electticity sales for fiscal 2006 was down slightly from fiscal 2005, as the unpact of 
higher gross mmgins on lower electricity sales volumes, due primarily to customer attrition, in om Pennsylvania and 
Michigan markets was less than the prior year. The lower gross profit from electricity was offset by a $1.3 million 
mcrease in gross profit from natmal gas operations, reflecting a full year of operations in fiscal 2006 as compared to 
sbc months m fiscal 2005. 

Net revenue 

The following table summmizes net revenues for fiscal 2006 and 2005 (dollars m thousands): 

Fiscal Year Ended Julv 31. 
2006 200S 

Dollars % Revenue Dollars % Revenue 

Retail Electricity Sales: 
Califomia $ 67,114 27% $ 64,186 25% 
Texas 24,886 10% 9,386 3% 
Pennsylvania/New Jersey 63,200 26% 76,063 30% 
Maryland 20 — — — 
Michigan and Otiier States 21,070 8% 36,754 15% 

Total Retail Electticity Sales 176,290 71% 186,389 73% 

Natmal Gas Sales: 
Califomia 22,375 9% 7,902 3% 
Ohio 25,449 10% 10,782 4% 
Georgia 8,853 4% 4,314 2% 
AU Other States 5,024 2% 2,478 1_% 

Total Nattnal Gas Sales 61,701 25% 25,476 10% 

Excess Electticity Sales 7,627 3% 40,061 16% 
Other 1,462 ^% 1,927 1̂% 

Net Revenue $ 247,080 100% $ 253,853 100% 

Net revenues for fiscal 2006 were $247.1 million, a 3% or $6.8 million decrease from fiscal 2005. The decrease 
m net revenue was primarily attributable to: 
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(i) a $32.4 million decrease ui excess energy sales reflecting the impact of shorter-term forward supply 
commitments resulting from significant increases in the volatility and price of wholesale electricity and the 
conversion of many retail customers to month-to-montii variable priced sales contracts. 

(ii) excess energy sales during fiscal 2005 including $9.3 million realized on the January 2005 sale of 
Pennsylvania electricity supply contracts back to the original supplier; 

(iii) a $10.1 miUion decrease m retail electricity sales due to the impact of customer attrition and related 
lower sales volumes in the in Pennsylvania/New Jersey and Michigan markets, partly offset by increased sales 
volumes in Texas in fiscal 2006 due to a full year of operations and customer growth; and 

(iv) a $36.2 million increase in natural gas sales due to a full year of operations as compared to six months of 
operations m fiscal 2005. 

Retail electticity sales for fiscal 2006 were $176,3 mUlion, a 5% decrease from fiscal 2005 reflectnig a 33% 
decluie in electric sales volumes partly offset by higher retail sales prices. In fiscal 2006, we sold 1,767 million 
kWh, at an average retail price per kWh of $0,099, as compared to 2,631 million kWh sold at an average retail price 
per kWh of $0,071 in fiscal 2005, Califomia sales volumes decreased to 759 million kWh (average sales price per 
kWh of $0,088) m fiscal 2006 as compmed to 819 million kWh (average price per kWh of $0,078) m fiscal 2005 
due principally to normal customer attrition. Pennsylvania and New Jersey's combined sales volumes in fiscal 2006 
decreased 50% to 565 mUlion kWh (average price per kWh of $0.112) as compared to 1,137 miUion kWh (average 
price of $0,067) in fiscal 2005. Sales volumes in Michigan ui fiscal 2006 decreased 58% to 253 miUion kWh 
(average price per kWh of $0,083) as compared to 603 mUlion kWh (average price per kWh of $0,061) in fiscal 
2005. Sales volumes declines m both om Peimsylvania/New Jersey and Michigan markets reflect the impact of high 
customer attrition resulting from unftivorable competitive and regulatory changes leading to the retum of customers 
to the incumbent utility. Texas sales volumes in fiscal 2006 uicreased to 190 million kWh (average sales price per 
kWh of $0.131) as compared to 72 million kWh in fiscal 2005 (average price per kWh of $0,130) reflectmg the fuU 
year impact ofthe customers acquned in February 2005 and the impact of sales, marketing and customer acquisition 
mitiatives m this market during the second half of fiscal 2006. 

Natural gas sales for fiscal 2006 were $61.7 mUlion, an increase of $36.2 mUlion, or 142%, compared to 2005, 
reflectnig a full year of these operations compared to only six months during fiscal 2005. During fiscal 2006, we 
sold approxnnately 5.1 million DTH at an average price of $12.00 per DTH as compared to 2.5 miUion at an average 
price of $10.26 per DTH ui fiscal 2005. 

We had approximately 80,000 retail electricity customers at both July 31, 2006 and 2005 and approximately 
57,000 and 60,000 natmal gas customers at July 31,2006 and July 31,2005, respectively. 

Direct energy costs 

Direct energy costs for fiscal 2006 totaled $218.3 million, a decrease of $7.4 mUlion or 3% from fiscal 2005, and 
was comprised of $162.5 million for electticity and $55.8 mUlion for natural gas. Electricity cost decreased 21% 
from fiscal 2005 due primarily to a 33% decline in retail sales volumes and lower excess energy sold. The average 
cost of electticity increased to $0,087 per kWh for fiscal 2006 as compared to $0,065 per kWh for fiscal 2005. The 
decrease in the total cost of electticity during fiscal 2006 was largely offset by a 170% mcrease ui the cost of natural 
gas, reflecting a 107% increase in retaU sales volumes due to a fiiU year of natural gas operations m fiscal 2006 as 
compared to six months of operations in fiscal 2005 and an increase ui the cost of natural gas supplies for fiscal 
2006 to $10.85 per DTH compared to $8.42 per DTH for fiscal 2005. 

Operating expenses 

SeUuig and marketing expenses were $5.2 million for fiscal 2006, an increase of $1.1 million from $4.1 miUion 
for fiscal 2005, reflectnig tlie impact of higher advertising, marketuig, customer acquisition and telemarketing 
expenses. These higher costs were atttibutable to increased customer acquisition initiatives were partly offset by 
lower payroll costs. 
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General and administrative expenses were $26.9 million for fiscal 2006, a decrease of $4.6 million, from 
$31.5 miUion for fiscal 2005. A decrease of $4.5 million in severance costs related to former executive officers in 
fiscal 2005, and lower legal and bad debt expenses were partly offset by mcreased expenses related to a full year of 
operations ofthe ACN Energy Assets in fiscal 2006 as compared to six months of operations in fiscal 2005. 

Other expenses 

In July 2005, we sold om entire stock holdings in Tmbocor for $2.0 million in cash resuhmg in recovery of 
previous provision for impanment as we then had no basis m Tmbocor. There were no similar ttansactions in fiscal 
2006. Additionally, in fiscal 2005, we incurred $1.6 million of initial formation litigation costs related to 
Commonwealth Energy Corporation's (om predecessor Company) formation. Initial formation litigation expenses 
mclude legal and litigation costs associated with the initial capital raising. There were no such expenses in fiscal 
2006. 

Interest income, net 

Om interest mcome, net was $1.1 million for fiscal 2006, an increase of $0.2 million from $0.9 million in fiscal 
2005. The increase in mterest mcome was primarily due to higher market yields realized on mvestments offset ui 
part by lower mvestable balances. 

Benefit jrom Income Taxes 

We reflected no benefit for mcome taxes for fiscal 2006 as a valuation allowance equal to the net defened tax 
assets has been provided due to the uncertamty of futme realization ofthe remainuig net deferred tax asset at both 
July31, 2006 and 2005. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

The following table summarizes om liquidity measmes: 

July 31, July 31, 
2007 2006 

(Dollars in thousands) 

Cash and cash equivalents S 6,559 $22,941 
Working capital $38,863 $32,253 
Current ratio (current assets to current liabilities) 1.8:1.0 2.0:1.0 
Restticted cash $10,457 $17,117 
Short term borrowuigs — — 
Letters of credit outstandmg $19,334 $24,053 

Consolidated Cash Flows 

The following table summarizes om statements of cash flows: 

Fiscal Years Ended Julv 31. 
2007 2fiQg 2005 

(Dollars in thousands) 

Net cash provided by (used in): 
Operating activities $(16,050) $ 6,063 $ (3,561) 
Investuig activities (8,229) (4,742) 28,012 
Financing activities 7,897 (11,724) (1,860) 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents $(16,382) $(10,403) $22,591 

Om principal somces of liquidity to fund ongoing operations have been existing cash and cash equivalents on 
hand, cash generated from operations and om credit facility which increases om borrowing capacity. Based upon 
om current level of operations and business conditions, we believe these somces will be sufficient to fund om 
expected capital expenditmes and to meet om working capital requirements along with other cash needs over the 
next twelve months. We would need to add to om capital resomces in fiscal 2008 if we expand om business, either 
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fi*om mtemal growth or acquisitions, if energy prices increase materially, or if energy industry volatility and/or 
uncertainty creates additional credit requirements. Cash used in operating activities for fiscal 2007 was 
$16.1 million, compared to cash provided by operations of $6.1 million in the prior year. For fiscal 2007, cash used 
m operating activities was comprised primarily of net income of $5.5 miUion, an increase of accounts payable of 
$11.1 million, offeet by an increase of $38.7 million m accounts receivable, net, mcluding a provision for doubtful 
accounts. These changes were primarily in support of om increased sales and customer acquisition initiatives 
including the customers acquired in the HESCO acquisition. For fiscal 2006, cash provided by operating activities 
was comprised primarily of a decrease of $8.4 miUion in prepaid expenses and other assets offset by an increase of 
$2,8 million in accounts receivable, net, including provisions for doubtful accounts. This was primarily due to 
increased use of letters of credit under om new credit facility to replace deposits previously used to secme energy 
supply. 

Cash used ui investing activities was $8.2 mUlion in fiscal 2007, as compared to $4.7 million used m investuig 
activities in fiscal 2006. The cash used m uivesting activities ui fiscal 2007 was spent equally for the upgrades m om 
key customer billing, risk management and customer contact platforms and for the pmchase ofthe HESCO customer 
list. The cash used m fiscal 2006 was primarily for other upgrades m the previously discussed platforms. 

Cash provided by financuig activities during fiscal 2007 was $7.9 million, as compared to cash used in financmg 
activities of $11.7 million dming fiscal 2006. In fiscal 2007, restricted cash decreased by $6.7 million primarily due 
to transitionmg cash-seemed letters of credit to om new credit facility. 

Credit terms from om suppliers often requne us to post collateral agamst om energy pmchases and against om 
mark-to-market exposure with certam ofom suppliers. As of July 31, 2007, we had $10.5 miUion in restricted cash 
primarily in cormection with a $10 million requnement of om new credit fecility. We also have $3.5 miUion in 
deposits pledged as collateral to om energy suppliers in connection with energy pmchase agreements. 

As of July 31, 2007, cash and cash equivalents decreased to $6.6 million compared with $22.9 miUion at July 31, 
2006. This decrease of $16.3 million was used primarily to fund accounts receivable growth to support om 
mcreasmg customer load. Restricted cash and cash equivalents at July 31, 2007 was $17.0 mUlion, compared to 
$40.1 mUlion at July 31,2006, for a decrease of $23.0 mUlion. This decrease was also primarily due to om accounts 
receivable growth and to a lesser extent the purchase of HESCO customer lists and ttansitioning cash-seemed letters 
of credit to om new credit fticility. 

Credit Facility 

In June 2006, Commerce and Commerce Energy entered mto a Loan and Secmity Agreement, or the Credit 
Facility, with Wachovia Capital Fmance Corporation (Western), or the Agent, for up to $50 million. The three-year 
Credit FacUity is seemed by substantially all ofthe Company's assets and provides for issuance of letters of credit 
and for revolving credit loans, which we may use for working capital and general corporate purposes. The 
availability of letters of credit and loans under the Credit Facility is limited by a calculated borrowmg base 
consisting ofthe majority ofthe Company's cash on deposit with the Agent and the Company's receivables and 
natmal gas inventories. Asof July 31,2007, letters ofcredit issued under the facility totaled $18.9 million, and there 
were no outstandmg borrowings. Fees for letters of credit issued range from 1.50 to 1.75 percent per annum, 
dependmg on the level of Excess Availability, as defmed ui the Credit Facility. We also pay an unused line fee equal 
to 0.375 percent ofthe unutilized credit line. Generally, outstanding bortowings under the Credit Facility are priced 
at a domestic bank rate plus 0.25 percent or LIBOR plus 2,75 percent. 

The Credit Facility contains covenants, subject to specific exceptions, restticting Commerce, the Company and 
its subsidiaries from: (i) incurring additional mdebtedness; (ii) granting certaui liens; (iii) disposuig of certam assets; 
(iv) makuig certain restricted payments; (v) entermg into certain other agreements; and (vi) making certain 
mvestments. The Credit Facility also restticts om ability to pay cash dividends on our common stock; restricts 
Commerce Energy from making cash dividends lo the Company without the consent of the Agent and The CIT 
Group/Busmess Credit, Inc., or, collectively, the Lenders; and limits the amount of our annual capital expenditmes 
to $3,5 mUlion without the consent of the Lenders. We must also maintain a minimum of $10 million of Eligible 
Cash Collateral, as defined in the Credit FacUity, at all times. 
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In September 2006, the Company and Commerce Energy entered mto a Fust Amendment to Loan and Security 
Agreement and Waiver, or the First Amendment, pmsuant to which the Lenders waived prior or existing instances 
of covenant non-compliance relating to the mahitenance of Eligible Cash Collateral, as defined in the Credit 
Facility, capital expenditures and the notification to the Lenders ofthe grant of certain liens to a natural gas supplier. 
Pmsuant to the Fnst Amendment, the Lenders also agreed to certaui prospective waivers of covenants in the Credit 
Facility to enable Commerce Energy to consummate the HESCO acquisition of customers ui compliance with the 
Credit Facility. 

In October 2006, the Company and Commerce Energy entered into a Second Amendment to Loan and Security 
Agreement and Waiver, or the Second Amendment, pmsuant to which the Lenders waived prior or existing 
mstances of covenant non-compliance relating to the mamtenance of a mmimum Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio and 
a minimum amount of Excess Availability. The Lenders also agreed m the Second Amendment to defer prospective 
compliance with the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio covenant and to reduce and restmcture the amount of Excess 
Availability that Commerce will be requned to maintain through April 2007. 

On March 15,2007, the Company and Commerce Energy entered into a Thnd Amendment to Loan and Security 
Agreement and Waiver, or the Thfrd Amendment, pmsuant to which the Lenders waived prior or existing instances 
of covenant non-compliance relating to the maintenance of a minimum Fixed Chaise Coverage Ratio and a 
mmimum amount of Excess Availability. The Lenders also agreed in the Thnd Amendment to extend the period of 
time during which the mmimum amount of Excess Availability that Commerce Energy will be required to maintain 
established by the Second Amendment will be applicable. 

On June 26, 2007, the Company smd Commerce Energy entered mto a Fourth Amendment to Loan and Security 
Agreement with the Agent, pursuant to which the Agent agreed to allow the Company to mcrease its Capital 
Expenditmes, as defined ui the Credit Facility, for fiscal 2007 and beyond to $6.0 million. 

On August I, 2007, the Company and Commerce Energy entered mto a Fifth Amendment to Loan and Security 
Agreement and Waiver, with the Agent and the CIT Business Credit Group/Business Credit, Inc. pmsuant to which 
the Lenders agreed to temporarily reduce and restmctme the amount of Excess Availability requned to be 
maintamed by Commerce Energy. 

On September 20, 2007, the Company, Commerce Energy entered into a letter agreement with the Agent and the 
CIT Busmess Credit Group/Busmess Credit, Inc., pursuant to which Commerce Energy was permitted dmmg the 
period from September 20, 2007 until October 5, 2007, to exceed its Gross Borrowing Base, as defined in the letter 
agreement. In addition, during the same time period, the amount of Excess Availability required to be maintained by 
Commerce was temporarily reduced and restmctmed, and the letter agreement established the amount of Excess 
Availability that Commerce Energy is required to mamtam under the Credit Facility for the period beginning 
October 6,2007. 

Net cash of $7.9 million was provided by financing activities for the yem ending July 31, 2007 compared to net 
cash of $11.7 million used in the year ending July 31, 2006, reflectmg the change in restticted cash and cash 
equivalents used to secure a performance bond in Pennsylvania and $2.3 million of cash used in the year ending 
July 31, 2006 to repmchase Company stock in connection with a settlement agreement with former executive 
officers, partially offset by proceeds from the exercise of stock options of $1,2 million. 

Supply Agreements 

Tenaska Power Services Co. 

In August 2005, the Company entered into several agreements with Tenaska Power Services Co. or Tenaska, for 
the supply ofthe majority of Commerce Energy's wholesale electticity supply needs in Texas. Pmsuant to an EEI 
Master Power Pmchase and Sale Agreement dated August 1, 2005 between Commerce Energy and Tenaska, or the 
Master Agreement, Tenaska agreed to supply electricity to Commerce Energy as set forth under the Master 
Agreement. 
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In cormection with Tenaska's supply of electricity to Commerce Energy, Commerce Energy and Tenaska entered 
into an agreement dated August I, 2005, which we refer to as the QSE Agreement. Under the QSE Agreement, 
Tenaska ^reed to serve as Commerce Energy's exclusive provider of qualified scheduling services and marketuig 
services with respect to electric energy within the region of Texas administered by the Electric Reliability Council of 
Texas. 

A blocked account control agreement with lockbox services, dated August 1, 2005, or the Tenaska Lockbox 
Agreement, by and among Commerce Energy, Tenaska and U.S. Bank National Association established a lockbox 
and a related account to be mauitained at U.S Bank for deposit by Commerce Energy of all revenues received fiom 
certain electricity end-use customers in Texas. We refer to this account as the U.S. Bank Lockbox Account. Until 
Tenaska provides notice to U.S. Bank to the contrary, funds ui the Tenaska Lockbox Account are to be disbursed as 
Commerce Energy may dnect. 

Commerce Enei^ and Tenaska also entered mto a secmity agreement, or the Tenaska Secmity Agreement, 
dated August 1, 2006, as amended on March 7, 2006 and June 22, 2006. To secme Commerce Energy's 
performance and compliance with its obligations under the Master Agreement, the QSE Agreement, the Tenaska 
Secmity Agreement, the Tenaska Lockbox Agreement and the related ttansaction documents, Commerce Energy 
granted to Tenaska a contuiuing security interest m Commerce Energy's interest m the U.S, Bank Lockbox Account, 
Commerce's Energy's contracts with certain retail electricity sales customers and the revenues and accounts 
receivable resulting from such conttacts. In addition. Commerce Energy agreed to deposit all revenues received 
from certaui electric energy customers into the U.S. Bank Lockbox Account and to maintain a minhnum deposit 
amount ui the Tenaska Lockbox Account of $100,000, Tenaska agreed to provide credit to Commerce Energy in an 
amount not to exceed $22 million. As of July 31, 2007, Tenaska extended approximately $22.0 mUlion ofcredit to 
Commerce Energy under this arrangement. 

On August 1, 2005, Tenaska and the Company entered mto a Guaranty Agreement, pmsuant to which it, as the 
parent company of Commerce Energy, unconditionally guaranteed to Tenaska full and prompt payment of all 
mdebtedness and obligations owed to Tenaska. 

Pacific Summit Energy LLC 

In September 2006, Commerce Energy entered mto several agreements with Pacific Summit Energy LLC, or 
Pacific Smnmit, for the supply of natmal gas to serve end-use customers that we acquired ui connection with the 
HESCO acquisition. Pursuant to a base contract for sale and pmchase of natural gas, dated September 20, 2006 
between Commerce Energy and Pacific Summit, or the Base Contract, Pacific Summit agreed to supply natural gas 
to Commerce Energy as set forth under the Base Conttact. 

Pursuant to an operatuig agreement, dated September 20, 2006 between Commerce Energy and Pacific Summit, 
or the Operating Agreement, Pacific Summit agreed to sell to Commerce Energy natmal gas for resale to designated 
customers that Commerce Energy acquned from HESCO. We refer to these customers as the Acquired Customers. 
Commerce Energy agreed to pmchase all of its natural gas requirements for the Acquired Customers exclusively 
from Pacific Summit, and Pacific Summit agreed to meet the demand for natmal gas for such customers at prices to 
be set in separate transaction confirmations accordmg to mmket prices. Credit is regularly extended to Commerce 
Energy by Pacific Summit, and Commerce Energy agreed to enter into a lockbox agreement and a secmity 
agreement with Pacific Summit to secme payment of amounts owed to Pacific Summit under the Operating 
Agreement. As of July 31, 2007, Pacific Summit extended approximately $12.0 miUion ofcredit to Commerce 
Energy under the Operating Agreement. 

A blocked account conttol agreement with lockbox services, dated September 20, 2006, or the Pacific Summit 
Lockbox Agreement, by and among Commerce Energy, Pacific Summit and Wachovia Bank NA established a 
lockbox and a related account to be maintamed at Wachovia Bmik NA for deposit by Commerce Energy of all 
revenues received from the Acquired Customers. We refer to this account as the Wachovia Lockbox Account. 

Commerce Energy and Pacific Summit entered into a secmity agreement dated September 20, 2006, or tiie 
Pacific Summit Secmity Agreement. To secure Commerce Energy's performance and compliance with its 
obligations under the Base Conttact, the Operatuig Agreement, the Pacific Summit Secmity Agreement, the Pacific 
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Summit Lockbox Agreement and related transaction documents. Commerce Energy granted to Pacific Summit a 
contuiuing security mterest in Commerce Energy's interest in the Wachovia Lockbox Account, Commerce's 
Enei^ ' s conttacts with the Acquired Customers and the revenues and accounts receivable resulting fiom such 
contracts. In addition, under the Pacific Summit Secmity Agreement, Commerce Energy agreed to maintain a 
minunum deposit amount ui the Wachovia Lockbox Account. The Pacific Summit Security Agreement also 
provided for monthly withdrawals from the Wachovia Lockbox Account, with payments to be made first to Pacific 
Summit for amounts due and payable, and second to Conunerce Energy for amounts exceeding the Adjusted 
Mmimum Deposit Amount, as defined ui the Pacific Summit Security Agreement. 

Planned capital expenditures 

Om plaimed capital expenditmes for fiscal 2008 are approxnnately $6.0 million and are comprised of carryover 
expenditmes related to key upgrades of om risk management, customer billing and customer load forecasting 
systems and other mformation systems and hardware upgrades related to improved customer order entry and 
mcreased customer service. These expenditmes are expected to be pro rata throughout the year and funded out of 
working capital. 

Off-Balance sheet arrangements 

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements and have no transactions involving unconsolidated, limited purpose 
entities. 

Contractual obligations 

As of July 31, 2007, we had commitments of $63.1 mUlion for energy pmchase, transportation and capacity 
contracts. These conttacts are with various suppliers and extend through June 2008. 

Om most significant operatuig lease pertains to om corporate office facilities. All of om other operating leases 
pertaui to various equipment, technology and secondary office facilities. Certain of these operating leases are non-
cancelable and contain clauses that pass through increases in building operatuig expenses. We incurred aggregate 
rent expense under operating leases of $1.2 million, $1.3 million and $1.2 million during fiscal 2007, 2006 and 
2005, respectively. 

The foUowing table shows om contractual commitments for energy purchase and operating leases as of July 31, 
2007 (dollars m thousands): 

Payments Due by Period 
LessThi 

Contractual Obligations Total 
Energy purchases $63,098 
Operatuig leases 1,905 

Total $65,003 

Additionally, as of July 31, 2007, $19.3 mUlion of letters of credit have been issued to energy suppliers and 
others pursuant lo the terms ofom credit facility and $7.8 million m surety bonds have been issued. 

Seasonal Influences 

Demand for electricity and natmal gas is continually influenced by both seasonal and abnormal weather pattems. 
To the extent that one or more of om mmkets experiences a period of unexpected weather, we may be requned to 
either procme additional energy to service om customers or to sell surplus energy ui the open market. Generally, 
unexpectedly higher or lower than normal energy demand from our customers increases the relative cost of our 
ene i ^ supplies. 

Less Than 
lYear 
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 

The preparation of this Annual Report on Form lO-K requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosme of contmgent assets and liabilities at the date of om 
financial statements, and the reported amount of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results 
may differ from those estimates and assumptions. In preparing om financial statements and accounting for the 
underlyuig ttansactions and balances, we apply om accountmg policies as disclosed in om notes to the consolidated 
financial statements. The accounting policies discussed below are those that we consider to be critical lo an 
understanding of om financial statements because their application places the most significant demands on om 
abUity to judge the effect of inherently uncertam matters on om financial results. For all of these policies, we caution 
that fiitme events rarely develop exactly as forecast, and the best estimates routmely require adjustment. 

• Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities — We purchase substantially all of om power 
and natural gas under forward physical delivery contracts for supply to om retail customers. These forward 
physical delivery contracts are defined as commodity derivative conttacts under Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standmd, or SFASNo, 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedguig Activities". 
Using the exemption available for qualifying conttacts under SFASNo. 133, we apply the normal pmchase 
and normal sale accounting tteatment to a majority of om forward physical delivery conttacts. Accordmgly, 
we record revenue generated from customer sales as energy is delivered to om retail customers and the related 
energy cost under om forward physical delivery conttacts is recorded as direct energy costs when received 
fix)m om suppliers. We use financial derivative instruments (such as swaps, options and futures) as an 
effective way of assisting ui managing om price risk in energy supply procurement. For forward or futme 
contracts that do not meet the qualifyuig criteria for normal purchase, normal sale accounting tteatment, we 
elect cash flow hedge accounting, where appropriate. 

We also utilize other financial derivatives, primarily swaps, options and fiitmes to hedge om commodity price 
risks. Certain derivative instruments, which are designated as economic hedges or as speculative, do not 
qualify for hedge accoimting tteatment and require current period mark to market accounting in accordance 
whh SFASNo. 133, with fan market value being used to determme the related mcome or expense that is 
recorded each quarter in the statement of operations. As a result, the changes m fair value of derivatives that 
do not meet the requnements of normal pmchase and normal sale accounting tteatment or cash flow hedge 
accounting are recorded in operatmg income (loss) and as a current or long-term derivative asset or liability. 
The subsequent changes in the fan value of these contracts could resuh m operatuig income (loss) volatility as 
the fair value ofthe changes are recorded on a net basis in dnect energy costs in om consolidated statement of 
operations for each period. 

As a result of a sale on January 28, 2005 of two significant electticity forward physical delivery contracts (on a 
net cash settlement basis) back to the original supplier, the normal purchase and normal sale exemption under 
SFASNo. 133 was no longer available for om Pennsylvania market (PJM-ISO). Accordmgly, for the period from 
Febmary 2005 through July 2006, we designated forward physical delivery conttacts entered mto for om 
Pennsylvania electricity market as cash flow hedges, whereby market to market accountuig gams or losses were 
deferred and reported as a component of Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) until the time of physical delivery. 
Effective August 1, 2006, the normal pmchase and normal sale exemption has been reinstated for om Pennsylvania 
market. 

• Utility and independent system operator costs — Included m dnect energy costs, along with the cost of 
energy that we pmchase, are scheduling costs, Independent System Operator, or ISO, fees, interstate pipeline 
costs and utility service charges. The actual charges and certain energy costs are not finalized until subsequent 
settlement processes are performed for all distribution system participants. Prior to the completion of 
settlements (which may take from one lo several months), we estimate these costs based on historical ttends 
and preluninary settlement information. The historical trends and preluninary information may differ from 
actual information resulting ui the need to adjust previous estimates. 

• Allowance for doubtful accounts — We maintain allowances for doubtful accounts for estimated losses 
resuhing from non-payment of customer biUings. If the financial conditions of certain ofom customers were 
to deteriorate, resulting in an impanment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be 
required. 
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• Net revenue and unbilled receivables — Om customers are billed monthly at various dates throughout the 
month. Unbilled receivables represent the estunated sale amount for power delivered to a customer at the end 
of a reporting period, but not yet billed. Unbilled receivables from sales are estimated based upon the amount 
of power delivered, but not yet billed, muftiplied by the estimated sales price per unit. 

• Inventory — Inventory consists of natmal gas in storage as required by state regulators and contracted 
obligations under customer choice programs. Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or mmket. 

• Customer Acquisition Cost — Direct Customer acquisition costs paid to third parties and directly related to 
specific new customers are deferred and amortized ow&i the life ofthe mitial customer conttact, typically one 
year. 

• Legal matters — From time to time, we may be involved in litigation matters. We regularly evaluate om 
exposme to threatened or pending litigation and other business contingencies and accme for estimated losses 
on such matters in accordance with SFAS No. 5, "Accounting for Contmgencies." As additional information 
about current or futme litigation or other contingencies becomes available, management will assess whether 
such uiformation warrants the recording of additional expense relatmg to om contingencies. Such additional 
expense could potentially have a material adverse impact on om results of operations and fmancial position. 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, "The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities Including an Amendment of FASB Statement No. 115". SFASNo. 159 permits entities to choose to 
measme many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value that are not currently requned lo be 
measmed at fair value. This statement also establishes presentation and disclosme requnements designed to 
facilitate comparisons between entities that choose different measurement attributes for similar types of assets and 
liabUities. SFAS No. 159 is effective for fiscal years begiiming after November 15, 2007. The Company is currently 
evaluating the impact this statement will have on its financial statements. 

In September 2006, the SEC staff published SAB No. 108, "Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements 
when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements". SAB 108 addresses quantifying the 
financial statement effects of misstatements and considering the effects of prior year uncorrected errors on the 
statements of operations as well as the balance sheets. SAB No. 108 does not change the requnements under 
SAB No. 99 regarduig quaUtative considerations m assessing the materiaUty of misstatements. The Company 
adopted SAB No. 108 dmmg the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2007, and the adoption had no impact on its results of 
operations or financial condition as of and for the fiscal year ended July 31,2007. 

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, "Fair Value Measurements", which provides guidance for 
using fair value to measure assets and liabilities. The pronouncement clarifies (I) the extent to which companies 
measme assets and liabilities at fair value; (2) the information used to measme fair value; and (3) the effect that fan-
value measmements have on eamuigs. SFASNo. 157 wiU apply whenever anotiier standard requnes (or permits) 
assets or liabUities to be measmed at fan value. SFASNo. 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after 
November 15, 2007. The Company is currently evaluating the impact this statement will have on its financial 
statements. 

In June 2006, tiie FASB issued FIN48, "Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes", an uiterpretation of 
SFAS No. 109, "Accountingfor Income Taxes". The interpretation contains a two-step approach to recognizing and 
measming uncertain tax positions accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 109. The provisions are effective for 
the Company as of August 1, 2007. The Company is cmrently evaluating the impact this statement will have on its 
fmancial statements. 
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk. 

Om activities expose us to a variety of market risks principally from the change in and volatility of commodity 
prices. We have established risk management policies and procedmes designed to manage these risks with a strong 
focus on the retail natme of om busmess and to reduce the potentially adverse effects these risks may have on om 
operatmg results. Om Board of Dnectors and the Audit Committee of the Board oversee the risk management 
program, including the approval of risk management policies and procedmes. This program is predicated on a sttong 
risk management focus combmed with the establishment of an effective system of mtemal conttols. We have a Risk 
Oversight Committee, or ROC, that is responsible for establishing risk management policies, reviewing procedmes 
for the identification, assessment, measmement and management of risks, and the monitormg and reporting of risk 
exposmes. The ROC is comprised of aU key members of senior management and is chaired by the Vice President, 
Chief Risk Officer, 

Commodity Risk Management 

Commodity price and volume risk arise from the potential for changes m the price of, and ttansportation costs 
for, electricity and natmal gas, the volatility of commodity prices, and customer usage fluctuations due to changes m 
weather and/or customer usage patterns. A number of factors associated with the stmctme and operation of the 
energy markets significantly uifluence the level and volatility of prices for energy commodities. These factors 
mclude seasonal daily and homly changes ui demand, extteme peak demands due to weather conditions, available 
supply resomces, ttansportation availability and reliability withm and between geographic regions, procedmes used 
to mamtam the integrity ofthe physical electricity system during extteme conditions, and changes in the natme and 
extent of federal and state regulations. These factors can affect energy commodity and derivative prices in different 
ways and to different degrees. 

Supplying electricity and natmal gas to om retail customers requnes us to match the projected demand of om 
customers with contractual purchase commitments from om suppliers at fixed or indexed prices. We primarily use 
forward physical energy pmchases and derivative instruments to minimize significant, unanticipated earnings 
fluctuations caused by commodity price volatility. Derivative instruments are used to limit the unfavorable effect 
that price increases will have on electricity and natmal gas pmchases, effectively fixing the future pmchase price of 
electricity or natural gas for the applicable forecasted usage and protectuig the Company from significant price 
volatility. Derivative instruments measmed at fair market value are recorded on the balance sheet as an asset or 
liability. Changes in fau* market value are recognized currently in eamings unless the instmment has met specific 
hedge accountmg criteria. Subsequent changes ui the fan value ofthe derivative assets and liabilities designated as a 
cash flow hedge me recorded on a net basis in Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) and subsequently reclassified as 
direct energy cost in the statement of operations as the energy is delivered. While some of the contracts we use to 
manage risk represent commodities or instmments for which prices are available from extemal somces, other 
commodities and certain contracts are not actively ttaded and are valued using other pricing somces and modelmg 
techniques to determme expected futme market prices, conttact quantities, or both. We use om best estunates to 
determme the fen value of commodity and derivative conttacts we hold and sell. These estimates consider various 
factors including closing exchange and over-the-counter price quotations, time value, volatility factors and credit 
exposme. We do not engage ui ttading activities in the wholesale energy mmket other than to manage om dnect 
energy cost ui an attempt to unprove the profit margin associated with the requnements ofom retail customers. 

With most electricity and natmal gas customers, we have the ability to change prices with short notice; and, 
therefore, the impact on gross profits from increases m energy prices is not material for these customers. However, 
sharp and sustained price increases could result in customer atttition without corresponding price increases by local 
utilities and other competitors. Approximately 55% of om electticity customers and 33% of om natmal gas 
customers are subject to multi-month fixed priced unhedged conttacts and, accordmgly a $10 per megawatt hom 
mcrease in the cost of pmchased power and a $ 1.00 per mmbtu increase in the cost of pmchased natmal gas could 
result m an estimated $1,564,000 decrease m gross profit for power, and an estunated $954,000 decrease ui gross 
profit for natural gas, respectively, for fiscal 2008. 

Credit Risk 

Om primary credit risks are exposure to om retail customers for default on their contractual obligations. Given 
the high credit quality of the majority of om energy suppliers, credit risk resultmg from failme of om suppliers to 
deliver or perform on then conttacted energy commitments is not considered significant. 
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The retail credit defeuft or nonpayment risk is managed through established credit policies which actively require 
screening of customer credit prior to conttactuig with a customer, potentially requning deposits from customers and 
actively discontinuing business with customers that do not pay as contractually obligated. Retail credit quality is 
dependent on the economy and the ability of om customers to manage through unfavorable economic cycles and 
other market changes. If the business environment were to be negatively affected by changes in economic or other 
market conditions, om retail credit risk may be adversely impacted. 

Counterparty credit risks result primarily from credit extended to us for om pmchases of energy from om 
suppliers. Favorable credit terms from om suppliers make it easier to procme wholesale enei^ to service om 
customers; however, adverse market conditions or poor financial performance by us may result m a reduction or 
elimination of available unsecmed counterparty credit luies. Additionally, we have significant amounts of energy 
commitments to om conttacted term customers that we have hedged forward, often for several months. A significant 
decrease m energy prices could adversely impact om cash collateral requirements. 

Interest Rate Risk 

Suice we had no short or long-term debt outstanding at July 31, 2007, om only exposme to mterest rate risks is 
limited to om investment of excess cash balances in interest-bearing instruments. We generally invest cash 
equivalents in short-term credit uistruments consistuig primarily of high credit quality, short-term money market 
funds and insmed, re-mmketable government agency securities with interest rate reset maturities of 90 days or less. 
We do not expect any material loss fiom om investments and we believe that om potential interest rate exposme is 
not material. As om practice has been, and currently continues to be, to only invest in high-quality debt instmments 
with maturities or remmketing dates of 90 days or less, we currently are not materially susceptible to mterest rate 
risks. 

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data. 

The financial statement information, including the reports ofthe independent registered public accounting firms, 
requned by this Item 8 is set forth on pages F-l to F-27 of this Armual Report on Form 10-K and is hereby 
uicorporated into this Item 8 by reference. The Quarterly Fmancial Information requned by this Item 8 is set forth 
on page F-27 (Note 16 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements) of this Armual Report on Form 10-K and 
is hereby incorporated into this Item 8 by reference. 

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure, 

None. 

Item9A. Controls and Procedures 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. 

Om Chief Executive Officer and om Interim Chief Financial Officer have concluded, based on their evaluations 
ofthe end ofthe period covered by this report, that om disclosme conttols and procedmes (as defined in Rule 13a-
15(e) or I5d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) are effective to ensme that all 
uiformation requned to be disclosed by us in the reports filed or submitted by us under the Secmities Exchange Act 
is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified ui the SEC's mles and forms and 
mclude conttols and procedmes designed to ensme that information requned to be disclosed by us ui such reports is 
accumulated and communicated to om management, includmg the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial 
Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding requned disclosme. 

Changes in Internal Controls. 

In connection with the above-referenced evaluation, no change in om intemal conttol over financial reportmg 
occurred dming the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially 
affect, om intemal conttol over financial reportmg. 

Item 9B. Other Information, 

None, 
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PART III 

Item 10, Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance. 

Information About Our Directors 

Om Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws provide for a "classified" Board of Dfreclors. The number of 
authorized directors is currently six. At present, there are two Class I directors, whose terms expire at the next 
annual meeting of stockholders; two Class II dnectors, whose terms expire at the Company's annual meeting of 
stockholders to be held after the completion of fiscal 2008; and two Class III dfrectors, whose terms expne at the 
Company's annual meeting of stockholders to be held after the completion of fiscal 2009. The following table sets 
forth information regarduig om dnectors, uicluding their ages as of October 16, 2007, and business experience 
during the past five years. Each of om dnectors has served contuiuously as one of om dnectors since the date 
indicated in his biography below. 

Name and Position 

Class I Directors 
Steven S. Boss 

Age 

61 

Gary J. Hessenauer 52 

Principal Occupation and Other Information 

Mr. Boss has served as a dnector of the Company since 
July 2005 and was appouited Chief Executive Officer of 
the Company in August 2005. Suice August 2005, Mr. 
Boss also has served as a director and President of the 
Company's principal operatmg subsidiary, Commerce 
Energy, Inc., and as a dnector md Chief Executive Officer 
of Skippmg Stone Inc., another wholly-owned subsidiary 
ofthe Company. 

From 2003 to August 2005, Mr. Boss practiced law, 
specializmg in the representation of energy companies and 
commercial energy users. He also has significant 
operating experience in the retail energy industry. From 
2000 to 2003, he served as President of Energy Buyers 
Network LLC, an energy consulting firm that provided 
regulatory representation and stmctmed dnect-access 
energy transactions for commercial energy users. 

Before that, Mr. Boss served as President of Sierra Pacific 
Energy Company and Nevada Power Services, both of 
which were non-regulated energy services operating 
subsidiaries of Sierra Pacific Resomces. He also served as 
President and Chief Executive Officer of Sunrise Energy 
Services Inc, an independent natmal gas marketing 
company with shmes listed on the American and London 
Stock Exchanges. 

He earned a Bachelor of Science degree in Aerospace 
Engineering from the University of Texas, a Jmis 
Doctorate from the University of Southem Califomia and 
has been a member ofthe Califomia State Bm since 1974. 

Mr, Hessenauer has served as a dnector of the Company 
suice August 2005, He is a member of the Audit and 
Compensation Committees and serves as the Chair of the 
Sttategic Opportunities Committee ofthe Board. 
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Name and Position Age Principal Occupation and Other Information 

Since July 2007, Mr. Hessenauer has served as Chief 
Executive Officer of Applied Utility Systems, Inc. or 
Applied Utility, a provider of emissions conttol solutions 
for the energy sector. Applied Utility is a subsidiaiy of 
Catalytic Solutions, Inc. In addition, suice 2003, 
Mr. Hessenauer has been an investor and advisor to early 
stage companies. From 2002 to 2003, Mr. Hessenauer 
served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Sixth 
Dunension, an energy technology company that developed 
solutions for real-time monitoring and conttol of dispersed 
energy assets. 

Prior to that, he served as Senior Vice President of Sempra 
Energy Solutions, a retail energy services provider that 
also provided non-regulated energy marketing and ttading 
services. Sempra Energy Solutions was a subsidiary of 
Sempra Energy, a Imge distributor of natmal gas and 
electticity that is listed on the New York Stock Exchange. 

Previously, he served in management positions with a 
number of public and private companies. These positions 
mcluded Vice President, Marketing and Sales for the retail 
enei^y services subsidiary of Edison Intemational; 
Corporate Area General Manager of Muhiple Business 
Unit Development Operations for General Electric 
Company; and Regional Sales Manner for General 
Electric Company's Electrical Disfribution and Conttol 
business unit. 

Mr. Hessenauer holds a bachelor's degree ui Mechanical 
Engmeering fiom the U.S. Naval Academy and completed 
Stanford University's executive business program. 

Class I I Directors 
Marks. Juergensen 47 Mr. Juergensen has served as a director ofthe Company 

since December 2003. He also served as a dnector of 
Commonwealth E n e i ^ Corporation, the predecessor 
corporation to the Company, from May 2003 to July 2004. 
Mr. Juergensen is a member ofthe Audit, Compensation, 
and Sttategic Opportunities Committees of the Board and 
is the Chan ofthe Nomuiatmg and Corporate Governance 
Committee. He also has served as a dnector of Commerce 
Energy, Inc. from May 2003 to August 2005 and as a 
director of Skipping Stone Inc. and Utilihost, Inc., both 
subsidiaries ofthe Company from August 2005 to January 
2006. 

Mr. Juergensen has served as a director of Sterluig Energy 
International, Inc., a private management service company 
m the power generation mdustry suice 2003. He has also 
served as a managing dnector of CleanTech Energy, Inc., 
an energy technology investment and advisory firm, suice 
January 2007. In addition, he is on the Board and is the 
past president of the Board of the Los Angeles Power 
Association, a non-profit corporation focused on Southem 
Califomia energy supply issues. He is also a member of 
the Board and Chairman of Nominations of CleanTech 
San Diego, a non-profit organization committed to form 
and foster an eneigy and envnomnental technology cluster 
m the San Diego region which promotes a clean and 
sustainable fiitme. 
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Name and Position 

Charles E, Bayless 64 

Class III Directors 
Dennis R, Leibel 

Age Principal Qccupation and Other Information 

From June 2000 to January 2007, he served as Vice 
President and Co-Founder of Predict Power, an energy 
solution software company. From February 1995 to June 
2000, he served in multiple management positions, 
including as a commercial Manager, for Solm Tmbuies, 
Caterpillar's gas tmbuie division. From February 1992 to 
February 1995, he served as Director of Management 
Services for Sterlmg Energy Intemational, a power 
generation management consulting firm he co-founded. 

Mr. Juergensen received a bachelor's degree in electrical 
engineering from the University of Southem Califomia 
and is a graduate of its NROTC program. He is a retired 
senior Navy Officer after 22 years of active and reserve 
service. 

Mr. Bayless has served as a director ofthe Company since 
July 2004. He is a member of the Audit, Nomuiation and 
Corporate Govemance and Strategic Opportunities 
Committees ofthe Board. 

Mr. Bayless has been the Provost of the West Virgmia 
University Institute of Technology since April 2005. Mr. 
Bayless held the position of Chief Executive Officer and 
President of Illmova and Illinois Power from July 1998 
untU September 1999 and served as Chauroan of Illmova 
and Illuiois Power from August 1998 until his retirement 
in December 1999. Prior to that, he was Chanman, 
President and Chief Executive Officer of Tucson Electtic 
Power. Mr. Bayless served as a Dnector of Illinova and 
Illinois Power from 1998 until the closing of the merger 
with Dynegy Inc. m Febmary 2000, and served as a 
dnector of Dynegy Inc. from February 2000 until May 
2006. 

Mr. Bayless received his Bachelor of Science degree in 
Electrical Engineering from West Vnguiia Institute of 
Technology. He eamed a Masters of Science degree m 
Electrical Engmeering with a focus ui Power Engineering, 
and a Jmis Doctorate degree, both from West Vnginia 
University. Mr. Bayless also holds a Master of Business 
Administration from the Graduate School of Business 
Admmistration, University of Michigan. 

63 Mr. Leibel has served as a dnector ofthe Company smce 
December 2005. He is a member of the Audit and 
Strategic Opportunities Committees of the Board and is 
the chan ofthe Compensation Committee. 

Mr. Leibel has served as a founding partner of Esqune 
Associates LLC, a fmancial advisory and consultmg firm, 
since 1998. Mr. Leibel is also a private uivestor and 
previously served as a senior financial and legal executive 
with AST Research Inc. and Smith Intemational, Inc. 

He has been a member of the bomd of directors of 
Microsemi Corporation since May 2002 and served as its 
chanman since July 2004. He has also served on the board 
of dnectors of DPAC Technologies Corp., a device 
networking and connectivity solutions company, since 
Febmary 2006. 
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Name and Position Age Principal Occupation and Other Information 

Mr. Leibel holds a bachelor's degree in accounting fi*om 
Brooklyn College, a Juris Doctorate degree from Brooklyn 
Law School and a master of law degree ui taxation from 
Boston University School of Law. He is a certified public 
accountant and a member of New York State Bm. 

Robert C. Perkms 68 Mr. Perkins has been the Chanman of the Board of 
Dnectors ofthe Company since May 2005 mid a dnector 
ofthe Company since December 2003. 
He also served as a dnector of Commonweakh Energy 
Corporation, tiie predecessor corporation to the Company, 
from 1999 to January 2006. Mr. Perkms is a member of 
the Compensation, Nominating and Corporate Govemance 
and Sttategic Opportunities Committees of the Board and 
is the Chair ofthe Audit Committee. 

Mr. Perkms has served as Chanman and Chief Executive 
Officer of Hospital Management Services, a provider of 
financial and management consulting services to hospitals 
and similm institutions suice June 1969. 

Mr. Perkins received his Bachelor of Science degree in 
accounting fiom Bob Jones University. 

There me no arrangements or other understandings pmsuant to which any ofthe persons listed ui the table above 
was selected as a director or nommee. 

Information with Respect to Our Executive Officers 

Information regarding om executive officers is included in Item IC of Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K 
under the caption "Executive Officers ofthe Registrant," and is hereby uicorporated herein by reference. 

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance 

Section 16(a) ofthe Exchange Act requnes om dfrectors and executive officers, and persons who beneficially 
own more than 10% of a registered class ofom equity secmities to file with the SEC initial reports of ownership and 
reports of changes in ownership ofom common stock and other equity securities. Officers, dnectors and beneficial 
owners of more than 10% of om common stock me required by SEC regulations to fumish us with copies of all 
Section 16(a) forms they file. 

To om knowledge, based solely on om review of the copies of such reports fimiished to us and written 
representations that no other reports were requned during fiscal 2007, and except as disclosed in the following 
paragraph, om officers, dfrectors and beneficial owners of more than 10% ofom common stock complied with all 
Section 16(a) filmg requnements dmmg fiscal 2007. 

Each of the following non-employee directors made a late filing of a Form 4 under Section 16(a) of the 
Exchange Act that related to the award of the shmes of restticted stock regarding director compensation ui January 
2007: Chmles E, Bayless, Mark S. Juergensen, Dennis R. Leibel and Robert C. Perkms. 

Code of Ethics 

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all of om directors, officers and 
employees uicluding om pruicipal executive officer, principal financial officer and principal accounting officer and 
all of om other officers and employees. In the event that we make any amendment to, or grant any waiver of, a 
provision of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to om principal executive officer, principal 
financial officer or principal accounting officer, we intend to disclose such amendment or waiver by includmg such 
uiformation as an exhibit ui future filmgs. 
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Audit Committee and Audit Committee Financial Expert 

Charles E, Bayless, Gary J. Hessenauer, Mark S. Juergensen, Dennis R Leibel and Robert C. Perkins are the 
members of om Audit Committee. Om Board of Dnectors has determined that each member of the Audit 
Committee is "independent" as defined under the rules ofthe SEC and the American Stock Exchange. In addition, 
the Board of Dnectors has determined that Mr. Perkins, the Chanman of the Audit Committee, is an "audit 
committee financial expert" as defmed under the mles ofthe SEC. 

Item 11. Executive Compensation, 

Compensation Discussion and Analysis for Named Executive Officers 

Overview — Compensation Objectives 

The primary objective of the compensation committee of om board of dnectors with respect to executive 
compensation is to attract, retam and motivate the best possible executive talent. The focus is to tie short and long-
term cash and equity incentives to the achievement of measmable corporate objectives and lo align executives' 
incentives with stockholder value creation. To achieve these objectives, the compensation committee has adopted a 
compensation approach that ties a portion ofthe executives' overall compensation to our operational performance 
and a portion to flien attainment of individually-assigned goals designed to expand om busuiess and improve om 
intemal stmctures and processes. 

We must match market cash compensation levels and satisfy the day-to-day financial requnements of om 
executive officer candidates through competitive base salaries, cash bonuses and equity grants. We compete for key 
persormel on (i) the basis of om vision of futme success, (ii) om cultme and company values, (iii) the cohesiveness 
and productivity of om teams, and (iv) the excellence of om technical and management personnel. In all of these 
areas, we compete with other enei^ companies, where there is significant competition for talented employees. 
While the Company places an emphasis on recmiting in the national energy sector for senior and key executive 
talent, it also recmits from a broader "all industry" group of public and private companies based primarily in 
Southem Califomia and Texas, the two principal mmkets in which we operate. Accordingly, om compensation 
philosophy has been to mamtam an aggressive and flexible pay postme for total compensation, as well as other 
components of total compensation. In addition, with the same competitive pay issues to consider, om compensation 
committee has developed mcentive bonus and equity plans designed to align stockholder and employee interests. 

We have adopted an approach to compensation comprised of a mix of short- and long-term components and a 
mix of cash and equity elements in proportions we believe will provide the proper incentives, rewmd om senior 
man^ement team and help us achieve the followmg goals: 

• offer base compensation sufficient to attract, retain and motivate a high quality management team; 

• foster a goal-oriented, highly motivated management team whose participants have a clem understanding of 
busmess objectives and shared corporate values; 

• provide variable compensation components (including short and long-term incentive awards) that are aligned 
with om business objectives and the interests ofom stockholders; 

• provide a competitive benefits package; and 

• control costs m each facet ofom business to maximize om efficiency. 

The compensation of om executive officers is based in part on the terms of employment agreements and offer 
letters we entered into with several of om executive officers, which set forth the initial base salaries and initial 
option grants for om executive officers, as well as the terms of om cash bonus plans. See "Employment 
Agreements" and "Cash Bonus Plans" below. 
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In om fiscal yem ended July 31, 2007, or fiscal 2007, we believe that om compensation offering for executive 
officer talent of base salary, bonus plan and equity grant provided a competitive compensation package to attract, 
retam and motivate quality management talent. The establishment of financial imgets as om goals ui the Bonus 
Program for fiscal 2007 reinforced two other compensation goals; namely, alignment of om executive officers' 
compensation with om business objectives and the interests ofom stockholders and the fostering of a goal-oriented, 
highly motivated management team whose participants have a clear understanding of business objectives and shmed 
corporate values. In fiscal 2007, we achieved om sttetch financial tmget under the Bonus Program, thereby creatmg 
a higher bonus potential for each of the eligible executive officers. These same two compensation goals also were 
important m the decision to grant options and shares of restticted stock to the new senior vice president and general 
counsel who was hired during the fiscal 2007, the only equity grants made to executive officers m fiscal 2007. These 
grants me discussed in this Compensation Discussion and Analysis under the caption "Equity-Based Incentives," 
The individual performance goals set by the chief executive officer and the compensation committee for the named 
executive officers that were used to calculate bonus amounts under the Bonus Program for fiscal 2007 were 
designed to link the executive officer's bonus with om performance and the attauiment of individual goals within 
that fimnework of corporate growth. Targeted objectives for the chief executive officer and the other executive 
officers under the Bonus Program fell into the following categories: financial performance, mveslor awareness, and 
uicrease m customer growth, risk management, and leadership. 

Role of Our Compensation Committee 

Om compensation committee approves, administers and uiterprets om executive compensation and benefit 
policies. Om compensation committee was appointed by om bomd of dnectors, and consists entirely of dnectors 
who are "outside directors" for purposes of Section 162(m) ofthe Intemal Revenue Code, as amended, or the Code, 
and "non-employee dnectors" for purposes of Rule 16b-3 under the Exchange Act. Om compensation committee is 
comprised of Gary J. Hessenauer, Mark S. Juergensen, Dennis R. Leibel and Robert C. Perkins. Mr. Leibel is our 
compensation committee chanperson. 

The compensation committee considers recommendations from Steven S. Boss, om chief executive officer, in 
determining executive compensation. While Mr. Boss discusses his recommendations with the compensation 
committee, he does not participate in determuiing his own compensation. In making his recommendations, Mr. Boss 
receives input from om Human Resomces department and has access to thfrd-party compensation surveys such as 
the 2007 Employers Group Compensation Smvey and on-line compensation data of publicly-ttaded companies. This 
information is also available to om compensation committee. None ofom other executive officers participate ui the 
compensation committee's discussions regarding executive compensation. The compensation committee does not 
delegate any of its functions to others in determinmg executive compensation. The compensation committee 
considers the business goals set for that yem, as well as changes in corporate market focus and goals for the next 
fiscal year. The compensation committee reviews with om management the business plans for the new fiscal year 
relative to the prior fiscal year. 

Om compensation committee has taken the following steps to ensme that om approach to executive 
compensation and benefits is consistent with both om compensation philosophy and om corporate govemance 
guidelines: 

• evaluated om compensation practices and assisted ui developing and implementmg the executive 
compensation philosophy; 

• developed recommendations with regmd to executive compensation stmctmes that were reviewed and 
approved by om compensation committee and board of dnectors; 

• established a practice of prospectively reviewing the performance and determining the compensation eamed, 
paid or awmded to om chief executive officer independent of uiput from him; and 

• established a policy to review on an annual basis the performance of om other executive officers with 
assistance from om chief executive offjcer and determining what we believe to be appropriate total 
compensation. 
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Components of our Compensation Approach 

Om compensation approach consists of five components; 

• base salary; 

• annual cash bonuses; 

• discretionary bonuses; 

• equity-based uicentives; and 

• other benefits. 

We chose to build om executive compensation approach mound these elements because we believe that together 
they have been and will continue to be effective in achieving om overall objectives. We utilize short-term 
compensation, mcluding base salary and cash bonuses, to motivate and rewmd om key executives. The use and 
weight of each compensation element is based on a subjective determination by the compensation committee ofthe 
importance of each element in meetmg om overall objectives. We believe that the proportion of compensation at 
risk should mcrease as an employee's level of responsibUity increases. We believe that, in addition to base salaries 
and bonuses, restricted stock awards and other equity-based awards are the primary compensation-related motivator 
in attractmg and retaming qualified employees. Although om compensation committee has in the past engaged the 
services of compensation consultants, ui fiscal 2007, the compensation committee did not engage in the services of a 
compensation consultant with the exception of stmcluring om Bonus Program, described below. We have not 
benchmarked any element ofom compensation as it pertains to om executives in fiscal 2007. 

Base Salary. Base salaries will typically be used to recognize the experience, skills, knowledge and 
responsibilities requned of each executive officer, as well as competitive market conditions. The base salary ofom 
named executive officers will be reviewed on an annual basis and adjustments are made to reflect performance-
based factors, as well as compethive conditions. We do not apply specific formulas to determine increases. 

In fiscal 2007, Thomas S. Uhy, om senior vice president, sales and marketing, received a $25,000 aimual 
uicrease in base salary from $228,000 to $253,000 and Nick Cioll, om vice president, chief risk officer, received a 
$20,000 annual increase in base salary from $152,500 to $172,500, each effective October 1, 2006, in recognition of 
their superior performance in fiscal 2006 and, ui the case of Mr. Cioll, also m recognition of his recent promotion to 
his current position. In fiscal 2007, we hired Erik A. Lopez, Sr. as om senior vice president and general counsel. The 
compensation committee established a base salary for Mr. Lopez of $265,000. Among the factors that the 
compensation committee considered m the comse of establishing that base salary were on-luie salary data, a thnd-
party compensation survey and the potential earnings potential that Mr. Lopez may have been foregoing from his 
prior employment. We also entered into an agreement with Tatum LLC to engage the services of J. Robert Hipps as 
om interim chief financial officer at $37,500 per month for a minimum period of three months. The terms of such 
agreement with Tatum were believed by the compensation committee to be market, based upon Mr. Hipps' 
qualifications and experience. 

In fiscal 2007, Mr. Clayton incurred costs for long-distance travel commutuig expenses in the amount of $59,274 
in connection with commutuig from his home in Texas to om corporate headquarters in Costa Mesa, Califomia. We 
paid these non-reimbursable costs to Mr. Clayton and added such costs to his base salary. 

Annual Cash Bonuses. We believe that as an employee's level of responsibility increases, a greater portion of 
the mdividual's cash compensation should be variable and linked to both quantitative and qualitative expectations, 
including key operational and sttategic mettics. To that end, in fiscal 2007, we established aimual cash Bonus 
Program which is administered by the compensation committee. These bonuses, if eamed, are paid after the end of 
the fiscal yem. AU of om named executive officers, with the exception J. Robert Hipps, were eligible to participate 
in the Bonus Program m fiscal 2007; however, m order to vest in a bonus amount, an executive officer must be an 
active employee on the date the bonus is paid. Mr. Hipps was not eligible to participate because he was not an 
employee dming the fnst nuie months ofthe fiscal yem. 
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For fiscal 2007, bonus payments to om chief executive officer and the other executive officers were based on 
meeting and/or exceeduig Company financial goals set by the compensation committee and achieving other business 
goals set for the respective executives by the compensation committee. Pmsuant to the terms ofthe Bonus Program, 
the bonus award for each executive officer was calculated based upon the product of (i) the named executive 
officer's base annual salary as of April 30, 2007, (ii)the named executive officer's potential bonus percentage 
assigned by the compensation committee to the level of such employee (i.e., 20-70% for the chief executive officer 
and 12-40% for the other executive officers), and (ii) the named executive officer's eamed bonus percentage based 
upon the attainment of certain mdividual busuiess goals set by the compensation committee with recommendations 
by the chief executive officer; and reduced (but not below zero) by amounts, if any, from the Company's 
commission incentive program. Messrs. Boss, Uhy or Cioll were not eligible to participate m the Company's 
commission mcentive program. 

Under the Bonus Program, a participant's potential bonus percentage is determined based upon the Company's 
net mcome which is defined under the Bonus Program to mean net income fi*om operations, uicluduig interest 
income and expense, for any fiscal yem after bonus accruals under the Bonus Program are deducted. At the 
begmning of each fiscal year, the compensation committee establishes fom levels of net mcome goals and assigns 
potential bonus percentages for each such corresponduig level. In fiscal 2007, we attamed net mcome as defined in 
the Bonus Program of $3.6mUlion. At that level of net mcome, the applicable bonus percentage for the chief 
executive officer was 30% and 18% for the other executive officers. At the time the compensation committee set the 
Level II target, it believed attamment ofthe goal to be achievable, but somewhat of a sttetch. Levels 1, II, III and IV 
ofthe net mcome goals under the Bonus Program were set at $1.35, $3.0, $4,0 and $5.0 million, respectively. In 
addition to a bonus payment, if the Level IV tmget had been exceeded, the Committee could have established a 
bonus pool and distributed it among the bonus groups, mcluding the named executive officers, as the Committee 
determine in its sole discretion. 

In determining the eamed bonus percentage, the compensation committee assigned to the chief executive officer 
and each ofthe other executive officers specific individual objectives in several ofthe following categories: uicrease 
in overall Company financial performance; mcrease m investor awareness; financial risk management; peer and 
leadership development; and customer maintenance and growth. Each category was assigned a specific percentage 
weight at the commencement of the Plan. In establishing the performance objectives of the executive officers, the 
chief executive officer and members of the executive team made recommendations, which were approved by 
members of the compensation committee. Each executive, uicludmg each executive officer, had mdividual 
objectives for the yem which were designed to conttibute to the achievement of om corporate objectives. For 
purposes of determinmg whether om executive officers met each ofthe individual goals and objectives assigned to 
them, the compensation committee met with om chief executive officer and then deliberated among themselves 
without the chief executive officer present. Messrs. Boss, Uhy and Cioll each had individual objectives that the 
Company reach $1.35 million in net mcome which was met and exceeded by 168%, The weighthig for that factor 
among the three executive officers was 70% for Mr. Boss, 40% for Mr. Uhy and 40% for Mr. Cioll. Mr. Boss also 
had individual objectives relatmg to increasing institutional or sttategic investors and each of the three named 
executive officers were assigned intemal leadership goals, Mr. Uhy was also assigned Company performance 
objectives to (i) improve profitabUity by originated gross margin of $18 mUlion, a goal exceeded by 172%; 
(ii) increase customer growth by at least 98,000 new customer accounts, a goal exceeded by 120%; and (iii) achieve 
at least an 80% customer renewal rate, a goal also met. Mr. Cioll was assigned several individual projects related to 
unproving the risk management operation ofthe business. In fiscal 2007, the eamed bonus percentages for Steven S. 
Boss, om chief executive officer, Thomas L. Uhy, om senior vice president, sales and marketuig, and Nick Cioll, 
our vice president, chief risk officer, were 90%, 100% and 85%, respectively. The reason for Mr. Boss not realizing 
the maxunum eamed bonus percentage was a subjective determination by the compensation committee regarding 
progress made on team building initiatives and the reason for Mr. CioU not realizing his maximum eamed bonus 
percentage was a determination by the compensation committee that certain elements of the new risk management 
program were not operational and a subjective determination relating to certain new risk mmiagement reports. As a 
result, Mr. Boss's bonus for fiscal 2007 was $111,242 or 27% of his base salary as of April 30, 2007, Mr. Uhy's 
bonus for fiscal 2007 was $45,538, or 18% of his base salary as of April 30, 2007 and Mr. Cioll bonus for fiscal 
2007 was $26,392, or 15.3% of his base salaries as of April 30, 2007. The bonus amounts for Messrs. Boss, Uhy 
and Cioll which relate to fiscal 2007 have not been paid. To receive the bonus payment, each named executive 
officer must be an active employee ofthe Company and be ui good standing on the date the bonus is paid, which is 
expected to be in November 2007. 
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We have not paid any significant signing or promotion bonuses to om named executive officers, nor have we 
guaranteed any futme bonuses to om named executive officers. 

Discretionary Bonuses. The compensation committee has tiie discretion lo awmd discretionary bonuses to 
named executive officers. In fiscal 2007, the compensation committee awarded discretionary bonus to Thomas L. 
Uhy and Nick Cioll in the amount of $25,000 and $20,000, respectively, in recognition of their outstanding 
contributions in fiscal 2006. In awmding the amount ofthe bonus, the compensation committee recognized the more 
senior position of Mr. Ulry and the importance of the sales function of the Company as one of the key drivers lo 
uicrease stockholder value. 

Equity-Based Incentives. Salaries and bonuses are intended to compensate om named executive officers for 
short-term performance. We also have adopted an equity incentive approach mtended to reward longer-term 
performance and to help align the interests of om named executive officers with those of om stockholders. We 
believe that long-term performance is achieved through an ownership culture that rewmds performance by om 
named executive officers through the use of equity incentives. Om equity incentive plans have been established to 
provide om employees, including om named executive officers, witii uicentives to help align those employees' 
interests with the interests of om stockholders, Om equity uicentive plans have provided the principal method for 
om named executive officers to acqune equity interests in om company. 

The size and terms of the initial option grant and restricted shme award made to each executive officer upon 
joinuig us are prhnarily based on competitive conditions applicable to the executive officer's specific position and 
are set forth in the executive officer's employment agreement or offer letter from us. In addition, the compensation 
committee considers the number of options and restricted shares owned by other executives in comparable positions 
within om company. 

The equity awmds we make to om named executive officers will be driven by om sustained, performance over 
time, om named executive officers' ability to unpact om results that drive stockholder value, their level of 
responsibility within om company, their potential to fill roles of increasmg responsibUity, and competitive equity 
award levels for similar positions m comparable companies. Equity forms a key part ofthe overall compensation for 
each executive officer and will be considered each yem* as part of the annual performance review process and 
uicentive payout calculation. 

We do not have a policy regarduig the granting of equity, or the pmchase and retention of equity, by om named 
executive officers. 

Dmmg fiscal 2007, we made one stock option award in the aggregate amount of 45,000 shmes of om common 
stock and one restricted stock award m the aggregate amount of 60,000 shmes of om common stock to om then 
newly-hfred senior vice president, general counsel under om 2006 Stock Incentive Plan. The amount of the stock 
option grant and the restricted stock award was the result of negotiations with the executive officer dming the hiring 
process in order to both recmit the executive officer to his current position and incentivize him to increase 
stockholder value over the life ofthe awards. The option was granted at the fair market value on the date of grant 
which is the closing price on the American Stock Exchange. The option and the shmes of restticted stock vest over a 
three-yem period with one third vestmg on each anniversary of the commencement date of employment. All equity 
awards to om employees, includmg named executive officers, and to our dnectors have been granted and reflected 
m om consolidated financial statements, based upon the applicable accounting guidance, with the exercise price 
equal to tiie feir market value on the grant date based on the valuation determmed by the compensation connnittee of 
om bomd of directors. 

In fiscal 2007, we also amended the employment agreements and the related restticted stock agreements for two 
named executive officers establishing a positive net income performance target for fiscal 2007 for the vestmg of 
75,000 shmes of restticted stock for Steven S. Boss, om chief executive officer, and 15,000 shares of restticted stock 
for Lawrence Clayton, Jr., om former chief financial officer. In selecting such performance tmget, the compensation 
committee, believed the tmget to be easily attainable. Pursuant to Mr. Boss' employment agreement, upon joining 
the Company in August 2005, he was awarded 200,000 shares of restricted stock; 50,000 shmes of which vested 
upon his fnst anniversary with us; and 150,000 shmes which vested over the next three yems in 50,000 shme 
mcrements based upon the achievement of performance targets for fiscal 2006, 2007 and 2008 established by the 
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compensation committee. Dmmg fiscal 2006, the compensation connnittee did not set any performance tmgets for 
vesting. The parties rectified the failme of one ttanche of restticted shmes to have the opportunity to vest by entering 
into the amendment which provided that 75,000 shmes of restricted stock shall vest if we achieved poshive net 
mcome, as defined ui GAAP, ui fiscal 2007 and 75,000 shmes of restticted stock shall vest based upon the 
achievement of performance tmgets to be established by the compensation committee for tiie fiscal year endmg 
July 31, 2008. For each tranche of restticted shares to vest, Mr. Boss must be an employee of us at the time we file 
om respective annual reports on Form 10-K with the SEC. See "Employment Agreements". 

Other Benefits. We have a 401(k) plan in which substantially all of om employees are entitled to participate. 
Employees contribute their own funds, as salary deductions, on a pre-tax basis. Conttibutions may be made up to 
plan lunils, subject lo government limitations. The plan permits us to make matchmg conttibutions if we choose and 
we have historically provided matching conttibutions of up to three percent, based on 50% of employees' 
contributions of up to 6% of defined compensation. We also offer an Amended and Restated 2005 Employee Stock 
Pmchase Plan, or the ESPP, which became effective in July 2006. The ESPP, which has been approved by om bomd 
of directors and om stockholders, provides for eligible employees to pmchase om common stock through payroll 
deductions. The ESPP generally allows employees to elect to pmchase om common stock each month in an amount 
not to exceed an annual rale of accmal of $25,000 per calendar yem in fair value ofom common stock at the lower 
ofthe first or last day's closing price for each month's offering period, less a discount of 15%. The ESPP does not 
discriminate between executive and non-executive employees. We provide health cme, dental, vision and life 
msmance, employee assistance plans and both short- and long-term disability, accidental death and dismemberment 
benefits to all fiUl-time employees, uicluduig om named executive officers. We believe these benefits are 
comparable with companies with which we compete for employees. These benefits are available to all employees, 
subject to applicable laws. Certaui of these plans requne varying levels of employee contributions including 
deductibles and co-pays dependmg on the plans chosen by the employee. These conttibutions are the same for all 
employees including om named executive officers. 

Severance and Termination Protection 

Employment and Letter Agreements. Under their employment and letter agreements, respectively, Messrs. Boss 
and Ulry me entitled lo certam severance and change of conttol benefits, the terms of which are described in detail 
below under "Employment Contracts" and "Letter Agreements." 

Acceleration of Vesting of Equity-Based Awards. In the event of a change in conttol of us, certain provisions of 
om 1999 Equity Incentive Plan and the 2006 Stock Incentive Plan allow, at the discretion of the compensation 
committee for up to the fiill acceleration of unvested equity awards in the event an acquirer neither assumes awards 
outstanding under these plans nor issues om awmd holders substitute equity awmds. See "Employee Benefit Plans" 
below. 

Accounting and Tax Considerations 

Effective August 5, 2005, we adopted the fair value provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board 
Statement No. 123(R) (revised 2004), "Share-Based Payment," or SFAS 123(R). Under SFAS 123(R), we me 
requned to estunate and record an expense for each awmd of equity compensation (includmg stock options) over the 
vesting period ofthe awmd. 

Intemal Revenue Code Section I62(m) limits the amount that we may deduct for compensation paid to om chief 
executive officer and to each ofom fom most highly compensated officers to $1,000,000 per person, unless certain 
exemption requirements me met. Exemptions to this deductibility limit may be made for various forms of 
"performance-based compensation." In the past, annual cash compensation to om named executive officers has not 
exceeded $1,000,000 per person, so the compensation has been deductible. In addition to salary and bonus 
compensation, upon the exercise of stock options that are not tteated as incentive stock options, the excess of the 
current market price over the option price, or option spread, is tteated as compensation, and accordmgly, in any yem, 
such option exercise may cause an officer's total compensation to exceed $1,000,000. Under certain regulations, 
option spread compensation from options that meet certain requnements wiU not be subject to the $ 1,000,000 cap on 
deductibility, and in the past we have granted options that met those requirements. The compensation committee has 
not yet established a policy for determining which forms of incentive compensation awmded to om named executive 
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officers shall be designed to quaUfy as "performance-based compensation." To maintain flexibUity in compensating 
om named executive officers ui a manner designed to promote om objectives, the compensation committee has not 
adopted a policy that requnes all compensation to be deductible. However, the compensation committee intends to 
evaluate the effects ofthe compensation limits of Section 162(m) on any compensation il proposes to grant, and the 
compensation committee intends to provide fiitme compensation in a manner consistent with om best mterests and 
those ofom stockholders. 

Financial Restatements 

Om compensation committee does not have an established practice regarding the adjustment or recovery of 
awmds or payment if the relevant performance measmes upon which they me based are restated or otherwise 
adjusted in a manner that would reduce the size of an awmd or payment previously made. The bomd of directors 
will determine whether lo seek recovery of incentive compensation under the Bonus Program in the event of a 
financial restatement or similar event based on the facts and circumstances surrounding a fmancial or similm event, 
should one occm. Among the key factors that the compensation committee will consider is whether the executive 
officer eng^ed ui fraud or misconduct that resuhed in need for a restatement. 

Summary Condensation Table 

The following table provides uiformation regmdmg the compensation earned during the fiscal yem ended 
July 31,2007 by om chief executive officer, om interim chief financial officer, om former chief financial officer and 
om three other most highly compensated executive officers who were employed by us as of July 31,2007. We refer 
to these executive officers as om "named executive officers." 

FiKil 
Name and Principal Positiontst Year 

StevraiS. Boss 2007 
Chief Executive Officer 

Lawrence Clayton, Jr. 2007 
Chief Fimmcial Ogicer(5) 

J. Robert Hipps 2007 
Interim Chief Fifwrnied Officer(SJ 

Thomas L, Ulry 2007 
Senior Vice President, Sales atid Marketing 

Nick Cioll 2007 
Vice President, Chief Risk Q^cer 

Erik A. Lopez, Sr 2007 
Senior Vice President, General Counselfi I) 

Sal>i7 

$412,000 

$334,274(6) 

$ 2,769 

$248,192 

$168,654 

S 86,635 

Bonus 

-

-

-

-
— 

Stocic 
Awards 

mm 
$100,084 

$ 24,730(7) 

-

$ 17,744 

-

$17,675 

Option 
Awards 

$141,120 

$ 14,083 

-

-

-

$ $,628 

Non-Equilj' 
Incentive 

Plan 
Compen­

sation 
«K3» 

$111,242 

-

-

$ 45,538(9) 

$ 26,392(10) 

— 

All Other 
Compensation 

isu\ 

~ 

~ 

~ 

~ 
— 

ToUi 

$764,445 

$373,087 

$ 2,769 

$311,474 

$19S,046 

$113,938 

(1) Amounts reflect the amount of stock awmds we recognized, or expensed, during fiscal 2007, calculated ui 
accordance with SFAS No. 123(R). See Note 2 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a 
discussion of assumptions made in determming the grant date fan* value and compensation expense of om 
restricted stock awards. 

(2) Amounts reflect the amount of stock options expensed ui 2007, based on the vesting of grants made dmmg or 
prior to fiscal 2007 as compensation costs for fmancial reporting purposes in accordance with 
SFASNo. 123R. See Note 2 to tiie Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of 
assumptions made in determining the grant date feir value and compensation expense of our stock options. 

(3) Consists of bonus payments eamed for fiscal 2007 under the Commerce Energy Group, Inc. Bonus Program. 
To receive the bonus amounts shown, each named executive officer must be an active employee of the 
Company ui good standing on the date the bonus is paid, which is anticipated to be in November 2007. 

(4) Under the rules of the SEC, the Company is requned to identify by type all perquisites and other personal 
benefits for a named executive officer only if the total value for that individual equals or exceeds $10,000, and 
to report and quantify each perquisite or personal benefit only if the value thereof exceeds the greater of 
$25,000 or 10% ofthe total amount of perquisites and personal benefits for that mdividual. 

(5) Mr. Clayton served as om Chief Financial Officer untU July 25,2007. 
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(6) Includes $59,274 in non-reimbmsable long-distance commutuig expenses paid lo Mr. Clayton. 

(7) In connection with Mr. Clayton's departme, we have remitted payment to Mr. Clayton for the repmchase of 
the 30,000 shares of unvested restricted stock. The closing of the repmchase transaction is pending the 
resolution of the current employment dispute between Mr. Clayton and the Company, The vesting of all 
30,000 shm-es would have been subject to the achievement of performance tmgets. In fiscal 2007, the 
performance target for 15,000 shares was the Company's attauiment of positive net income, a goal which it 
attamed; for fiscal 2008, a financial tmget has not to date been set by the Compensation Committee. Please 
see Note 2 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion regmdmg the valuation of such 
performance-based shmes. 

(8) Mr. Hipps began serving as om Interim Chief Financial Officer on July 30, 2007. Mr. Hipps' compensation 
arrangement is discussed below under "— Employment Letter Agreements." 

(9) Does not mclude a discretionary bonus payment of $25,000 in fiscal 2007 awmded by the Compensation 
Committee to Mr. Uhy in recognition for superior performance during fiscal 2006. 

(10) Does not include a discretionary bonus payment of $20,000 that was awarded by the Compensation 
Committee to Mr. CioU in recognition for superior performance during fiscal 2006. 

(11) Mr. Lopez served as om Senior Vice President, General Counsel, between March 26, 2007 and October 5, 
2007 at an annual base salary of $265,000. 

Grants of Plan-Based Awards In Fiscal 2007 

The following table presents information conceming grants of plan-based awards to each of tiie named executive 
officers dming the yem ended July 31, 2007. The exercise price per shme of each option granted to om named 
executive officers was equal to the fair mmket value of om common stock, as determined by om compensation 
committee on the date ofthe grant. 

Grant 
Name P«te 

Stevwi S. Boss 1/25/2007 

Lawrence Clayton, Jr 1/25/2007 

J. Robert IGpps — 

Thomas J, Ulry 1/25/2007 

IflckCioll 1/25/2007 

Erik A. Lopez, Sr 3/27/2007 

Threshold 
( S l _ 

574,161 

Estimated Future Payouts Under 
Non-Equity In^iitjvc Plan AwardstH 

Target I 
_ i a 
$111,242 

Target D 
_1S1 
$166,862 

MaiimuiD 

$259,564 

Estimated Future Payouts Under 
Equity Incentive Plan Awards(2t 

Threshold 
{^ 

Target 

150.000(3) 

30,000(4) 

Madmun 

^1 

Name 
Steven S. Boss 
Lawrence Clayton, Jr — — 
J. Robert Hipps — — 
Thomas J. Uhy — — 
Nick CioU — — 
Erik A. Lopez, Sr 3/27/2007 60,000(6) 

3/27/2007 — 

S 20.3 59 

S 17.S94 

$ 45,538 $ 68.248 

$ 26,392 $ 36,655 

Grant Date 

All Other 
Stock 

Awards: 
Number of 
Shares of 
Stock (#> 

_ 

$101,196 

$ 58,648 

Another 
Option 

Awards: 
Number of 
Securities 

Underlying 
Ontionsffi^ 

— 

— 
— 

Exercise 
Price per 

Share (S/Shi 

$ — 

_ _ 
— — 

Grant Date 
Fair Value 
of Stock 

and Option 
Awards r$M5) 

$ — 

$2.56 $153,600 
45,000(7) $2.56 $ 83,745 

(1) Represents awards under the Company's Bonus Program for fiscal 2007 under various scenarios. Pmsuant to 
the terms ofthe Bonus Program, the bonus awmd for certain ofthe named executive officers is calculated as 
the product of the named executive officer's base annual salary as of April 30, 2007, multiplied by (i) the 
named executive officer's potential bonus percentage assigned by the compensation committee, and (ii) the 
named executive officer's eamed bonus percentage. The potential bonus percentage is a factor based upon the 
Company's net income. At the begmnmg of fiscal 2007, the compensation committee estabhshed fom levels of 
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net income tmgets and assigned potential bonus percentages applicable to the named executive officers for 
each corresponduig level. For the chief executive officer, Mr. Boss, the potential bonus percentages for the 
Threshold, Target I, Target II and Maximum categories were 20%, 30%, 45% and 70%, and tiie potential bonus 
percentages for the other named executive officers were 12%, 18%, 25% and 40%. The eamed bonus 
percentage is a factor based upon the attauiment of certaui individual busuiess goals assigned by the 
compensation committee. Based upon an evaluation of the attainment of such goals, the eamed bonus 
percentages for Messrs. Boss, Ulry and Cioll were 90%, 100% and 85%. 

Amounts shown under the Threshold, Tai^et I, Tmget II and Maximum columns correspond to the fom levels 
of net income goals for fiscal 2007, which were, respectively, $1.35 mUlion, $3.0 million, $4.0 miUion and 
$5.0 million. Amounts shown m each column reflect the bonus that would have been eamed by the respective 
named executive officer under the Bonus Program had the Company achieved the applicable net income tmget. 
We assumed that the eamed bonus percentage for each ofthe named executive officers in fiscal 2007 remained 
constant ui each ofthe fom tmget income scenarios. The Target 1 column sets forth the bonus amounts actually 
eamed for fiscal 2007 based on the Company's net income as defined m the Bonus Plan of $3.6 mUlion 
Lawrence Clayton, Jr., J. Robert Hipps and Erik A. Lopez, Sr. each are not eligible to receive a bonus under the 
Bonus Program. Messrs. Clayton and Lopez me no longer employees of the Company and thus would not be 
entitled to receive a bonus because they would not meet the vestuig requfrements of the Bonus Program. 
Mr. Hipps did not meet the eligibility requirements under the Bonus Program. 

(2) Represents performance-based shmes of restticted stock awarded under the Company's 1999 Equity Incentive 
Plan. 

(3) The awmd, granted under the 1999 Equity Incentive Plan described herein, is exercisable with respect to 
75,000 shares upon om achievement of net income for fiscal 2007 and confmnation of such net mcome as set 
forth ui this Annual Report on Form lO-K. Vestuig for the remaining 75,000 shares will be determined based 
on the achievement of performance tmgets for fiscal 2008 that have not to date been set by the Compensation 
Committee. 

(4) Under the terms of Mr. Clayton's amended employment agreement and amended restticted stock agreement, 
the awmd, granted under the 1999 Equity Incentive Plan, was exercisable with respect to 15,000 shares upon 
om achievement of net mcome for fiscal 2007 and confirmation of such net income as set forth in this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K, with vesting ofthe remammg 15,000 shares based on the achievement of performance 
targets for fiscal 2008 that have not yet been set by the Compensation Committee. Subsequent to Mr. Clayton's 
departure from the Company on July 25, 2007, we have remitted payment to Mr. Clayton for the repmchase of 
his 30,000 shmes of restricted stock for $0,001 per shme pmsuant to the terms of his restticted stock 
agreement. The closmg of the repmchase transaction is pending the resolution of the current employment 
dispute between Mr. Clayton and the Company. 

(5) Amounts reflect the total fair value of stock awards or stock options granted in fiscal 2007, calculated in 
accordance witii SFAS No. 123(R). 

(6) The awmd, granted under the 2006 Stock Incentive Plan, vested as to 20,000 shares on March 26, 2008 and as 
to 20,000 on each of the first two anniversmies thereafter under its original terms. Pursuant to a separation 
agreement and general release dated October 5, 2007; such vesting was amended as follows: 10,000 shmes of 
such restricted stock were forfeited and 50,000 shmes of restricted stock will vest as of January 2,2008. 

(7) The options shmes, granted under tiie 2006 Stock Incentive Plan, vested as to 15,000 shares on March 26, 2008 
and as to 15,000 shmes on each of tiie first two anniversaries thereafter under its original terms. Under om 
separation agreement with Mr. Lopez, his option to pmchase all such 45,000 shm*es was canceled. 
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Outstanding Equity Awards at July 31, 2007 

The following table presents the outstandmg equity awards held by each of the named executive officers as of 
tiie fiscal year ended July 31, 2007, uicluduig the value ofthe stock awmds. 

Name 

Stevens, Boss 

J Roi>CTt Hipps 

Thomas J. Ulry 

Nick Cioll 

Erik A Lopez, Sr (6) 

Ontion Awards 

Number of Securities 
Underlying Unexercised 

Juhr 31. 2007 m 
Exercisable Uncxercisahle 

200,000 100,000(2) 

50,000 — 

100.000 — 

85.000 — 

— 45,000 

OpHon 
Exercise 
Price (?) 

$1.80 

$1.80 

$3.50 

$1.92 

$2.55 

Option 
Expiration 

Date 

07/31/2015 

07/22/2015 

03/02/2015 

07/27/2014 

03/27/2013 

Number of 
Shares of 

Stock Not Vested 
m 

20,000(5) 

60,000 

Market 
Value of 
Shares of 
Stock Not 

Vested fSMII 

$ 42,000 

$126,000 

Equity 
Inceattre 

Plan Awards: 
Number of 
Unearned 

Shares That 
Have Not 
Vented im 

150.000(3) 

Equity 
Incentive 

Plan Awards: 
Market or 

Payout Value of 
Unearned 

Shares 
That Have 

Not Vested <$) 

$315,000 

-

(1) Market value based on om common stock's closmg price of $2.10 on July 31, 2007, the last day of fiscal 2007. 

(2) These option shares became exercisable on August 1,2007. 

(3) The awmd is exercisable with respect to 75,000 shm-es upon om achievement of net income for fiscal 2007 and 
confnmation of such net uicome as set forth in this Annual Report on Form lO-K. Vesting for the remaining 
75,000 shmes will be determined based on the achievement of performance tmgets for fiscal 2008 that have not 
to date been set by the Compensation Committee. 

(4) Prior to his departme on July 25, 2007, Mr. Clayton held options to pmchase a total of 120,000 shmes of om 
common stock, 40,000 of which were exercisable and 80,000 of which were not. As a result of Mr. Clayton's 
termination, all stock option shmes held by Mr. Clayton, mcludmg those that were exercisable, were 
termuiated. In addition, subsequently, we have remitted payment to Mr. Clayton for the repurchase of 
30,000 shares of unvested restricted stock previously held by Mr. Clayton. The closing of the repmchase 
transaction is pending the resolution of the current employment dispute between Mr. Clayton and the 
Company. 

(5) Of tiiese restticted stock shmes, 10,000 wiU vest on January 1,2008 and 10,000 will vest on January 1,2009. 

(6) Under the terms of a sepmation agreement with Mr. Lopez dated October 5, 2007, 10,000 shmes of restricted 
stock were forfeited pursuant to then original terms. The vestuig relatmg to the remammg 50,000 shmes of 
restricted slock was amended so that such shmes will vest as of January 2, 2008, and the option to pmchase 
45,000 shmes ofom common stock was canceled pursuant to its terms. 

Option Exercises in Fiscal 2007 

The following table presents certain uiformation conceming the exercise of options and the vestmg of stock 
awmds by each ofom named executive officers dmmg fiscal 2007. 

option Awards Stock Awards 

Name 

Steven S. Boss 
Lawrence Clayton, Jr. 
J. Robert Hipps 
Thomas J. Uhy 
Nick CioU 
Erik A. Lopez, Sr 

Number of Shares 
Acquired 

on Exercise W) 

15,000 

Value Realized 
on Exercise (S) 

$15,600 

Number of Shares 
Acquired 

on Exercise (#) 

50,000 
15,000 

10,000 

Value Realized 
on Vesting 1$) 

$69,500 

$24,300 

$14,600 
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Pension Benefits 

None of om named executive officers participates m or has account balances in qualified or non-qualified 
defined benefit plans sponsored by us. 

Nonqualified Contribution Plans 

None of om named executive officers participate m or have account balances ui non-qualified defmed 
contribution plans maintained by us. The compensation committee, which is comprised solely of "outside dnectors" 
as defined for purposes of Section 162(m) ofthe Intemal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, may 
elect to provide om officers and other employees with non-qualified defined contribution benefits if the 
compensation committee determines that doing so is in om best interests. 

Deferred Compensation 

None of om named executive officers participates in or has account balances in deferred compensation plans or 
arrangements mauitauied by us. 

Employment Agreements 

Steven S. Boss 

On August 1, 2005, we entered mto an employment agreement with Steven S. Boss, om Chief Executive Officer, 
which was most recently amended on January 25, 2007. The employment agreement, as amended, has no specific 
term and is subject to termmation by either the Company or Mr. Boss without cause upon 60 days written notice. 

The amended employment agreement sets forth Mr. Boss' base salary as $412,000 per yem, which is subject lo 
periodic review and to uicrease (but not decrease) by our bomd of directors or compensation committee. With 
respect to fiscal yem 2006, the employment agreement provided for Mr. Boss' eligibility for consideration for an 
uicentive bonus calculated between 50% and 150% of base salary based upon achievement of objectives established 
by the Compensation Committee. For fiscal 2007 and each fiscal year thereafter, Mr, Boss is eligible to participate 
ui the Company's Bonus Program. 

Pmsuant to the emplo3̂ ment agreement, Mr. Boss was granted an option to pmchase 300,000 shmes of om 
common stock at an exercise price equal to $1.80 per share, with vestmg as to 100,000 shares upon hue and as to 
100,000 shmes on each of the first two anniversaries thereafter. In addhion, pursuant to an amendment to the 
employment agreement dated January 25, 2007, and a restticted stock agreement dated August 1, 2005 and amended 
as of January 25, 2007, Mr. Boss was granted 200,000 shares of restticted stock, 50,000 shmes of which vested (the 
Company's right to repmchase terminated) on August 1,2006. Pursuant to the amended employment agreement and 
the amended restricted stock agreement, the remaining 150,000 shmes vest as follows: (i) 75,000 ofthe restricted 
shares shall vest (the Company's right to repurchase shall terminate) upon the date on which the Company files its 
annual report on Form 10-K with the SEC indicating that the Company achieved net uicome (defined in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles) for fiscal 2007, and (ii) 75,000 ofthe restticted shares shall vest (the 
Company's right to repmchase shall termuiate) upon the date on which the Company files its annual report on 
Form lO-K with the SEC indicatuig ui the financial statements contained thereui that the Company achieved the 
performance tmget(s) established by the Compensation Committee for fiscal 2008. 

The employment agreement provides that if Mr. Boss is terminated without cause (as defined below) or if he 
resigns for good reason (as defined below), Mr. Boss will be entitled lo severance equal to 12 months of his then-
current base salary payable over a 12-month period, plus 12 months accelerated vesting of outstanding unvested 
stock options and restticted stock, plus reimbursement of msmance premiums for health coverage for two months. If 
Mr, Boss is terminated for cause (as defined below), he would receive eamed but unpaid base salary and accmed but 
unpaid vacation, but no fiuther compensation or severance payment of any kind. 
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For purposes of Mr. Boss' agreement: 

• "cause" generally means: (i) a material breach ofthe employment agreement, or of a Company policy or law 
applicable to the Company, (ii) demonstrated and material neglect of duties or failure to perform material 
duties following written notice and a reasonable cme period, (iii) misconduct, dishonesty, self-dealing, fraud 
or similar conduct, or (iv) conviction of a crime or plea of guilty or nolo contendere, with limited exceptions. 

• "good reason" generally means (i) a reduction m Mr. Boss' salary or benefits, except as part of a general 
change in compensation benefits for similmly situated executives, (ii) a failme by us to comply with tiie 
material provisions ofthe employment agreement or (iii) within 180 days of a change m conttol, as defmed 
below; provided, that the Company has a period of 20 days after receipt of written notice from the executive 
to cme an event or condition described in clause (i) or (ii). 

• A "change in control" generally means (i)the acquisition by any person or group of om secmities, after 
which such person or group owns more than 50% of om outstandmg voting stock, (ii)a merger or 
consolidation involving the Company which results in the holders of the Company's outstanding voting 
securities immediately prior to such transaction failing to hold more than 50% of the outstanding voting 
power ofthe corporation resulting fix)m such merger or consolidation, or (iii) the acquisition or sale of all or 
substantially all ofom assets in a transaction or series of transactions. 

Under the employment agreement, Mr. Boss agreed not to solicit the Company's employees, customers, clients 
or suppliers during his employment and for a period of one yem after any period in which severance payments are 
received, and not to compete with the Company during his employment and any period m which severance 
payments are received. Further, the employment agreement obligates Mr. Boss to refraui fiom disclosing any ofom 
proprietary mformation received dmmg the course of employment and, with some exceptions, to assign to us any 
uiventions conceived or developed during the course of employment. As a condition to Mr. Boss receiving 
severance benefits under the employment agreement, he would need to sign a release m a form customarily used by 
the Company for such purposes, and reaffirm the confidentiality, non-solicitation and non-competition agreements 
contamed m his employment agreement. Finally, pmsuant to the employment agreement, we entered into om 
standard form of mdemnification agreement with Mr. Boss, 

Lawrence Clayton, Jr. 

On December 1, 2005, we entered mto an employment agreement with Mr. Clayton, om former Chief Financial 
Officer, which was amended most recently on January 25, 2007. Under the terms of the employment agreement, 
Mr. Clayton received an annual base salary of $275,000. With respect to fiscal yem 2006, Mr. Clayton was eligible 
to receive an incentive bonus for the fiscal 2006 if the Company reached certain financial objectives determined by 
tiie Bomd, and for fiscal 2007 and each fiscal yem thereafter, Mr. Clayton would have been eligible to participate m 
the Company's Bonus Program. 

On December I, 2005, pmsuant to the terms of the employment agreement and the stock option agreement, we 
granted to Mr, Clayton an option to purchase 120,000 shares ofom common stock, which option vests ui equal 
amoimts on each of the fnst three anniversaries of the date of the grant. In addition, pmsuant to the amended 
employment agreement and a restricted slock agreement dated December I, 2005 and amended as of January 25, 
2007, Mr. Clayton was granted 45,000 shmes of restricted stock, 15,000 shares of which vested (the Company's 
right to repurchase termuiated) on December 1, 2006. Pursuant to tiie employment agreement and a stock agreement, 
each as amended, the remaining 30,000 shmes vest as follows: (i) 15,000 ofthe restticted shmes shall vest (the 
Company's right to repmchase shall terminate) upon the dale on which the Company files its annual report on 
Form 10-K with the SEC mdicathig that the Company achieved net income (defined in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles) for fiscal 2007, and (ii) 15,000 ofthe restticted shmes shall vest (the Company's 
right to repurchase shall terminate) upon the date on which the Company files its annual report on Form 10-K with 
the SEC indicating in the financial statements contained therein that the Company achieved the performance 
tmget(s) established by the Compensation Committee for fiscal 2008. 

The employment agreement provided that if Mr. Clayton's employment was terminated by the Company without 
cause or if he resigned for good reason, Mr. Clayton would be entitled to severance, as long as Mr. Clayton did not 
accept other employment, equal to 12 months base salary, payable in six equal mstallments commencing on the first 
business day after sbc months from the date of the termination, or the severance period, plus reimbmsement of the 
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cost of continuation coverage under COBRA for 12 months and 12 months accelerated vesting of outstanding 
options and restricted slock. If Mr. Clayton is terminated for cause (as defined below), he would receive eamed but 
impaid base salary and accmed but unpaid vacation, but no further compensation or severance payment of any kind. 
For purposes of Mr. Clayton's employment agreement, the terms "cause" and "good reason" have the same 
meanmgs given above under the description of Mr. Boss' employment agreement. 

Under the employment agreement, Mr. Clayton agreed not to solicit customers or employees of the Company 
during his employment with the Company and for a period of one year after the end of the Severance Period. The 
employment agreement further provided that Mr. Clayton would not accept employment wilh, or otherwise engage 
ui, any business that competes with the Company during his employment or any period dining which he is receivuig 
severance payments from the Company. As a condition to Mr. Clayton receiving severance benefits under the 
employment agreement, he would need to sign a release in a form custommily used by the Company for such 
purposes, and reaffnm the confidentiality, non-solicitation and non-competition agreements contained in his 
employment agreement. Finally, m accordance with the employment agreement, we entered mto om standmd form 
of indemnification agreement with Mr. Clayton. 

Pmsuant to his employment agreement, Mr. Clayton was awmded a relocation payment m the amount of 
$20,000, and reimbmsement for documented relocation expenses up to an additional $80,000. An amendment to the 
employment agreement dated November 30, 2006 clmified that reimbursements for any living expenses (including 
reasonable travel expenses) uicurred by Mr. Clayton in Southem Califomia after January 1,2007 would draw on the 
above-referenced $80,000 relocation expense provision. 

On July 23, 2007, the Company's Board terminated Mr. Clayton's employment and position as the Company's 
Senior Vice President, Chief Fmancial Officer and Secretary ofthe Company, effective July 25, 2007. 

Erik A. Lopez, Sr. 

On Mmch 26, 2007, we entered mto an employment agreement with Erik A. Lopez, Sr. The employment 
agreement has no specific term and is subject to termination by either the Company or Mr. Lopez, Sr. without cause 
upon 60 days written notice. 

The employment agreement set forth Mr. Lopez's base salaiy as $265,000 per yem, which is subject to periodic 
review and to increase (but not decrease) by om bomd of dnectors or compensation committee. The employment 
agreement also provided for Mr. Lopez's eligibility to participate ui the Company's Bonus Program beginnmg with 
fiscal 2007 and for each year thereafter dmmg the term ofthe employment agreement. 

Pmsuant to the employment agreement, Mr. Lopez was granted an option to pmchase 45,000 shmes of om 
common stock at an exercise price equal to $2.56 per shme, with 15,000 shares subject to such option vesting on 
March 26,2008, and 15,000 shmes vesting on each ofthe first two anniversaries thereafter. In addition, pmsuant to 
the employment agreement and a restricted stock agreement, Mr. Lopez was granted 60,000 shares of restticted 
stock, with 20,000 shmes vesting as of Mmch 26, 2008, and 20,000 shares vestuig on each of the first two 
anniversaries thereafter. 

The employment agreement provided that if Mr. Lopez is terminated without cause or if he resigns for good 
reason, Mr. Lopez would be entitled to severance, as long as he did not accept other employment, equal to 
12 months of his then-current base salary, payable as to 50% of such amount six months after the termination date 
and the balance paid in equal monthly installments thereafter, plus reimbmsement of the cost of continuation 
coverage under COBRA for 12 months and 12 months accelerated vesting of outstanding unvested stock options and 
restricted stock. If Mr. Lopez is terminated for cause (as defined below), he would receive earned but unpaid base 
salary and accmed but unpaid vacation, but no further compensation or severance payment of any kind. 

For purposes of Mr. Lopez's agreement, "cause" generally means: (i) a material breach of the employment 
agreement, or of a Company policy or law applicable to the Company, (ii) demonsttaled and material neglect of 
duties or failme lo perform material duties following written notice and a reasonable cme period, (iii) misconduct 
that is serious in natme, dishonesty, self-dealing, fraud or simUar conduct related to Mr. Lopez's conduct, 
(iv) having been convicted of or entered a plea of nolo contendere wilh respect to a felony or a crime involving 
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fiaud, dishonesty or moral turpitude, or (v) having engaged in intentional misconduct which materially damages the 
Company under certam cncumstances. With respect to Mr. Lopez's employment agreement, tiie terms "good 
reason" and "change of conttol" have the same meanings set forth above under the description of Mr. Boss' 
employment agreement. 

Under the employment agreement, Mr. Lopez agreed not to solicit the Company's employees, customers, clients 
or suppliers dming the term of his employment and for a period of one yem thereafter, and not to compete with the 
Company during the term of his employment and any period ui which severance payments are received. Further, the 
employment agreement obligates Mr. Lopez to refraui from disclosing any of om proprietary information received 
during the comse of employment and, with some exceptions, to assign to us any uiventions conceived or developed 
during the course of employment. As a condition to Mr. Lopez receiving severance benefits under the employment 
agreement, he would need to sign a release m a form customarily used by the Company for such purposes, and 
reaffirm the confidentiality, non-solicitation and non-competition agreements contained in his employment 
agreement. Finally, pmsuant to the employment agreement, we entered into om standard form of indemnification 
agreement with Mr. Lopez. 

Separation Agreement with Mr, Lopez 

Effective October 5, 2007, Mr, Lopez resigned from his position as Senior Vice President and General Counsel 
and left the Company. In connection with his departme, we entered mto a sepmation agreement and general release 
dated October 5,2007 with Mr. Lopez. Under the terms ofthe separation agreement, on October 9,2007, we paid to 
Mr. Lopez a severance payment m the amount of $200,000, one busuiess day after confirmation of Mr. Lopez's 
written communication to the Occupational Health and Safety Administration (OSHA) mforming OSHA that all of 
his disputes with the Company have been fairly resolved and withdrawuig his complamt filed with OSHA. 
Mr. Ix)pez agreed to a general release of all claims against us and om representatives, Pmsuant to the separation 
agreement, Mr. Lopez's option to pmchase 45,000 shmes of om commons stock was canceled. In addition, the 
parties agreed that 10,000 ofthe 60,000 shares of unvested restricted stock held by Mr. Lopez would be forfeited 
and that the remauimg shmes of restricted stock will vest on January 2,2008. In order to facilitate the payment terms 
of the separation agreement, on October 5, 2007, we entered mto an amendment lo Mr. Lopez's employment 
agreement to take mto account recent changes under Intemal Revenue Code Section 409A. On October 26, 2007, 
OSHA notified the Company that it was closing its mvestigation ofthe OSHA complamt relatmg to Mr. Lopez. 

Offer Letters with Other Executives 

J. Robert Hipps 

On July 27, 2007, we entered mto an Interim Executive Services Agreement with Tatum, LLC dated July 25, 
2007 to engage Mr. Hipps as om Interim Chief Financial Officer. The interim services agreement provides that 
Mr. Hipps wiU become an employee of tiie Company, subject to the supervision and dnection ofthe chief executive 
officer and the Bomd. Under the agreement, Tatum has no conttol or supervision over Mr. Hipps, as long as he is 
performing services under the Intermi Services Agreement. The term of the hiterim services agreement is for a 
minimum of three months, provided that eitiier party may terminate the agreement earlier with 30 days written 
notice to the other party, and provided fiuther that we may terminate the agreement immediately for cause based on 
the performance of Mr. Hipps. 

Pursuant to the interim services agreement, we pay $37,500 per month, ZffVo of which is paid directly to 
Mr. Hipps as salaiy through the Company's payroll system and 20% of which is paid to Tatum. The interim services 
agreement provides an option for us during the term ofthe agreement to hue Mr. Hipps on a permanent basis, upon 
enteruig into another form of agreement with Tatum, which must provide for the payment of additional placement 
fees to Tatum. In connection with entering into the interim services agreement, the Company entered uito its 
standard form of Indemnification Agreement with Mr. Hipps. 

Thomas L. Ulry 

On May 31, 2005, we entered mto an employment letter agreement with Thomas Uhy, om Senior Vice 
President, Sales and Mmketing. The letter agreement set Mr. Uhy's annual base salary at $225,000, and provided 
for a discretionary annual bonus, as determined by the Compensation Committee. In addition, the agreement 
provides for other standmd employee benefits including medical, dental and insmance benefits and the right to 
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participate in om 401(k) Plan. Finally, the agreement provides that if we were to terminate Mr. Uhy without cause 
during the fnst yem after May 31,2005, Mr. Uhy would be entitled to one year's annual base salary, and if we were 
to termuiate him without cause at any time thereafter, Mr. Ulry would be entitled to an amount equal to his monthly 
salary for up to six months or until he finds other employment, whichever is first to occm. 

Pursuant to the letter agreement, Mr. Ulry was awarded an option to pmchase 100,000 shmes of om common 
stock at an exercise price of $3.50 per shme, vesting in equal annual installments over fom yems. In addition, 
Mr. Uhy was awarded the right to reimbmsement of actual relocation benefits not to exceed $40,000. 

On October 19, 2006, the Compensation Committee increased Mr. Uhy's annual base salary by $25,000 
effective October I, 2006. 

Cash Bonus Plan 

On January 25,2007, upon the recommendation ofthe Compensation Committee ofthe board of dnectors (or the 
bomd), adopted the Commerce Energy Group, Inc. Bonus Program, which was amended and restated effective 
Mmch 27,2007 (as amended and restated, tiie "Bonus Plmi"). 

Background. We established the Plan to provide employees with an uicreased awareness and ongomg interest in 
om success. The Plan is a broad-based plan designed to ensme that the executives, management and staff employees 
me appropriately awarded for both corporate and mdividual performance. In developuig this bonus program, 
consideration was given to the existing salary levels and total compensation ofthe executives and other employees. 
The stmctme of this cash bonus program was determmed to be an efficient employee incentive and appropriate to 
preserve shmeholder mterests. 

Administration. The Plan is admuiistered by the Compensation Committee. The Compensation Committee has 
the right to constme the Bonus Plan, to interpret any provision ofthe Bonus Plan, to make mles relatmg to the Plan 
and to determine any factual question arising in connection with the operation ofthe Bonus Plan. 

Eligibility. An employee must commence full-time employment with us within the first nuie months of a fiscal 
yem (August 1 throu^ April 30) to be eligible to participate hi the Bonus Program for that fiscal yem. Employees 
who participate ui one or more ofom commission mcentive programs me also eligible for a bonus under the Bonus 
Plan, although reduced (but not below zero) by any amounts received under any of om commission incentive 
programs for the same fiscal yem. Part-time employees and conttactors are not eligible to participate m the Bonus 
Plan. 

Determination of Bonus. The Bonus Plan is not effective with respect to any fiscal year ui which we do not 
achieve positive net uicome from operations (after deductmg bonuses accmed under the Bonus Plan). Pmsuant to 
the terms of the Bonus Program, the bonus award for each participant is calculated based upon the product of (i) the 
participant's base annual salary as of April 30, 2007; (ii) the participant's potential bonus percentage assigned by the 
compensation committee to fom levels of employee classification {i.e., the chief executive officer, other executive 
officers; management, and staff), and (iii) the participant's eamed bonus percentage based upon the attauiment of 
certaui individual goals set by the compensation committee for the executives, the executives with respect to the 
management and the executives and management with respect to the staff; then reduced (but not below zero) by any 
amounts from the Company's commission incentive program. 

Under the Bonus Program, a participant's potential bonus percentage is determined based upon the Company's 
net uicome. Al the beginning of each fiscal yem, the compensation committee establishes fom levels of net income 
tmgets and assigns potential bonus percentages for each such corresponduig level for each employee group, chief 
executive officer, executive officers, management and staff. 

In determming the eamed bonus percentage, the compensation committee assigned lo the chief executive officer 
and each ofthe other executive officers specific individual objectives in several ofthe following categories: uicrease 
in overall Company financial performance; increase in investor awmeness; financial risk management, peer and 
leadership development; and customer mamtenance and growth. Each category was assigned a specific percentage 
weight at the commencement ofthe Plan. In establishing the performance objectives ofthe executive officers, the 
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chief executive officer and members ofthe executive team make recommendations, which are approved by members 
ofthe compensation committee. Each executive, including each executive officer, had individual objectives for the 
yem which were designed to contribute to the achievement ofom corporate objectives. For purposes of determining 
whether om executive officers met each ofthe individual goals and objectives assigned to them, the compensation 
committee met with om chief executive officer and then deliberated among themselves without the chief executive 
officer present. In determining the eamed bonus percentage for management and staff personnel, a similm procedme 
occms with then dnect reports. Each employee has busuiess goals and a potential bonus payout commensurate with 
her or his level ui the Company. 

The compensation committee, in its discretion, may establish a bonus pool to be allocated to non-executive 
eligible employees if we achieve net mcome from operations, includmg mterest income and expense, but fall short 
ofom threshold financial tmget. In the event that we surpass om most aggressive financial tmget, the compensation 
committee may establish a bonus pool to be allocated to employees in the discretion ofthe compensation committee, 
mcluding the chief executive officer and the other executive officers. 

For fiscal 2008, the compensation committee has not set the fom levels of net mcome tmgets and has not 
assigned the potential bonus percentages for each corresponduig level of employee. 

Timing of Payment and Vesting. In fiscal yems where bonuses me eamed under the Bonus Program, payouts 
will be m a lump sum payment after the fiscal yem audit to which the bonus relates is completed and the individual 
evaluation process to determine the eamed bonus percentage has been finalized. To receive a benefit under the 
Bonus Program for a particulm fiscal year, a participant must complete at least three months of service and must be 
an active employee ui good standuig on the date the bonus is paid. 

Amendment. The Board or the Compensation Committee has the unilateral right to amend, suspend or terminate 
the Bonus Plan at any time with respect to aU or some employees and with respect to any uneamed or unvested 
bonus that is or could become payable. If such amendment or termhiation would have a material and adverse affect 
on an employee's earned, but unvested bonus, the written consent ofthe affected employee is requned. 

Employee Benefit Plans 

Commerce Energy Group, Inc, 2006 Stock Incentive Plan 

Purpose. The purpose of om 2006 Stock Incentive Plan, or the SIP, is to atttact, retain and motivate select 
employees, officers, directors and consultants of the Company and its affiliates and to provide incentives and 
rewards for superior performance. 

Shares Subject to the SIP. The SIP provides that no more than 1,453,334 shmes of om common stock may be 
issued pmsuant to awards under the SIP provided that we shall not make additional awards under the 
Commonwealth Energy Corporation 1999 Equity Incentive Plan. These shmes shall be authorized but unissued 
shmes. The number of shares available for awmds, as well as the terms of outstanding awmds, is subject to 
adjustment as provided m the SIP for stock spUts, stock dividends, recapitalizations and other similar events. We 
have registered the shmes of om common stock available for issuance under the SIP on a registration statement on 
Form S-8 filed witii the SEC. 

Shmes of om common stock that me subject to any awmd that expfres, or is forfeited, cancelled or becomes 
unexercisable will agam be available for subsequent awards, except as prohibited by law. In addition, shares that the 
Company reframs ftom delivering pmsuant to an award as payment of either the exercise price of an award or 
applicable withholding and employment taxes will be available for subsequent awmds. 

Administration. Either the bomd of dnectors or a committee appointed by the board is authorized to administer 
the SIP. The board of dfrectors and miy committee exercising discretion under the SIP from thne to time are referred 
to as the "Committee." The Compensation Committee ofthe board of directors currently acts as the Committee for 
purposes ofthe SIP. The board of dnectors may at any time appouit additional members to the Committee, remove 
and replace members of the Committee with or without cause, and fill vacancies on the Committee. To tiie extent 
permitted by law, the Committee may authorize one or more persons who me reportmg persons for purposes of 
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Rule l6b-3 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, or other officers, to make 
awmds to directors, officers or employees who are not reportmg persons for purposes of Rule 16b-3 under the 
Exchange Act, or other officers whom we have specifically authorized to make awmds. With respect to decisions 
mvolvuig an awmd mtended to satisfy the requnements of Section 162(m) ofthe Code, the Committee is to consist 
of two or more directors who me "outside directors" for purposes of that Code section. 

Subject to the terms ofthe SIP, the Committee has express authority to determine the dnectors, employees and 
consultants who will receive awards, the number of shares ofom common stock, units or share appreciation rights 
("SARs") to be covered by each awmd, and the terms and conditions of awards. The Committee has broad discretion 
to prescribe, amend and rescuid mles relating to the SIP and its admmistration, and to interpret and constme the SIP 
and the terms of all awmd agreements. Within the limits ofthe SIP, the Committee may accelerate the vesting of any 
awmd, allow the exercise of unvested awards, and may modify, replace, cancel or renew them. In addition, the 
Committee may under certain cfrcumstances buy out options or SARs or, subject to stockholder approval, reduce the 
exercise price for outstanduig options or SARs. 

The SIP provides that we will uidemnify members of the Committee and their delegates against any claims, 
liabUities or costs arising from the good faith performance of their duties under the SIP. The SIP releases these 
mdividuals fi*om liability for good faith actions associated with the SIP's admmistration. 

Eligibility. The Committee may grant options that me intended to qualify as incentive stock options, or ISOs, 
only to employees, and may grant all other Awards to dfrectors, employees and consultants. The SIP and the 
discussion below use the term "participant" to refer to a dnector, employee or consultants who has received an 
award. The SIP provides that no more than 1,000,000 shares of om common stock may be issued during any 
calendm yem to any participant under the SIP pursuant to options and SARs Awmds under the SIP. 

Options. Options granted under the SIP provide participants with the right to pmchase shmes of om common 
stock at a predetermined exercise price. The Committee may grant options that are intended to qualify as ISOs or 
options that are not mtended to so qualify, or Non-ISOs. The SIP also provides that ISO tteatment may not be 
avaUable for options that become first exercisable m any calendm yem to the extent the value of the underlyuig 
shares that are the subject ofthe option exceeds $100,000 (based upon the fen mmket value ofthe shmes ofom 
common stock on the option grant date). 

Share Appreciation Rights (SARs). A SAR generally permits a participant who receives it to receive, upon 
exercise, cash and/or shmes of om common stock equal ni value to the excess of (i) the fan market value, on the 
date of exercise, ofthe shmes ofom common stock with respect to which the SAR is being exercised, over (ii) the 
exercise price ofthe SAR for such shares. The Committee may grant SARs in tandem with options or uidependently 
of them. SARs that are uidependent of options may limit the value payable on its exercise to a percentage, not 
exceedmg 100%, ofthe excess value. 

Exercise Price for Options and SARs. The exercise price of ISOs, Non-ISOs, and SARS may not be less than 
100% of the fau* market value on the grant date of the shares of om common stock subject to the awmd. The 
exercise price of ISOs may not be less than 110% ofthe fair mmket value on the grant date ofthe underlying shares 
of om common stock subject to the award for participants who own more than ten percent of om shmes of om 
common stock on the grant date. Neither the Company nor the Committee shall, without shmeholder approval, allow 
for a repricuig within the meaning ofthe federal securities laws applicable to proxy statement disclosmes. 

Exercise of Options and SARs. To the extent exercisable in accordance with the agreement granting them, an 
option or SAR may be exercised in whole or ui part, and from time to time dmmg its term; subject to earlier 
termination relatmg to a holder's termination of employment or service. With respect to options, the Committee has 
the discretion to accept payment ofthe exercise price in any of tiie following forms, or combuiation of them: cash or 
check m U.S. dollms, certam shmes of om common stock, and cashless exercise under a program the Committee 
approves. 

The term over which participants may exercise options and SARs may not exceed ten years from the date of 
grant (five years in the case of ISOs granted to employees who, at the time of grant, own more than 10% ofthe 
Company's outstandmg shmes of common stock). 
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Restricted Shares, Restricted Share Units, Unrestricted Shares and Deferred Share Units. Under the SIP, the 
Committee may grant restricted shares that me forfeitable until certam vesting requirements me met, may grant 
restricted share units which represent the right lo receive shmes of om common stock after certain vesting 
requnements are met, and may grant umestricted shares as to which the participant's interest is immediately vested. 
For restticted awmds, the SIP provides the Committee with discretion to determine the terms and conditions under 
which a participant's mterests m such awmds become vested. The SIP provides for deferred shme units m order to 
permit certam dnectors, consultants or select members of management to defer their receipt of compensation 
payable in cash or shmes ofom common stock (mcluding shares that would otherwise be issued upon the vesting of 
restricted shares and restticted shme units). Deferred shme units represent a futme right to receive shmes of om 
common stock. 

Whenever shares of om common stock me released pmsuant to these awmds, the participant will be entitied to 
receive additional shares of om common stock that reflect any stock dividends that the Company's stockholders 
received between the date of the award and issuance or release of the shmes of om common stock. Likewise, a 
participant will be entitled to receive a cash payment reflecting cash dividends paid lo om stockholders dmmg the 
same period. Such cash dividends will accme interest, at 5% per annum, from then payment date to om stockholders 
until paid in cash when the shmes of om common stock to which they relate me either released from restrictions in 
the case of restricted shmes or issued in the case of restricted share units. 

Performance Awards. The SIP authorizes the Committee to grant performance-based awmds m the form of 
performance units that the Committee may or may not designate as "performance compensation awards" that me 
uitended to be exempt from Code section 162(m) limitations. In either case, performance awards vest and become 
payable based upon the achievement, within the specified period of time, of performance objectives applicable to the 
mdividual, the Company or any affiliate. Performance awards are payable m shares of om common stock, cash or 
some combination ofthe two, subject to an individual participant limit of 1,000,000 shares ofom common stock and 
$1,000,000 in cash. The Committee decides the length of performance periods, but the periods may not be less than 
one fiscal year ofthe Company. 

With respect to performance compensation awmds, the SIP requnes that the Committee specify ui writing the 
performance period to which the Award relates, and an objective formula by which to measme whether and the 
extent to which the awmd is eamed on the basis ofthe level of performance achieved with respect to one or more 
performance measures. Once established for a performance period, the performance measures and performance 
formula applicable to the awmd may not be amended or modified in a manner that would cause the compensation 
payable under the award to fail to constitute performance-based compensation under Code Section 162(m). 

Under the SIP, the possible performance measmes for performance compensation awmds include basic, diluted 
or adjusted eamings per share; sales or revenue; eamings before interest, taxes and other adjustments (in total or on 
a per share basis); basic or adjusted net uicome; returns on equity, assets, capital, revenue or similm measme; 
economic value added; working capital; total stockholder retum; and product development, product market share, 
resemch, licensing, Utigation, human resources, information services, mergers, acquisitions, and sales of assets of 
affiliates or business units. Each measme will be, to the extent applicable, determined in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles as consistently applied by us (or such other standard applied by the Committee) and, 
if so determined by the Committee, and in the case of a performance compensation award, to the extent permitted 
under Code section I62(m), adjusted to omit the effects of exttaordinary items, gain or loss on the disposal of a 
busuiess segment, unusual or uifrequently occurring events and ttansactions and cumulative effects of changes in 
accounting principles. Performance measmes may vary from performance period to performance period and from 
participant to participant, and may be established on a stand-alone basis, ui tandem or in the ahemative. 

Transferability. Awards may not be sold, pledged, assigned, hypothecated, ttansferred or disposed of other than 
by will or the laws of descent and distribution, except to tiie extent the Committee permits lifetime ttansfers to 
charitable uistilutions, certam family members or related ttusts or as otherwise approved by the Committee. 

Certain Corporate Transactions. The Committee shall equitably adjust the number of shmes covered by each 
outstanding awmd, and the number of shares that have been authorized for issuance under the SIP but as to which no 
awmds have yet been granted or that have been relumed to the SIP upon cancellation, forfeitme or expiration of an 
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awmd, as well as the price per share covered by each such outstandmg awmd, to reflect any uicrease or decrease m 
the number of issued shmes resulting fi*om a stock split, reverse stock split, stock dividend, combination, 
recapitalization or reclassification of the shm'es of om common stock, or any other increase or decrease in the 
number of issued shmes effected without receipt of consideration by us. In the event of any such ttansaction or 
event, the Committee may provide in substitution for any or all outstandmg options under the SIP such altemative 
consideration (including securities of any surviving entity) as it may in good faith determine to be equitable under 
the cncumstances and may requne ui connection therewith the surrender of all options so replaced. In any case, such 
substitution of secmities will not requne the consent of any person who is granted options pmsuant to the SIP. 

In addition, m the event or in anticipation of a change in control (as defmed in the SIP), the Committee may at 
any time in its sole and absolute discretion and authority, without obtaining the approval or consent of om 
stockholders or any participant with respect to his or her outstanding awards (except to the extent an awmd provides 
otherwise), take one or more of the following actions: (a) arrange for or otherwise provide that each outstanding 
awmd will be assumed or substituted with a substantially equivalent awmd by a successor corporation or a pment or 
subsidiary of such successor corporation; (b) accelerate the vestuig of awmds for any period (and may provide for 
termmation of unexercised options and SARs at the end of that period) so that awmds shall vest (and, to the extent 
applicable, become exercisable) as lo the shares of om common stock that otherwise would have been unvested and 
provide that repmchase rights ofthe Company with respect to shmes ofom common stock issued upon exercise of 
an award shall lapse as to the shmes ofom common stock subject to such repurchase right; (c) arrange or otherwise 
provide for payment of cash or other consideration to participants in exchange for the satisfaction and cancellation 
of outstanding awards; or (d) termuiate upon the consummation ofthe ttansaction, provided that the Committee may 
m its sole discretion provide for vestmg of all or some outstanduig awmds m fiill as of a date unmediately prior to 
consummation of the change of conttol. To the extent that mi award is not exercised prior to consummation of a 
ttansaction in which the awmd is not bemg assumed or substituted, such award shall terminate upon such 
consummation. 

Notwithstanding the above, ui the event a participant holdmg an award assumed or substituted by the successor 
corporation in a change in conttol is mvoluntarily terminated (as defined ui the SIP) by the successor corporation in 
cormection with, or within 12 months following consummation of, the change in conttol, then any assumed or 
substituted award held by the terminated participant at the time of termmation shall accelerate and become fully 
vested (and exercisable in full in the case of options and SARs), and any repurchase right applicable to any shmes of 
om common stock shaU lapse ui full. The acceleration of vesting and lapse of repmchase rights provided for in the 
previous sentence shall occm immediately prior to the effective date ofthe Participant's termination. 

In the event of any distribution to om stockholders of securities of any other entity or other assets (other than 
dividends payable in cash or om stock) without receipt of consideration by us, the Committee may, in its discretion, 
appropriately adjust the price per share covered by each outstanding awmd to reflect the effect of such disttibution. 
Fuially, if we dissolve or liquidate, all awmds will immediately terminate, subject to the ability of the bomd to 
exercise any discretion that the bomd may exercise ui the case of a change in conttol. 

Term of SIP; Amendments and Termination. The term of the SIP is ten yems from the date of stockholder 
approval. The board of dnectors may from time to time, amend, alter, suspend, discontinue or terminate the SIP; 
provided that no amendment, suspension or termination of the SIP shall materially and adversely affect awards 
already granted unless it relates to an adjustment pmsuant to certain transactions that change om capitalization or it 
is otherwise mutually agreed between the participant and the Committee. In addition, the Committee may not cancel 
an outstanding option that is underwater for the purpose of reissuing the option lo the participant at a lower exercise 
price or granting a replacement awmd of a different type. Notwithstandmg the foregoing, the Committee may amend 
the SIP to elimmate provisions which are no longer necessary as a result of changes in tax or secmities laws or 
regulations, or in the interpretation thereof 

Termination, Rescission and Recapture. Each award under the SIP is intended to align the participant's long-
term interest with om interests. If the participant engages in certain activities (such as disclosme of confidential or 
proprietary information without appropriate authorization, breaches certain agreements relatmg to the protection of 
om intellectual property, solicits om non-administtative employees lo leave the Company or renders services to an 
organization or business which is, or working to become, competitive to us), either during employment or after 
employment wilh us terminates for any reason, the participant is deemed to be acting conttary to om long-term 
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interests. In such cases, except as otherwise expressly provided ui the awmd Agreement, we may terminate any 
outstanding, unexercised, unexpned, unpaid, or deferred awards, rescuid any exercise, payment or delivery pmsuant 
to the awmd, or recaptme any shares ofom common stock (whether restricted or unrestticted) or proceeds from the 
participant's sale of Shares issued pursuant to the awmd. 

Internal Revenue Code Section 409A Requirements. Certain awmds under the SIP may be considered 
"nonqualified deferred compensation" for purposes of Section 409A of the Code, or Section 409A, which imposes 
certaui requirements on compensation that is deemed under Section 409A to involve nonqualified deferred 
compensation. Among other things, the requnements relate to the timmg of elections to defer, the timing of 
disttibutions and prohibitions on the acceleration of disttibutions. Failme to comply with these requnements (or an 
exception from such requnements) may result in the immediate taxation of all amounts deferred under the 
nonqualified deferred compensation plan for the taxable year and all preceduig taxable yems, by or for any 
participant with respect lo whom the failme relates, the imposition of an additional 20% income tax on the 
participant for the amounts requned to be included m gross mcome and the possible imposition of penalty interest 
on the unpaid tax. Generally, Section 409A does not apply to uicentive awmds that me paid al the time the awmd 
vests. Likewise, Section 409A typically does not apply to restricted stock. Section 409A may, however, apply to 
uicentive awmds the payment of which is delayed beyond the calendm yem in which the awmd vests. Treasury 
regulations generally provide that the type of awards provided under the SIP will not be considered nonqualified 
deferred compensation. However, to the extent that Section 409A applies to an awmd issued under the SIP, the SIP 
and all such awmds will, to the extent practicable, be constmed m accordance with Section 409A. Under the SIP, the 
Committee has the discretion to grant or to unilaterally modify any award issued under the SIP ui a manner that 
conforms with the requfrements of Section 409A with respect to deferred compensation or voids any participant 
election to the extent it would violate Section 409A. The Committee also has sole discretion to interpret the 
requnements ofthe Code, including Section 409A, for purposes ofthe SIP and all awmds issued under the SIP, 

1999 Equity Incentive Plan 

In coimection with om 2004 merger with Commonwealth Energy Corporation, or Commonwealth, we assumed 
the Commonwealth Energy Corporation 1999 Equity Incentive Plan, which Commonwealth amended and restated 
effective May 9,2003 (as amended and restated, tiie "EIP"). 

Background. The purpose of the EIP is to provide incentives to atttact, retain and motivate employees, officers, 
dnectors, consultants, independent conttactors and advisors whose present and potential conttibutions are important 
to om success, by offering them an opportunity to participate ui om fiitme performance through awards of options, 
restricted stock awards and stock bonuses. 

Shares Subject to the EIP. The EIP provides that no more than 7,000,000 shares of om common slock may be 
issued pursuant to awmds under the EIP. Although we still have awards outstanding under the EIP, we agreed not to 
issue any additional awmds under the EIP when om stockholders approved the SIP on January 26, 2006. The 
number of shmes available for awards, as well as the terms of outstanding awmds, is subject to adjustment for stock 
splits, stock dividends, recapitalizations and other similar events. We have registered the shmes of om common 
stock available for issuance under the EIP on a registtation statement on Form S-8 filed with the SEC. 

Administration. Either the bomd or om Compensation Committee may administer the EIP. Subject to tiie terms 
of the EIP, the bomd has express authority to determme who will receive awmds, the number of shares of om 
common stock or other consideration subject to each Awmd, and the terms and conditions ofthe awards. The bomd 
of directors has broad discretion lo prescribe, amend and rescind mles relating to the EIP and its administration, to 
interpret and constme the EIP and the terms of all award agreements, and to take all actions necessary or advisable 
to administer the EIP. The bomd may cancel certain awards and grant m substitution new awmds covering the same 
or different number of shares but with an exercise price per shme based on the fair mmket value per shme of om 
common stock on the new option grant date. The bomd may also buy back a previously granted awmd from a 
participant. 

Eligibility. The board may grant ISOs only to employees, including officers and directors who me employees, 
and may grant all other awmds to officers, dfrectors, consuhants, independent conttactors and advisors. The EIP and 
tiie discussion below use the term "participant" to refer to each such person who has received an award. 
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options. Options granted under the EIP provide participants with tiie right to pmchase shmes of om common 
stock at a predetermined exercise price. The board may grant options that are intended to qualify as ISOs or Non-
ISOs. The EIP also provides that ISO tteatment may not be available for options that become fnst exercisable in any 
calendar year to the extent the value ofthe underlyuig shmes that are the subject ofthe option exceeds $100,000 
(based upon the fair mmket value ofthe shares ofom common slock on the option grant date). 

The exercise price for Non-ISOs shall not be less than 85% ofthe underlyuig common stock's fan market value 
on the grant date. The exercise price for ISOs shaU not be less than 100% ofthe underlyuig common stock's fan 
mmket value on the grant date. However, wilh respect to any Award to a participant owning more than 10% of our 
common stock on the grant date (a "10% Holder"), the exercise price of ISOs may not be less than 110% ofthe 
underlyuig common stock's feu* market value on the grant date. 

Options shall be exercisable within the times set forth in the agreement granting such option subject to the 
followmg limitations: (i) no option will be exercisable after the expfration of 10 years from the option's grant date; 
(ii) options other than Non-ISOs granted to om officers, consultants, or members of the bomd or any of om 
subsidiaries' bomds, shall be exercisable at the rate of at least 20% per yem ofthe shares granted under the option 
over five yems fiom the date the option is granted, with the initial vesting to occm one year after the option's grant 
date; and (iii) no ISO granted to a 10% holder will be exercisable after the expnation of five yems from the date the 
ISO is granted. 

To the extent exercisable in accordance with the agreement granting them and subject to earlier termination 
relatmg to the termination of a participant's employment or service, options may be exercised only by delivery to us 
of tiie purchase price and a written stock option exercise agreement in a form approved by the board, statuig the 
number of shares being pmchased, any resttictions imposed on the shares to be pmchased, and such representations 
and agreements regmding participant's investment intent, access to information and such other matters that we may 
require or desne to comply with secmities laws. The bomd may specify a reasonable minimum number of shares 
that may be pmchased on any exercise of an option, provided such minimum will not prevent a participant from 
exercising the option for the full number of shmes for which it is then exercisable. 

Following the termination of a participant's employment or service, we may extend the period of time that an 
option is exercisable mid allow such terminated participant to exercise options that had not vested at the time such 
participant was terminated. 

The bomd may modify, extend or renew outstanding options and authorize the grant of new options, except to 
the extent such action impairs without participant's consent such participant's rights under a previously issued 
option. The board may by written notice to affected participants without their consent reduce the exercise price of 
outstandmg options. 

Restricted Stock. Under the EIP, the board may grant awards of restticted stock that are forfeitable until certaui 
requirements me met. The board has discretion with respect to the vesting of restticted stock. The pmchase price for 
the restticted stock grants shall not be less than 85% of the fan mmket value on the grant date, except that the 
pmchase price for any restticted stock Awmd granted to a 10% holder will not be less than 110% ofthe feir market 
value on the grant date. The participant will not be able to sell, ttansfer, pledge or assign the restricted stock dming a 
restriction period established by the bomd. The bomd may provide for the lapse of such resttictions in mstalhnents 
and may accelerate or waive the restrictions, in whole or in part, based upon tiie completion of a specified number of 
years of service, subject to any requnements under law. Except whh respect to the ttansfer resttictions, the 
participant will have all the rights of a shareholder, uicluding the right to vote the shmes and receive cash dividends. 

Except as otherwise provided or m the Bomd's discretion, upon the participant's termination, (i) we shall have 
the right for 90 days following the termination, to repurchase restticted stock that is unvested or still subject to 
restriction for the same price paid by participant for such shares; provided however that om right to repurchase at the 
price paid by the participant shall lapse at the rate of at least 20% of the restricted stock per year over five years 
from the date the Award is granted, and (ii) any other restticted stock will be forfeited. 
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Stock Bonuses. A "stock bonus" is an awmd of shmes, which may consist of restricted stock, for service 
rendered. A stock bonus will be awmded pursuant to an Award agreement and will comply with the terms and 
conditions ofthe EIP. Stock bonuses may be awmded pursuant to a "performance stock bonus agreement," whereby 
the board will agree to grant a stock bonus of a certain number of shares upon the completion of certain performance 
goals that the bomd may adjust to account for changes in law, accounting and tax mles and to reflect tlie impact of 
extraordmary or unusual items, events or cncumstances to avoid windfalls or hmdships. We may pay the stock 
bonuses in cash or whole shmes, either in lump sums or uistallments, with interest or dividend equivalent, and all as 
the board determines. 

Payment for Share Purchases. Payment for shmes pmchased pmsuant to the EIP may be in cash, by check or, 
subject to certain conditions m the EIP, where expressly approved by the bomd and permitted by law (i)by 
cancellation of indebtedness, (ii) by surrender of shmes, (iii) by tender of fiill recomse promissory note, (iv) by 
waiver of compensation due or accmed to a participant for service rendered, (v) with respect only to purchase upon 
exercise of an option, and provided a public mmket for om shares exists, through a "same day sale" commitment or 
through a "mmgui" commitment, or (vi) by any combuiation ofthe foregoing. We may help a participant (other than 
an executive officer or a member ofom bomd) pay for shmes pmchased by gumanteeing a loan by a participant to a 
third party lender. 

Transferability. Awmds granted under the EIP, and miy interests therein, will not be ttansferable or assignable 
by participant, and may not be made subject to execution, attachment or sunilar process, otherwise tiian by will or 
by the laws of descent and distribution. During the participant's lifetime, only the participant will be eligible to 
exercise an awmd. 

Certain Corporate Transactions. In the event of certain change in control "Corporate Transactions" (as defined 
m the EIP), the EIP and any Award under the EIP shall terminate after the Participant has been given, for the period 
of 10 days before the effective date ofthe Corporate Transaction, the right to exercise any unexpned Award m full 
or m part, but only to the extent such Awmd has vested or then vests and has not previously been exercised. 
However, the EIP and the Awards under the EIP shall not terminate or accelerate if the successor corporation or a 
parent or subsidiary thereof (a "Successor Corporation") assumes the Awmds. Nothing ui the EIP or any Awmd 
shall be constmed to limit om ability to enter mto Corporate Transactions or reorganize, adjust or liquidate om 
capital or business stmctme. 

The bomd may at the time the awmd is granted or at any time while the awmd is outstanding, provide for the 
award's automatic acceleration (ui whole or in part) upon a Corporate Transaction, mcludmg the vestuig and 
termination ofom repmchase right. Any accelerated ISO, shall only remain an ISO to the extent the $100,000 
limitation is not exceeded. With respect to any amounts about the $100,000 limitation, the ward shall be a Non-ISO. 

Amendment or Termination of EIP. Unless the bomd elects to terminate the EIP sooner, the EIP will terminate 
10 yems from the date the Board approved tiie EIP. The bomd may at any time amend the plan ui any respect. 

Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control 

Set forth below are descriptions and quantitative summmies ofthe elements of compensation that would be paid 
to om named executive officers who were employed by the Company at the end of the fiscal yem and entitled to 
such benefits under post-employment and change in conttol scenmios. Also summarized below me arrangements 
relating to former executive officers. 

As of July 31, 2007, several o fom named executive officers were subject to agreements which contained 
severance provisions. Mr. Boss' employment ^reemenl provides that if Mr, Boss is terminated without "cause" or if 
he resigns for "good reason," (as those terms me defmed above under "Employment Agreements"), Mr. Boss will be 
entitled to severance equal to 12 months of his then-current base salary payable over a 12-month period, plus 
12 months accelerated vesting of outstanding unvested stock options and restticted stock, plus reimbmsement of 
insurance premiums for health coverage for two months. 
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Under the terms ofom employment letter agreement with Mr. Uhy, he would be entitled to an amount equal to 
his monthly salary for up to six months (or until he finds other employment, if emiier), if we were to terminate him 
without cause. 

The tables below estimate amounts of (i) salary and benefits payable and (ii) the acceleration of options and 
restricted slock outstanding for om named executive officers, in each case assuming that a hypothetical termination 
or change in conttol occurred on July 31, 2007. We have estunated the market value of tiie stock options and 
restricted stock in the tables below based on the closmg price of $2.10 per share on July 31,2007, 

Executive Officer 
Steven S. Boss. 

Erik A. Lopez, Sr 

Benefit Uoon Termination 

Salary Cash Payment 
Continuation of Benefits 
Accelerated Vestuig of Options 
Accelerated Vestmg of Restticted Stock 

Total 

Salary Cash Payment 
Continuation of Benefits 
Accelerated Vestmg of Options 
Accelerated Vestmg of Restticted Stock 

Total 

Termination by Us 
Without Cause/Resignation 

by Executive for Good Reason 

$412,000 
2,934 

$ 30,000 
$157,500 

$602,434 

$265,000 
$ 17,606 
$ — 
$ 42.000 

$324,606 

Thomas J. Uhy Salary Cash Payment $126,500 

Acceleration of 
Vesting Upon 

Change in Control 
Under Equity 

Executive Officer Benefit Plansfl) 
Steven S. Boss Accelerated Vestuig of 

Restricted Stock 
Thomas J. Uhy Accelerated Vesting of 

Restricted Stock 
Erik A. Lopez, Jr Accelerated Vestuig of 

Restricted Slock 

Change in 
Control 
in which 

Compensation 
Committee 
Accelerates 

Options 

$105,000 

Change in 
Control in 

which 
Compensation 

Committee 
Does Not 

Accelerate 
Options 

$ 75,000 

Change in 
Conttol in 

which 
Compensation 

Committee 
Accelerates 

Restricted Stock 

$315,000 

$42,000 

$126,000 

Change in 
Control in 

which 
Compensation 

Committee 
Does Not 

Accelerate 
Restricted Stock 

$157,500 

$42,000 

(1) For Mr. Boss and Mr. Uhy benefits related to awards granted under the 1999 Equity Incentive Plan. For 
Mr. Lopez benefits relate lo awards granted under the 2006 Stock Incentive Plan. 

Arrangements with Former Executive Officers 

In connection with Mr. Lopez's resignation from the Company, we entered mto a sepmation agreement and 
general release with him dated October 5, 2007. Under the terms ofthe separation agreement, on October 9, 2007, 
we paid to Mr. Lopez a severance payment ui the amount of $200,000, after confirmation of Mr. Lopez's written 
communication to the Occupational Health and Safety Administtation (OSHA) uiformuig OSHA that all his 
disputes with the Company had been fanly resolved. In addition, pmsuant to the separation agreement, the vestuig 
terms relating to 60,000 shmes of unvested restricted stock held by Mr. Lopez were amended such that 10,000 ofthe 
60,000 shares were forfeited and the remaining 50,000 shmes of restricted stock will vest on January 2, 2008. On 
October 26, 2007, OSHA notified the Company that il was closing its investigation ofthe OSHA complamt relating 
to Mr. Lopez. 

In connection with Mr. Clayton's termination effective July 25, 2007, no severance payments have been made or 
accmed pursuant to Mr. Clayton's employment agreement or otherwise. 
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401(k)Pian 

We maintain a retirement plan, the 401(k) Plan, which is intended to be a tax-qualified retirement plan. The 
401(k) Plan covers substantially all ofom employees. Participants may elect to defer a percentage of then eligible 
pretax eamings each yem up to the maximum contribution permitted by the Code. Each participant's interests in his 
or her deferrals me 100% vested when contributed. The 401(k) Plan permits us to make matching contributions if we 
choose and we have historically provided matchmg conttibutions of up lo three percent, based on 50% of the 
employees' conttibutions of up lo 6% of defmed compensation. The 40l(k) Plan is uitended to qualify under 
Sections 401(a) and 501(a) of the Code. As such, conttibutions to the 401(k) Plan and eamuigs on those 
contributions are not taxable to participants until disttibuted from the 401(k) Plan, and all conttibutions me 
deductible by us when made, 

Non-Employee Director Compensation 

We operate under a non-employee dnector compensation policy amended and restated as of January 25, 2007. 
Under this policy, om non-employee directors receive cash compensation and equity awards, as described below. 
This policy may be changed by om bomd of dnectors from time to time. 

Cash Compensation. Each non-employee dnector is paid a quarteriy retainer of $8,000, a fee of $1,000 for each 
Bomd meeting which the Bomd member attends m person and a fee of $750 for each Bomd meeting which the 
Bomd member attends telephonically. The non-executive Chanman of the Board also receives a supplemental 
quarterly retainer of $4,000. Dnectors who served on Board committees (other than the chairman of such 
committee) me paid $750 for each committee meeting the Board member attends in person and a fee of $500 for 
each committee meeting which the Bomd member attends telephonically. Committee chanpersons are paid $1,000 
for each committee meeting the chauperson attends, whether m person or telephonically. On days on which there me 
more than one committee meetmg that a bomd member attends, the Board member shall be paid for only one 
meeting. In addition, each non-employee director is entitled to receive reunbursement for reasonable ttavel expenses 
for each Bomd or Bomd committee meeting tiiat such non-employee director attends in person if the dnector resides 
25 miles or more from the site ofthe meeting. 

Equity-Based Awards. Om policy provides for equity awm-ds to non-employee dnectors as follows: 

• Initial Grant of Restricted Stock. On the date ofthe mitial appomlment or election of each non-employee 
director to the Board, he or she receives 20,000 restticted shmes of the Company's restricted stock. Such 
shmes vest in full on the first day of the month ui which the one yem anniversary of the date of issuance 
occms, with any unvested shares bemg forfeited to the Company if the Bomd member's service is termuiated, 

• Annual Grant of Restricted Stock. In addition, on the date of each annual meeting of stockholders at which 
dnectors are elected, each non-employee dnector who is either re-elected as a non-employee director or who 
continues m office as an incumbent non-employee dnector, will be issued 20,000 shmes of restricted stock. 
Such shares vest ui full on January 1 ofthe next succeeding calendar yem after the date of issuance, with any 
unvested shmes being forfeited to the Company if the Bomd member's service is termuiated. 

We currently anticipate making futme awards to om non-employee dnectors under om 2006 Slock Incentive 
Plan. For a more detailed description of this plan, see "Employee Benefit Plans — 2006 Stock Incentive Plan." 
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The following table sets forth summary information conceming compensation paid or accmed for services 
rendered to us in all capacities to the members of om bomd of dnectors (other than Mr. Boss who is a named 
executive officer) for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2007. 

Name 

Chmles E. Bayless.. 
Gary J. Hessenauer. 
Mark S. Juergensen 
Dennis R. Leibel 
Robert C. Perkins.... 

Fees Eamed 
or Paid 

inCash($> 
$61,528 
$60,750 
$63,492 
$60,250 
$84,000 

Stock 
Awards ($1(1) 

$23,165 
$23,165 
$23,165 
$23,165 
$23,165 

Option 
Aw(|rdsfSl(2) 

$12,070 
$12,070 
$12,070 
$12,070 
$12,070 

All Other 
Compensation (S) 

$— 
$— 
$— 
$— 
$ ~ 

Total m 
$ 96,763 
$ 95,985 
$ 98,727 
$ 95,485 
$119,235 

(1) The value reported above ui the "Stock Awards" column is the amount we recognized for stock awards during 
fiscal 2007 for each dnector calculated in accordance with SFASNo. 123(R). See Note 12 to tiie Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of assumptions made m determining the grant date fair 
value and compensation expense ofom restricted stock awards. 

(2) The value reported above ui the Option Award column is the amount we recognized for stock options during 
fiscal 2007 for each dnector calculated in accordance with SFASNo. 123(R). See Note2 to the Notes to 
Consolidated Fmancial Statements for a discussion of assumptions made in determining the stock option 
expense. 

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation 

In fiscal 2007, om compensation committee consisted of Gary J. Hessenauer, Mmk S. Juergensen, Dennis 
R. Leibel and Robert C. Perkms. No member of om compensation committee is currently, or has been at any time, 
one of om officers or employees or an officer or employee of one of om subsidiaries, is or was a participant m a 
"related party" transaction in fiscal 2007, or has served as a member of the bomd of dnectors or compensation 
committee of any entity that has one or more officers serving as a member ofom board of dnectors or compensation 
committee. 

Compensation Committee Report 

The compensation committee, comprised of independent dnectors, reviewed and discussed the section of this 
annual report on Form 10-K under Item 11. Executive Compensation, entitied "Compensation Discussion and 
Analysis for Named Executive Officers" with the Company's management. Based on this review and discussion, the 
compensation committee has recommended to the Board of Dnectors that the Compensation Discussion and 
Analysis as il appears on pages 49 to 73 herein be included ui this annual report on Form lO-K and the proxy 
statement filed on Schedule 14A relating to the Annual Meeting of Stockholders relating to fiscal 2007. 

Commerce Energy Group, Inc. Compensation 
Committee 

Dennis R. Leibel, Chanman 
Gary J. Hessenauer 
Mark S. Juergensen 
Robert C. Perkms 

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters, 

The mformation with respect to each person specified is as supplied or confirmed by such person, based upon 
statements filed with the SEC, or based upon om actual knowledge. 
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Beneficial Ownership Table 

The followmg lable sets forth certaui information about the beneficial ownership of our common stock as of 
October 16, 2007 by: 

• each person known by us to own beneficially more than 5% ofom outstanduig common stock; 

• each of om current dnectors; 

• om chief executive officer and the other named executive officers listed in the Summary Compensation Table 
m Part III, Item 11. Executive Compensation of this annual report on Form 10-K; and 

• all ofom current dnectors and executive officers as a group. 

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the mles of the SEC based upon votmg or mvestment 
power over the secmities. 

Shmes and share percentages beneficially owned me based upon the number of shmes of common stock 
outstandmg on October 16, 2007, together with options, warrants or other convertible securities that are exercisable 
for such respective securities withm 60 days of October 16, 2007 for each stockholder. Under the mles ofthe SEC, 
beneficial ownership uicludes shmes over which the named stockholder exercises voting and/or investment power. 
Shares of common stock subject to options, warrants or other convertible secmities that me currently exercisable or 
will become exercisable within 60 days of October 16, 2007 are deemed outstanduig for computmg the respective 
percentage ownership of the person holding the option, warrant or other convertible security, but me not deemed 
outstanduig for purposes of computing the respective percentage ownership of any other person. Unless otherwise 
indicated in the footnotes below, we believe that the persons and entities named in the table have sole voting and 
uivestment power with respect lo all shmes beneficially owned, subject to applicable community property laws. The 
inclusion of shares m the table does not constitute an admission that the named stockholder is a dnect or indirect 
beneficial owner of the shares. The uiformation with respect to each person is as supplied or confmned by such 
person, based upon statements filed with the SEC or based upon the actual knowlec^e ofthe Company. 

Common Stock 
Amount and Nature of 
Beneficial Ownership 

Number of 
Shares Right to Percent of 

Name Owned Acauirefn Class 

Principal Stockholders: 
Daniel Zeffl;2) 3,195,916(3) — 10.5% 
lanB. Carter(4) 250,000 2,500,000 8.4% 

Directors and Named Executive Officers: 
Chmles E. Bayless 132.000 120,000 * 
Stevens. Boss 225,000 350,000 1.9% 
Lawrence Clayton, Jr,(5) 63,709 ~ * 
Nick CioU 15,000 85,000 * 
Gary J. Hessenauer 30,000 70,000 * 
J. Robert Hipps — — * 
Mmk S. Juergensen 50,000 157,500 * 
Dennis R. Leibel 30,000 20,000 * 
Erik A. Lopez, Sr 50,000 — * 
Robert C. Perkins 235,000 470,000 2.3% 
Thomas L. Uhy 40,000 100,000 * 

All Directors and Executive Officers as a group (10 persons) 870,709 1,372,500 6.7% 
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* Indicates beneficial ownership of less than 1% ofthe issued and outstandmg class of secmities. 

(1) Represents shares of om common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options or upon conversion of other 
convertible securities held by such persons that me exercisable within 60 days of October 16,2007. 

(2) Ownership of these shares was reported on a Form 4 filed on October 17, 2007 jouitly by Mr. Zeff, Zeff 
Holdmg Company LLC ("Zeff Holdmg"), Zeff Capital Partners, 1, LLP ("Zeff Capital"), and Specttum Galaxy 
Fund, Ltd. ("Spectrum"). Spectmm has sole voting and uivestment power with respect to 1,379,684 shmes, 
which powers are exercisable by Mr. Zeff as investment manager. Zeff Capital has sole voting and mvestment 
power with respect to 1,816,232 shmes, which powers me exercisable by Mr. Zeff as the sole manager of Zeff 
Holding, which is the general partner of Zeff Capital. The mailing address of each Mr. Zeff, Zeff Holdmg, Zeff 
Capital and Spectrum is: 50 Califomia St., Suite 1500, San Francisco, CA 94111. 

(3) Represents holdmgs as of August 10, 2007 as disclosed ui a Schedule 13D/A filed with the SEC under the 
Exchange Act. 

(4) The mailing address of such stockholder is: P.O. Box 538, 1100 Irvine Blvd., Tustin, Califomia 92780. 

(5) Does not include 30,000 shares of unvested restricted common stock that the Company has remitted to 
Mr. Clayton for repmchase. The closing ofthe repmchase transaction is penduig the resolution ofthe cmrent 
employment dispute between Mr. Clayton and the Company. 

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plan 

The Company has two equity compensation plans, the Commerce Energy Group, Inc. 2006 Stock Incentive Plan 
and the Commonwealth 1999 Equity Incentive Plan, both of which have been approved by om stockholders. We do 
not have any other equity compensation plans, wilh the exception of one-time grants of warrants or options made by 
om Board of Dfrectors from time lo time. 

The following table sets forth information regmding the number of shares of om common stock that may be 
issued pursuant to om equity compensation plans or arrangements as ofthe end of fiscal 2007. 

isL i h l Ic) 

Numlier of Securities 
to be Issued Upon Weighted-Average 

Exercise of Exercise Price of 
Outstanding Options, Outstanding Options, 

Number of Securities 
Remaining Available for 
Future Issuance Under 

Equity Compensation Plans 
(Excluding Securities 

Plan Category 
Equity compensation plans approved by 
secmity holders 

Equity compensation plans not approved by 
security holders 

Total 

Warrants and Riahts 

4,382,874(1) 

2,600,000(3) 

6,982,874 

Warrants and Riehts 

$225 

$2.45 

$2.33 

Reflected in ColumniaU 

988,334(2) 

988,334 

(1) Represents shmes of common stock that may be issued pursuant lo outstanding options granted under the 
Commonwealth 1999 Equity Incentive Plan and the Commerce Energy Group, Inc. 2006 Stock Incentive Plan. 

(2) Represents shares of common stock that may be issued pursuant to options available for fiitme grant under the 
Commonwealth 1999 Equity Incentive Plan and the Commerce Energy Group, Inc. 2006 Stock Incentive Plan. 

(3) Represents shares of common stock that may be issued pmsuant to options available for fiitme grant under the 
following mdividual plans: options to pmchase 2,500,000 shares granted to Ian B, Carter, the Company's 
former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer; options to pmchase 100,000 shares granted to Robert C. 
Perkms, the Company's Chanman. (See Note 14 Stock Options to the Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements). 
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Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence, 

Transactions with Related Persons, Promoters and Certain Control Persons. 

In October 2007, we entered into a sepmation agreement and general release with Erik A. Lopez, Sr., om former 
Seruor Vice President and General Counsel and at the same time amended om employment agreement with 
Mr. Lopez. Please see the discussion under Item 11. Executive Compensation under the caption "Separation 
Agreement with Mr. Lopez"; which is incorporated by reference mto this section. 

Indemnification Agreements 

We have entered into indemnification agreements with each ofom dnectors and executive officers, in addition to 
the indemnification provided for ui om amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated 
bylaws. These uidemnification agreements generally requne us to uidemnify each dnector and executive officer to 
the fiUlest extent authorized, permitted or required by the provisions of om amended and restated certificate of 
uicorporation, om amended and restated bylaws and the Delaware General Corporation Law, as the same may be 
amended from time to time; provided, however, that we generally do not have such indemnification obligations if 
the dnector or executive officer initiates a proceedmg against us. In addition, we generally have agreed to uidemnify 
om dnectors and executive officers against expenses, judgments and amounts paid in settlement actually and 
reasonably incurred in connection witii any threatened, pending or completed proceedmg, subject to certain 
limitations. 

Review, Approval or Ratification of Transactions with Related Persons. 

As provided by om Audit Committee charter, om Audit Committee must review and approve m advance any 
related party ttansaction. In approving or rejectmg a proposed related party transaction, om Audit Committee shall 
consider the relevant facts and circumstances available and deemed relevant to the Audit Committee, includmg, but 
not limited to the risks, costs and benefits to us, the terms of the ttansaction, the availability of other somces for 
comparable services or products, if applicable, and the unpact on a dnector's uidependence. Om Audit Committee 
shall approve only those related party transactions that, in light of known circumstances, me in, or me not 
mconsistent with, om best interests, as om audit committee determines in the good faith exercise of its discretion. 
All of om dfrectors, officers and employees me requned to report to om audit committee any such related party 
transaction for approval prior to its completion. 

Director Independence, 

The Bomd of Dnectors has affirmatively determined that the foUowhig five members of the Bomd of Dnectors 
me "uidependent" as that term is defined by the American Stock Exchange Company Guide: Charles E. Bayless, 
Gary J. Hessenauer, Mark S. Juergensen, Dennis R. Leibel and Robert C. Perkins. Mr. Steven S. Boss, om Chief 
Executive Officer, is om only non-independent director. The Board of Dfrectors has established three standing 
committees, an Audit Committee, a Compensation Committee and a Nominations and Corporate Govemance 
Committee. The Bomd also has formed a Strategic Opportunities Committee. All the members of each of the 
aforementioned committees me "independent" under applicable mles ofthe SEC and the American Stock Exchange 
Company Guide. 

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services. 

The following table sets forth the fees billed to us by om independent registered public accounting fums for each 
ofthe last two fiscal years, respectively. 

Fiscal Year 
2007 2006 

Audit Fees $463,000 $454,000 
Audit-Related Fees 8,000 — 
Tax Fees — — 
All Other Fees — — 

$471,000 $454,000 
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Audit Fees: This category includes the audit of om annual consolidated financial statements, the review of 
financial statements included in om quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and services that are normally provided by the 
uidependent registered public accountmg fnm in coimection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements for 
those fiscal years. 

Audit Related Fees: This category consists of assurance and related services that were reasonably related to the 
performance ofthe audit or review ofom financial statements and which are not reported above under "Audit Fees." 

Tax Fees. This category consists of professional services rendered for tax services, including tax compliance, tax 
advice and tax planning. 

All Other Fees. This category consists of fees for other advisory services. 

The Audit Committee of om Bomd of Directors has established a practice that requnes the Committee and, 
under certain limited cfrcumstances, the Chanman of om Audit Committee, to pre-approve any audit or permitted 
non-audit services to be provided to us by om uidependent registered public accountmg fntn, Hein & Associates 
LLP, m advance of such services being provided to us. 

Under the SEC mles, subject to certain de minimis criteria, pre-approval is required for all professional services 
rendered by om uidependent registered public accounting firm. We are m compUance with these SEC mles. 

PART IV 

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules. 

(a)(1) Index to Consolidated Financial Statements: 

Report of Hein & Associates LLP, uidependent registered public accounting firm for fiscal years ended 
July 31,2007 and 2006 F-l 

Report of Ernst & Youi^ LLP, independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ended 
July 31,2005 F-2 

ConsoUdated statements of operations for the three yems in the period ended July 31,2007 F-3 
ConsoUdated balance sheets at July 31,2007 and 2006 F-4 
ConsoUdated statements of stockholders' equity for the three yems m the period ended July 31,2007 F-5 
Consolidated statements of cash fiows for the three years in the period ended July 31,2007 F-6 
Notes to consolidated fmancial statements F-7 

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules 

All schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the requned information is presented ui the 
consolidated fmancial statements or the notes thereto. 

(b) Exhibits. The exhibits listed below me hereby filed with the SEC as pmt of this Annual Report on Form 10-
K. We will fiimish a copy of any exhibit upon request, but a reasonable fee will be chmged to cover om expense ui 
furnishing such exhibit. 

Exhibit Description 

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Commerce Energy Group, Inc., previously filed 
with the SEC on July 6, 2004 as Exhibit 3.3 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Registration Statement 
on Form 8-A and incorporated herein by reference. 

3.2 Certificate of Designation of Series A Junior Participatuig Preferred Slock of Commerce Energy Group, 
Inc. dated July I, 2004, previously filed with tiie SEC on July 6, 2004 as Exhibit 3.4 to Commerce 
Energy Group, Inc.'s Registtation Statement on Form 8-A and uicorporated herein by reference. 

3.3 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Commerce Energy Group, Inc., previously filed with the SEC on 
July 6,2004 as Exhibit 3.6 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Registtation Statement on Form 8-A and 
uicorporated herem by reference. 
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Exhibit Description 

4.1 Rights Agreement, dated as of July I, 2004, entered mto between Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and 
Computershme Trust Company, as rights agent, previously filed with the SEC on July 6, 2004 as 
Exhibit lO.l to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Registtation Statement on Form 8-A and incorporated 
herein by reference. 

4.2 Form of Rights Certificate, previously filed with the SEC on July 6, 2004 as Exhibit 10.2 to Commerce 
Enei^ Group, Inc.'s Registration Statement on Form 8-A and uicorporated herein by reference. 

Material Contracts Relating to Management Compensation Plans or Arrangements 

10.1 Commonwealth Energy Corporation 1999 Equity Incentive Plan, previously filed with the SEC on 
Octobers, 2003 as Exhibit4.1 to Commonwealth Energy Corporation's Registration Statement on 
Form S-8 and incorporated herem by reference. 

10.2 Form of Stock Option Agreement pursuant to Commonwealth Energy Corporation 1999 Equity 
Incentive Plan, previously filed with the SEC on November 15, 2004 as Exhibit 10.9 to Commerce 
Energy Group, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form lO-K and incorporated herem by reference. 

10.3 Commerce Energy Group, Inc. 2006 Stock Incentive Plan, previously filed with the SEC on Febmary 1, 
2006 as Exhibit 99.2 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated 
herem by reference. 

10.4 Form of a Stock Option Awmd Agreement for U.S. Employees pmsuant to the Commerce Energy 
Group, Inc. 2006 Stock Incentive Plan, previously filed witii tiie SEC on April 20, 2006 as Exhibit 4.10 
to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Registtation Statement on Form S-8 (File No, 333-133442) and 
uicorporated herein by reference. 

10.5 Form of a Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Non-Employee Dnectors pursuant to the 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc. 2006 Stock Incentive Plan, previously filed with the SEC on April 20, 
2006 as Exhibit 4.11 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File 
No. 333-133442) and uicorporated herem by reference. 

10.6 Form of a Restricted Share Award Agreement for U.S. Employees pursuant to the Commerce Energy 
Group, Inc. 2006 Stock Uicentive Plan, previously filed with tiie SEC on April 20,2006 as Exhibit 4.12 
to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Registtation Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-133442) and 
incorporated herem by reference, 

10.7 Form of a Restticted Shme Unit Award Agreement pmsuant to the Commerce Energy Group, Inc. 2006 
Stock Incentive Plan, previously filed with the SEC on April 20, 2006 as Exhibit 4.14 to Commerce 
Energy Group, Inc.'s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-133442) and uicorporated 
herein by reference. 

10.8 Form of a SAR Awmd Agreement pursuant to tiie Commerce Energy Group, Inc. 2006 Stock Incentive 
Plan, previously filed with the SEC on April 20, 2006 as Exhibit 4.15 to Commerce Energy Group, 
Inc.'s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-133442) and incorporated herem by reference. 

10.9 Form of Performance Unit and Performance Stock Award pursuant to the Commerce Energy Group, 
Inc. 2006 Stock Incentive Plan, previously filed with the SEC on April 20, 2006 as Exhibit 4.16 to 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (FUe No. 333-133442) and 
incorporated herein by reference. 

10.10 Form of Deferral Election Agreement for Deferred Share Units to the Commerce Energy Group, Inc. 
pursuant to the Commerce Energy Group, Inc. 2006 Stock Incentive Plan, previously filed with the SEC 
on April 20,2006 as Exhibit 4.17 lo Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Registtation Statement on Form S-
8 (File No. 333-133442) and uicorporated herem by reference. 

10.11 Amended and Restated Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Award Agreement (for Non-Employee 
Directors) pursuant to the Commerce Energy Group, Inc. 2006 Stock Incentive Plan, previously filed 
with the SEC on May 18, 2006 as Exhibit 99.2 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on 
Form 8-K and uicorporated herein by reference. 

10.12 Form of Restticted Share Awmd Agreement (for Non-Employee Directors) pmsuant to the Commerce 
Energy Group, Inc. 2006 Stock Incentive Plan, previously filed with the SEC on April 20, 2006 as 
Exhibit 4,13 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Registtation Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-
133442) filed with the SEC on April 20,2006 and uicorporated herein by reference. 
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10.13 Form of Restticted Share Awmd Agreement (for Non-Employee Dnectors) pursuant to the Commerce 
Energy Group, Inc. 2006 Stock Incentive Plan, Initial Grant, previously filed with the SEC on May 18, 
2006 as Exhibit 99.4 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated 
herem by reference. 

10.14 Commerce Energy Group, Inc. Amended and Restated 2005 Employee Stock Pmchase Plan, previously 
filed with the SEC on Febmary 1, 2006 as Exhibit 99.1 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current 
Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herem by reference. 

10.15 Form of Subscription Agreement for the Commerce Energy Group, Inc. Amended and Restated 2005 
Employee Stock Pmchase Plan, previously filed with the SEC on April 20, 2006 as Exhibit 4.7 to 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Registtation Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-133442) and 
uicorporated herein by reference. 

10.16 Form of Notice of Withdrawal for the Commerce Energy Group, Inc. Amended and Restated 2005 
Employee Stock Purchase Plan, previously filed with the SEC on April 20, 2006 as Exhibit 4.8 to 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Registtation Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-133442) and 
incorporated hereui by reference. 

10.17 Commerce Energy Group, Inc. Bonus Program, effective January 25, 2007, previously filed with the 
SEC on January 31,2007 as Exhibit 99.1 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Cmrent Report on Form 8-
K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.18 Commerce Energy Group, Inc. Bonus Program as amended by fnst amendment, effective March 27, 
2007, previously filed with the SEC on June 14, 2007 as Exhibit 10.7 to Commerce Energy Group, 
Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form lO-Q and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.19 Commerce Energy Group, Inc. Amended and Restated Non-Employee Dnector Compensation Policy, 
effective January 27, 2006, previously filed witii the SEC on Febmary 1, 2006 as Exhibit 99.3 to 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.20 Conunerce Energy Group, Inc. Amended and Restated Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy, 
effective May 12, 2006, previously filed with tiie SEC on May 18, 2006 as Exhibit 99.1 to Commerce 
Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and uicorporated hereui by reference. 

10.21 Commerce Energy Group, Inc. Amended and Restated Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy, 
effective Jmiuary 25, 2007, previously filed wilh tiie SEC on January 31, 2007 as Exhibit 99.6 to 
Commerce Energy Group Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and uicorporated herein by reference. 

10.22 Stock Option Agreement dated as of August 29, 2003 between Robert C, Perkms and Commonwealth 
Energy Corporation, previously filed with the SEC on November 15, 2004 as Exhibit 10,13 to 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form lO-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.23 Stock Option Agreement dated as of August 29, 2003 between Robert C. Perkms and Commonwealth 
Energy Corporation, previously filed with the SEC on November 15, 2004 as Exhibit 10.14 to 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form lO-K and incorporated hereui by reference. 

10.24 Indemnification Agreement dated as of November 1,2000 between Commonwealth Energy Corporation 
and Ian B. Carter, with Schedule attached thereto of other substantially identical Indemnification 
Agreements, which differ only ui the respects set forth ui such Schedule, previously filed with the SEC 
on November 15,2004 as Exhibit 10.16 lo Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-
K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.25 Indemnification Agreement dated as of July I, 2004 between Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and Ian 
Carter, witii Schedule attached thereto of other substantially identical Indemnification Agreements, 
which differ only in the respects set forth in such Schedule, previously filed with the SEC on 
November 15, 2004 as Exhibit 10.17 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K 
and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.26 Confidential Settlement Agreement and General Release dated as of April 21, 2005 by and among Ian 
B. Carter, Commerce Energy, Inc. and Commerce Energy Group, Inc., previously filed with the SEC on 
April 22, 2005 as Exhibit 10.1 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and 
uicorporated herem by reference. 

10.27 Stock Option Agreement dated April 29, 2005 by and between Ian B. Carter and Commerce Energy 
Group, Inc., previously filed with the SEC on October 31, 2005 as Exhibit 10.33 to Commerce Energy 
Group, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form lO-K and incorporated herem by reference. 
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10.28 Executive Employment Agreement dated April I, 2004 between Commonwealth Energy Corporation, 

Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and Peter Weigand, previously filed with the SEC on April 5, 2004 as 
Exhibit 10.6 to Amendment No. 3 to Commerce Energy Group's Registtant's Statement on Form S-4 
and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.29 Amendment No. I to Executive Employment Agreement dated November 17, 2005, by and among 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc., Commerce Energy, Inc. and Peter Weigand, previously filed with the 
SEC on November 23, 2005 as Exhibit 99.4 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on 
Form 8-K and uicorporated herein by reference. 

10.30 Settlement Agreement and General Release dated November 17, 2005 by and among Peter Weigand, 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and Commerce Enei^ , Inc., previously filed with the SEC on 
November 23, 2005 as Exhibit 99.1 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K 
and uicorporated hereui by reference. 

10.31 Executive Employment Agreement dated April I, 2004 between Commonweahh Energy Corporation, 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and Richmd L. Boughmm, previously filed with the SEC on April 5, 
2004 as Exhibit 10.7 to Amendment No. 3 to Commerce Energy Group's Registrant's Statement on 
Form S-4 and incorporated hereui by reference. 

10.32 Amendment No. 1 to Executive Employment Agreement dated November 17, 2005, by and among 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc., Commerce Energy, Inc. and Richmd L. Boughmm, previously filed 
with the SEC on November 23, 2005 as Exhibit 99.11 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current 
Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.33 Settlement Agreement and General Release dated November 17, 2005 by and among Richard L. 
Boughrum, Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and Commerce Energy, Inc., previously filed with the SEC 
on November 23, 2005 as Exhibit 99.8 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K 
and incorporated hereui by reference. 

10.34 Employment Offer Letter Agreement between Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and Thomas Uhy dated 
May 31, 2005, previously filed witii the SEC on October 31, 2005 as Exhibit 10.30 to Commerce 
Energy Group, Inc.'s Aimual Report on Form 10-K and uicorporated herein by reference 

10.35 Letter from Thomas Uhy to Commerce Energy Group, Inc, dated October 28, 2005 regmdmg the 
May 31, 2005 Employment Offer Letter Agreement, previously filed witii tiie SEC on October 31, 2005 
as Exhibit 10.31 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K and uicorporated 
hereui by reference. 

10.36 Settlement Agreement and General Release dated November 17, 2005, by and among Commerce 
Energy Group, Inc., Commerce Energy, Inc. and Eric Alam, previously filed with the SEC on 
November 23, 2005 as Exhibit 99.13 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K 
and uicorporated hereui by reference. 

10.37 Agreement and Release dated November 17, 2005, by and among. Commerce Energy Group, Inc., 
Commerce Energy, Inc., Paul, Hastings, Janofsky & Walker LLP, Eric Alam, Bruno Kvetmskas, Greg 
Lander and Peter Weigand, previously filed with the SEC on November 23, 2005 as Exhibit 99.7 to 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.38 Executive Employment Agreement dated August 1, 2005 between Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and 
Steven S. Boss, previously filed with the SEC on August 2, 2005 as Exhibit lO.l to Commerce Energy 
Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and uicorporated herein by reference, 

10.39 Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement dated January 25, 2007 by and between Commerce 
Energy Group, Inc. and Steven S. Boss, previously filed with the SEC on January 31, 2007 as 
Exhibit 99.2 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated hereui 
by reference 

10.40 Stock Option Agreement dated August 1, 2005 between Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and Steven S. 
Boss, previously filed with the SEC on August 2, 2005 as Exhibit 10.2 to Commerce Energy Group, 
Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and uicorporated herein by reference. 

10.41 Restticted Stock Agreement dated August 1, 2005 between Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and Steven 
S. Boss, previously filed with the SEC on August 2, 2005 as Exhibit 10.3 to Commerce Energy Group, 
Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herem by reference. 

10.42 Amendment No. 1 to Restricted Stock Agreement dated January 25, 2007 by and between Commerce 
Energy Group, Inc. and Steven S. Boss, previously filed with the SEC on January 31, 2007 as 
Exhibit 99.3 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein 
by reference 
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10.43 Indenmification Agreement dated August 1,2005 between Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and Steven S. 

Boss, previously filed with the SEC on August 2, 2005 as Exhibit 10.4 to Commerce Energy Group, 
Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.44 Employment Agreement dated December 1, 2005 between Lawrence Clayton, Jr. and Commerce 
Energy Group, Inc., previously filed with the SEC on December 6, 2005 as Exhibit 99,1 to Commerce 
Energy Group, Inc.'s Cmrent Report on Form 8-K and incorporated hereui by reference. 

10.45 Amendment No, 1 to Employment Agreement dated November 30, 2006, by and between Conunerce 
Energy Group, Inc, and Lawrence Clayton, Jr., previously filed with the SEC on March 19, 2007 as 
Exhibit 10.1 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form lO-Q and uicorporated 
herein by reference. 

10.46 Amendment No. 2 to Employment Agreement dated January 25, 2007 by and between Commerce 
Energy Group, Inc, and Lawrence Clayton, Jr., previously filed with the SEC on January 31, 2007 as 
Exhibit 99.4 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herem 
by reference. 

10.47 Stock Option Agreement dated December I, 2005 between Lawrence Clayton, Jr. and Commerce 
Energy Group, Inc., previously filed with the SEC on December 6, 2005 as Exhibit 99.2 to Commerce 
Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.48 Restricted Stock Agreement dated December 1, 2005 between Lawrence Clayton, Jr. and Commerce 
Energy Group, Inc., previously filed with the SEC on December 6, 2005 as Exhibit 99.3 to Commerce 
Energy Group, Inc.'s Curtent Report on Form 8-K and uicorporated hereui by reference. 

10.49 Amendment No. 1 to Restricted Stock Agreement dated January 25, 2007 by and between Commerce 
Energy Group, Inc. and Lawrence Clayton, Jr., previously filed witii the SEC on January 31, 2007 as 
Exhibit 99.5 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form S-K and incorporated herem 
by reference. 

10.50 Indemnification Agreement dated December 1, 2005 between Lawrence Clayton, Jr. and Commerce 
Energy Group, Inc., previously filed with the SEC on December 6, 2005 as Exhibit 99.4 to Commerce 
Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.51 Settlement Agreement and General Release by and among Andrew V. Coppola, Commerce Energy, Inc, 
and Commerce Energy Group, Inc., previously filed with the SEC on April 18, 2006 as Exhibit 99.1 to 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herem by reference. 

10.52 Employment Agreement dated Mmch 26, 2007 between Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and Erik A. 
Lopez, Sr., previously filed with the SEC on June 14, 2007 as Exhibit 10.3 to Commerce Energy Group, 
Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form lO-Q and incorporated hereui by reference. 

10.53 Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement dated October 5, 2007 by and between Commerce 
Energy Group, Inc. and Erik A. Lopez, Sr. 

10.54 Stock Option Award Agreement dated Mmch 27, 2007 between Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and Erik 
A, Lopez, Sr., previously filed with the SEC on June 14, 2007 as Exhibit 10.5 to Commerce Energy 
Group, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.55 Restricted Shme Award Agreement dated March 27, 2007 between Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and 
Erik A. Lopez, Sr., previously filed with the SEC on June 14, 2007 as Exhibit 10.5 to Commerce Energy 
Group, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and incorporated herem by reference, 

10.56 Indemnification Agreement dated March 26, 2007 between Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and Erik A. 
Lopez, Sr., previously filed with the SEC on June 14, 2007 as Exhibit 10.4 to Commerce Energy Group, 
Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and incorporated hereui by reference. 

10.57 Separation Agreement and General Release dated October 5, 2007 by and between Commerce Energy 
Group, Inc. and Erik A. Lopez, Sr. 

10.58 Interim Executive Services Agreement by and between Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and Tatum, LLC 
regarduig J. Robert Hipps dated July 25, 2007, previously filed witii the SEC on July 27, 2007 as 
Exhibit 99.1 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein 
by reference 

10.59 Indemnification Agreement between Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and J. Robert Hipps dated July 25, 
2007, previously filed witii the SEC on July 27, 2007 as Exhibit 99.2 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s 
Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 
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Other Material Contracts 

10.60 Registration Rights Agreement by and among Commonwealth Energy Corporation and the holders of 
Skipping Stone Inc. common stock dated March 29, 2004, previously filed with the SEC on April 5, 
2004 as Exhibit 2.5 to Amendment No. 3 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Registtation Statement on 
Form S-4 and uicorporated hereui by reference. 

10.61 Consent to Sublease and Sublease Agreement dated May 28, 2004 between E*Trade Consumer Finance 
Coiporation and Commonwealth Energy Corporation, previously filed with the SEC on November 15, 
2004 as Exhibit 10.25 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K and 
incorporated herein by reference. 

I0.62t Agreement To Provide QSE and Marketuig Services dated August 1, 2005 between Commerce Energy, 
Inc. and Tenaska Power Services Co. 

10.63t Security Agreement dated August 1,2005 between Commerce Energy, Inc. and Tenaska Power Services 
Co. 

I0.64t Blocked Account Conttol Agreement (with Lockbox Services) dated August 2005 by and among 
Commerce Energy, Inc., Tenaska Power Services Co, and U.S. Bank National Association Depository 
Bank, 

I0.65t Master Power Pmchase and Sale Agreement dated August 1, 2005 between Commerce Energy, Inc. and 
Tenaska Power Services Co, 

10.66 Guaranfy Agreement dated August 1,2005 by Commerce Energy Group, Inc. m favor of Tenaska Power 
Services Co, 

10.67 Fnst Amendment to Security Agreement between Commerce Energy, Inc. and Tenaska Power Services 
Co., effective as of March 7,2006. 

10.68 Loan and Security Agreement by and among Commerce Energy, Inc., as Borrower, and Commerce 
Energy Group, Inc., as Guarantor, and Wachovia Capital Fmance Corporation (Western), as Agent, and 
the Lenders From Time to Tune Party Thereto, as Lenders, dated June 8,2006, previously filed with the 
SEC on June 12, 2006 as Exhibit 99.1 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K 
and uicorporated hereui by reference. 

10.69 Guaranty dated June 8, 2006 by Commerce Energy Group, Inc., as Guarantor, to Wachovia Capital 
Fuiance Corporation (Westem), as Agent, previously filed with tiie SEC on June 12, 2006 as 
Exhibit 99.2 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and uicorporated herem 
by reference. 

10.70 Ffrst Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement and Waiver dated September 20, 2006 among 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc., Commerce Energy, Inc., Wachovia Capital Fuiance Corporation 
(Westem) and The CIT Group/Busmess Credit, Inc., previously filed with the SEC on September 26, 
2006 as Exhibit 99.1 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form S-K and incorporated 
herem by reference, 

10.71 Second Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement and Waiver dated October 26. 2006 among 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc., Commerce Energy, Inc., Wachovia Capital Finance Corporation 
(Westem) and The CIT Group/Business Credit, Inc., previously filed with the SEC on October 30, 2006 
as Exhibit 10.91 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K and uicorporated 
herein by reference. 

10.72 Thnd Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement and Waiver dated March 15, 2007 among 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc., Commerce Energy, Inc., Wachovia Capital Finance Corporation 
(Westem) and The CIT Group/Busmess Credit, Inc., previously filed witii tiie SEC on Mmch 19, 2007 
as Exhibit 10.9 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the Quarterly 
Period Ended January 31,2007 

10.73 Fourth Amendment to Loan and Secmity Agreement and Waiver dated June 26,2007 among Commerce 
Energy Group, Inc., Commerce Energy, Inc., Wachovia Capital Finance Corporation (Westem) and The 
CIT Group/Business Credit, Inc, 

10.74 Fifth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement and Waiver dated August I, 2007 among Commerce 
Energy Group, Inc., Commerce Energy, Inc., Wachovia Capital Fuiance Corporation (Westem) and The 
CIT Group/Busmess Credit, Inc., previously filed with the SEC on August 2, 2007 as Exhibit 99.1 to 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and uicorporated herein by reference. 

82 



Exhibit Description 

10.75 Letter Agreement, dated September 20, 2007, by and among Commerce Energy Group, Inc., Commerce 
Energy, Inc., Wachovia Capital Fuiance Corporation (Westem), as Agent and Lender and The CIT 
Group/Business Credit, Inc., as Lender, previously filed with the SEC on September 25, 2007 as 
Exhibit 99.1 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated herem 
by reference. 

10.76 Second Amendment to Security Agreement between Commerce Energy, Inc. and Tenaska Power 
Services Co., effective as of June 22, 2006. 

10.77 Asset Pmchase Agreement dated September 20, 2006 between Houston Energy Services Company, 
L.L.C. and Commerce Energy, Inc., previously filed witii the SEC on September 26,2006 as Exhibit 2.1 
to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and incorporated hereui by reference. 

10.78 Transition Services Agreement dated September 20, 2006 among Commerce Energy, Inc. and Houston 
Energy Services Company, L.L.C, previously filed with the SEC on September 26, 2006 as Exhibit 2,2 
to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K and uicorporated hereui by reference. 

10.79 Gumanty Agreement dated September 20, 2006 among Commerce Energy, Inc., Thomas L. Goudie, 
James Bujnoch, Jr., Gary Hollowell, Dustin Roach, Steve Loy and Amold Perez, previously filed with 
the SEC on September 26, 2006 as Exhibit 2.3 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Cmrent Report on 
Form 8-K and incorporated herein by reference. 

10.80 Gas Supply Agreement dated September 20, 2006 by and among Pacific Summit Energy LLC and 
Commerce Energy, Inc. and Houston Energy Services Company, LLC. 

10.81 Operatuig Agreement dated September 20, 2006 between Pacific Summit Energy LLC and Commerce 
Energy, Inc. 

I0.82t Security Agreement dated September 20, 2006 between Pacific Summit Energy LLC and Commerce 
Energy, Inc. 

I0.83t Blocked Account Conttol Agreement (with Lockbox Services) dated September 20, 2006 by and among 
Commerce Energy, Inc., Pacific Summit Energy LLC and Wachovia Bank NA. 

10.84 Base Contract for Sale and Pmchase of Natmal Gas dated September 20, 2006 between Commerce 
Energy, Inc. and Pacific Summit Energy LLC. 

10.85 APX Settlement and Release of Claims Agreement dated as of January 5, 2007 by and among the 
Settling Parties, uicluduig Commonwealth Energy Corporation (n/k/a Commerce Energy, Inc.), 
previously filed with the SEC on March 19, 2007 as Exhibit 10.2 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and uicorporated herem by reference. 

10.86 First Amendment to Master Power Pmchase and Sale Agreement between Commerce Energy, Inc. and 
Tenaska Power Services, Co. dated May 25,2007. 

10.87 Settlement Agreement and Mutual Release dated June 11, 2007 among Commerce Energy Group, Inc., 
Commerce Energy, Inc., Peter Weigand and American Communications Network, Inc., previously filed 
with the SEC on June 12, 2007 as Exhibit 99.1 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Current Report on 
Form 8-K and incorporated hereui by reference. 

14.1 Commerce Energy Group. Inc. Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, previously filed with the SEC on 
November 15, 2004 as Exhibit 14.1 to Commerce Energy Group, Inc.'s Annual Report on Form lO-K 
for the year ended July 31,2004 and uicorporated herein by reference, 

21.1 Subsidiaries ofthe Registtant. 
23.1 Consent of Hein & Associates LLP, independent registered public accounting firm. 
23.2 Consent of Ernst & Young, LLP, uidependent registered public accoimtmg fmn. 
31.1 Pruicipal Executive Officer Certification requned by Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act 

of 1934. 
31.2 Pruicipal Financial Officer Certification required by Rule 13a-l4(a) under the Secmities Exchange Act 

of 1934, 
32.1 Principal Executive Officer Certification pmsuant to 18U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pmsuant to 

Section 906 of tiie Smbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
32.2 Principal Financial Officer Certification pursuant to 18U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pmsuant to 

Section 906 of tiie Smbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

t Confidential treatment has been requested wilh respect to certaui provisions of this agreement. Omitted portions 
have been filed separately with the SEC. 
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requfrements of Section 13 or 15(d) ofthe Secmities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has 
duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 

COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC. 

Date: October 29,2007 By: Is! STEVENS. BOSS 
Steven S. Boss 

Chief Executive Officer 

Pursuant to the requnements ofthe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the 
following persons on behalf of the registtant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 

Signature 

/s/STEVENS. BOSS 
Steven S. Boss 

/s/J. ROBERT HIPPS 
J. Robert Hipps 

Is! KENNETH L. ROBINSON 
Kenneth L. Robuison 

Isl CHARLES E. BAYLESS 
Chmles E. Bayless 

/s/DENNIS R. LEIBEL 
Dennis R. Leibel 

Isl GARY L HESSENAUER 
Gary J. Hessenauer 

Isl MARK S. JUERGENSEN 
Mmk S. Juergensen 

Is! ROBERT C. PERKINS 
Robert C. Perkms 

Title 

Chief Executive Officer and a Dnector 
(Principal Executive Officer) 

Interim Chief Financial Officer 
(Principal Fmancial Officer) 

Corporate Conttoller 
(Principal Accounting Officer) 

Dnector 

Dnector 

Dnector 

Dnector 

Director 

Date 

October 29, 2007 

October 29, 2007 

October 29, 2007 

October 29,2007 

October 29,2007 

October 29, 2007 

October 29,2007 

Octt)ber29,2007 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

To the Bomd of Directors mid Stockholders of Commerce Energy Group, Inc.: 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Commerce Energy Group, Inc. as of July 31, 
2007 and 2006 and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity and cash flows for the 
yems then ended. These consolidated financial statements me the responsibility ofthe Company's management. Om 
responsibUity is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on om audits. 

We conducted om audits ui accordance with the standmds of the Public Company Accountuig Oversight Bomd 
(United States). Those standards requne that we plan and perform the audits to obtam reasonable assmance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an 
audit of the Company's mtemal conttol over financial reportmg. Om audits mcluded consideration of mtemal 
control over fmancial reportmg as a basis for designing audit procedmes that me appropriate ui the cncumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's intemal conttol over 
financial reporting. Accordmgly, we express no such opinion. An audit also uicludes examming, on a test basis, 
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosmes ui the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles 
used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall fmancial statement presentation. We 
believe that om audits provide a reasonable basis for om opinion. 

In om opuiion, tiie consolidated financial statements referred to above present fanly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated financial position of Commerce Energy Group, Inc. as of July 31, 2007 and 2006 and the consolidated 
results of their operations and then cash flows for the years then ended, m conformity with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles. 

Isl HEIN & ASSOCIATES LLP 

Irvuie, Califomia 
October 24,2007 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

To the Board of Dnectors and Stockholders of Commerce Energy Group, Inc.: 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity and cash flows 
of Commerce Energy Group, Inc. (formerly Commonwealth Energy Corporation) for tiie year ended July 31, 2005. 
These financial statements me the responsibility ofthe Company's management. Om responsibility is to express an 
opinion on these financial statements based on om audit. 

We conducted om audit ui accordance with the standmds of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bomd 
(United States). Those standmds requne that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assmance about 
whether tiie financial statements are free of material misstatement. We were not engaged to perfonn an audit ofthe 
Company's intemal conttol over financial reportmg. Om audit included consideration of mtemal conttol over 
financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedmes that are appropriate ui the cncumstances, but not for the 
pmpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness ofthe Company's intemal conttol over fmancial reporting. 
Accordmgly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examming, on a test basis, evidence supportuig the 
amounts and disclosmes in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estunates made by management, and evalualuig the overall fmancial statement presentation. We believe that om 
audit provides a reasonable basis for om opmion. 

In om opuiion, the financial statements of Commerce Energy Group, Inc. referred to above present fanly, m all 
material respects, the consolidated resuhs of its operations and its cash flows for the yem ended July 31, 2005, m 
conformity witii U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 

Isl ERNST & YOUNG LLP 

Orange County, Califomia 
October 25,2005 
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COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

Fiscal Years Ended Julv 31. 
2007 2006 2005 

(ID thousands, except per share amounts) 

Revenue $365,089 $247,080 $253,853 
APX settlement 6,525 — — 
Net revenue 371.614 247,080 253,853 
Du-ect energy costs 314,371 218,289 225,671 

Gross profit 57,243 28,791 28,182 

Sellmg and mmketing expenses 10,642 5,231 4,081 

General and admmisttative expenses 37,291 26,939 31,504 

Income (loss) from operations 9,310 (3,379) (7,403) 

Other uicome and expenses: 

Initial formation litigation expenses — — (1,601) 
Recovery of (provision for) unpairment on investments — — 2,000 

ACN arbittation settlement (3,900) — — 
Interest income 1,296 1,140 890 

Interest expense (1,053) — — 

Total otiier uicome and expenses (3,657) 1,140 1,289 

Income (loss) before provision for uicome taxes 5,653 (2,239) (6,114) 

Provision for income taxes 122 — — 

Net income (loss) $ 5,531 $ (2,239) $ (6,114) 

Income (loss) per common share: 
Basic and diluted $ 0.18 $ (0.07) $ (0.20) 

Shmes used in computmg mcome (loss) per common shme: 

Basic 29,906 30,419 30,946 

Diluted 30,044 30,419 30,946 

The accompanying notes are an mtegral part of tiiese consolidated financial statements. 
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COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC. 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

July 31. 
2007 2006 

(In thousands, except per share amounts) 
ASSETS 

Current assets: 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 6,559 $22,941 
Accounts receivable, net 65,231 30,650 
Inventory 5,905 4,578 
Prepaid expenses and other current 7,224 6,827 
Total current assets 84,919 64,996 

Restticted cash 10,457 17,117 
Deposits 1,906 2,506 
Property and equipment, net 8,662 5,866 
Goodwill 4,247 4,801 
Otiier intangible assets 6,385 3,790 

Total assets $116,576 $99,076 

LL\BILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 

Current liabUities: 
Accounts payable $ 37,926 $ 26,876 
Accmed liabilities 8,130 5,867 

Total current liabilities 46,056 32,743 

Commitments and contingencies 
Stockholders' equity: 
Common stock — 150,000 shmes authorized with $0.001 pm value and 

30,383 and 29,632 shares issued and outstanding ui fiscal 2007 and 2006, 
respectively 60,599 58,849 

Other comprehensive uicome (loss) (823) 2,271 

Retained eamings 10,744 5,213 

Total stockholders'equity 70,520 66,333 

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $116,576 $ 99,076 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 

Shares 

30,519 
102 

(120) 
5 

— 
930 

31,436 
221 

(1>469) 

Amount 

$ 60,540 
54 

(251) 
10 

256 
2,000 

62,609 
11 

(2,204) 

Other 
Retained Comprehensive 
Earnings Income 
(In thousands) 

$ 13,566 $ — 

— — 

— — 

(6,114) -

7,452 — 

— — 

Total 

$ 74,106 
54 

(251) 
10 

256 
2,000 

(6,114) 

70,061 
l l 

(2,204) 

Commerce Energy Groun. Inc 

Balance atJuly 31,2004 
Exercise of stock options 
Repmchase of common shares 
Issuance of stock 
Amortization of uneamed restricted stock 
Issuance of stock in connection with ACN acquisition 
Net loss 

Balance at July 31,2005 
Exercise of stock options 
Repmchase of common shares 
Issuance of stock 10 — — — 
Repmchase of dissenter's rights stock (55) (106) — — 
Issuance of restricted stock 435 — — — 
Cancellation of restricted stock (16) — — — 
Amortization of uneamed share based compensation.. — 386 — — 
Amortization of uneamed restricted stock — 153 — — 
Cancellation of stock m connection with ACN 

acquisition (930) (2,000) — — 
Comprehensive income — — (2,239) 2,271 

Balance atJuly 31,2006 29,632 58,849 5,213 2,271 
Exercise of stock options 535 1,196 — — 
Issuance of restricted stock 230 — — — 
Cancellation of restticted stock (14) — — — 
Amortization of uneamed share based compensation.. — 213 — — 
Amortization ofuneamed restricted stock — 341 — — 
Comprehensive income — — 5,531 (3,094) 

Balance atJuly 31,2007 30^83 $ 60,599 $ 10,744 $ (823) 

(106) 

386 
153 

(2,000) 

32 

66,333 
1,196 

213 
341 

2,437 

S 70,520 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

Fiscal Years Ended Julv 31. 
2007 2006 2005 

(In thousands) 

Cash Flows From Operating Activities 
Net income (loss) $ 5,531 $ (2,239) $ (6,114) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) 

operating activities: 
Depreciation 1,736 856 1,216 
Amortization 1,656 1,140 888 
Amortization of deferred loan costs 162 — — 
Provision for doubtfiil accounts 4,169 2,813 2,305 
Stock-based compensation chmge 554 539 256 
Deferred income tax provision — — 74 
Impanment of Summit Energy uivestments — — 5 
Loss on disposition of property and equipment — — 165 
Changes m operating assets and liabilities: 
Accounts receivable, net (38,750) (5,620) 1,096 
Prepaid expenses and other assets (3,144) 8,402 695 
Accounts payable 11,051 1,251 (4,952) 
Accmed liabilities and otiier 985 (1,079) 805 

Net cash provided by (used ui) operatuig activities (16,050) 6,063 (3,561) 
Cash Flows From Investing Activities 
Pmchase of property and equipment (4,532) (4,714) (1,025) 
Reimbmsement from state on renewable energy asset — — 250 
Purchase of intangible assets (4,453) (28) — 
Sale of intangibles — customer contracts sold 756 — — 
Business acquisition, net of cash requfred — — (14,525) 
Sale of short-term in vestments — — 43,312 
Net cash provided by (used ui) investuig activities (8,229) (4,742) 28,012 
Cash Flows From Financing Activities 
Repmchase of common stock — (2,310) (251) 
Sale of common stock — — 10 
Credit luie commitment fee 41 (530) — 
Proceeds from exercises of stock options 1,196 11 54 
Decrease (uicrease) m restricted cash 6,660 (8,895) (1,673) 

Net cash provided by (used in) fmancing activities 7,897 (11,724) (1,860) 

Increase (decrease) ui cash and cash equivalents (16,382) (10,403) 22,591 

Cash and cash equivalents at begmning of yem 22,941 33,344 10,753 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of yem $ 6,559 $ 22,941 $ 33,344 

Cash paid for: 
Interest $ 891 $ — $ — 
Income taxes $ — $ — $ — 

The accompanying notes me an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(In thousands, except per share and per kWh amounts) 

1. Nature of Business 

Commerce Energy Group, Inc. or Commerce is a diversified independent energy mmketer of electricity and 
natural gas. Commerce provides retail electricity and natural gas to its residential, commercial, industrial and 
institutional customers, and provides consulting and information services to energy-related oi^anizations. 
Commerce is a holding company that operates through its wholly-owned operatmg subsidiaries: Commerce Energy 
Inc. or Commerce Energy, and Skipping Stone Inc, or Skipping Stone. As used in these consolidated financial 
statements, the term the "Company" refers to Commerce and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. 

Commerce Energy provides electticity to its customers in the deregulated Califomia, Pennsylvania, Michigan, 
New Jersey, Maryland and Texas electricity markets. Commerce Energy is licensed by the Federal Energy 
Regulatory Commission or FERC, as a power mmketer. In addition to the states ui which the Company currently 
operates. Commerce Energy is also licensed, certified, or otherwise qualified by applicable state agencies to supply 
retail electticity in Illinois, New York, Ohio and Vnginia. Commerce Energy also provides natural gas to customers 
ui Califomia, Florida, Georgia, Maryland, Nevada, Ohio, and Pennsylvania. Skippuig Stone provides energy-related 
consulting services and information to utilities, generators, pipeluies, wholesale merchants and uivestment banks. 

The Company's common stock trades on the American Stock Exchange under the symbol EGR. 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Basis of Consolidation 

The Company's consolidated financial statements mclude its two wholly-owned operating subsidiaries: 
Commerce Energy and Skipping Stone. All material inter-company balances and transactions have been eliminated 
in consolidation. 

Use of Estimates and Assumptions 

The prepmation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted 
m the United States of America requnes management to make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts and tuning of revenue and expenses, the reported amounts and classification of assets and 
liabilities, and the disclosme of contmgent assets and liabilities. These estimates and assumptions are based on the 
Company's historical experience as well as management's futme expectations. As a result, actual results could 
materially differ from management's estimates and assumptions. The Company's management believes that its most 
critical estunates herein relate to independent system operator costs, ttansportation and delivery costs, allowance for 
doubtful accounts, unbilled receivables, inventory valuation, customer acquisition costs, accounting for derivative 
msttuments and hedging activities, and loss contingencies. 

Reclassifications 

The Company has reclassified certam prior fiscal yem amounts ui the accompanymg consolidated financial 
statements to be consistent with the current fiscal year presentation. 

Non-cash items 

In the fiscal yem ended July 31, 2005 ("fiscal 2005"), the Company issued $2,000 of its common stock 
(930 shmes) ui connection with the acquisition of certain assets from ACN Utility Services, Inc. This stock 
transaction was reversed in the fiscal year ended July 31, 2006 ("fiscal 2006") (see Note 3). Also ui fiscal 2005, the 
Company reined $4,562 of property and equipment and the related $4,398 of accumulated depreciation witii a net 
book value of $165. 
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COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued) 

Revenue and Cost Recognition 

Energy sales are recognized as electricity and natmal gas is delivered to the Company's customers. 

Dnect energy costs, which are recognized concmrently with related energy sales, mclude the commodity cost of 
pmchased electricity and natmal gas, ttansportation and ttansmission costs associated with energy delivery, fees 
uicurred from various energy-related service providers and energy-related taxes that cannot be passed directly 
tinough to the customer. Fees and charges from the Independent System Operators or ISOs, and the Local 
Distribution Companies or LDCs, me determined by the ISO or LDC based upon each day's system-wide activities. 
The Company estimates and accmes for these fees based on activity levels, preliminary settlements and other 
available information. Final determination and settlement of these charges may take from one to three months and 
they are adjusted when they become available. The Company's customers' billuigs may also mclude chaiges for the 
transmission and distribution of the commodity for which the utility is ultimately responsible and separately 
itemized taxes for which the customer is responsible. These amounts me excluded from the Company's net revenue. 
In Texas, the Company bills customers for transmission and distribution chmges which Commerce is responsible for 
both collecting from the customers, and remitting to the utilities. As a result, these transmission and disttibution 
chmges me included in both revenue and dfrect energy costs. 

The Company's net revenue is comprised ofthe following: 

Fiscal Years Ended July 31. 
2007 2006 2005 

Retail electricity sales $237,526 $ 177,752 $ 188,316 
Excess energy sales 1,535 7,627 40,061 
Total electticity sales 239,061 185,379 228,377 
RetaU nattual gas sales 126,028 61,701 25,476 
APX settlement 6,525 — — 

Net revenue $371,614 $247,080 $253,853 

Skippuig Stone revenues, after inter-company eliminations, for the fiscal years ended July 31, 2007, 2006 mid 
2005 were $899, $1,462 and $1,927, respectively, representmg less than 1% of total net revenue for each fiscal 
period. 

Sales commission expense payable based on customer billings is recognized m the same period as the related 
revenue. Commission expense is recorded in selling and mmketing expenses. 

Dnect customer acquisition costs paid to tiifrd parties and dnectly related to specific new customers are deferred 
and amortized over the life ofthe initial customer contract, typically one yem. 

Major Customer and Suppliers 

No mdividual customer accounted for ten percent or more ofthe Company's consolidated net revenue in fiscal 
2007,2006 or 2005. 

The Company utilizes a diversified selection of energy suppliers. In fiscal 2007, the Company had three 
significant suppliers, one of which accounted for 25%, and two suppliers for 10% each, of dnect energy cost. The 
Company believes there are numerous otiier suppliers that could be substituted should these suppliers become 
unavailable or non-competitive. 
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COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued) 

Operating Expenses 

Selling and marketuig expenses consist principally of costs uicurred for sales and mmketing personnel, 
commissions and customer acquisition costs paid to thnd parties and promotional and advertismg activities. 
Advertising costs are expensed as uicurred and were $1,184, $479 and $26 for fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005, 
respectively. 

General and administtalive expenses consist pruicipally of costs incmred for all other corporate personnel, rent, 
utilities, telecommunications, msmance, legal fees, and other corporate costs including provisions made for 
uncollectible accounts receivable, the depreciation and amortization of both tangible and uitangible assets, and 
stock-based compensation (see below for details regarduig stock-based compensation charges). 

Eamings (Loss) Per Common Share 

Income (loss) per common share — Basic has been computed by dividing net income (loss) available to common 
stockholders, after any preferred stock dividends, by the weighted average number of common shmes outstanding 
during the fiscal yem. Income (loss) per common shme — Diluted has been computed by givuig additional effect in 
the denominator to the dilution that would have occurred under the tteasury stock and if-converted methods, as 
applicable, had outstanduig slock options been exercised into additional common shmes. For the fiscal yems ended 
2006 and 2005, assumed exercises or conversions have been excluded in computing the diluted loss per share since 
there were net losses for those fiscal yems and then* inclusion would have been anti-dilutive. 

Stock-Based Compensation 

Effective in the first quarter of fiscal 2006, the Company adopted Statement of Fmancial Accounting Standards 
No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payments ("SFAS 123R") which revises SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation and supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. SFAS 123R 
requnes all share-based payments to employees, mcludmg grants of employee slock options and restricted stock, be 
measured at feir value and expensed m the consolidated statement of operations over the service period (generally 
the vestmg period). The Company uses the Black-Scholes option valuation model to value stock options. As a result 
of the adoption of SFAS 123R, using the modified prospective application, the Company is requned to record 
compensation expense for all awmds granted after the date of adoption and for the unvested portion of previously 
granted awmds that remain outstanduig at the date of adoption. The Company recognized a pre-tax (tax effect 
minimal) chmge associated with the expensing of stock options vested for fiscal 2007 of $213, which is included in 
general and admuiistrative expenses. As of July 31, 2007, there was $66 of total unrecognized compensation cost 
related to the non-vested outstanding stock options, which is expected to be recognized over the period August 2007 
tiwough Mmch 2010, 

Pro forma information regarding eamuigs (loss) per shme is requned by SFAS No, 123 and has been determmed 
as if the Company had accounted for its employee stock options under the fan value method of SFAS No, 123 for 
fiscal yem 2005. 

Stock-based awmds have been valued using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Among other things, the 
Black-Scholes model considers the expected volatility ofthe Company's stock price, determined m accordance wilh 
SFAS No. 123, in arriving at an option valuation. Estimates and other assumptions necessary to apply the Black-
Scholes model may differ significantly fi*om assumptions used in calculating the value of options granted under the 
minimum value method. 

The fan value of options granted is estimated on the date of grant based on the weighted-average assumptions in 
the table below. The assumption for the expected life is based on evaluations of historical and expected fiitme 
exercise behavior. The risk-free mterest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury rates at the date ofthe grant with matmily 
dates approximately equal to the expected life al the grant date. The historical stock volatility ofthe Company's 
common stock is used as the basis for the volatility assumption. 
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$(6,114) 

256 

(2,977) 

$(8,835) 

COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued) 

Fiscal Years Ended Julv 31. 
2007 2006 2005 

Weighted-average risk-free interest rate 4.8% 4.9% 5.0% 
Average expected life in years 3.8 4.9 6.0 
Expected dividends None None None 
Volatility 72.0% 77.2% 82.5% 

If the fair values of the options granted dming fiscal 2005 had been recognized as compensation expense on a 
straight-line basis over the vestmg period ofthe grant, stock-based compensation costs would have impacted om net 
loss and loss per common shme as follows: 

Fiscal Year 
Ended July 31, 

2005 

Net loss as reported 
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense included in net loss, net of related tax 

effects 
Deduct: Total stock-based compensation expense determined under fair value based 
method for aU awmds, net of related tax effects 

Pro forma net loss 

Loss per share: 
Basic and diluted — as reported $ (0.20) 

Basic and diluted — proforma $ (0.29) 

Restricted Stock 

In fiscal 2007, the company granted 230 shares of restricted stock to its employees and dnectors. These restticted 
shmes vest m accordance with the terms of various written agreements from September 25, 2007 to Mmch 26,2010. 
The total compensation cost recognized in fiscal yem 2007 for the stock-based compensation awards was $341. As 
of July 31,2007, tiie total umecognized compensation cost relatmg to non-vested restticted stock was $471 and will 
be recognized over the period of August 1,2007 t h r o i ^ Mmch 26,2010. 

In fiscal 2004, pursuant to the terms of an employment agreement, the Company granted 150 shares of restticted 
common stock to its then Chief Fmancial Officer, which were to vest equally over the first three anniversmy dates of 
employment, begmning April I, 2005. The Company recorded $288 of deferred stock-based compensation as a 
result ofthe restricted stock grant. Total compensation cost recognized ui the fiscal year 2005 for this stock-based 
employee compensation award was $256. The fiscal 2005 expense reflects tiie acceleration of vesting under the 
terms of his contract 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash equivalents consist primarily of investments in highly rated liquid instmments (typically Imge money 
mmket mutual funds). The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents with highly rated financial institutions, 
thereby mmimizuig any associated credit risks. 

Liquidity 

The Company's principal somces of liquidity to fimd ongoing operations have been existing cash and cash 
equivalents on hand, cash generated from operations and our credit fecility which uicreases om bortowing capacity. 
Based upon om level of operations and busuiess conditions at July 31, 2007, management forecasts that these 
somces will be sufficient to fund om expected capital expenditmes and to meet om working capital requfrements 
along with other cash needs through fiscal 2008. However, the Company would need to add lo its capital resomces 
in fiscal 2008 if we expand om busuiess, either from mtemal growth or acquisitions, if energy prices increase 
materially, or if energy industry volatility and/or uncertainty creates additional credit requirements. 
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COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued) 

Accounts Receivable 

The Company's accounts receivable consist of billed and unbUled receivables from customers. The Company's 
customers me billed monthly at various dates throughout the month. Unbilled receivables represent the amount of 
electticity and natmal gas delivered to customers as ofthe end ofthe period but not yet billed. Unbilled receivables 
are estimated by the Company based on the number of units of electticity and natural gas delivered but not yet 
billed, multiplied by the current customer average sales price per unit. 

Credit Risk and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 

The Company maintains an allowance for doubtfiil accounts, which represents man^ement's estimate of 
probable losses mherent m the accounts receivable balance based on known ttoubled accounts, historical experience, 
account aging and other currently available uiformation (see Note 9). 

The Company's exposme to credit risk concentration is limited primarily to those local utilities that collect and 
remit receivables on a daily basis, from the Company's individually insignificant and geographically dispersed 
customers. The Company regulmly monitors the financial condition of each such local utility and currently believes 
that its susceptibility to any individuaUy significant write-offs as a result of concenttations of customer accounts 
receivable with those local utilities is remote. 

Inventory 

Inventory represents natural gas in storage and is stated at the lower of weighted average cost or mmket 

Deferred Income Taxes 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities me recognized for the expected fiiture income tax benefits or 
consequences, based on enacted laws, of temporary timuig differences between tax and financial statement 
reporting. Dming fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005, the Company established valuation allowances to reserve its net 
deferred tax assets, as management believes it is not certain that the Company will realize the tax benefits m the 
foreseeable futme. The provision for taxes hi fiscal 2007 is based on the Ahemative Muiunum Tax on tax-based 
income that statutorily cannot be offset by the Company's tax carryforwmds. 

Comprehensive Income (Loss) 

Statement of Fmancial Accountuig Standmds No, 130, "Reporting Comprehensive Income" ("SFAS 130") 
establishes standards for reporting and displaying comprehensive income and its components ui the Company's 
consolidated financial statements. Comprehensive income is defined in SFAS 130 as the change in equity (net 
assets) of a business enterprise during a period from certaui ttansactions and other events and cncumstances and is 
comprised of net uicome and other comprehensive mcome (loss). 

The components of comprehensive income (loss) me as follows: 

Fiscal Years Ended ^ 
2007 2006 2005 

Net mcome (loss) $ 5,531 $(2,239) $(6,114) 
Changes in fan value of cash flow hedges (3,094) 2,271 0 

Comprehensive uicome $ 2,437 $ 32 $(6,114) 

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) included ui stockholders' equity totaled $(823), $2,271 and $0 
at July 31,2007, July 31,2006 and July 31, 2005, respectively. 
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COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued) 

Restricted Cash and Energy Deposits 

Cash and cash equivalents, which the Company currently cannot access, me pledged as collateral for energy 
pmchase obligations or as required under the Company's credit facility (see Note 4). The Company also has energy 
deposits pledged as collateral with suppliers for certain purchase obligations. They me classified as current or long-
term dependmg on the dmation and natme ofthe deposit requirement. 

Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Maintenance and repans which do not extend the useful life of tiie 
related property or equipment me chmged to operations as uicurred. Depreciation of property and equipment has 
been computed using the straight-luie method over estimated economic useful lives of three to five years. 

Certaui software development and implementation costs to install tiifrd party software on significant projects for 
mtemal use, consisting of dnect intemal labor costs and Ihfrd-party system application development costs, are 
capitalized. Once the application is placed m service these capitalized costs me amortized usmg the straight-line 
method over estimated economic lives of five yems. 

GoodwUl 

GoodwiU represents the excess ofthe acquisition cost over the net assets acqufred. Skippmg Stone was acquned 
m fiscal 2004 and resulted in $587 of goodwill. The acquisition, ui fiscal 2005, of certaui assets of ACN Utilities, 
Inc. or ACN, (see Note 3) resulted in the recordmg of $4,214 in goodwiU, net of $2,000 in Commerce stock that was 
not eamed. 

In accordance with SFAS No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets", goodwill is no longer amortized but 
is subject to periodic unpairment testing. For the goodwill related to the Skipping Stone and ACN acquisitions, the 
Company initially retained independent outside valuation specialists io value the initial intangible assets associated 
with the acquisitions. The resulting goodwill was reevaluated each yem at the acquisition's anniversary and it was 
determmed that no impairments have occurred. 

In Janumy 2007, the Company divested approxnnately 7,000 of its natmal gas customers in Georgia and 
New York markets resultmg in reductions ui goodwill of $554, and other mtangibles of $201. 

Goodwill activity is set forth below: 

Goodwill 

Balance at July 31,2005 $ 6,801 
Retum of ACN shmes held m escrow (2,000) 

Balance at July 31,2006 4,801 
Sale of natural gas customers (554) 

Balance at July 31,2007 $ 4,247 

Other Intangible Assets 

Dnect costs incurred in acquiring intangible assets have been capitalized. Intangible assets represent the 
Company's 1-800-Electric telephone number, rights to intemet domaui names, and certain assets acquned as part of 
the Skipping Stone, ACN and HESCO acquisitions, including customer lists, so^ware and other intangibles. Each 
intangible asset is bemg or has been amortized over the shorter of its conttactual or estimated economic useful life, 
which collectively range from two yems to indefinite lives ui the case of operating licenses. 
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COMMERCE ENERGY GROUP, INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued) 

Due to the divestme of natmal gas customers as noted above in Goodwill, other mtangibles were reduced by 
$201. 

Aggregate amortization expense for these uitangible assets was $1,656, $1,112 and $888 for fiscal 2007, 2006 
and 2005, respectively. Other uitangible assets me as follows: 

Fiscal Year Ended July 31.2007 
Useful Life Gross Carryii^ Accumulated 

(Years) Amount Amortization Net 

Customer lists 3-15 $ 6,340 $ 1,800 $ 4,540 
Software 2-5 1,810 1,435 375 
Licenses Indefinite 759 — 759 
Otiier mtangibles 1-20 1,828 1,117 711 

$ 10,737 $4,352 $ 6,385 

Fiscal Year Ended Julv 31.2006 
Useful Life Gross Carrying Accumulated 

(Years) Amount Amortization Net 

Customer lists 3-15 $ 2,000 $ 607 $ 1,393 
Soflwme 2-5 1,810 1,214 596 
Licenses Indefmite 923 — 923 
Otiier mtangibles 1-20 1,828 950 878 

$6,561 $2,771 $3,790 

The fiiture aggregate amortization expense for intangibles is as follows: 

Fiscal Year Ending Julv 31. 

2008 $1,599 

2009 1,393 

2010 1,317 

2011 314 

2012 and beyond 1,003 

$5,626 

Impairment of Long-Ltved Assets 

Management evaluates each of the Company's long-lived assets for impafrment by comparing the related 
estimated fiiture cash flows, on an undiscounted basis, to its net book value. If impanment is indicated, the net book 
value is reduced to an amount equal to the estunated fiiture cash flows, on an appropriately discounted basis. 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

The Company's fmancial instruments consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and 
accounts payable. The carryuig amounts of these financial instruments me reflected in the accompanymg 
consolidated balance sheets at cost, which is considered by management to approximate their fan values due to then-
very short-term natme. 

Segment Reporting 

The Company's chief operating decision-makers work together to allocate resomces and assess the performance 
of the Company's business. These members of senior management currently manage the Company's business, 
assess its performance, and allocate its resources as the single operating segment of energy retailing. Skippuig 
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Stone's revenue, net of inter-company eliminations, accounted for less than 1% of total net revenue during fiscal 
2007 and 2006, and geographic mformation is not material. 

Accounting for Derivatives Instrument and Hedging Activities 

The Company's activities expose it to a variety of mmket risks, principally from fluctuating commodity prices. 
Management has established risk management policies and procedmes designed to reduce the potentially adverse 
effects that the price volatility of these mmkets may have on its operatuig results. The Company's risk management 
activities, including the use of derivative instruments such as forwmd physical delivery contracts and financial 
swaps, options and fiitmes contracts, are subject to the management, direction and conttol of an hitemal risk 
oversight committee. The Company maintains commodity price risk management sttategies that use these derivative 
instruments, withm approved risk tolerances, to minunize significant, unanticipated eamings fluctuations caused by 
commodity price volatility. 

Supplying electricity and natural gas to retaU customers requfres the Company to match customers' projected 
demand with long-term and short-term commodity pmchases. The Company pmchases substantially all of its power 
and natmal gas utilizuig forwmd physical delivery conttacts. These physical delivery contracts me defined as 
commodity derivative contracts under SFASNo. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instmments and Hedging 
Activities". Using the exemption available for qualifying conttacts under SFAS No. 133, the Company applies the 
normal purchase and normal sale accountuig tteatment to its forwmd physical delivery conttacts. Accordmgly, the 
Company records revenue generated from customer sales as energy is delivered to retail customers and the related 
enei^ under the forwmd physical delivery contracts is recorded as dnect energy costs as received from suppliers. 

In January 2005, the Company sold two significant electricity forwmd physical delivery contracts (on a net cash 
settlement basis) back to the original supplier ui connection with a strategic realignment of its customer portfolio ui 
the Pennsylvania electticity mmket or PJM-ISO, which resuhed in a gain of $7,200 in the second quarter of fiscal 
2005. As a resuh of that sale, the normal pmchase and normal sale exemption was not utilized for PJM-ISO for the 
period of January 2005 through August 2006. 

For forwmd or futme contracts that do not meet the qualifying criteria for normal pmchase, normal sale 
accountuig treatment, the Company elects cash fiow hedge accountmg, where appropriate. Under cash flow hedge 
accountuig, the feu* value of the contract is recorded as a current or long-term derivative asset or liability. 
Subsequent changes in the fan value of the derivative assets and liabilities are recorded on a net basis in 
Accumulated other comprehensive uicome or OCl, and reflected as direct energy cost ui the statement of operations 
as the related energy is delivered. 

The amounts recorded in Accumulated OCI at July 31, 2007 and July 31, 2006 related to cash flow het^es are 
summarized m the following table: 

July 31, July 31, 
2007 2006 

Current assets $ — $1,817 
Current liabilities . (671) (362) 
Deferred gains/(losses) (152) 816 
Hedge meffectiveness — — 

Accumulated other comprehensive uicome/(loss) $ (823) $2,271 

Certain financial derivative instmments (such as swaps, options and fiitmes), designated as feir-value hedges, 
economic hedges or as speculative, do not qualify or meet the requnements for normal pmchase, normal sale 
accounting tteatment or cash flow hedge accounting and me recorded currently in operating income or loss and as a 
cmrent or long-term derivative asset or liability depending on then term. The subsequent changes in the fan value of 
these conttacts may result in operating uicome or loss volatility as the fair value ofthe changes are recorded on a net 
basis ui dnect energy cost in tiie consolidated statements of operations for each fiscal period. At July 31, 2007 and 
2006, tiie impact of financial derivatives accounted for as mark-to-mmket resulted in expense of $260 and $1,700, 
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respectively, and resulted primmily from economic hedging related to the Company's natural gas portfoUo. The 
notional value of all derivatives accounted for as mark-to-market that was outstanding at July 31, 2007 was $2,218. 

As of July 31, 2007, the Company had no derivative assets mcluded hi Prepaid expenses and other, and $671 of 
total derivative liabilities included ui Accmed liabilities. 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, "The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities Including an Amendment of FASB Statement No. 115". SFASNo. 159 permits entities to choose to 
measme many financial instmments and certain other items at fair value that me not currently requned to be 
measmed at fan value. This statement also establishes presentation and disclosme requnements designed lo 
facilitate comparisons between entities that choose different measurement attributes for similar types of assets and 
liabilities. SFAS No. 159 is effective for fiscal years begmnmg after November 15,2007. The Company is currently 
evaluating the impact this statement may have on its financial statements. 

In September 2006, the SEC staff published SAB No. 108, "Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements 
when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements". SAB 108 addresses quantifying the 
fuiancial statement effect of misstatements and considering the effects of prior yem uncorrected errors on the 
statements of operations as well as the balance sheets. SAB No. 108 does not change the requirements under 
SAB No. 99 regmdmg qualitative considerations ui assessing the materiality of misstatements. The Company 
adopted SAB No. 108 during the fourth quarter of fiscal yem 2007, and the adoption had no impact on its resuhs of 
operations or financial condition as of and for the fiscal yem ended July 31,2007. 

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, "Fair Value Measurements", which provides guidance for 
usmg fan value to measme assets and liabilities. The pronouncement clarifies (I) the extent to which companies 
measure assets and liabilities at fair value; (2) the mformation used to measure feu* value; and (3) the effect that fair 
value measmements have on eamings. SFAS No. 157 will apply whenever another standard requnes (or permits) 
assets or liabilities to be measmed at fan value. SFASNo. 157 is effective for fiscal years beginnmg after 
November 15, 2007. The Company is currently evalualuig the unpact this statement will have on its fmancial 
statements. 

In June 2006, the FASB issued FIN48, "Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes", an uiterpretation of 
SFAS No. 109, "Accountingfor Income Taxes". The uiterpretation contains a two-step approach to recognizuig and 
measuring uncertain tax positions accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 109. The provisions are effective for 
the Company as of August 1, 2007. The Company is currently evaluatmg the unpact this statement will have on its 
financial statements. 

3. Acquisitions 

ACN Utility Services, Inc, 

On Febmary 9, 2005, the Company acquned certain assets of ACN Utility Services, Inc. or ACN, a subsidiary of 
American Communications Network, Inc. (the "Parent"), and its retail electticity and natmal gas sales business. 
ACN sold retail electricity m Texas and Pennsylvania and sold retail natural gas m Califomia, Georgia, Maryland, 
New York, Ohio and Pennsylvania. The aggregate pmchase price was $14,500 m cash and 930 shares of the 
Company's common stock, valued at $2,000. In addition, as part of the mitial pmchase price, the Company was 
required to fimd $2,542 of collateralized letters ofcredit on the closing date to guarantee om performance to various 
thfrd parties. The common stock payment was contingent upon meeting certaui sales requnements during the yem 
followmg the acquisition dale. These sales requnements were not met and the shmes were cancelled ui April 2006. 
As a result, both goodwill and common stock were reduced by $2,000. 

The assets acquired included approximately 80 natural gas-and-electricity residential and small commercial 
customers, natmal gas uiventory associated with utility and pipeluie storage and ttansportation agreements and 
natmal gas and electricity supply, schedulmg and capacity conttacts, software and other infrastmctme. No cash or 
accounts receivables were acquired in the ttansaction, and none of ACN's liabilities were assumed. The assets 
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pmchased and the operatuig resuhs generated from the acquisition have been included in the Company's operations 
as of Febmary 1, 2005, the effective date ofthe acquisition. 

Immediately following the acquisition, the Company engaged the services of a professional appraiser to assist in 
determuimg the value of sepmately identifiable uitangible assets acquned in connection with the acquisition of 
ACN. The followuig table presents the results ofthe valuation: 

Category of uitangible assets: 
Intangible assets subject to amortization: 
Customer list $ 860 
Software 750 

Total $1,610 

Intangible asset not subject to amortization: 
Licenses $ 900 

The uitangible assets me mcluded in "Other intangible assets" ui the accompanying consolidated balance sheet at 
July 31, 2006 and are being amortized over lives that range from three yems to five years (for mtangibles subject to 
amortization) and indefinite for licenses. 

The amoimt of goodwill created as a resuh of this ttansaction is summarized as follows: 

Pmchase price $ 16,525 
Amount assigned to the net assets acquired 8,209 
Amount assigned to intangible assets 2,510 

GoodwiU created (excludmg $408 of acquisition costs) $ 5,806 

Goodwill was reduced by $2,000 subsequent to the acquisition as discussed above (see Note 15). 

Houston Energy Services Company, LLC 

On September 20, 2006, the Company entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement with HESCO, a Texas limited 
liability company, to acqune certam assets of HESCO, consisting of conttacts with end-users of natural gas in 
Califomia, Florida, Nevada, Kentucky and Texas, The Company acquned the HESCO Assets for $4,300, of which 
$4,100 was cash and $200 was the assumption of liabUities. 

4. Credit Facility and Supply Agreements 

Wachovia Capital Finance Corporation (Western) 

In June 2006, Commerce and Commerce Energy entered into a Loan and Secmity Agreement, or the Credit 
Facilify, with Wachovia Capital Finance Corporation (Westem), or the Agent, for up to $50 million. The three-yem 
Credit Facility is seemed by substantially all ofthe Company's assets and provides for issuance of letters ofcredit 
and for revolvuig credit loans, which we may use for working capital and general corporate purposes. The 
availability of letters of credit and loans under the Credit Facility is limited by a calculated borrowing base 
consisting of the majority of the Company's cash on deposit with the Agent and the Company's receivables and 
natmal gas inventories. Asof July 31, 2007, letters of credit issued under the facUity totaled $18.9 million, and there 
were no outstanduig borrowings. Fees for letters of credit issued range from 1.50 to 1,75 percent per annum, 
depending on the level of Excess Availability, as defined in the Credit Facility, We also pay an unused line fee equal 
to 0,375 percent ofthe unutilized credit line. Generally, outslmiding borrowings under the Credit Facility are priced 
at a domestic bank rate plus 0.25 percent or LIBOR plus 2.75 percent. 
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The Credit Facility contams covenants, subject to specific exceptions, restricting Commerce, the Company and 
its subsidiaries from: (i) incurruig additional indebtedness; (ii) granting certain liens; (iii) disposuig of certain assets; 
(iv) makuig certaui restricted payments; (v) entermg into certain other agreements; and (vi) making certain 
uivestments. The Credit Facility also restricts om ability lo pay cash dividends on om common stock; restticts 
Commerce Energy from makuig cash dividends lo the Company without the consent of the Agent and The CIT 
Group/Business Credit, Inc., or, collectively, the Lenders; and limits the amount of om annual capital expenditmes 
to $3.5 mUlion without the consent ofthe Lenders. We must also maintain a minimum of SlOmillion of Eligible 
Cash Collateral, as defined in the Credit Facility, at all times. 

From September 2006 through September 2007, the Company and Commerce Energy have entered into five 
amendments and a modification to the Loan and Security Agreement with the Agent and Lenders, several of which 
involved waivers of prior or existuig mstances of covenant non-compliance relatmg to the maintenance of Eligible 
Cash Collateral, capital expenditures and notification requfrements (Ffrst Amendment), mahitenance and deferral of 
prospective compliance, of minimum Fixed Charge Coverage Rates and mamtenance of the minimum Excess 
Availability Ratio (Second and Third Amendments). In addition, pmsuant to the First Amendment, the Agent and 
Lender ^reed to certain prospective waivers of covenants m the Credit Facility to enable Commerce Energy to 
consummate the HESCO acquisition of customers. In the Fourth Amendment, the amount allowable under the 
Credit Facility's capital expenditures covenant was mcreased to $6.0 million. In the Second, Thnd and Fifth 
Amendment and ui the Modification Agreement, each addressed reducuig and/or restmctmmg the Excess 
Availability covenant in the Credit Facilify to accommodate Commerce Energy's business. In the Modification 
Agreement, the Agent and the Lenders also permitted Commerce Energy for a period from September 20, 2007 to 
October 5, 2007 to exceed its Gross Borrowing Base, as defined ui such Agreement. 

Tenaska Power Services Co. 

In August 2005, the Company entered into a Security Agreement (with subsequent mmor amendments), a 
Blocked Account Conttol Agreement, An Agreement to Provide QSE and Mmketuig Services, and a Guaranty 
Agreement with Tenaska Power Services Co. or Tenaska, whereby Tenaska and the Company entered mto a 
commercially standmd lockbox agreement for Tenaska to supply the Company with the majority of its wholesale 
electricity supply needs ui Texas. Under the agreement, the Company's Texas customers pay mto the lockbox that is 
used to pay Tenaska for the electticity supplies. Tenaska also extends credit to the Company to buy electricity 
supplies and the Company m tum pledges fiinds in the lockbox, its related accounts receivables and customers 
contracts as security. Tenaska also serves as the Company's QSE, or Qualified Scheduling Agent, m Texas imder a 
related agreement. At July 31, 2007, Tenaska had extended approxhnately $22.0 million ofcredit to the Company 
under this arrangement. 

Pacific Summit Energy LLC. 

In September 2006, the Company entered into Secmity Blocked Account Conttol, Gas Supply, and Operating 
Agreements with Pacific Summh Energy LLC or Pacific Summit, whereby Pacific Summit and the Company 
entered into a commercially standmd lockbox agreement for Pacific Summit to supply the Company with all of its 
natural gas for customers that the Company acquned with the HESCO acquisition. Under the agreement, these 
customers remit into the lockbox used to pay Pacific Summit for natural gas supplies. Pacific Summit also extends 
credit to the Company to buy natural gas supplies seemed by funds in the lockbox, related accounts receivable and a 
$3.5 miUion letter ofcredit. At July 31,2007, Pacific Summit had extended approximately $12.0 million ofcredit to 
the Company under this arrangement. 

5. Market and Regulatory 

The Company currently serves electricity and natural gas customers m 10 states, operatuig within the 
jmisdictional territory of 22 different local utilities. Ahhough regulatory requirements are determmed at the 
individual state, and administered and monitored by the Public Utility Commission, or PUC, of each state, operatuig 
mles and rate filings for each utility me unique. Accordmgly, the Company generally tteats each utility disttibution 
territory as a distinct mmket. Among other things, tariff filings by local disttibution companies, or LDCs, for 
changes in their allowed billing rate to customers ui the markets in which the Company operates, significantly 
impact the viability ofthe Company's sales and marketing plans, and its overall operating and financial results. 
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Electricity 

Currently, the Company sells electricity in 12 LDC mmkets within the 6 states of Califomia, Pennsylvania, 
Michigan, Maryland, New Jersey and Texas, 

On April 1, 1998, the Company began supplymg customers ui Califomia with electticity as an Electric Service 
Provider, or ESP, under Direct Access mles. On September 20, 2001, the Califomia Public Utility Commission, or 
CPUC, issued a mlmg suspendmg the right of Dnect Access. This suspension, ahhough permitting the Company to 
keep current dnect access customers and to solicit direct access customers served by other ESPs, prohibits the 
Company from soliciting new non-DA customers indefinitely. 

Currently, several important issues me under review by the CPUC, including a Resource Adequacy Requnement 
and a Renewable Portfolio Standard. Additional costs to serve customers in Califomia me anticipated from these 
proceedmgs. However, the CPUC decisions will determine the distribution of those costs across all load serving 
entities mid ultimately financial hnpact, if any, on the Company. 

Proposition 80, an mitiative on the November 8, 2005 Califomia special election ballot, would have banned 
electricity customers from buyuig then power from a supplier other than the LDC, except for those afready douig so. 
This initiative was defeated by the state electorate. 

The current rate cap in Michigan on residential customers will be lifted as of January I, 2006. A primary 
component ofthe rate mcrease is a shifting of rate responsibility away from commercial customers, whose rates are 
likely to decrease m January in spite of much higher wholesale energy costs. This may have a negative impact on tiie 
Company's ability to retain or acqune new commercial customers m the state. 

In California, the FERC and other regulatory and judicial bodies contmue to examine the behavior of mmket 
participants during the Califomia Energy Crisis of 2000 and 2001 and to recalculate what market clemmg prices 
should have or might have been under altemative scenmios of behavior by mmket participants (see Note 15). 

There me no current rate cases or filuigs in the other states that me anticipated to impact the Company's financial 
results. 

Natural Gas 

Currently, the Company actively mmkets natmal gas ui 13 LDC markets within the 7 states of Califomia, 
Georgia, Maryland, Florida, Nevada, Ohio and Pennsylvania. Due to recent and sigruficant increases in the price of 
natural gas, a number of LDCs have filed or communicated expectations of filing for approval of rate uicreases to 
their customers. These filings me not anticipated to adversely impact the Company's financial resuhs. 

6. Interest Income and Expense 

Interest income, net of uiterest expense, was $243, $1,140 and $890 in fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. 
Interest expense was $1,053 in fiscal 2007, due prunmily lo the classification of a variety of fees, uicluding letter of 
credit costs as uiterest expense related to the Company's new credit facility. 

7. Income Taxes 

The provision for uicome taxes consists ofthe followmg: 

Fiscal Years Ended July 31. 
2007 2006 2005 

Current uicome taxes: 
Federal $101 $ — $ 74 
State 21_ — — 

Total 122 — 74 
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Fiscal Years Ended Julv 31, 
2007 2006 2005 

Deferted uicome taxes: 
Federal — — (74) 
State — _ ^ — 

Total — _ — (74) 

Provision for mcome taxes $ 122 $ — $ — 

The current provision is a resuh ofthe application of Alternative Minimum Tax on that portion ofom tax basis 
uicome that statutorily carmot be offset by tax loss carryforwmds. 

A reconciliation ofthe federal statutory income tax rates to the Company's effective income tax rates follows: 

Fiscal Years Ended July 31. 
2007 2006 2005 

Federal stattitory income tax rate 35.0% (35.0)% (35.0)% 
Stale uicome taxes, net of federal benefit 2.9 — — 
Increase (decrease) m valuation allowance (37.0) 30.6 38.3 
Permanent item (.9) — — 
Tax-exempt uiterest — 6.2 (3.6) 
Otiier 22 (1.8) 0,3 

Effective income tax rate 2.2% —% —% 

Deferted income taxes were as follows: 

July 31. 
2007 2006 

Deferred income tax assets: 
Stock options $ 760 $ 586 
Reserves and accruals 1,031 598 
Net operating loss carryforwards 5,293 7,901 
Allowance for doubtful accounts 1,991 2,025 
Capital losses 730 730 
Umealized losses 2,529 1,056 
AMT tax credit 348 226 

Total deferred uicome tax assets 12,682 13,122 

Valuation allowance (8,647) (9,578) 

Total deferred uicome tax assets, net 4,035 3,544 

Deferred tax liabUities: 
Depreciation and amortization (2,832) (2,017) 
State mcome taxes (738) (946) 
Acquned mtangibles (465) (581) 
Total deferred uicome tax liabilities (4,035) (3,544) 

Net deferred income tax asset $ — $ — 

A valuation allowance decrease equal to tiie net deferred tax asset, has been provided as management believes it 
is more likely than not that the Company will not realize the benefits of the remammg net deferred tax asset al 
July 31,2007. The effective decrease hi tiie valuation allowance for the fiscal year 2007 was $931. 
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At July 31, 2007 the Company had net operatuig loss carryforwards of approxunately $9,660 and $12,762 for 
federal and state income tax purposes, respectively, that begui to expire hi yems 2018 and 2008, respectively. Of 
tiiese losses, $794 of the federal net operatuig loss carryforwards are subject to an aimual limitation due to the 
"change of ownership" provision ofthe Tax Reform Act of 1986. As a result of this annual limitation, a portion of 
these carryforwards may expire before ultimately becoming available lo reduce fiitme income tax liabilities. The 
Company has also mcurred capital losses of $1,632 which are available to offset capital gains generated by the 
Company. These losses begin to expire m 2009. 

8. Income (Loss) Per Common Share 

Income (loss) per common shme has been computed as follows: 

Fiscal Years Ended Julv 31. 
2007 2006 2005 

Numerator: 
Net uicome (loss) $ 5,531 $ (2,239) $(6,114) 

Netmcome (loss) —Basic and Diluted $ 5,531 $ (2,239) $ (6,114) 

Denominator: 
Weighted-average outstanding common shares — Basic 29,906 30,419 30,946 
Weighted-average of aU diluted stock options after repmchase 138 — — 

Weighted-average outstandmg common shmes — Diluted 30,044 30,419 30,946 

For fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005, tiiere were 6,983, 7,744 and 8,872, respectively, of common shmes atttibutable 
lo outstanding stock options were excluded from the calculation of diluted eamings per shme because the effect of 
then uiclusion would have been anti-dilutive. For fiscal 2006 and 2005, assumed m-the-money stock option 
exercises have been excluded in computmg the diluted loss per share as there was a net loss. Their inclusion would 
reduce the loss per shme and be anti-dilutive. If the assumed exercises had been used, fully diluted shares 
outstanduig for fiscal 2006 and 2005 would have been 30,594 and 31,299, respectively. 

9. Accounts Receivable, Net 

Accounts receivable, net, is comprised ofthe following: 

July 31. 

2007 2006 

Billed $44,693 $21,768 
Unbilled 24,963 13,382 

69,656 35,150 
Less allowance for doubtful accounts (4,425) (4,500) 

Accounts receivable, net $ 65,231 $ 30,650 

The following schedules set forth the activity in the Company's allowance for doubtful accounts for the reported 
periods: 

Fiscal Years Ended July 31. 
2007 2006 2005 

Balance, begmning of yem $ 4,500 $ 5,498 $ 3,193 
Provisions chmged to operations 4,169 2,813 3,092 
Write-offs (4,244) (3,811) (787) 

Balance, end of year $ 4,425 $ 4,500 $ 5,498 
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The Company has granted security interests in its Michigan, Texas mid certain commercial and industrial 
(primarily m Florida and Califomia) accounts receivable as secmity for payment of energy pmchases. All the 
remainuig accounts receivable me pledged under the Company's $50 million credit facility (see Note 4). 

10. Restricted Cash and Energy Deposits 

The Company has cash and energy deposits related to outstanding letters of credit or cash deposited as collateral 
to secure performance under energy purchase contracts as follows: 

Julv3L 
2007 2006 

Restticted cash uivestments pledged as collateral for letters ofcredit to secure the 
purchase of energy and operatuig performance $ 10,457 $ 17,117 

Energy deposits pledged as coUateral to secme the pmchase of energy 3,472 3,852 

Total restticted cash, cash equivalents and energy deposits $13,929 $20,969 

The Company had $19,334 and $24,053 hi outstanding letters ofcredit at July 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, 
(Note 4). 

11. Investments 

Diuing fiscal 2005 the Company had three investments m emly-stage, energy related entities incurring operating 
losses, which are expected to continue, al least in the near term: Encorp, Inc, or Encorp, Tmbocor B.V. or Tmbocor 
and Power Efficiency Corporation or PEC. At July 31, 2005, the Company sold its interest m Tmbocor for $2,000 
resulting in a gain of an equal amount. Each remaining company has limited working capital and as a result, 
contuiuing operations will be dependent upon then- securing additional financuig to meet then respective capital 
needs until positive cash flow is achieved. The Company has no obligation and currently no uitention to uivest 
additional fiinds into these companies. The uivestments in these companies have been reduced to nominal amounts. 

12. Property and Equipment, Net 

Property and equipment, net, is comprised ofthe following: 

July 31. 
2007 2006 

Information technology equipment, systems and software $11,662 $ 4,965 
Office fumitme and equipment 1,342 1,056 
Renewable energy assets 249 249 
Leasehold improvements 317 141 

13,570 6,411 
Less: accumulated depreciation (6,145) (4,417) 

Property and equipment, net 7,425 1,994 
Projects m progress (primarily technology systems and software) 1,237 3,872 

Total fixed assets $ 8,662 $ 5,866 

The Company's retfrement ofthe property and equipment was insignificant for fiscal 2007. 

13. Accrued Liabilities 

Current accmed liabilities me comprised ofthe following: 

July 31. 
2007 2006 

Accmed legal expense $ 677 $ 1,035 
Energy taxes payable 1,319 688 
Accmed energy related fees 843 1,759 
Accmed compensation related expenses 2,455 665 
Accmed audit fees 405 543 
Otiier 2,431 1,177 
Total accmed liabilities $ 8,130 $ 5,867 
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14. Stock Options 

Stock options granted after December 1999 will expne in October 2007 through Mmch 2017. 

The Company's 1999 Equity Incentive Plan or 1999 Plan, which was approved by the Company's stockholders, 
initially provided for the granting of up to 7,000 shares of Common Stock. In addition, the Company's Board of 
Directors has from tune to time made mdividual grants of warrants or options outside the 1999 Plan. In January 
2006, the Company's stockholders approved the 2006 Stock Incentive Plan or SIP, which provides for the issuance 
of no more than 1,453 shares of Common Stock. In connection wilh tiie adoption ofthe SIP, the Company has 
determmed not to make any additional awards under the 1999 Plan. At July 31, 2007, the Company had slock 
options, unexercised and outstanduig, that were granted under the 1999 Plan of 4,238 shares, SIP of 145 shares and 
2,600 shares outside the plan, respectively. 

Stock option activity is set forth below: 

Balance at July 31, 2004 
Options granted( I) 
Options exercised 
Options cancelled 
Options expfred 

Balance at July 31, 2005 
Options granted(2) 
Options exercised 
Options forfeited 
Options expfred (1,427) 

Balance at July 31,2006 
Options granted(3) 
Options exercised 
Options cancelled 
Options expned 

Balance at July 31,2007 

Number of 
Shares 
10,307 

850 
(102) 

(1,881) 
(302) 

8,872 
570 

(221) 
(50) 

(1,427) 

7,744 
45 

(535) 
(171) 
(100) 

6,983 

Ootions Outstanding 

Exercise Price 
per Share 

$0.05 - $3.75 
1.92-3.50 
0.50-1.92 
1.92-2.50 
1.86-2.75 

$0.05 - $3.75 
1.17-1.80 

0.05 
3.50 

1.00-2.08 

$1.00-$3.75 
2.56 

1,86-2.75 
1.68-3.75 

2.50 

$1.00-$3.75 

Weighted-
Average 

$2.26 
2.43 
1.92 
2.18 
2.18 

$2.24 
1.65 
0.05 
3.50 
1.91 

$2,32 
2,56 
2.24 
2.59 
2.50 

$2.33 

Weighted-
Average 

Fair Value of 
Common 

$2.43 

$ 1,65 

$2,56 

(1) options were granted with exercise prices greater than the fan value ofthe Common Stock at respective dates 
of grant. 

(2) 150 options were granted with exercise prices equal to, and 420 options were granted with exercise prices 
greater than, the feu* value ofthe Common Stock at respective dates of grant, 

(3) options were granted witii exercise price equal to the fair value ofthe Common Stock at the date of grant. 
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The weighted average characteristics of stock options outstandmg as of July 31,2007 were as follows: 

Average 
Number of Remaining Weighted 

Shares Conttactual Shares Average 
Range of Exercise Prices Outstanding Life fYears) Exercisable Exercise Price 

$1.00-$2.08 2,635 6.2 2,535 $ 1.85 
$2.50-$2.50 2,700 2.4 2,700 2.50 
$2.56 - $3.75 1.648 Z2 1,603 2.81 

Total 6,983 3 ^ 6,838 $ 2.33 

Diuing July 2005, the Company accelerated the vesting of 1,300 out-of-the-money options to reduce expected 
fiitme reported expense under FASB Statement No. 123R "Share-Based Payments". 

Stock Options Granted to the Company's Former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 

On April 21, 2005, the Company entered mto a Confidential Settlement Agreement and General Release (the 
"Settlement Agreement") with director and former Chief Executive Officer, Ian B. Carter. The Settlement 
Agreement provides for payments to Mr. Carter totaling $3,000. In addition, Mr. Carter retauis an option to pmchase 
2,500 shares of tiie Common Slock at $2.50 per shme. 

15. Commitments and Contingencies 

Commitments 

Employment Contract Commitments 

In August 2005, the Company entered mto an employment agreement with its Chief Executive Officer, Steven S. 
Boss, which was amended hi January 2007. Mr. Boss will receive an annualized base salary of $412, with an 
mcentive bonus between 50% and 150% of base salary. Mr. Boss was granted an option to pmchase 300 shmes of 
the Company's common stock at an exercise price equal to $1.80 per share, with vesting as to 100 shares upon hire 
and as to 100 shares on each of the first two anniversaries thereafler. Mr. Boss was also granted 200 shmes of 
restricted stock, which vest as to 50 shmes on the first anniversaiy of hire and, as amended, as to 75 shares upon the 
achievement of performance tmgets and upon the date of filing the Company's annual report on Form 10-K for 
fiscal yems 2007 and 2008, respectively. The agreement provides that if Mr. Boss is terminated without cause or if 
he resigns for good reason, Mr. Boss will be entitied to severance equal to 12 months of his then current base salary 
payable over a 12-month period, plus 12 months accelerated vestuig of outstanding unvested stock options and 
restricted stock. In the event of a change of conttol of the Company, Mr. Boss may resign for good reason, as 
defined under the agreement, within 180 days after the change of conttol. 

In December 2005, the Company entered into an employment agreement with its former Chief Financial Officer, 
Lawrence Clayton, Jr., which was amended in January 2007, Mr. Clayton was to receive an annualized base salary 
of $275, and be eligible to receive an incentive bonus if the Company reaches certam fmancial objectives, 
Mr. Clayton was granted an option to pmchase 120 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price equal to $1.80 per 
shme, whh vesting as to 40 shmes on each of the first three anniversaries after the date of grant. Mr. Clayton was 
also granted 45 shmes of restricted slock, which vest as to 15 shares on first anniversary after the date of hue, and, 
as amended, as to 15 shares upon achievement of performance tmgets and upon the date of filing the Company's 
annual report on Form lO-K for fiscal 2007 and 2008, respectively. The agreement provides that, if Mr. Clayton is 
terminated without cause or if he resigns for good reason, Mr. Clayton will be entitled to severance equal to 
12 months of his then current base salary payable over a 6-month period begiiming on the six-month anniversary of 
the termmation date, plus 12 months accelerated vesting of outstandmg unvested stock options and restricted stock. 
In the event of a change of conttol ofthe Company, Mr. Clayton may resign for good reason, as defined under tiie 
agreement, within 180 days after tiie change of conttol. Mr. Clayton was terminated m July 2007, and as a result his 
unvested stock options were cancelled and we have remitted payment for the repmchase of 30,000 shares of 
unvested restticted stock. The closing of the repmchase ttansaction is pending the resolution of the cmrent 
employment dispute between Mr. Clajrton and the Company. The Company does not believe it has any further 
financial obligations to Mr. Clayton. 
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In May 2005, the Compmiy entered mto an employment letter agreement with Thomas L, Uhy, om Senior Vice 
President of Sales and Mmketing. The agreement provided for an annual base salary of $228 and a grant of options 
lo pmchase 100 shmes ofom common stock at an exercise price of $3.50 per shme, vesting equally over fom years. 
If tiie Company termmates Mr. Uhy without cause, he would be entitled to six months' salary. On October 19, 2006 
the Company mcreased Mr. Uhy's aimual base salary $25,000 effective October 1, 2006 and awmded Mr. Uhy a 
$25,000 discretionary bonus. 

In Mmch 2007, the Company entered uito an employment agreement with its former Senior Vice President and 
General Counsel, Erik A, Lopez, Sr, Mr. Lopez was to receive an annualized base salary of $265, and be eligible to 
participate in the Company's bonus program begmning with fiscal 2007. Mr. Lopez was granted an option to 
pmchase 45 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price equal to $2.56 per shme, with vesting as to 15 shares on 
each ofthe fnst three anniversaries after the date of grant. Mr. Lopez was also granted 60 shares of restricted slock, 
vesting as to 20 shmes on each ofthe fu-st three anniversmies after the date of grant. The agreement provides that, if 
Mr. Lopez is terminated without cause or if he resigns for good reason, Mr. Lopez will be entitled to severance equal 
to 12 months of his then current base salary payable as to 50% of such amount six months after the termination date 
and the balance paid m equal monthly mstallments tiiereafter, plus 12 months accelerated vesting of outstanding 
unvested stock options and restricted stock. In the event of a change of conttol of the Company, Mr. Lopez may 
resign for good reason, as defined under the agreement, withm 180 days after the change of conttol. Nfr. Lopez 
resigned from the Company effective October 5,2007, 

Purchase Commitments 

As of September 20, 2007, tiie Company has entered uito a series of supply conttacts to pmchase electricity and 
natural gas covering approximately 78% ofthe customers' fixed-price load requnements for peak period electricity, 
and 68% of fixed price natural gas requnements for fiscal 2008 based on the Company's forecasts. As of July 31, 
2007, tiie Company is committed to pmchase fixed-price electricity and natmal gas of $44,300 and $18,800, 
respectively, during fiscal 2008. 

Letters of Credit and Surety Bonds 

The Company has, as of July 31, 2007, Letters of Credit totaling $19.3 million and smety bonds issued of 
$7.8 miUion. 

Operating Leases 

The Company leases its facilities as well as certaui equipment under operatmg leases. Certain of these operatuig 
leases me non-cancelable and contain rent escalation clauses relating to any uicreases to real property taxes and 
maintenance costs. The Company mcmred aggregate rent expense under operatuig leases of $1,185, $1,255 and 
$1,191, ui fiscal 2007,2006 and 2005, respectively. 

The fiitme aggregate minimum lease payments under operatuig lease agreements in existence at July 31, 2007 
are as foUows: 

Fiscal Year Ending Julv 31. 

2008 $1,289 
2009 445 
2010 and after 171 

$1,905 

Employee Benefit Plan 

The Company has a 401(k) retirement plan in which substantially all fiiU-time employees may participate. The 
Company contributes $0.50 for each dollar of employee contribution up to a maximum employer contribution of 3% 
of each participant's annual salary. The maximum employer conttibution of 3% corresponds to an employee 
conttibution of 6% of annual salary. Employer conttibutions totaled $260, $220 and $213 for the fiscal years endmg 
July 31,2007,2006 and 2005, respectively 
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Employee Stock Purchase Plan 

In January 2006, the Bomd of Dfrectors approved the Amended and Restated 2005 Employee Slock Purchase 
Plan or ESPP. The Company implemented the ESPP ui July 2006. The ESPP provides for eligible employees to 
pmchase Common Stock through payroll deductions. The ESPP allows employees to elect to pmchase Common 
Stock each month in an amount not to exceed an armual rate of accmal of $25 per calendm yem m fair value of 
Common Stock at the lower ofthe first or last day's closing price for each month's offering period, less a discount 
of 15%. There me other restrictions and limitations and the ESPP is uitended to comply with Section 423 ofthe 
Internal Revenue Code, which allows employees to buy Common Stock at a discount on a tax-fevored basis. The 
Company purchases the required shares of stock hi the open market and records expense for the difference between 
the amount confributed by the employees and its cost of the stock. For fiscal yem 2007, 49 shmes have been 
pmchased by employees under the ESPP. 

2006 Stock Incentive Plan 

At the 2005 annual meetmg ofom stockholders, the Company's stockholders approved the 2006 Stock Incentive 
Plan or the SIP. The SIP allows grants pursuant to a variety of awards, including options, shme appreciation rights, 
restricted shmes, restricted share units, deferred share units and performance-based awards in the form of stock 
appreciation rights, deferted shares and performance units. The SIP provides that no more than 1,453 shmes ofthe 
Company's common stock may be issued pmsuant to Awmds under the SIP; 988 shares remain available under the 
Plan at July 31, 2007. Awmds under the SIP may be made to key employees and dnectors ofthe Company or any of 
its subsidiaries whose participation ui the SIP is determmed to be ui the best uiterests of the Company by the 
Compensation Committee ofthe Bomd of Dnectors (see Note 14). 

Regulatory Proceedings 

The Company is an uidependent energy mmketer of retail electric power and natural gas to residential, 
commercial and indusfrial customers across numerous states. Mmket mles and regulations locally, regionally and 
state to state change periodically. These changes will likely have an impact upon our busmess; some may be 
material and others may not. Some changes may lead to new or enhanced business opportunities, some changes may 
resuh ui a negative impact to om busmess. As such, there is no way to unpute an exact effect through a cost benefit 
analysis, because there are many variables. 

The regulatory process does allow for some participation, and the Company engages in that participation, 
however, such participation provides no assmance as to the outcome of such proceedmgs. 

The Company is not currently under any enforcement action. However, the Company is a party to a number of 
Federal Energy Regulatory Commission or FERC and Califomia ISO proceedings related to the Califomia Energy 
Crisis of 2000 and 2001. The FERC and other regulatory judicial bodies contmue to examuie the behavior of market 
participants dming that energy crisis and may recalculate what market clearmg prices should have or might have 
been under altemative scenarios of behavior by market participants. In the event the historical costs of mmket 
operations were to be reallocated among mmket participants, the Company can not predict whether the resuhs would 
be fevorable or unfavorable for the Company, nor can h predict the amount of any such adjustments. 

Litigation 

The cmrent status of previously reported legal proceedmgs involvuig the Company is as follows: 

On Febmary 24, 2006, American Communications Network, or ACN, had delivered to the Company an 
mbittation demand claim, alleging that Commerce Energy, Inc. was liable for significant actual, consequential and 
punitive damages and restitution on a variety of causes of action including anticipatory breach of conttact, unjust 
emichment, tortuous mterference with prospective economic advantage and prima facie tort witti respect to alleged 
futme commissions arising after their termination ofthe Sales Agency Agreement effective Febmary 9,2006, ACN, 
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Commerce Energy, Inc. and the Company entered into the Sales Agency Agreement ui connection with the 
Company's pmchase of certain assets of ACN and certam of its subsidiaries in Febmaiy 2005. This claim was 
delivered via mail to the Company but was not filed with the American Arbitration Association ("AAA"). 

On March 23, 2006, the Company filed a Demand for Arbitration with the AAA in New York of this dispute 
with ACN assertuig claims for declaratory relief, material breach of conttact and breach ofthe implied covenant of 
good faith and fair dealing. This Demand for Arbittation seeks compensatory damages m an amount to be 
determmed at the mbittation, Chi May 4,2006, ACN filed with the AAA in New York its Demand for Arbittation of 
this dispute with Commerce Energy, Inc. In its Demand, ACN alleges claims against Commerce Energy, Inc. for 
breach of conttact and breach of implied duty of good faith and fair dealing, seeking damages and restitution in 
amounts to be determined at the hearing. 

On June 11, 2007, the Company, Commerce Energy, Peter Weigand, an individual, and ACN, entered into a 
Settlement Agreement and Mutual Release or the Settlement Agreement. Pursuant to the Settlement Agreement, 
Commerce and ACN mutually released all clauns against one another, and Commerce made a cash payment of 
$3.9 million to ACN. In addition, the Company, Commerce Enei^y and ACN have filed wilh the American 
Arbittation Association a Stipulation to Dismiss All Claims with Prejudice relating to the pending arbittation 
proceedmg between the Company, Commerce Energy and ACN, Case No. 13 198 Y 00688 06. Pursuant to the 
Settlement Agreement, the Company and Commerce Energy have no future fmancial or other obligations to ACN, 
other than customary covenants set forth m the Settlement Agreement 

California Refund Case 

During 2000 and 2001, we bought, sold and scheduled power ui the Califomia wholesale energy mmkets through 
the mmkets and services of APX, Inc. ("APX"). As a result of a complaint filed at FERC by San Diego Gas and 
Electric Co. in August 2000 and a luie of subsequent FERC orders, we became involved ui proceedings at FERC 
related to sales and schedules in the Califomia Power Exchange Corporation, or PX, and the Califomia Independent 
System Operator Corporation, or CAISO, mmkets. Docket No. ELOO-95; which we refer to as the Califomia Refund 
Case. A part of that proceedmg related lo APX's mvolvement m those mmkets. 

On January 5, 2007, APX, we and certain other parties, whom we refer to as the Settling Parties, signed an APX 
Settlement and Release of Claims Agreement, or the APX Settlement Agreement, and filed such agreement along 
with a Jouit Offer of Settlement and Motion for Expedited Consideration with FERC in the Califomia Refiind Case. 
The APX Settlement Agreement, among other thmgs, established a mechanism for allocalmg refunds owed lo APX 
and to resolve certaui other matters and claims related to APX's participation in the PX and CAISO centralized spot 
mmkets for wholesale electricity fi:om May 1,2000 through June 20,2001. The APX Settlement Agreement became 
effective on March 1, 2007. 

Under the APX Settlement Agreement, several Settluig Parties me entitled to payments from APX, with 
Commerce expected to receive up to approximately $6,500. We received $5,100 ofthe settlement payment in April 
2007 and received the remammg $1,400 hi August 2007. By entermg into the APX Settlement Agreement, claims 
against us by any party to the APX Settlement Agreement for refunds, disgorgement of profits or other monetary or 
non-monetary remedies for APX-related claims shall be deemed resolved with prejudice and settled insofm as APX 
remauis a net payment recipient (as that term is defmed in the APX Settlement Agreement) hi the proceedmg at 
FERC. 

In addition, the APX Settlement Agreement resolves and terminates certain disputes pending before FERC and 
the United States Court of Appeals for the Nuith Cncuh relatmg to APX's actions m the PX and CAISO centtalized 
spot mmkets for wholesale electricity, as well as disputes among participants in the APX market and the appropriate 
allocation of monies due among the APX participants insofar as APX contmues to be a net refimd recipient (as tiiat 
term is defined in the APX Settlement Agreement) during the settlement period. 

The Settlement Agreement is subject to possible court review. We could be required to retum or redisfribute 
some or all ofthe fimds received under the Settlement Agreement. 
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Lawrence Clayton, Jr. 

On August 5, 2007, we received a statement of clauns agamst us, which also references certaui of om officers 
and dnectors, on behalf of Lawrence Clayton, Jr,, the former Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and 
Secretary of the Company, in connection with Mr. Clayton's termination on July 25, 2007. In his statement of 
clauns, Mr. Clayton disputes the basis for his termmation. The principal relief sought by Mr. Clayton is a lump sum 
payment of approxnnately $1.6 million. In accordance with the dispute resolution procedme set forth in his 
employment agreement with the Company, a mediator has been selected for the resolution of this dispute and a 
mediation session has been scheduled lo be held hi November 2007, In the event that the mediation is not successful, 
the parties have agreed to bmduig mbitration pursuant to the Employment Dispute Rules of Judicial Arbitration and 
Mediation Services, Inc. We believe that no severance payments or other obligations were due to Mr. Clayton upon 
his termination and the Company has not accmed for such payments or any other litigation-related amounts. We 
intend to vigorously defend Mr. Clayton's claims. 

The Company currently, and from time to time may become, involved in litigation conceming claims arisuig out 
ofthe operations in the normal course of busuiess. Ihe Company is currently not mvolved in any legal proceedings 
mcludmg the above-referenced clauns raised by Mr. Clayton, that me expected, individually or in the aggregate, to 
have a material adverse effect on the Company's resuhs of operations or financial position. 

16. Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited) 

The following is the Company's quarterly fmancial information for fiscal 2007,2006 and 2005. 

Fiscal Year July 31 April 30 January 31 October 31 

Year ended July 31,2007: 
Net revenue $ 371,614 $ 107,888 $ 100,575 $ 92,644 $ 70,507 
Dnect energy costs 314,371 92,862 82,946 78,112 60,451 

Gross profit 57,243 15,026 17,629 14,532 10,056 
Net income 5,531 1,065 1,543 2,539 384 
Net mcome per common shme: 
Basic 0.18 0.04 0.05 0.09 O.Ol 
Diluted 0.18 0.03 0.05 0.09 0,01 
Year ended July 31,2006: 
Net revenue $ 247,080 $ 52,303 $ 57,755 $ 72,654 $ 64,368 
Dnect enei^ costs 218,289 43,626 49,643 68,892 56,128 

Gross profit 28,791 8,677 8,112 3,762 8,240 
Net mcome (loss) (2,239) 651 1,002 (4,112) 220 
Net income (loss) per common share: 
Basic and diluted (0.07) 0.02 0.03 (0.13) 0,01 
Year ended July 31,2005: 
Net revenue $ 253,853 $ 65,831 $ 68,478 $ 61,04% $ 58,496 
Dnect energy costs 225,671 60,930 60,767 52,639 51,335 

Gross profit 28,182 4,901 7,711 8,409 7,161 
Net loss (6,114) (2,405) (1,319) (2,342) (48) 
Net loss per common share: 
Basic and diluted (0.20) (0.08) (0.04) (0.08) (0.00) 
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Exhibit 31.1 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 17CFR240.13a-14(a) 
PROMULGATED UNDER SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

I, Steven S. Boss, Chief Executive Officer of Commerce Energy Group, Inc., certify that: 

1. 1 have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2007 of Commerce Energy 
Group, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any unlme statement of a material fact or omit to state a 
material fact necessary to make the statements made, ui light of the cncumstances under which such statements 
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the fmancial statements, and other financial information included ui this report, fanly 
present ui all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows ofthe registtant as of, 
and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant's other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishmg and mauitaining disclosure conttols 
and procedures (as defined ui Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registtant and have: 

a) Designed such disclosme conttols and procedmes, or caused such disclosme conttols and procedmes to be 
designed under om supervision, to ensure that material mformation relating to the registrant, mcluding its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particulmly during the period 
UI which this report is bemg prepared; 

c) Evaluated the effectiveness ofthe registtant's disclosme conttols and procedmes and presented ui this report 
om conclusions about the effectiveness ofthe disclosme controls and procedmes, as ofthe end ofthe period 
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

d) Disclosed m this report any change in the registrant's intemal conttol over financial reportuig that occurred 
during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to 
materially affect the registtant's intemal conttol over financial reporting; and 

5. The registtant's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on om most recent evaluation of intemal 
conttol over financial reportuig, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee ofthe registtant's board of 
dfrectors (or persons performmg the equivalent fimctions): 

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of intemal conttol over 
financial reporting which me reasonably likely to adversely affect the registtant's ability to record, process, 
summmize and report financial information; and 

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that mvolves management or other employees who have a significant role 
m the registtant's intemal conttol over financial reportmg. 

Date: October 29,2007 By: Isl Steven S. Boss 
Steven S. Boss 

Chief Executive Officer 
(Pruicipal Executive Officer) 



Exhibit 31.2 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 17CFR 240.13a-14(a) 
PROMULGATED UNDER SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

I, J. Robert Hipps, Interim Chief Financial Officer of Commerce Energy Group, Inc., certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form lO-K for the fiscal yem ended July 31, 2007 of Commerce Energy 
Group, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untme statement of a material fact or omit to state a 
material fact necessary to make the statements made, ui light ofthe circumstances under which such statements 
were made, not misleaduig with respect to the period covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included m this report, fanly 
present m all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows ofthe registtant as of, 
and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant's otiier certifying officers and I me responsible for establishing and mamtammg disclosme conttols 
and procedmes (as defined m Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-l5(e)) for the registtant and have: 

a) Designed such disclosme conttols and procedmes, or caused such disclosme conttols and procedmes to be 
designed under om supervision, to ensme that material uiformation relatmg to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidimies, is made known to us by others within those entities, particulmly during the period 
m which this report is bemg prepared; 

c) Evaluated the effectiveness ofthe registrant's disclosure conttols and procedmes and presented ui this report 
om conclusions about the effectiveness ofthe disclosme conttols and procedmes, as ofthe end ofthe period 
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal conttol over financial reporting that occurred 
during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably lUcely to 
materially affect the registtant's intemal conttol over financial reporting; and 

5. The registtant's other certifymg officers and I have disclosed, based on om most recent evaluation of internal 
conttol over financial reportuig, to tiie registrant's auditors and the audit committee ofthe registtant's board of 
dnectors (or persons performing the equivalent fimctions): 

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses m the design or operation of mtemal conttol over 
financial reportmg which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registtant's ability to record, process, 
summarize and report financial mformation; and 

b) Any fiaud, whether or not material, that involves management or otiier employees who have a significant role 
ui tiie registrant's intemal conttol over fmancial reportmg. 

Date: October 29,2007 By: /s/J. Robert Hipps 
J. Robert Hipps 

Interim Chief Fmancial Officer 
(Pruicipal Financial Officer) 



Exhibit 32.1 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, 

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

In connection with the Annual Report of Commerce Energy Group, Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the 
fiscal yem ended July 31, 2007, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the 
"Report"), Steven S. Boss, Chief Executive Officer ofthe Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as 
adopted pmsuant to 906 ofthe Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that: 

1. The Report fully complies with the requnements of section 13(a) or 15(d) ofthe Securities Exchange Act of 
1934;and 

2, The mformation contained ui the Report fairly presents, ui all material respects, the financial condition and results 
of operations ofthe Company. 

Date: October 29,2007 By: Isl Steven S. Boss 
Steven S. Boss 

Chief Executive Officer 
(Principal Executive Officer) 



Exhibit 32.2 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, 

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

In connection with the Annual Report of Commerce Energy Group, Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the 
fiscal year ended July 31, 2007, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the 
"Report"), J, Robert Hipps, Interim Chief Financial Officer ofthe Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 
1350, as adopted pursuant to 906 ofthe Smbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that: 

1. The Report fiilly complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) ofthe Securities Exchange Act of 
1934;and 

2. The uiformation contamed ui the Report fanly presents, m all material respects, the fmancial condition and results 
of operations ofthe Company. 

Date: October 29,2007 By: Isl J. Robert Hipps 
J, Robert Hipps 

Interim Chief Financial Officer 
(Principal Fmancial Officer) 
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You should cmefully consider the risk factors described below, as well as the other uiformation mcluded in this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K prior to makuig a decision to invest in om securities. The risks and uncertainties 
described below are not the only ones facing om company. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known 
or that we currently believe to be less significant may also adversely affect us. Unless the context requnes otherwise, 
references to the "Company," "Commerce," "we," "us," and "our" refer specifically to Commerce Energy Group, 
Inc. and its subsidiaries. 

SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMEP4TS 

On one or more occasions, we may make statements regmdmg om assumptions, projections, expectations, tmgets, 
intentions or beliefe about futme events. All statements other than statements of historical fects mcluded in this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K relating to expectation of futme financial performance, continued growth, changes m 
economic conditions or capital mmkets and changes in customer usage pattems and preferences, are forwmd-
lookuig statements. 

Words or phrases such as "anticipates," "believes," "estimates," "expects," "intends," "plans," "predicts," 
"projects," "targets," "will lUcely result," "will contmue," "may," "could" or similm expressions identify forward-
looking statements. Forwmd-looking statements mvolve risks and uncertainties which could cause actual results or 
outcomes to differ materially fi^m those expressed. We caution that while we make such statements m good faith 
and we believe such statements are based on reasonable assumptions, uicludmg without limitation, management's 
exammation of historical operating ttends, data contamed ui records and other data available from thud parties, we 
cannot assure you that om expectations will be realized. 

In addition to the factors and other matters discussed in Item I A. Risk Factors in this Annual Report on Form 10-
K, some unportant fectors that could cause actual results or outcomes for Commerce Energy Group, Inc, or om 
subsidiaries to differ materially from those discussed hi forwmd-lookmg statements mclude: 

• regulatory changes hi the stales hi which we operate that could adversely affect om operations; 

• fluctuations in the mmket price of energy resuhing from seasonal weather and other factors that adversely 
impact the cost of om energy supplies and could prevent us fi*om competitively servicuig the demand 
requnements ofom customers; 

• changes hi the restmctming of retail mmkets which could prevent us from selling electricity and natural gas on 
a competitive basis; 

• om dependence upon a limhed number of third-party suppliers of electricity and natmal gas; 

• om dependence upon a limited number of local electtic and natural gas utilities to transmit and distribute the 
electricity and natural gas we sell to om customers; 

• decisions by electricity and natural gas utilities not to raise theu* rates to reflect higher mmket cost of electricity 
and natural gas, thereby adversely affecting om competitiveness; 

• om ability lo successfully uitegrate businesses we may acquire; 

• om ability to successfully compete in new electricity and natural gas mmkets that we may enter; 

• om ability to obtain and retain credit necessary to support both cmrent operations and future growth and 
profitability; and 

• om dependence upon independent system operators, regional ttansmission organizations, natmal gas 
transmission companies, and local disttibution companies to properly coorduiate and manage then transmission 
grids and distribution networks, and to accurately and timely calculate and allocate the cost of services to 
mmket participants. 

Any forwmd-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which such statement is made, and, except as 
requned by law, we undertake no obligation to update any forwmd-looking statement to reflect events or 
cncumstances after the date on which such statement is made or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events. 
New factors emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for management to predict all such fectors. 



PARTI 

Item 1. Business 

Overview 

Commerce Energy Group, Inc., or Commerce, is an independent energy marketer of retail electtic power and 
natural gas supply to residential, commercial, industtial and institutional customers. We also provide consulting, 
technology and transaction data management services to enei^-related busmesses. Unless otherwise noted, as used 
herein, the "Company," "we," "us," and "our" means Commerce Energy Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries. 

Commerce operates through hs two wholly-owned subsidiaries. Commerce Energy, Inc. and Skipping Stone, Inc, 
Commerce Energy, Inc., or Commerce Energy, formerly Commonwealth Energy Corporation douig business as 
"electricAmerica", is licensed by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, or FERC, and by state regulatory 
agencies as an unregulated retail mmketer of natmal gas and electricity. As of July 31, 2006 we provided natural gas 
and electticity to approximately 137,000 residential, commercial, mdustrial and institutional customers ui nine 
states, Skippuig Stone Inc., or Skippmg Stone, provides energy-related consulting and technologies lo utilities, 
electricity generators, natural gas pipelines, wholesale energy merchants, energy technology providers and financial 
institutions. 

Commerce Energy (Group's predecessor. Commonwealth Energy Corporation, or Commonwealth, was formed ui 
Califomia in August 1997. On July 6, 2004, Commonwealth reorganized uito a holdmg company stmctme, whereby 
Commonwealth became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Commerce. 

Commerce was incorporated in the State of Delawme on December 18,2003. Om executive offices me located at 
600 Anton Boulevmd, Suite 2000, Costa Mesa, Califomia 92626 and om telephone number is (714) 259-2500. Om 
fiscal yem ends July 31. 

Industry Background 

Electricity 

In order to increase competition and lower the price of electticity to consumers, beguming in 1992, the 
U.S. electtic utility industry began a process of deregulation, which primmily served to unbundle generation, 
transmission, distribution and ancUlary services uito separate components of a utUity's service. As in other industries 
that have been deregulated, competition m the electric service industry was intended to provide consumers with a 
choice of multiple suppliers and expected to promote product differentiation, lower costs and enhanced services. To 
obtain these benefits, customers m deregulated utility markets would be able to choose to switch then electric supply 
service from then local utility to an ahemative supplier. 

In 1996, some states, and some ofthe utilities within tiiose states, proceeded to allow then end-use customers 
direct access to mmketers, enabling them to pmchase their electticity commodity from an entity other than the local 
utility in a competitive retail market These proceedings created new market participants known in Califomia as 
Electticity Service Providers, or ESPs, and in other states by this term or another similm term, of which Commerce 
Energy is one. Presently, approximately one-half of the states in the United States have either enacted enabling 
legislation or issued regulatory orders to proceed with such retail dnect access. 

The electticity distribution infrastmcture hi place prior to deregulation remains Imgely unchanged, with the 
primary difference bemg that parties other than the local utility can utilize the delivery mfrastmcture by paying 
usage fees. ESPs use this established electricity network for the delivery of energy to their customers. 

Electticity is a real-time commodity and cannot be stored. As soon as it is produced, it must be simultaneously 
delivered uito the grid to meet the demand of end users. Most electticity grids and wholesale mmket clearing 
activities me managed by third party entities known as an Independent System (Operators, or ISOs, or Regional 
Transmission Organizations, or RTOs. The ISO or RTO is responsible for system reliability and ensmes that 
physical electticity transactions between market participants are managed hi such a way as to assure that proper 
electricity reserve margins me in place, grid capacity is maintained and supply and demand are in balance. 



To mamtain profitabUity, we must effectively manage or "shape" om pmchased electricity supply to the real-time 
demand or "load" ofom customers. These load shaping activities, required by the homly variability in the electricity 
usage pattems of om customers compmed to the fixed homly volume pmchase from om suppliers, resuhs in om 
holdmg of long or short energy positions. A long position occurs when we have committed to purchase more 
electricity than om customers need, and a short position occms when om customers' usage exceeds the amount of 
electricity we have committed to pmchase. In both situations, we utilize the wholesale electticity spot market and 
ISO clearing mmkets to balance om long or short enet^ positions; selling supply when m a long position and 
buying when in a short position. It is not possible to be completely balanced on every delivery hom, therefore we 
always have some exposme lo price volatility in the wholesale market for electtic power. 

Pmchases and sales in the wholesale mmket me regulated by FERC, and we report on a regulm basis to the 
U.S. Department of Energy. Weather, generation capacity, transmission, distribution and other mmket and 
regulatory issues also are significant fectors m determining om wholesale procmement and sales sttategies in each 
ofthe mmkets we serve. 

FERC has deregulated the wholesale electricity mmket by allowuig power marketers and utilities who do not 
have market power to sell wholesale electric power at mmket rates {le., whatever rate the buyer and seller agree 
upon), as opposed to requuing that prices be cost-based {i.e., based on the supplier's cost ofthe electricity). 

FERC has fiirther encouraged competition in the wholesale bulk power mmkets by promulgating open access 
ttansmission mles ui 1996, which have led to the increasing commoditization of electricity markets. FERC's open 
access transmission mles require ttansmission providers under its jurisdiction to allow eligible customers access to 
their transmission systems at cost-based rates. This has enabled pmchasers of wholesale power to access a Imger 
number of potential suppliers, thereby enhancing competition. 

FERC has contmued to promote increased competition in RTOs which have ultimate conttol over the bulk 
ttansmission system hi a particulm geographic mea. Wholesale electricity or buUc power, once pmchased and sold 
almost exclusively between ttaditional utilities under bilateral arrangements, is now traded by many different mmket 
participants on organized markets, includmg homly, daily, and monthly spot mmkets, power exchanges and 
financial markets, such as fiitmes and options markets. Competitive markets now exist in many regions of the 
countty for energy, automatic generation conttol, spuming reserves, other categories of ancillary services and 
capacity. Organizations such as the New York Mercantile Exchange, or NYMEX, and the Intercontinental 
Exchange, or ICE, offer tradu^ opportunhies m electricity fiitmes and options at various locations across the 
country. The price of electricity is Imgely set by these competitive mmkets. Recently, the growth and evolution of 
wholesale electricity mmkets has been accelerated with the formation of RTOs. These RTOs are developuig 
organized mmket stmctmes for the purpose of providing more efficient and competitive wholesale mmketplaces for 
the benefit of consumers m the regions in which they operate. 

Retail electric marketers procme power supplies for delivery lo end-use customers from a variety of wholesale 
power producers or merchant generation companies, either through term supply conttacts or on a spot basis. In 
addition, short-term daily or homly supply requnements can be pmchased or sold through the balancing mmkets 
operated by the ISO or RTO. The physical disttibution of electricity to retail customers remains the responsibility of 
the local utility, which collects fees for use of its systems. Some states also allow the utility to provide additional 
services, such as readmg meters, generating customer bills, collecting bills and taking requests for service changes 
or problems, while in other states tiie utility is not allowed or chooses not to perform these services. 

Natural Gas 

The natmal gas uidustry, government regulated smce 1938, began a process of deregulation in the emly 1980s 
leading to a dynamic industry with a highly competitive market place and a commodity that is widely traded in the 
daily and futmes mmkets. The mmket price of natmal gas is quoted at vmious locations or regional hubs mound the 
country. These regional hubs are usually priced as a differential to the Imgest centralized point for natural gas spot 
and futmes ttading in the United States known as the Henry Hub, located in Louisiana, and used by the NYMEX as 
the pomt of delivery for its natmal gas futures conttacts. There are over 70 major mmket hubs, or intersections of 
various pipeluie systems, where natural gas ttansactions occm. In addition, pmchases and sales are made at 



thousands of gas processing plants where gas enters the national grid, city gate interconnections where gas leaves 
the national grid, and industrial and electric generator dnect connections with large pipelines making up the national 
grid. Thousands of contracts me bought and sold daily at the market centers. These mmket centers have various 
degrees of liquidity in both the cash and forwmd mmkets. Prices may vary widely from hub to hub, reflecting 
regional mmket conditions. Additional thousands of ttansaction occm at non-mmket hub interconnections and often 
these ttansactions me based upon or priced relative to the major market hub or hubs in then vicuiity. 

Although ttansactional prices of natmal gas are determined by mmket forces, the cost of transportation of natmal 
gas from the outlet of gathering systems and processing plants to the "city gate" interconnection with local gas 
distributors is performed by regulated pipeluies which essentially act as common carriers. Any market participant 
desfring transportation services from such pipeluies must be offered such services on an equal basis whh other 
market participants. Transportation from the city gate to the bumer tip, a common term for where a consumer uses 
the gas, is performed by regulated local utilities. Unlike the mterstate natmal gas pipelmes, that act as common 
carriers, the local gas distribution companies are a mixtme of common carrier, selective carrier, and non-carrier 
systems. Only common carrier and some selective carrier systems can be accessed to serve retail residential and 
commercial/industrial customers. 

Retail natmal gas providers for the most part procme natural gas supplies for delivery to end-use customers from 
a variety of wholesale natmal gas suppliers, mostly at a relevant market hub, either through term supply contracts or 
on a spot basis. The physical distribution of natural gas to retail customers remains the responsibility of the local 
natural gas utility, which collects a fee for the use of hs pipelmes distribution system. 

Core Products and Services 

Om core busuiess is the retail sale of electticity and natural gas to end-use customers. We also provide 
professional consulting and technology services to utilities, electricity generators, wholesale energy merchants, 
financial mstitutions and energy technology companies. 

Commerce Energy, Inc, 

We sell electricity and natmal gas service to customers under month-to-month and/or longer-term service 
contracts. The positive difference between the sales price of energy delivered to om customers and the related sum 
ofthe cost ofom energy suppUes, ttansmission costs, disttibution costs and ancUlary services costs provides us with 
a gross profit mmgm. The electricity and natural gas we sell is generally metered and delivered to om customers by 
the local utihties. The local utilities may also provide billing and collection services for many of om customers on 
om behalf 

We buy electricity and natmal gas m the wholesale mmket m time-specific, bulk or block quantities usually at 
fixed prices. With respect to electricity mmkets, we balance the differences between the actual sales demand or 
usage of om customers and om bulk or block pmchases by buying and selling any shortfall or excess in the spot 
mmket. Independent System Operators, or ISOs, and Regional Transmission Oganizations, or RTOs, perform real-
tune load balancmg for each ofthe electric grids in which we operate. Sunilmly, with respect to natmal gas markets, 
supply and demand balancmg is performed by Commerce Energy in connection with agreements wilh the local 
distribution company (LDC) utUities or by the LDC themselves on behalf of Commerce Energy, for each of the 
natural gas markets in which we operate. We are charged or credited by the ISOs and LDCs for balancing of om 
electricity and natmal gas pmchased and sold for om account. 

Skipping Stone Inc. 

Skipping Stone offers a number of related professional consulting services and technologies to energy companies, 
such as utilities, electricity generators, natmal gas pipelmes, wholesale energy merchants, energy technology 
providers and investment banks. Skipping Stone is focused on assisting clients with business process improvements, 
market research, ttaining, Smbanes-Oxley process level implementations, systems design and selection, and 
sttategic and tactical plaimmg for new mmket or merger activities. Additionally, the Company provides natural gas 
pipeluie mformation to mmket participants and government customers through Skippmg Stone's technology center 
using its capacitycenter.com service. 

http://capacitycenter.com


Our Customers and Markets 

As of July 31, 2006, we were delivering electricity and natural gas supply to customers in nine states and twenty 
LDC mmkets. We periodically review and evaluate the profitability ofom operations in each of these mmkets and 
the advantages ofom mmket enfrance in other potential LDC mmkets that me open for direct access sales to end-use 
customers. The review of entrance in a new mmket area uicludes exploruig opportunities to acqufre existing 
portfolios of customers from current suppliers m tmgeted mmkets. 

We operate m one reportable business segment, energy retailhig, in one geographic mea, the United Stales. Om 
customer base consists of residential, commercial, industrial, and uistitutional customers. Om business is not 
dependent upon any one customer or a few major customers and dming fiscal 2006, no one customer accounted for 
more than 10% ofom net revenues. In addition to expansion ofom core products and services into new deregulated 
mmkets and tmgeted customer classes, we are working to broaden the scope of om energy-related products and 
services to mclude energy efficiency offerings and additional outsomced services. 

As of July 31, 2006, we served approximately 137,000 electricity and natural gas customers. Although a number 
of om customers, particulmly hi om commercial and industrial sales segment, can have more than one account, we 
determuie and report om customer count with each customer defined as an individual customer account. We served 
electricity customers in twelve LDC mmkets within six states: Califomia, Pennsylvania, Michigan, Maryland, New 
Jersey and Texas and natmal gas customers in eight LDC mmkets within six slates: Califomia, Georgia, Maryland, 
New York, Ohio and Pennsylvania. 

Sales of electricity and natural gas comprised 74% and 25%, respectively, of total net revenues during fiscal 2006 
and 89% and 10%, respectively, during fiscal 2005. During fiscal 2004, net revenues were comprised 100% of sales 
of electricity. 

Skipping Stone is engaged by over 50 clients under master agreements, with up lo a dozen active engagements in 
any given month. Clients include utiUties, wholesale energy merchants, natural gas pipelme companies, electricity 
generators, energy producers and investment companies. Net revenue attributable to Skipping Stone is 
approxunately 1% of total net revenues in fiscal 2005 and 2006. 

Strategy 

Commerce Energy's fiitme profitability depends on our ability to achieve sufficient customer scale in order to 
create a profitable operating cost stmctme. To achieve this scale, we intend to substantially grow om customer base 
in mmkets that offer adequate gross mmguis, shed customers which may no longer be served economically, evaluate 
and align om mmket presence to achieve an optimum retum on investments and seek out acquisition opportunities 
that wiU advance om growth goals. Growth plans include: 

• Substantially grow om customer base in energy mmkets that have rate stmctmes, market mles, consumer 
demographics, energy consumption pattems, access to favorable energy supply and risk management profiles 
that allow us to economically serve the mmket. 

• Establish a market position for the Commerce Energy brand that is differentiated from competitors, relevant to 
customers and other key stakeholders and executable by the company. 

• Within om mass market division, continue lo develop a robust sales charmel mix includmg outbound and 
uibound telesales, onluie sales and emollment, affinity alliances, dnect mail, advertising, as well as various 
uidnect sales partnerships, mcludmg network mmketing, door-to-door solicitations, independent agents and 
onluie affiliates. 

• Establish strategic supplier relationships that will enable us to offer a broad range of innovative service plans, 
pricuig flexibility and competitive rates. 



• Offer additional products and services to om customers designed to help consumers use energy more efficiently 
and to otherwise bring better conttol to their energy costs. 

• Pmsue community aggregation programs that enable us to emoll larger numbers of consumers more 
economically than through ttaditional one-by-one marketing efforts. 

• Continue to develop om Commercial & Industrial (C&l) division in its pursuh of small- and medium-size 
commercial consumers, particulmly those with muftiple-location (multi-state) requnements. 

Sales and Marketing 

Commerce Energy markets electticity and natural gas utilizing conttact terms based either on monthly fixed or 
variable rates. The majority of om fixed-rate contracts me for a duration of twelve to twenty-fom months, wilh 
occasional shorter-term offerings based on market conditions and customer preferences. Om monthly variable rate 
contracts me cmicellable after thuty days' notice, allowing customer flexibility with respect to a longer term price or 
supplier commitment During the second half of fiscal 2006, approximately 95% of om new customer sales 
conttacts were under fixed-rate contract terms. As expected, foUowing unprecedented increases in the wholesale 
cost of energy and significant volatility of mmket prices dmmg the second half of calendm 2005, customers were 
more uiclmed to lock in certamty in the cost of their energy supplies. As the wholesale mmket price of energy 
declines, we believe customers may increasmgly move towmd om monthly variable-rale conttacts, thus allowing 
them to take advantage of decreasmg market prices. 

A vmiety of approaches me utilized in acquuing customers, mcluding a professional sales force calling on C&l 
end-users and vmious mass market sales charmels in pmsuit of residential and small businesses. Historically, a 
majority ofom customers have been acquned through telesales and network mmketuig. More recently, door-to-door 
sales have been added to the mix as well as targeted broadcast advertising, professional sales, affinity alliances and 
on-luie affiliates. 

Service after the sale is a critical part ofom success. During fiscal 2006, high levels of customer growth resuhed 
ui hfring and ttaining new staff members, as well as improving technology platforms to expedite the processing of 
new customer accounts, ensme timely and accmate billing and provide one-call resolution to customer inquires. 

Om sales efforts are divided into two divisions: C&I, representmg sales to medium-sized and larger commercial 
accounts, and Mass Market, comprised of residential customers and small businesses. 

Commercial & Industrial 

C&I sales primarily involve stmctmed, custom-rate conttacts developed specifically to meet the desires, needs 
and usage pattem of an individual customer. A typical C&I customer possesses a high level of understanding ofthe 
energy business and current mmket conditions, and individual customer sales mvolve higher energy usage and lower 
per unit margins, as compmed to the typical mass mmket customer. Competition for these types of customers is 
robust, with several established competitors in each geographic mmket. Commerce Energy has established itself as a 
preferred provider of customers with multi-location, muhi-state requirements. Leveraging om uiformation systems 
and operational capabilities, we are able to attract and retam customers such as retail chams, hotel/motel chains, 
food service chains and school districts, ui addhion to small- and medium-sized, single-location commercial 
consumers. Although other indnect sales channels and sales agents me utilized, we make sales to this customer 
segment largely through the establishment of direct customer relationship by om professional mside salespersons. 

Mass Market 

Sales to mass market customers me comprised of pre-defined service plans developed on the usage pattems of a 
typical small business or residential consumer. Historically, telesales and network marketing were utilized almost 
exclusively for the acquisition of customers in the mass market. In order to significantly increase om sales in this 
customer segment, during the last half of fiscal 2006 we began utilizing a number of other sales channels for the 
acquishion of mass mmket customers, includmg thnd-party door-to-door commission salespersons, affmity 
alliances, on-line affiliates and tmgeted print and broadcast advertising. 



Energy Supply 

We do not own electricity generation assets or natmal gas producuig properties. All ofthe electticity and natmal 
gas we sell to om customers is pmchased in the wholesale mmket from thnd-party suppliers in time-specific block 
quantities under short-term and long-term contracts, usually at fixed prices. Although we have open lines of credit 
with suppliers, contractual pmchase terms with suppliers often require additional collateral to support om energy 
pmchases. We utilize om avaUable cash and letters of credh issued under om bank credit facility to meet any 
coUateral requnements ofom energy suppliers. 

With respect to electricity markets, we balance the differences between the actual sales demand or usage of om 
customers and om bulk or block pmchases by buying and selluig any shortfall or excess in the spot mmket. 
Independent System Operators, or ISOs, and Regional Transmission Organizations, or RTOs, perform real-time load 
balancing for each ofthe electric grids in which we operate. Similmly, with respect to natural gas mmkets, supply 
and demand balancing is performed by Commerce Energy in connection wilh agreements with the local distribution 
company (LDC) utilities or by the LDC themselves on behalf of Commerce Energy, for each of the natural gas 
markets in which we operate. We are chmged or credhed by the ISOs and LDCs for balancing ofom electticity and 
natural gas pmchased and sold for om account and we are subject to costs or fees charged by the ISOs or LDCs for 
these electticity and natmal gas balancing activities related to om account. 

Wholesale electricity and natural gas me readily available from various thnd party suppliers ui om mmkets, 
except for the state of Michigan, where all of om electticity is pmchased from one supplier. In fiscal 2006, two 
electticity suppliers (mcluding the Michigan supplier) each accounted for 11% of om direct energy costs. Based 
upon current information from om suppliers, we do not anticipate any shortage of supply. However, m the event of a 
supply short^e, there can be no assurance that we would be able to timely secme an ahemative supply of electricity 
or natmal gas at prices compmable to om current contracts, and the failme to replace a supplier ui a timely maimer 
at comparable prices could materially harm om operations. 

We employ risk management policies and procedmes to conttol and monitor the risks associated with volatile 
commodity mmkets and to assme a balanced energy sales and supply portfolio within defined risk tolerances. 

Competition 

Commerce Energy, Inc 

In mmkets that are open to competitive choice of retail eneigy suppliers, there me generally three types of 
competitors: the mcumbent utilities, utility-affiliated retail mmketers and small to mid-size uidependent retail energy 
companies. Competition is based primarily on price, product offerings and customer service. 

The compethive landscape differs in each utility service mea, and within each tmgeted customer segment. For 
residential and small commercial customers in most service territories, the primary competitive challenges come 
from the incumbent utility and affiliated utility mmketuig companies. For tiie medium-sized commercial customer, 
competitive challenges come from the utility and its affiliated marketing company, as well as other independents. 
However, this segment is still the least tmgeted segment among om compethion due to the difficulty hi balancmg 
cost of acquisition and mmgm objectives. The Imge commercial, uistitutional and uidusttial segments are very 
competitive m most mmkets with nemly all customers having afready switched away from the utility to an alternate 
provider. National affiliated utility mmketers, energy producers and other independent retail energy companies often 
compete for customers in this segment. 

The mcumbent regulated utilities and the nationally-branded utility affiliates typically benefit from the economies 
of scale derived from the sttength of a substantial asset-based balance sheets, and vertically integrated business 
models that combine production, transmission and distribution assets. For incumbent utilities these advantages are 
often offset by the lack of flexibility to offer muhiple product choices to then customers, while the nationally-
branded affiliates often stmggle with long-term focus and cultmal adaptation to a non-regulated market 
environment. 



Increasing om mmket shme depends on om ability to convince customers lo switch to om service. The local 
utilities have the advantage of long-stmiding relationships with then customers and they have longer operating 
histories, greater financial and other resources and greater name recognition in then- mmkets than we do. In addition, 
local utilities have been subject to many years of regulatory oversight and thus have a significant amount of 
experience regmding the policy preferences of their regulators, as well as a critical economic interest in the outcome 
of proceedmgs conceming then* revenues and terms and conditions of service. Local utilities may seek to decrease 
then tariff retail rates to limit or to preclude the opportunities for competitive eneigy suppliers and otherwise seek to 
establish rates, terms and conditions to the disadvantage of competitive energy suppliers. There is an emerging ttend 
among some local utiUties to exit the merchant fimction and actively encomage customers to leave then energy 
supply service. This is sometimes encour^ed by the framework for deregulation withm which the local utility 
operates. Recently, there have been several customer auctions held m which the local utility assigns its customers to 
winning retail marketer bidders. We have had historical success hi the customer-auction process and plan to pmsue 
more of these opportunities as they become available. 

Among the retail marketers and wholesale merchants, competition is most intense for the Imger volume 
commercial and industrial accounts. Om primary tmget customer segments are small to medium commercial 
customers. We expect that the combination ofom existing residential customer base and om continued growth will 
enhance om ability to successfiilly compete for larger commercial and uistitutional customers. 

Most customers who swkch away fi*om the local utility do so for economic benefit. Once switched, customer 
retention is based on continuing competitive pricing, reliability of supply mid customer service. 

Some ofom competitors, includmg local utilities, have formed alliances and joint ventmes in order to compete in 
the restmctmed retail electticity and natural gas industries. Many customers of these local utilities may decide to 
stay with their long-time energy provider if they have been satisfied with thefr service m the past. Therefore it may 
be difficult for us to compete agauist local utilities and then affiliates. 

We also may face competition from other nationally-branded providers of consumer products and services. Some 
of these competitors or potential competitors may be Imger and better capitalized than we me. 

Skipping Stone Inc, 

We face competition m selling consulting and outsourced services from a Imge variety of companies. These 
competitors may be engaged in the energy business, as we are, or may be national and mtemational management 
and uiformation technology firms. 

Seasonality 

Om sales volumes and revenues are subject to fluctuations during the year due primarily to the impact of seasonal 
weather fectors on customer energy demand and the related market prices of electticity and natmal gas. Electticity 
sales volumes me historically higher in the summer months for cooluig purposes, followed by the winter months for 
heating and lightmg purposes. Natural gas sales volumes me higher in the winter heating season, with the lowest 
demand occurring during the summer. 

Governmental Regulation 

In states that have adopted deregulation, state Public Utility Commissions, or PUCs, have authority to license and 
regulate certain activities of electric and natural gas retailers. Commerce Energy is subject to regulation by the PUC 
hi each state in which we seU electricity and natmal gas. As of July 31, 2006, we were licensed by the applicable 
PUCs m nine states. These licenses permit us to sell electricity and natmal gas to commercial, industrial, 
institutional and residential customers. The requirements for licensing and the level of regulation vary fi-om state to 
state. 

We consider each utility service territory within which we operate to be a distinct mmket due to the unique 
chmacteristics of each. A discussion of regulations for our mmket service meas follows: 



State Regulations 

Wholesale mmket mles are expected to change over tiie next several years as Regional Transmission 
Oi^anizations, or RTOs, contmue in their efforts through a vmiety of FERC-filed mles and procedmes to relieve 
congested transmission systems, encourage expansion of transmission networks and attempt to enhance competition 
ui the bulk power mmkets. These changes will likely impact om retail electticity busuiess ui several RTOs in which 
we operate, specifically: PJM Interconnection, Electric Reliability Council of Texas and the Califomia Independent 
System Operator. These proposed changes could increase ttansmission charges in the form of congestion pricing to 
relieve congestion at certain delivery or mterconnection pomts on a transmission system (nodal pricmg and related 
measures) and through higher ttansmission capacity chmges permitted by FERC to stimulate more investment in 
new ttansmission lines and faciUties. While these changes will likely increase ttansmission chmges, at least in the 
short run, they may lead to a more efficient and expanded transmission system withm these RTOs that can 
accommodate more transactions, and help the Company to access more customers at the wholesale and retail level. 
There is no way to unpute an exact effect through a cost^enefit analysis because there are many variables, and 
RTOs may be permitted different ways to achieve the same objective of enhancing competition in the bulk power, 
wholesale mmkets. 

Electricity 

California. The 1996 California Assembly Bill 1890 codified the restmctming ofthe Califomia electtic industry 
and provided for the right of Dfrect Access. Dfrect Access allowed electticity customers to buy then power from a 
supplier other than the electric distribution utilities beginning January 1, 1998. On April I, 1998, the Company 
began supplying customers m Califomia with electricity as an Electric Service Provider. On September 20, 2001. tiie 
Califomia PUC issued a mlmg suspendmg electricity Dnect Access. This mlmg permits ESP's to keep then* current 
customers and to solicit dnect access customers served by other ESPs; however it prohibits us from signing up new 
non-direct access customers in California for an undetermined period of time. 

Under legislative mandate, the Califomia PUC is implementmg the state's Resomce Adequacy Requnement, or 
RAR. In September 2005, Califomia Assembly Bill 380, covering electrical restmcturing and resomce adequacy 
was passed into law. This bill requnes the Califomia PUC, hi consultation with tiie ISO, to establish RARs for all 
Load-Serving Entities, or LSEs. The bill requnes each LSE to secure generatuig capacity adequate to meet its load 
requfrements, uicluding but not limited to, peak demand and plannuig and operatuig reserves, deliverable to 
locations and at times as may be necessary to provide reliable electric service. The Califomia PUC issued its Final 
Decision on system RARs on October 27, 2005. The Final Decision requnes LSEs, including Investor-Owned 
Electric Utilities, or lOUs, Electric Service Providers or ESPs, and Community Choice Aggregators or CCAs, to 
have capacity to serve then retail customers' forecasted loads and a 15-17% reserve margm beguming in June 2006. 
On June 29, 2006, the Califomia PUC issued its decision on local RARs, for which requirements me established 
annually under CPUC allocation principles. The Califomia PUC adopted a penalty of $40 per kW-yem on the 
amount an LSE is deficient in meeting the annual requnements, in addhion to backstop procmement costs. As an 
LSE, Commerce Energy is subject to the RARs and hs provisions, mcluding penalties for non-compliance. The 
ability of Commerce Energy to recover costs associated with RAR from its customers will be subject to market 
pricuig and competitive forces. 

On September 26, 2006, Califomia Senate Bill 107 was signed into law. The bUl amends the existmg law 
conceming renewable portfolio standards for LSEs in the state. The bill accelerates the procurement tmgets such that 
20% of retaU sales are procmed from eligible renewable energy resomces no later than December 31, 2010. The 
former law required 20% by 2017. Rules to implement California's Renewable Portfolio Standmds or RPS and the 
mles by which ESPs must comply with RPS, me bemg developed and me not fully known to Commerce Energy. As 
such, the associated costs to Commerce Energy me not known. 

Pennsylvania. In 1996, the Electricity Generation Customer Choice and Competition Act was passed. The law 
allowed electtic consumers to choose among competitive power suppliers beginning with one-third of the State's 
consumers by January 1999, two-thirds by January 2000, and all consumers by January 2001. Commerce Eneigy 
began serving customers in Pennsylvania in 1999. 



Current utility defauh rates me capped until 2010 as a resuh ofthe restmcturing related to the Electric Choice 
Law. As power prices rise significantly, it has become clear that the utility price cap is not realistic or representative 
of tme mmket power costs. Squeezed between a capped utility rate, high wholesale electticity costs and the high 
cost of servicing customers in Permsylvania due to the market mles and mmket stmctme, many companies, 
mcludmg Commerce Energy, have reduced the number of customers they serve in the state. 

There are no current rate cases or filings at the Permsylvania PUC which would impact the Company's financial 
results. 

Michigan. The Michigan state legislature passed two acts, the Customer Choice Act and Electticity Reliability 
Act, signed mto law on June 3, 2000. Open Access, or Choice, became available to all consumers of Michigan 
electtic disttibution utilities, beginning January 1, 2002. We began marketing in Michigan's Dettoit Edison service 
territory m September 2002. 

On Febmary 4, 2005, the Dettoit Edison filed an application to unbundle and realign its electric rates. The 
application proposed the unbundluig of Dettoit Edison's existuig rate classes uito their cost components atttibutable 
to the generation, includmg transmission, and distribution functions and the phasing out of rate class imbalances 
relative to cost of service. Dettoit Edison explained that its application would allow the utility to unbundle hs 
residential, commercial, and industrial retail electtic rate schedules into their separate components based on 2004 
fully allocated embedded costs. 

On December 22, 2005, the Michigan Public Utilities Commission, or the MPSC, approved Dettoit Edison's 
filing. The MPSC dfrected that disttibution chmges for choice and bundled customers should be brought into parity 
through aligning then rates, effective February 2006. This order resulted in a rate reduction for bundled commercial 
and mdustrial customers. This order had a major unpact on Choice customers because the MPSC allowed the utility 
to shift costs emiier associated with energy charges to the distribution portion of the customer bill. As a result. 
Choice customers saw an mcrease hi then distribution charges, which ultunately resuhed hi a "total bill" increase. 

New efficient meter mles and a removal of Dettoit Edison's Stranded Cost chmge in combuiation with a higher 
Power Cost Recovery Smcharge is closing the gap between the utility's rate and the rate offered by suppliers, 
however, competition has been effectively halted hi Michigan due to the design of Dettoit Edison's rate. 

Maryland. In 1999, the Maryland General Assembly passed the Electric Choice and Competition Act Part of this 
Act required that all customers receive a rate reduction, followed by a rate freeze. The rate reduction of 6.5% for 
Bahunore Gas and Electric (BGE) customers was based on the last BGE rate case which was in 1993. The rate 
freeze ui the BGE service territory expned on July 1, 2006. The mmket price obtamed through the Standard Offer 
Service competitive auction process in the BGE service territory increased 72%. This increase paved the way for the 
Company to start offering products to all classes of customers at rates that me market based and highly competitive 
to BGE's Standard Offer Service rate. Commerce Energy was licensed by the Maryland Public Service Commission 
on July 7,2004. 

In an attempt to mitigate the unpact ofthe BGE rate increase, the Maryland General Assembly in special session 
m June, 2006 passed Senate Bill One which among other things limited the BGE rate uicrease to 15% for the period 
July 1, 2006 through May 31, 2007; however that limh was imposed as a credit to tiie utility's ttansportation fees 
and hi no way affected the commodity price increase. 

New Jersey. Deregulation activities began in New Jersey in November 1999 when the Board of Public Utilities, 
or BPU, approved the implementation plan. The Company began mmketing in New Jersey in the Public Service 
Electtic and Gas service territory in December 2003. 

Since 2002, tiie fom New Jersey Electtic Disttibution Companies, includmg Public Service Gas & Electric 
Company, or PSE&G, have procmed electric supply to serve then Basic Generation Service, or BGS, customers 
through a statewide auction process held each yem in February. BGS customers me customers who are not served by 
a third party supplier or competitive retailer. The utility uses a rolling procurement stmctme, whereby each year 
one-thnd ofthe load is procmed for a three-year period. A portion ofthe load that was bid on three yems ago will 
come up for re-bidduig ui 2007. Commerce Energy anticipates that this will cause the auction rate to increase and 
create a BGS rate that is closer to the current mmket price. 
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Texas. Texas deregulation began in 1999. Begiiming ui January 2002, Texas electricity consumers could choose 
their RetaU Electricity Provider, or REP. Commerce Energy began serving electtic customers in the TXU Electtic 
Delivery and CenterPouit service territories ofthe Electric Reliability Council of Texas, or ERCOT. On May 16, 
2005, we expanded further into the Texas service territories of American Electric Power, or AEP, and Texas New 
Mexico Power, or TNMP. ERCOT is currently examining the maimer in which it expects to shift hs current 
operation of the wholesale ttansmission disttibution system from a zonal to a nodal marketplace. We expect the 
nodal market design wiU impact the pmchasing ofom wholesale power by changing the delivery locations ofom 
wholesale supply. 

Credit risks may increase for retail electric providers sellmg to residential customers. Under existing law. 
Commerce Energy and other retail electric providers can only use electric bill payment history to deny service 
beguming on the later of January 1, 2007 or the date that price to beat is no longer m effect in the residential 
customer's geographic mea. However, a common database providuig electric bill payment history is not available 
for retail electric providers. Until the database is voluntarily created, or mandated by policy, Commerce Energy will 
contmue to rely on PUCT Customer Protection Rules to manage credit risk. Those mles give Commerce Energy the 
right to request a deposit or advanced payment 

Wholesale costs associated with scheduling and balancing energy on the ERCOT grid may increase for mmket 
participants, such as Commerce Eneigy. Specifically, cost responsibility and allocation for Replacement Reserve 
Service (RPRS), an anciUary service for ERCOT grid operations, is under ERCOT's poUcy review. UntU resolved, 
the RPRS Chmge is bemg temporarily "uplifted" to all market participants on a load-ratio share basis. The ability of 
Conunerce Energy to recover these chmges from its retail customers is subject to mmket pricing and competitive 
pricuig. 

Natural Gas 

Begiiming with the Natural Gas Policy Act of 1978, the U.S. Congress mitialed a process that ended federal 
conttol over the price of natural gas al the wellhead. This uhimately set in motion a series of public policy changes 
by the FERC and state utility commissions that have resulted in consumer choice programs for all natural gas users 
hi certaui states. 

We serve natmal gas customers m eight utility gas mmket meas in the following six states: 

California. We currently serve residential and small commercial customers in the Southem Califomia Gas and 
Pacific Gas& Electric gas mmkets. We me the only core aggregation transportation provider to residential 
customers in these market areas. There are no cmrent rate cases or filings penduig before the Califomia PUC that 
me anticipated to unpact om fmancial resuhs. 

Georgia. In 1997, the Georgia General Assembly passed the Georgia Natural Gas Competition and 
Deregulation Act, or the Georgia Gas Act. The Georgia Gas Act reorgaruzed the Georgia retail natmal gas market 
and allowed natural gas marketers lo serve retail consumers. The Georgia Public Service Commission, or the GA 
PSC, has implemented a comprehensive unbundling program in the state. Over 80 percent of the state's 
residential gas consumers me serviced by certified gas mmketers. The ability to disconnect customers for non­
payment of invoices is severely constrauied by system design and human resomce limitations in this mmket. This 
may affect the Company's ability to limit losses within this mmket. 

Maryland. In 1997, natural gas choice was brought to Maryland consumers. We provide gas service to 
residential and small commercial customers in the Bahimore Gas & Electtic mmket mea. There me other gas 
mmketers that serve these types of customers. In July, 2005 the Maryland Public Service Commission adopted 
enhanced customer protection mles which were applied to the retail energy mmket. The approval of these mles 
will not impact financial results as the Company is currently compliant 

New York. In 1996, New York began offering natural gas choice programs. We currently serve residential and 
small commercial customers m the KeySpan Energy Delivery gas mmket There are other gas mmketers that serve 
these types of customers. In the fell of 2004, the New York Public Service Commission issued a policy statement 
requiring all utilities to submit a plan outlming their program lo enhance the Choice program hi the market place 
resulting m an mcreased competitive envnonment Currently several ofthe utilities me unplementmg then plans. We 
expect that these activities will unprove om ability to mmket in New York to new gas customers. 
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Ohio. In 1997, natural gas choice programs began in Ohio. We provide gas service to residential and small 
commercial customers m the Dominion East Ohio, or DEO, and Columbia Gas of Ohio service meas. 

DEO's plan to exh the merchant function in Ohio was approved earlier this yem. The plan was divided mto 
two sections. Phase I and Phase II, In Phase I suppliers and mmketers bid for supply only. In Phase II, suppliers 
and mmketers will bid to serve any bundled customers remainuig with DEO. On August 29, 2006, DEO 
conducted an auction for pricing of its natural gas wholesale supply for the time period October 2006 through 
August 2008. 

The auction participants bid on a retail price adjustment that will be added on a monthly basis to the monthly 
NYMEX settlement price. The sum of these wiW become the Standmd Offer Service, or SOS, price that will 
replace the current Gas Cost Recovery, or GCR, rate. The GCR rate has ttaditionally been calculated on a 
monthly basis using imbalances from prior months. The new SOS rate will more closely reflect ttue market costs. 

Pennsylvania. In 1997, the natmal gas supply service in Pennsylvania was fiilly opened to competition for all 
customer classes. The Natmal Gas Choice and Competition Act specified that after five yems (July 2004) the 
PUC was to uihiate processes to evaluate the competitiveness of natmal gas supply services in the state and report 
hs findings to the General Assembly. As a result, the Pennsylvania PUC released a report on its findmgs earlier 
this yem. It was discovered that the State at this time could be more supportive of competition by changing some 
ofthe mles and taxes currently imposed on suppliers. A report regarding then findings is expected to be released 
later this year. 

Federal Regulations 

Federal Energy Regulatory Commission 

We also are subject to regulation by various other federal, state and local govemmental agencies. Om electtic 
pmchases and sales are subject to the jurisdiction ofthe Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, or FERC, under 
the Federal Power Act. We make sales of electticity pmsuant to a Power Marketer certificate issued by FERC. 
While not generally regulating the rales or terms or conditions of electticity sales, FERC has the authority to 
institute proceeduigs to identify ttansactions involving rates that me not just and reasonable due to market 
manipulation and to reverse or unwuid such transactions to ensme just and reasonable rates. 

The Federal Energy Policy Act of 2005 

On August 8,2005, tiie Energy PoUcy Act of 2005, or EPA 2005, was signed into law. The scope of EPA 2005 
is broad, addressmg fossil, nuclem and renewable energy, energy efficiency and tax credits and uicentives, across 
a range of energy producuig and consumnig sectors. Certain changes mandated by EPA 2005 may have a dnect 
or indnect effect on om busuiess. In particulm, provisions uitended to enhance the reliability of electtic 
ttansmission and delivery systems, further the transparency of electricity and natural gas markets, encourage the 
constmction of new electric ttansmission infrastmctme, and facilitate the importation of natural gas should 
increase the efficiency ofthe competitive wholesale natural gas and electticity mmkets in which we participate. 
Furthermore, effective February 8,2006, EPA 2005 replaces tiie PubUc UtUity Holdmg Company Act of 1935, or 
PUHCA 1935, witii tiie Public UtUity Holdmg Company Act of 2005, or PUHCA 2005. PUHCA 2005 mvolves 
much less extensive regulation than PUHCA 1935, but does mclude provisions involving FERC access to books 
and records of public utility holding companies and then affiliates, as well as certain oversight over affiliate 
ttansactions. In accordance with EPA 2005, FERC has fmalized mles (RM05-32-000) to address certain issues 
related to unplementation of PUHCA 2005, mcluding implementing the Federal access to books and records. 

In the past, through a series of no action letters, the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, has 
concluded that electric and gas marketers who did not own or operate electtic generation, transmission or 
disttibution fecilities or gas retail distribution facilities were not public-utility companies, and then parent companies 
were not public-utility holding companies, under PUHCA 1935. In its final mle, FERC confnmed that such electric 
and gas marketers are not public-utility companies under PUHCA 2005, and that theu pment companies are not 
holdmg companies under PUHCA 2005 (provided such parent companies do not own other entities that would be 
considered public-utility companies), so they would not be subject to the provisions ofthe new law. 

12 



Intellectual Property 

Intellectual property assets include om proprietary softwme and service products, om registered ttademmks 
(electricAmerica®. Green Smart®, l-800-Electric®, electric.com® and Utilihost, Inc.®), om l-800-Electric telephone 
number and rights to om intemet domain names {electric.com, commerceenergy.com and electricAmerica.com). We 
believe that each ofom intellectual property assets offers us strategic advantages in om operations. 

Om strategy for protection of om ttademmks is to routinely file U.S. federal and foreign trademark applications 
for the various word names and logos used to mmket om services to licensees and the general public. The dmation 
ofthe U.S. and foreign registered trademarks can typically be maintained uidefmitely, provided proper fees are paid 
and trademarks are continually used or licensed by us. 

Employees 

As of July 31, 2006, we employed 176 full-time employees, mcluding 36 m administtation, 37 hi marketmg and 
sales, and 103 in operations. Om employees are not covered by a collective bmgauimg agreement or presently 
represented by a labor union. We have not experienced any work stoppages and consider om employee relations to 
be good. 

Available Information 

Om Intemet Address is www.commerceenergy.com. There we make available, free of chmge, om annual report 
on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form lO-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and any amendments to those reports, 
as soon as reasonably practicable after we electtonically file such material with or furnish it lo the SEC. Om SEC 
reports can be accessed through the uivestor relations section ofom web site. The uiformation found on om web site 
is not part of this or any other report we file or fiutiish to the SEC. 

Item lA. Risk Factors. 

If competitive restructuring ofthe retail energy market is delayed or does not result in viable competitive market 
rules, our business will be adversety affected. 

The Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, or FERC, has mauitained a sttong commitment to the deregulation 
of wholesale electticity mmkets. The new provisions of EPA 2005 should serve to further enhance the reliabUity of 
the electric transmission grid which om electric mmketing operations depend on for delivery of power to om 
customers. This movement at the federal level has in part helped spm deregulation measmes hi the stales al the retail 
level. Twenty-three states and the District of Columbia have ekher enacted enabling legislation or issued a 
regulatory order to implement retail access. In 18 of these states, retail access is either cmrently available to some or 
all customers, or will soon be available. However, in many of these mmkets the mmket mles adopted have not 
resuhed in energy service providers beuig able to compete successfully with the local ulililies and customer 
switchmg rates have been low. Om busuiess model depends on other favorable markets openuig under viable 
competitive mles hi a tunely manner. In any particular mmket, there me a number of mles that will ultimately 
determine the atttactiveness of any mmket. Mmkets that we enter may have both favorable and unfavorable mles. If 
the ttend towmds competitive restmcturing of retail energy mmkets does not continue or is delayed or reversed, om 
business prospects and financial condition could be materially adversely impaned. 

Retail energy market restmcturing has been and will continue to be a complicated regulatory process, with 
competing interests advanced not only by relevant state and federal utility regulators, but also by stale legislators, 
federal legislators, local utilities, consumer advocacy groups and other mmket participants. As a result, the extent to 
which there are legitimate competitive opportunities for altemative energy suppliers in a given jurisdiction may vary 
widely and we cannot be assured that regulatory stmctmes will offer us competitive opportunities to sell energy lo 
consumers on a profitable basis. The regulatory process could be negatively impacted by a number of factors, 
includmg intermptions of service and significant or rapid price uicreases. The legislative and regulatory processes in 
some states take prolonged periods of time. In a number of jurisdictions, it may be many yems from the date 
legislation is enacted until the retail mmkets are tmly open for competition. 
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Other aspects of EPA 2005, such as the repeal of PUHCA 1935 and replacmg it with PUHCA 2005, also may 
impact om business to the extent FERC does not continue the SEC's precedent of not regulaluig electtic and gas 
marketers under PUHCA. A proposed mlemaking unplementuig PUHCA 2005 is currently penduig before FERC. If 
marketers and their parent companies and affiliates me to be regulated under PUHCA 2005, FERC may have access 
to then books and records and has oversight of then affiliate ttansactions. Vmious parties participatmg in FERC 
mlemakmg have mged FERC not to regulate mmketers and other entities that do not own or operate gas or electtic 
fecilities. 

In addition, although most retail energy mmket restmctming has been conducted at the state and local levels, bills 
have been proposed hi Congress in the past that would preempt state law conceming the restmcturing of the retail 
energy markets. Although none of these initiatives has been successfiil, we cannot assme stockholders that federal 
legislation will not be passed in the future that could materially adversely affect om business. 

We face many uncertainties that may cause substantial operating losses and we cannot assure stockholders that 
we can achieve and maintain profitability. 

We intend to increase om operating expenses to develop and expand om busuiess, includmg brand development, 
marketmg and other promotional activities and the continued development of om billmg, customer cme and power 
procmement infi*astmclme. Om ability to operate profitably will depend on, among other thuigs: 

• om ability to attract and to retain a critical mass of customers at a reasonable cost; 

• om ability to contmue to develop and maintam mtemal corporate organization and systems; 

• the conluiued compethive restmctming of retail energy mmkets with viable competitive mmket mles; 

• om ability to effectively manage om energy procurement and shaping requnements, and to sell om energy at a 
sufficient profit margm; and 

• om ability to obtam and retam necessary credit necessary to support fiitme growth and profitability. 

We may have difficulty obtaining a sufficient number of customers. 

We anticipate that we will uicm significant costs as we enter new mmkets and pursue customers by utilizuig a 
variety of mmketing methods. In order for us to recover these expenses, we must atttact and retaui a Imge number of 
customers to om service. 

We may experience difficulty atttactuig customers because many customers may be reluctant to switch to a new 
supplier for commodities as critical to then well-being as electricity and natmal gas. A major focus ofom marketmg 
efforts will be to convince customers that we are a reliable provider with sufficient resomces to meet om 
commitments. If om mmketing sttategy is not successfiil, om business, results of operations and financial condition 
could be materially adversely affected. 

We depend upon internally developed, and, in the future will rely on vendor-developed, systems and processes to 
provide several critical functions for our business, and the loss of these functions could materially adversely 
impact our business. 

We have developed om own systems and processes to operate om back-office functions, includuig customer 
emollment, metering, forecasting, settlement and billmg. We me cmrently in the process of replacmg a number of 
om mtemally developed legacy softwme systems with vendor-developed systems. Problems that arise with the 
performance of such back-office fimctions could result in increased expenditmes, delays in the launch of om 
commercial operations into new mmkets, or unfavorable customer experiences that could materially adversely affect 
om busmess strategy. Any intermption of these services could also be dismptive to om business. As we ttansition 
from om own systems to new vendor-developed systems, we may mem duplicative expenses for a period of time 
and we may experience installation and integration issues whh the new systems or delays hi the implementation of 
the new systems. If we experience some or all of these new system implementation risks, we may not be able to 
establish a sufficient operatmg history for Sarbanes-Oxley 404 attestation requnements, which we expect we must 
meet by no later than fiscal year enduig July 31,2007. 
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Substantial fiuctuations in electricity and natural gas prices or the cost of transmitting and distributing 
electricity and natural gas could have a material adverse affect on us. 

To provide electticity and natural gas to om customers, we must, from time to time, pmchase the energy 
commodity in the short-term or spot wholesale energy mmkets, which can be highly volatile. In particulm, the 
wholesale electricity mmket can experience large price fluctuations during peak load periods. Furthermore, to the 
extent that we enter mto contracts with customers that requne us to provide electricity and natmal gas at a fixed 
price over an extended period of time, and to the extent that we have not pmchased all the commodity to cover those 
commitments, we may uicm losses caused by rismg wholesale prices. Periods of rising prices may reduce om abUity 
lo compete with local utilities because their regulated rates may not immediately increase to reflect these increased 
costs. Energy Service Providers like us take on the risk of pmchasing power for an uncertaui load and if the load 
does not materialize as forecast, it leaves us in a long position that would be resold mto the wholesale electricity and 
natural gas market. Sales of this surplus electricity could be and often are at prices below om cost Long positions of 
natmal gas must be stored in inventory and me subject to the lower of cost or mmket valuations that can produce 
losses. Conversely, if unanticipated load appears that may result in an msufficient supply of electricity or natmal 
gas, we would need to pmchase the addhional supply. These pmchases could be and often are at prices that are 
higher than om sales price to om customers. Either situation could create losses for us if we me exposed to the price 
volatility of the wholesale spot mmkets. Any of these conlmgencies could substantially increase om costs of 
operation. Such factors could have a material adverse effect on om financial condition. 

We are dependent on local utilities for distribution of electricity and natural gas to om customers over then 
distribution networks. If these local utilities are unable to properly operate then distribution networks, or if the 
operation of then distribution networks is mtermpted for periods of time, we could be unable to deliver electricity or 
natural gas to om customers during those interruptions. This would result in lost revenue to us, which could 
adversely impact the results ofom operations. 

The terms of our credit facility may restrict our financial and operationalfiexibility. 

The terms of om asset-based credit facility restrict, among other thmgs, om ability lo uicm additional 
mdebtedness, pay dividends or make certain other restticted payments, consummate certaui asset sales, enter into 
certain transactions with affiliates, merge or consolidate with other persons or sell, assign, transfer, lease, converge 
or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all ofom assets. Further, we and om subsidiary, Commerce Energy, me 
requned to maintain specified financial ratios and satisfy certaui fmancial condition tests. Om ability and Commerce 
Energy's ability to meet those financial ratios and tests can be affected by events beyond om ability and conttol, 
respectively, and there can be no assmance that we will meet those tests. Substantially all of om assets and om 
operating subsidimies' assets are pledged as security under om asset-based credit facility. 

If the wholesale price of electricity decreases, we may be required to post letters of credit for margin to secure 
our obligations under our long term energy contracts. 

If the mmket price of wholesale electticity decreases below the price of the electricity we pmchase under long-
term conttacts, the power supplier may requne us to post margin in the form of a letter of credit, or other collateral, 
to protect themselves against om potential default on the contract. If we me required to post such secmity, it could 
adversely affect om liquidity. 

Soitte suppliers of electricity have been experiencing deteriorating credit quality. 

We continue to monitor the credit quality ofom energy suppliers to attempt to reduce the impact of any potential 
counterparty default. As of July 31, 2006, the majority of om counterparties are rated mvestment grade or above by 
the major rating agencies. These ratings are subject to change at any tune whh no advance waming. A deterioration 
hi the credit quality of our energy suppliers could have an adverse impact on om somces of electticity purchases. 
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We are required to rely on utilities with whom we compete to perform some functions for our customers. 

Under the regulatory stmctmes adopted ui most jurisdictions, we are requned to enter uito agreements with local 
utilities for use ofthe local distribution systems, and for the creation and operation of fimctional interfaces necessary 
for us to serve om customers. Any delay in these negotiations or om uiability to enter into reasonable agreements 
with those utilities could delay or negatively impact om ability lo serve customers in those jurisdictions. This could 
have a material negative impact on om busuiess, results of operations and financial condition. 

We me dependent on local utilities for maintenance ofthe infrastmctme through which electricity and natmal gas 
is delivered to om customers. We are limited in om ability lo conttol the leyel of service the ulililies provide to om 
customers. Any infrastmctme feilme that intermpts or impairs delivery of electricity or natmal gas to om customers 
could have a negative effect on the satisfaction of om customers with om service, which could have a material 
adverse effect on om business. Regulations in many markets requfre that the services of reading om customers' 
energy meters and the billmg and collection process be retauied by the local utility. The local utility's systems and 
procedmes may limh or slow down om ability to add customers. 

We are required to rely on utilities with whom we compete to provide us accurate and timely data. 

In some states, we are requned to rely on the local utility to provide us with om customers' energy usage data and 
to pay us for om customers' usage based on what the local utility collects from om customers. We may be limited in 
om abUity or unable to confirm the accmacy of the information provided by the local utility. In addition, we are 
unable to conttol when we receive customer payments from the local utility. If we do not receive payments from the 
local utility on a timely basis, om working capital may be impaned. In the event we do not receive timely or 
accmate usage data, om abUity to generate timely and accmate bills to om customers will be adversely affected 
which, in tum, will impact the abUity ofom customers to pay bills in a timely manner. 

We are subject to federal and state regulations in our electricity and natural gas marketing business and the 
rules and regulations of regional Independent System Operators, or ISOs, in our electricity business. 

The mles under which we operate are imposed upon us by federal and state regulators, the regional ISOs and 
mterstate pipelines. The mles are subject to change, challenge and revision, including revision after the fact 

In California, tiie FERC [FERC Dockets No. EL02-71-001 and EL 000-95-000] and otiier regulatory and judicial 
bodies contmue to examine the behavior of mmket participants during the Califomia Energy Crisis of 2000 and 
2001, and to recalculate what market clearmg prices should have or might have been under altemative scenarios of 
behavior by mmket participants. In the event the historical costs of market operations were lo be reallocated among 
mmket participants, we cannot predict whether the results would be favorable or unfavorable for us nor can we 
predict the amount of such adjustments. The payment or receipt of adjustments, if any, will likely be conducted 
between FERC, the Califomia ISO and om contracted scheduling coordinator for the period in question. Automated 
Power Exchange, or APX. APX served as the dnect interface with the now defunct California Power Exchange for 
the sale and pmchase of some volumes of power by the Company dming 2000 and 2001. 

In Pennsylvania, beginnmg m December 2004, the ISO established a Seams Elimination Chmge Adjustment, or 
SECA, to compensate transmission owners for the change in the Regional Through and Out Rales which elimuiated 
some transmission chmges and revenues from the ISO system operations. The impact on us, if any, is uncertain at 
this time. Compensatory payments to ttansmission owners are likely, but tiie recovery mechanism from customers, 
UtUities or other load servuig entities, such as us, is uncertain. We cannot predict the amount of these adjustments, if 
any, at this time. 

In some markets, we are required to bear credit risk and billing responsibility for our customers. 

In some mmkets, we me responsible for the billing and collection fimctions for om customers. In these markets, 
we may be limited in om ability to terminate service to customers who me delmquent m payment. Even if we 
terminate service to customers who fail to pay then utility bill in a timely manner, we may remain liable to om 
suppliers of electticity or natural gas for the cost ofthe electticity or natural gas and to the local utilities for services 
related lo the ttansmission and disttibution of electticity or natmal gas to those customers. The failme of om 
customers to pay then bills in a timely manner or our feilme to maintain adequate billing and collection programs 
could materially adversely affect om busuiess. 
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Our revenues and results of operations are subject to market risks that are beyond our control 

We sell electticity and natural gas that we purchase from third-party power supply companies and natmal gas 
suppliers to om retail customers on a conttactual or monthly basis. We are not guaranteed any rate of retum through 
regulated rates, and om revenues and results of operations me likely to depend, in Imge part, upon prevailuig mmket 
prices for electricity and natmal gas in om regional markets. These market prices may fluctuate substantially over 
relatively short periods of tune. These factors could have an adverse impact on om revenues and results of 
operations. 

Volatility in market prices for electricity and natural gas results from muhiple factors, mcludmg: 

• weather conditions, uicluding hydrological conditions such as precipitation, snow pack and stteam flow; 

• seasonality; 

• unexpected changes in customer usage; 

• transmission or ttansportation constramts or mefficiencies; 

• planned and unplanned plant or transmission line outages; 

• demand for electricity; 

• natmal gas, cmde oU and refined products, and coal supply availability to generators from whom we pmchase 
electricity, natural disasters, wars, embmgoes and other catasttophic events; and 

• federal, state and foreign energy and envfronmental regulation and legislation. 

We may experience difficulty in successfully identifying, integrating and managing the risks related to 
businesses or assets that we may acquire and in realizing the anticipated economic benefit related thereto. 

We do not have a great deal of experience acquiring companies or large blocks of assets, and the companies and 
assets we have acquned have been small. We have evaluated, and expect to contmue to evaluate, a wide array of 
potential sttategic transactions. From time to time, we may engage m discussions regmding potential acquisitions. 
Any of these transactions could be material to om flnancial condition and resuhs of operations. In addhion, the 
process of integratuig an acquned company, business or group of assets may create unforeseen operating difficulties 
and expenditmes and risk. The areas where we may fece risks include: 

• The need to implement or remediate conttols, procedmes and policies appropriate for a public company at 
companies that prior to tiie acquisition lacked these conttols, procedmes and policies; 

• Diversion of mmiagement time and focus from operating our busuiess to acquisition integration challenges; 

• Cultmal challenges associated with integrating employees from the acquned company into om organization; 

• Retaining employees workuig hi the businesses or group of assets we acquire; 

• The need to integrate the accounting, management information, human resomce and other administtalive 
systems of an acquned business or assets to permit effective management; 

• The possibility of increased customer attrition with respect to the asset we acquired; and 

• The need to secure adequate supplies of electticity and natmal gas to service the demands of the acquired 
business or assets. 
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Also, the anticipated benefit of many ofom acquisitions may not materialize. Futme acquishions or dispositions 
could resuh m potentially dilutive issuances of om equity securities, the incurrence of additional debt, contmgent 
liabilities or amortization expenses, or write-offs of goodwill, any of which could harm om financial condition. 
Future acquisitions may requfre us to obtam additional equity or debt financing, which may not be available on 
favorable terms or at all. 

If we fail to maintain an effective system of intemal controls, we may not be able to accurately report our 
financial results or prevent fraud. As a result, current and potential stockholders could lose confidence in our 
financial reporting, which would harm our business and the trading price of our stock. 

We pmchase substantially all of om power and natural gas under forwmd physical delivery contracts, which are 
defined as commodity derivative conttacts under SFASNo. 133. We also utilize other financial derivatives, 
primarily swaps, options and fiitmes, to hedge om price risks. Accordmgly, proper accountuig for these conttacts is 
very important to om overall ability to report timely and accmate financial results. 

We have devoted sigruficant resources to remediate and improve om mtemal conttols. Although we believe that 
these efforts have sttengthened om internal conttols and addressed the concems that gave rise to reportable 
conditions and material weaknesses hi fiscal 2004 and 2005, we are continumg to work to improve om intemal 
controls, particulmly in the area of ene i ^ accounting. We carmot be certaui that these measmes will ensure that we 
unplement and maintain adequate conttols over om financial processes and reportuig in the futme. Any failme to 
implement requned new or improved conttols, or difficuhies encountered hi then implementation, could harm om 
operating results or cause us to fail to meet om reporting obligations. Inferior mtemal conttols could also cause 
mvestors to lose confidence ui om reported financial information, which could have a negative effect on the trading 
price ofom stock. 

Investor confidence and share value may be adversely impacted if our independent registered public 
accountants are unable to provide us with the attestation ofthe adequacy of our intemal controls over financial 
reporting, as required by Section 404 ofthe Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

As dnected by Section 404 ofthe Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the Securities and Exchange Commission adopted 
mles requuing public companies to include a report of management on om mtemal conttols over financial reporting 
in om Annual Reports on Form 10-K that contains an assessment by management ofthe effectiveness ofom intemal 
confrols over financial reportmg. In addition, om independent registered public accountants must attest to and report 
on management's assessment ofthe effectiveness ofom mtemal conttols over fmancial reportuig. This requnement 
may fnst apply to om Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ending July 31,2007. How companies should 
be implementmg these new requfrements, including intemal conttol reforms, if any, to comply with Section 404's 
requnements, and how independent registered public accountants will apply tiiese new requnements and test 
companies' mtemal conttols, me subject lo uncertainty. Although we are diligently and vigorously reviewing om 
uitemal conttols over financial reporting in order to ensme compliance with the new Section 404 requnements, if 
om uidependent registered public accountants me not satisfied with om intemal conttols over financial reporting or 
the level al which these conttols me documented, designed, operated or reviewed, or if the uidependent registered 
public accountants mterpret the requnements, mles or regulations differently than we do, then they may decline to 
attest to management's assessment or may issue a report tiiat is qualified. This could result in an adverse reaction in 
the financial marketplace due to a loss of uivestor confidence hi the reliability of om financial statements, which 
ultimately could negatively impact the mmket price ofom shares. 

Item IB. Unresolved Staff Comments, 

Not Applicable. 
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Item IC. Executive Officers of the Registrant 

Information About Our Executive Officers 

The following table sets forth uiformation regarduig om executive officers, uicludmg thefr respective business 
experience diuing the last five years and age as of October 16, 2006. Executive officers me elected by, and serve at 
the pleasme of; the Bomd of Dnectors. There me no arrangements or understandmgs pmsuant to which any of tiie 
persons listed below was selected as an executive officer. 

Name and Position Age 

Steven S. Boss 
Chief Executive Officer and Director 

Lawrence Clayton, Jr 
Senior Vice President, 
Chief Financial Officer and Secretary 

Principal Occupation and Other Information 

60 Mr. Boss was appouited lo the Bomd of Dfreclors ui 
July 2005 and appointed Chief Executive Officer of 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc. in August 2005. Since 
August 2005, Mr. Boss also has served as a director and 
President of Commerce Energy, Inc., a dnector and Chief 
Executive Officer of Skippmg Stone Inc. Each of 
Commerce Energy, Inc., Skippuig Stone Inc. and 
Utilihost, Inc. me wholly-owned subsidiaries of 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc, From 2003 to August 
2005, Mr. Boss was an attomey in private practice 
specializing in the representation of energy companies and 
commercial ene i ^ users. From 2000 to 2003, Mr. Boss 
served as president of Energy Buyers Network, LLC, an 
energy consuftuig firm that provided regulatory 
representation and sttuctmed direct access energy 
transactions for commercial energy users. From 1999 to 
2000, he served as president of both Sierra Pacific Energy 
Company and Nevada Power Services, non-regulated 
energy services operatuig subsidiaries of Sierra Pacific 
Resomces. Prior to that, Mr. Boss served m various legal 
and senior management positions ui a number of ene i ^ 
companies and practiced law m private practice. From 
1984 to 1992, Mr. Boss served as president and chief 
executive officer of Sunrise Energy Services, Inc., an 
uidependent natural gas mmketing compmiy with shmes 
listed on the American and London Stock Exchanges. 
Mr. Boss received a Bachelor of Science in Aerospace 
Engineering from the University of Texas and a Juris 
Doctor from the University of Southem Califomia. He has 
been a member ofthe State Bar of Califomia since 1974. 

53 Mr. Clayton was appouited Interim Chief Fmancial 
Officer and Secretary of Commerce Energy Group, Inc. m 
August 2005 and in December 2005 was ^pointed Chief 
Fmancial Officer and Secretaiy of the Corporation. Smce 
January 2006, Mr. Clayton has served as a dnector and 
Chief Financial Officer, Treasmer and Secretary of 
Commerce Energy, Inc. and a sdfrector. Chief Financial 
Officer, Treasmer and Secretary of Skipping Stone Inc. 
From Mmch 2004 to August 2005, Mr. Clayton was a 
principal of The Practice Advisory Group, a private 
management consultmg organization. From 2003 to March 
2004, he served as a private consuhant for energy clients. 
From 2000 to 2002 Mr. Clayton served as Chief Financial 
Officer of EOTT Energy, a publicly-ttaded independent 
gatherer and mmketer of cmde oil. From 1994 to 2000, 
Mr. Clayton was the Chief Fmancial Officer of Aquila 
Energy, an energy merchant subsidiary of UtiliCorp 
United, Inc., whose capital slock ttaded on the New York 
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Name and Position 

Thomas L. Uhy 
Senior Vice President, 
Sales and Marketing 

R. Nick CioU 
Vice President, Chief Risk Officer 

Age Principal Occupation and Other Information 
Stock Exchange. Mr. Clayton is a graduate of Rice 
University, where he eamed both an M.A. in Accounting 
and a B.A. hi Managerial Studies and Economics. 

42 Mr. Uhy joined the Commerce Energy Group, Inc, in 
Febmary 2005 as Senior Vice President, Sales and 
Operations and cmrently serves as Senior Vice President, 
Sales and Mmketing. From October 2003 until he jouied 
Commerce Energy Group, Mr. Ulry served as Global Vice 
President and Chief Operating Officer of ACN Energy, a 
division of ACN, Inc. that was acquired by us in February 
2005. From November 2001 to July 2003, Mr. Uhy served 
as Senior Vice President for Nicor Energy, L.L.C, 
Mr. Uhy served as President and Chief Operatuig Officer 
of Energy.com Corporation from 1997 tinough October 
2001. Mr. Uhy has also held positions with Access Energy 
Corporation, Urucorp Energy, Inc. and UtiliCorp Energy 
Services/Broad Street Oil & Gas, Mr. Uhy holds an 
Associate degree ui Information Technology from 
Columbus Pma-Professional Institute. 

48 Mr. Cioll was appouited Vice President, Chief Risk 
Officer of Commerce Energy Group, Inc. ui October 2006. 
Mr. Cioll has served as Vice President, Risk Management 
for Commerce Energy Inc, smce July 2004. From April 
2002 to 2004, Mr. Cioll served as Dnector of Risk 
Management at TXU Corporation, a company that 
engages in electticity generation, residential and business 
retail electricity sales, and wholesale power and natmal 
gas mmket activities. From November 2001 to 2002, 
Mr. Cioll served as Intemal Busmess Consultant at TXU 
Corporation. From 1999 to 2001, Mr. CioU served as 
Senior Vice President and Chief Strategy Officer of 
RateXChange Corporation, an e-commerce online 
exchange for communications bandwidth. Mr. Cioll 
received his Bachelor of Science degree in Economics 
from Louisiana State University, and his Masters in 
Busuiess Administration with a fmance option from the 
University of New Orleans, 

Item 2. Properties. 

We sublease approxunately 39,000 squme feet of office space ui Costa Mesa, Califomia, which houses om 
principal executive offices and administrative and operations space. This lease expfres in September 2009. We also 
lease approximately 11,000 squme feet of office space hi Irving, Texas, for om new Texas office, which we 
occupied at the end of October 2006. This replaces the approximately 9,000 squme feet we previously leased on a 
month-to-month basis in Farmington Hills, Michigan. Om new Texas lease expnes hi January 2010. We also lease 
office space m Boston, Massachusetts and Houston, Texas. The Boston office consists of approximately 
3,200 square feet under a lease that expnes in June 2010, and the Houston office consists of approximately 
5,000 squme feet under a lease that expfres in September 2009. 

We believe that om current faciUties are sufficient for the operation of om busmess, and we believe that suitable 
additional space hi various local mmkets is available to accommodate any needs that may arise. 
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings. 

On February 24, 2006, American Communications Network, Inc., or ACN, delivered to us an mbitration demand 
claim, alleging that Commerce was liable for significant actual, consequential and punitive damages and restitution 
on a variety of causes of action including anticipatory breach of contract, unjust enrichment, tortuous interference 
with prospective economic advantage and prima facie tort wilh respect to alleged fiitme commissions arising after 
then termination of the Sales Agency Agreement effective Febmary 9, 2006. ACN, Commerce and the Company 
entered mto the Sales Agency Agreement m connection with the Company's pmchase of certain assets of ACN and 
certain of its subsidiaries in Febmary 2005. This claim was delivered via mail to the Company but was not filed with 
the American Arbitration Association, or the AAA. 

On Mmch 23, 2006, Commerce Energy filed a Demand for Arbitration with the AAA hi New York of this 
dispute, asserting claims for declmatory relief, material breach of conttact and breach of the unplied covenant of 
good faith and fan dealing. Om Demand for Arbittation seeks compensatory damages in an amount to be 
determmed at the mbitration. On May 4,2006, ACN filed whh the AAA in New York its Demand for Arbitration of 
this dispute with the Commerce Energy. In its Demand, ACN alleges clauns agauist Commerce Energy for breach of 
contract and breach of implied duty of good faith and fan dealuig, seeking damages and restitution in amounts to be 
determmed at the hearing. The parties are currently in the process of selecting an Arbitration panel to hem this 
dispute. The parties also have agreed to mediate the merits of this dispute in addition to contmuuig tiie mbittation 
process. Although the Company cannot predict tiie ultimate outcome of this matter, it uitends to pursue these claims 
vigorously ui mbitration and currently believes that no loss accrual is warranted related to this matter. 

The Company currently is, and from time to time may become, involved in litigation concemmg claims arisuig 
out ofthe Company's operations in the normal comse of business. AVhile the Company carmot predict the ultimate 
outcome of its penduig matters or how they will affect the Company's results of operations or fmancial position, the 
Company's management cmrently does not expect any of tiie legal proceeduigs to which tiie Company is currently a 
party to have a material adverse effect on its results of operations or financial position. 

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders. 

No matters were submitted to secmity holders in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006. 

PART II 

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity 
Securities. 

Market Information 

On July 8, 2004, om common slock began ttaduig on the American Stock Exchange under the symbol "EGR." 
The following table sets forth, the high and low sales price per shme of common stock for tiie periods mdicated, as 
reported on the American Stock Exchange: 

Fiscal Year Ending July 31.2005 High Low 

Fnst Quarter $ 2.00 $ 1.20 
Second Quarter $ 2.10 $ 0.75 
Third Quarter $ 3.45 $ 1.91 
Fourth Quarter $ 2.21 $ 1.33 

Fiscal Year Ending Julv 31.2006 High Low 

Ffrst Quarter $ 1.80 $ 1.32 
Second Quarter $ 1.68 $ 1.20 
Thnd Quarter $ 1.51 $ 0.82 
Fourth Quarter $ 1.62 $ 1.05 
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As of October 16, 2006, the high and low sales price per share on the American Stock Exchange for om common 
stock was $1.39 and $1.33, respectively. 

Holders 

As of October 16, 2006, there were 1,813 holders of record ofom Common Stock. 

Dividend Policy 

We have not declmed or paid a cash dividend on om common stock, and we do not anticipate paymg any cash 
dividend for the foreseeable fiitme. We presently intend to retaui eamuigs to grow om customer base, fmance fiitme 
operations, and capital uivestments. 

Om asset-based credit fecility restricts om ability to pay cash dividends on om common stock and restricts om 
principal operatmg subsidiary. Commerce Energy's, ability to pay dividends to us without the lenders' consent. See 
"Credit Facility" within Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations m 
PartII, Item? of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and Note4 to the Notes to the Consolidated Fuiancial 
Statements. 

Equity Compensation Plan Information 

Information concemmg securities authorized for issuance under om equity compensation plans is set forth in 
Park III, Item 12 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the caption. "Secmities Authorized for Issuance under 
Equity Compensation Plans," and that mformation is incorporated hereui by reference. 

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities 

On October 8, 2005 and Mmch 16,2006, we issued 1,000 and 221,000 shmes, respectively, ofom common stock 
to John Julian, a former employee, and received $50 and $11,050 m cash consideration, pursuant to the exercise of a 
stock option. There were no underwriting discounts or commissions involved in the sale. The exercise price of the 
option was $0.05 per share. The shares ofom common stock were issued pmsuant to Section 4(2) ofthe Securities 
Act as a ttansaction not involving a public offering. 
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data, 

The selected financial data in the followmg lable sets forth (a) balance sheet data as of July 31, 2006 and 2005, 
and statement of operations data for the fiscal yem*s ended July 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 derived from om audited 
consolidated financial statements, which were audited by Emst& Young LLP, uidependent registered public 
accountmg firm, for the fiscal yems ended July 31, 2005 and 2004, and audited by Hein & Associates LLP, 
independent registered public accounting firm, for the fiscal yem ended July 31, 2006, which are mcluded elsewhere 
ui this filing, and (b) balance sheet data as of July 31,2004,2003 and 2002, and statements of operations data for the 
fiscal yems ended July 31, 2003 and 2002, derived from om audited consolidated fmancial statements, which were 
audited by Emst & Young LLP, uidependent registered public accountmg fu*m, which are not included ui this filmg. 
The mformation below should be read hi conjunction with "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operation" m Part II, Item 7 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and om consolidated 
financial statements and the related notes thereto set forth below. 

Fiscal Year Ended July 31. 
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 

(Amounts in thousands except per share information) 

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data: 

Net revenue $ 247,080 $ 253,853 $ 210,623 $ 165,526 $ 117,768 
Dfrect energy costs 218.289 225.671 191.180 128.179 87.340 
Gross profit 28,791 28,182 19,443 37,347 30,428 
Operatuig expenses 32.170 35.585 33.313 22.732 20.247 
Income (loss) from operations (3,379) (7,403) (13,870) 14,615 10,181 
Initial formation litigation expenses — (1,601) (1,562) (4,415) (1,671) 
Recovery of (provision for) impanment on 

uivestments — 2,000 (7,135) — — 
Loss on termmation of Summit — — (1,904) — — 
Loss on equity uivestments — — — (567) (160) 
Muiority uiterest shme of loss — — 1,185 187 — 
biterest mcome, net 1.140 890 549 715 939 
Income (loss) before provision for (benefit from) 

income taxes (2,239) (6,114) (22,737) 10,535 9,289 
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes ^^ ^ (1,017) 5,113 4,125 
Net uicome (loss) $ ^2.239-) S (6.114) $ r21.720) $ 5.422 $ 5.164 
Eamings (loss) per common shme 

Basic $ (0.07) $ (0.20) $ rO.77) $ 0.19 $ 0.19 
Diluted $ rQ.07) $ r0.20) $ (0.77) $ 0.18 S 0.16 

Weighted-average shmes outstanding: 
Basic 30.419 30.946 28.338 27.424 27.482 
DUuted 30.419 30.946 28.338 30.236 31.536 

As of July 31. 
2006 2005 2004 200J 2002 

(Amounts in thousands) 

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data: 
Workuig capital $ 32,253 $ 36,719 $ 58,105 $ 56,411 $ 58,841 

Totalassets $ 99,076$ 102,632$ 110,823$ 125,870$ 101,229 

Stockholders'equity $ 66,333 $ 70,061 $ 74,106 $ 93,017 $ 87,952 
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation, 

We are an uidependent mmketer of electricity and natural gas to end-user customers. As of July 31, 2006, we 
provided retail electricity and natmal gas to residential, commercial, industrial and institutional customers in nine 
slates, Om principal operating subsidiary, Commerce Energy, Inc., is licensed by the Federal Energy Regulatory 
Conunission, or FERC, and by state regulatory agencies as an umegulated retail marketer of natmal gas and 
electricity. 

We were founded m 1997 as a retail electricity mmketer in Califomia. As of July 31, 2006, we delivered 
electricity to approximately 80,000 customers in Califomia, Pennsylvania, Michigan, Maryland, New Jersey and 
Texas; and natmal gas to approximately 57,000 customers ui Califomia, Georgia, Maryland, New York, Ohio and 
Pennsylvania. As a resuh of an acquisition of certain commercial and industrial natmal gas customer contracts of 
Houston Energy Services Co., or HESCO, subsequent to July 31, 2006, we currently serve retail electricity and 
nattual gas customers in twelve states. 

The electticity and natural gas we sell to om customers is pmchased from thfrd-party suppliers under both short-
term and long-terra conttacts. We do not own electticity generation facilities, natmal gas producuig properties or 
pipelmes. The electricity and natmal gas we sell is generally metered and delivered to om customers by the local 
UtiUties. The local utilities also provide billing and collection services for many of om customers on om behalf 
Additionally, to facilitate load shaping and demand balancing for om customers, we buy and sell surplus electricity 
and natural gas from and to other mmket participants when necessary. We utilize thnd-party facilities for the storage 
ofom natural gas. 

The growth of om retail busmess depends upon a number of factors, includmg the degree of deregulation m each 
state, om ability to acqune new customers and retaui existuig customers and om ability lo acqune energy for om 
customers at compethive prices and on favorable credit terms. 

ACN Energy Transaction 

On February 9, 2005, we acquned certaui assets of ACN Utility Services, Inc., or ACNU, a subsidiary of 
American Communications Network, Inc., or ACN, and its retail electticity retail electricity business in Texas and 
Pennsylvania and its retail natmal gas busuiess in Califomia, Georgia, Maryland, New York, Ohio and 
Pennsylvania. The aggregate purchase price was $14.5 mUlion in cash and 930,233 shares of om common stock, 
valued at $2.0 million. The common stock payment was contingent upon meetmg certaui sales requfrements during 
the year followuig the acquisition date. These sales requfrements were not met and the shares were cancelled m 
April 2006. As a result, both goodwill and common stock were reduced by $2.0 mUlion. We refer to this acquisition 
as the ACN Energy Transaction and the assets acqufred as the ACN Energy Assets. 

ACN Energy Assets included approximately 80,000 residential and small commercial customers, natmal gas 
mventoiy associated whh utility and pipeluie storage and ttansportation agreements and natmal gas and electricity 
supply, scheduling and capacity conttacts, software and other uifrastmctme. No cash or accounts receivables were 
acqufred ui the transaction and none of ACNU's legal liabilities were assumed. The ACN Energy Assets purchased 
and the operating results generated from the ACN Energy Transaction have been included in om operations as of 
February I, 2005, the effective date of the acquisition. Additionally, we hired certaui employees of ACNU and 
entered mto a Sales Agency Agreement with ACN which allowed us to utilize ACN's network of uidependent sales 
representatives for the retail sale of energy. The Sales Agency Agreement was terminated by ACN effective 
February 9,2006. 

With the termination ofthe Sales Agency Agreement, ACN's network of sales representatives no longer offered 
om electricity and natmal gas products after Febmary 2006. Termination of the Sales Agency Agreement has not 
materially affected om relationships with existing customers acqufred in the ACN Energy Transaction or 
subsequently acquired through ACN's network of sales representatives under the Sales Agency Agreement, but 
there is no assmance that we can continue to maintain the relationship with these customers. 
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HESCO Customer Acquisition 

On September 20, 2006, we entered uito an Asset Pmchase Agreement with HESCO to acquire certain assets 
consistuig of conttacts with end-use customers in Califomia, Florida, Nevada, Kentucky and Texas consuming 
approxunately 12 billion cubic feet of natural gas annually. The effective date ofthe acquisition was September 1, 
2006. 

We acquned the HESCO assets for approximately $4.1 million hi cash. In order lo facilitate om integration ofthe 
assets into om operations, we entered into a Transition Services Agreement with HESCO whereby it will provide to 
us certain services, primarily counterparty credit and natmal gas schedulmg for a period ranging from 90 to 120 days 
after closuig. To secure these services and to guaranty certam of om obligations under the Transhion Services 
Agreement, we posted a $ 1.5 million letter ofcredit hi fevor of HESCO. 

Market and Regulatory 

As of July 31, 2006, we served electricity and gas customers m nuie states, operatuig within the jmisdictional 
territory of twenty different local utilities. Among other thuigs, tariff filings by local distribution companies, or 
LDCs, for changes m then allowed billing rate to thefr customers in the mmkets in which we operate, significantly 
impact the viability of om sales and marketing plans and om overall operatuig and financial results. Although 
regulatoiy requfrements me determmed at the individual state, and administered and monitored by the Public Utility 
Commission, or PUC, of each state, operatuig mles and rate filings for each utility are unique. Accordingly, we 
generally tteat each utility distribution territory as a distinct mmket. 

Electricity 

As of July 31, 2006, we marketed electticity in twelve LDC mmkets withm the six states of Califomia, 
Pennsylvania, Michigan, Maryland, New Jersey and Texas. 

On April 1, 1998, we began supplymg customers m Califomia with electricity as an Electric Service Provider, or 
ESP. Ol September 20,2001, the Califomia PubUc Utility Commission, or CPUC, issued a mlmg suspendmg the right 
of Direct Access, which allowed electricity customers to buy thefr power from a supplier other than the electric utilhies. 
This suspension, although permittmg us to keep current direct access customers and to solicit dfrect access customers 
served by other ESPs, prohibits us from soliciting new non- dnect access customers for an indefinite period of time. 

Currently, several important issues are under review by the CPUC, including a Resomce Adequacy Requnement 
and a Renewable Portfolio Standmd. Additional costs to serve customers in Califomia me anticipated from these 
proceedings, however, the CPUC decisions will determuie the distribution of costs across all load serving entities. 
We carmot currently estimate the impact that these issues and anticipated additional costs may have on om futme 
financial results. 

There me no current rate cases or filings in the states of Permsylvania, Michigan, Maryland, New Jersey or Texas 
that me anticipated to impact om financial results. 

Natural Gas 

As of July 31, 2006, we marketed natmal gas m eight LDC mmkets within the six states of California, Georgia, 
Maryland, New York, Ohio and Pennsylvania. Due to significant uicreases hi tiie price of natural gas, a number of 
LDCs have filed or communicated expectations of filmg for approval of rale increases to thefr customers. Although the 
impact of these filings cannot currently be estunated, they are not anticipated to adversely unpact om fmancial resuhs. 

We provide natmal gas service to residential and small commercial customers in the Dominion East Ohio, or 
DEO, and the Columbia Gas of Ohio service meas. In December 2004, DEO notified the Public Utilities 
Commission of Ohio, or PUCO, of its desfre to exit the commodity market. Its stated goal is to become a 
distribution-only company by the end of December 2006. Nemly 60% of DEO's customers currently participate in 
Customer Choice whereby they me afready receiving the commodity portion of the service from a provider other 
than DEO. In April 2005, DEO filed with tiie PUCO lo embark upon its plan. The uhimate outcome of this filing is 
unknown; however, it is not anticipated lo adversely impact om financial resuhs. 
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We provide natmal gas service to residential and small commercial consumers in the Philadelphia Electric 
Company service mea in Pennsylvania. In May 2004, the Pennsylvania PubUc Utility Commission, or PUC, 
undertook an evaluation ofthe competitiveness of natmal gas supply services in the state. If the PUC determines the 
market is not sufficiently competitive, further actions will be considered. The potential unpact of this evaluation to 
om operations is unknown al this time. 

Results of Operations 

The followuig table summmizes the results of om operations for fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004 (dollms ui 
thousands): 

Fiscal Year Ended Julv 31. 
2006 2005 2004 

Dtrilars % Revenue Dollars % Revenue Dollars % Revenue 

RetaU electticity sales $ 176,290 71% $ 186,389 73% $ 203,979 97% 
Nattnal gas sales 61,701 25% 25,476 10% — — 
Excess energy sales 7,627 3% 40,061 16% 5,595 3% 
Otiier 1.462 1% 1.927 1% 1.049 — 
Net revenue 247,080 100% 253,853 100% 210,623 100% 
Dnect energy costs 218.289 89% 225.671 89% 191.180 91% 
Gross profit 28,791 11% 28,182 11% 19,443 9% 
Sellmg and marketing expenses 5,231 2% 4,081 1% 4,063 2% 
General and admmisttative expenses 26,939 11% 31,504 13% 25,857 12% 
Reorganization and initial public listuig 
expenses ^ — =r — 3.393 2% 

Loss from operations $ (3.379) j r ) % $ (7.403) J ^ % % (13.870) (7)% 

Fiscal Year Ended July 31,2006 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended July 31,2005 

Operating results for the year ended July 31, 2006 reflect a loss from operations of $3.4 million compared to a 
loss of $7.4 miUion for the year ended July 31, 2005. The principal reasons for the decrease in the loss from 
operations was a $0.6 million mcrease in gross profit and a $3.5 miUion decrease hi total operating expenses, 
comprised of sellmg, mmketuig, and general and admmisttative expenses. Om net loss for fiscal 2006 was 
$2.2 mUlion, compared to a net loss of $6.1 million m fiscal 2005, reflectmg the reduction hi the loss from 
operations. 

Gross profit for fiscal 2006 was $28.8 miUion, a 2% increase compmed to gross profit of $28.2 mUlion in fiscal 
2005. Gross profit for fiscal 2005 mcluded a gam of $7.2 million from the sale of electticity supply contracts m 
Pennsylvania. Gross profit from electticity sales for fiscal 2006 were down slightly from fiscal 2005, as the impact 
of higher gross mmgins on lower electricity sales volumes m om Pennsylvania and Michigan markets were less than 
the prior yem gain. The lower gross profit from electticity was offset by a $1.3 million increase in gross profit from 
natural gas operations, reflecting a fiill year of operations in 2006 as compared to sbc months in 2005. This increase 
was offset by lower gross profit on sales hi om electricity mmkets due primarily to customer atttition and related 
lower sales volume in om Pennsylvania and Michigan mmkets. 
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Net revenue 

The following lable summarizes net revenues for fiscal 2006 and 2005 (dollars hi thousands): 

Fiscal Year Ended Julv 31. 
2006 2005 

Dollars % Revenue Dollars % Revenue 

Retail Electricity Sales: 
Califomia $ 67,114 27% $ 64,186 25% 
Pennsylvania/New Jersey 63,220 26% 76,063 30% 
Michigan 21,070 8% 36,754 15% 
AU Otiier Stales, principally Texas 24.886 10% 9,386 3% 
Total Retail Electticity Sales 176.290 71% 186.389 73% 
Natural Gas Sales: 
Califomia 22,375 9% 7,902 3% 
Ohio 24,855 10% 10,782 4% 
Georgia 8,853 4% 4,314 2% 
AU Otiier States 5.618 2% 2.478 1% 
Total Nattnal Gas Sales 61.701 25% 25,476 10% 
Excess Eneigy Sales 7,627 3% 40,061 16% 
Otiier 1.462 1% 1.927 1% 
Net Revenue $ 247.080 100% £ 253.853 100% 

Net revenues for fiscal 2006 were $247,1 miUion, a 3% or $6.8 miUion decrease from fiscal 2005. The decrease 
m net revenue was primarily atttibutable to: 

(l)a $32.4 mUlion decrease in excess energy sales reflectmg the impact of shorter-term forwmd supply 
commitments resuhing from significant uicreases in the volatility and price of wholesale electricity and the 
conversion of many retail customers to month-to-month variable priced sales conttacts. Addhionally, excess 
energy sales during fiscal 2005 uicluded $9.3 million realized on the January 2005 sale of Pennsylvania 
electricity supply contracts back to the original supplier; 

(2) a $10.1 miUion decrease hi retail electricity sales due to the impact of customer attrition and related lower 
sales volumes in the in Pennsylvania/New Jersey and Michigan mmkets, partly offset by increased sales volumes 
hi Texas hi fiscal 2006 due to a fiill yem of operations and customer growth; and 

(3) a $36.2 million mcrease in natural gas sales due to a full year of operations as compmed to six months of 
operations m fiscal 2005. 

Retail electricity sales for fiscal 2006 were $176.3 million, a 5% decrease fi*om fiscal 2005 reflecting a 33% 
decluie in electtic sales volumes partly offset by higher retail sales prices. In fiscal 2006, we sold 
1,767 million kWh, at an average retail price per kWh of $0,099, as compmed to 2,631 mUlion kWh sold at an 
average retail price per kWh of $0,071 in fiscal 2005. Califomia sales volumes decreased to 759 mUlion kWh 
(average sales price per kWh of $0,088) m fiscal 2006 as compared to 819 million kWh (average price per kWh of 
$0,078) m fiscal 2005 due principally to normal customer attrition. Pennsylvania and New Jersey's combined sales 
volumes m fiscal 2006 decreased 50% to 565 million kWh (average price per kWh of $0,112) as compmed to 
1,137 million kWh (average price of $0,067) ui fiscal 2005. Sales volumes m Michigan hi fiscal 2006 decreased 
58% to 253 mUlion kWh (average price per kWh of $0,083) as compared to 603 miUion kWh (average price per 
kWh of $0,061) hi fiscal 2005, Sales volumes declines in both om Pennsylvania/New Jersey and Michigan mmkets 
reflect impact of high customer attrition resulting from unfavorable competitive and regulatory changes leaduig to 
the retum of customers to the incumbent utility. Texas sales volumes hi fiscal 2006 increased to 190 million kWh 
(average sales price perkWh of $0,131) as compared to 72 million kWh in fiscal 2005 (average price per kWh of 
$0,130) reflecting the fiill year unpact of the customers acquired hi Febmary 2005 and the impact of sales, 
marketuig and customer acquishion mitiatives in this mmket during the second half of fiscal 2006. 
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Natmal gas sales for fiscal 2006 were $61.7 million, an increase of $36.2 miUion, or 142%, compmed to 2005, 
reflecting a fiill yem of these operations compmed to only six months during fiscal 2005. Dming fiscal 2006, we 
sold approximately 5.1 million dekatherms, or DTH, at an average price of $12,00 per DTH as compared to 
2.5 miUion dekatherms at an average price of $10.26 per DTH ui fiscal 2005. 

We had approximately 80,000 retail electricity customers at both July 31, 2006, and 2005 and approximately 
57,000 and 60,000 natmal gas customers at July 31,2006 and July 31,2005, respectively. 

Direct energy costs 

Dfrect energy costs, which me recognized concurrently with related energy sales, include the commodity cost of 
natmal gas and electricity, electricity transmission costs from the ISOs, transportation costs from LDCs and 
pipeluies, other fees and costs incurred from various energy-related service providers and energy-related taxes that 
cannot be passed dfrectly through to the customer. 

Dfrect eneigy costs for fiscal 2006 totaled $218,3 million, a decrease of $7.4 million or 3% from fiscal 2005, and 
was comprised of $162.5 million for electricity and $55.8 miUion for natmal gas. Electricity cost decreased 21% 
from fiscal 2005 due primarily to a 33% decluie m retail sales volumes and lower excess energy pmchased. The 
average cost of electticity increased to $0,087 per kWh for fiscal 2006 as compmed to $0,065 per kWh for fiscal 
2005. The decrease in the total cost of electricity during fiscal 2006 was largely offset by a 170% uicrease in the cost 
of natural gas, reflecting a 107% increase in retail sales volumes due to a full yem of operations m fiscal 2006 as 
compared to six months of operations hi fiscal 2005 and an uicrease in the cost of natural gas supplies for fiscal 
2006 to $10.85 per DTH compared to $8.42 per DTH for fiscal 2005. 

Operating expenses 

SeUuig and mmketuig expenses were $5.2 million for fiscal 2006, an mcrease of $1.1 miUion from $4.1 million 
for fiscal 2005, reflectnig the impact of higher advertising, marketing, customer acquisition and telemmkeling 
expenses. These higher costs due to uicreased customer acquishion initiatives were partly offset by lower payroll 
costs. 

General and administrative expenses were $26.9 miUion for fiscal 2006, a decrease of $4.6 million, from 
$31.5 million for fiscal 2005. A decrease of $4.5 miUion in severance costs related to former executive officers and 
lower legal and bad debt expenses were partly offset by increased expenses related to a fiill yem of operations ofthe 
ACN Energy Assets in fiscal 2006 as compmed to six months of operations in fiscal 2005. 

Other expenses 

In July 2005, we sold om entire stock holdmgs in Turbocor for $2.0 miUion in cash resultmg in recovery of 
previous provision for impanment as we then had no basis in Tmbocor. There were no such transactions in fiscal 
2006. Additionally, m fiscal 2005, we incurred $1.6 million of initial formation litigation costs related lo 
Commonwealth Energy Corporation's (om predecessor Company) formation. Inhial formation litigation expenses 
mclude legal and litigation costs associated with the initial capital raisuig. There were no such expenses in fiscal 
2006. 

Interest income, net 

Om interest income, net was $1.1 mUlion for fiscal 2006, an increase of $0.2 mUlion from $0.9 mUlion in fiscal 
2005. The uicrease hi mterest mcome was primarily due to higher market yields realized on mvestments offset m 
part by lower uiveslable balances. 
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Benefit from Income Taxes 

We reflected no benefit for income taxes for fiscal 2006 as a valuation allowance equal to the net deferred tax 
assets has been provided due to the uncertainty of fiitme realization of the remauiing net deferred tax asset at both 
July 31,2006 and 2005. 

Year Ended July 31,2005 Compared to Year Ended July 31, 2004 

Operatuig results for the yem ended July 31, 2005 reflect a loss from operations of $7.4 miUion compmed to a 
loss of $13,9 miUion for the yem ended July 31, 2004. The principal reasons for the decrease in the loss from 
operations were a $8.7 million increase in gross profit and a $3,4 million reduction ui reorganization and uiitial 
public listing expenses, partly offset by a $6.0 million increase m general and admmisttative expenses. Higher 
general and admmisttative expenses were due primarily to added overhead resuhing from the addition of natural gas 
and electric customers m six new markets as a result of the ACN Energy Transaction and higher severance cost 
related to former executive officers. 

Gross profit for fiscal 2005 uicreased to $28,2 miUion, a 45% increase compmed to gross profit of $19.4 miUion 
hi fiscal 2004. Higher gross profit reflects $7.3 million from the six months of contribution from the ACN Energy 
Assets and a second quarter gain of $7.2 miUion from reposhionuig of the customer portfolio and the sale of 
electticity supply contracts m Pennsylvania. These gains were partly reduced by lower gross profit on sales in om 
ttaditional electricity mmkets hi Califomia, Michigan and Pennsylvania. 

Om net loss for fiscal 2005 was $6.1 mUlion, compmed to a net loss of $21.7 million in fiscal 2004. In addition to 
the above reasons, in fiscal 2005 we recorded a gaui of $2.0 million on the sale of om Tmbocor investment 
compared to losses in 2004 of $7.1 miUion for impanment of investments previously held by Summit and 
$1.9 miUion for termination ofom equity ownership m Summit. 

Net revenue 

The followmg table summarizes net revenues for fiscal 2005 and 2004 (dollms m tiiousands); 

Fiscal Year Ended Julv 31, 
2 0 ^ 2004 

Dollars % Revenue Dollars % Revenue 

Retail Electricity Sales: 
Califomia $ 64,186 25% $ 78,735 37% 
Pennsylvania/New Jersey 76,063 30% 83,941 40% 
Michigan 36,754 15% 41,303 20% 
AU Otiier States, principally Texas 9.386 _ 3 % r r ^ 
Total Retail Electticity Sales 186.389 73% 203.979 97% 
Natural Gas Sales: 
Califomia 7,902 3% — — 
Ohio 10,782 4% — — 
Georgia 4,314 2% — — 
AU Otiier States 2.478 __i% = ^ 
Total Nattiral Gas Sales 25.476 10% ^ ^ 
Excess Electticity Sales 40,061 16% 5,595 3% 
Otiier 1.927 1% 1.049 — 
Net Revenue S 253,853 100% $ 210.623 100% 

Net revenues for fiscal 2005 were $253.9 million, a 21% uicrease compared to net revenues of $210.6 million in 
fiscal 2004. The mcrease m net revenue was primarily attributable to the addition of the ACN Energy Assets and 
higher wholesale mmket prices for electticity. These net revenue increases were partly offset by the impact of lower 
sales volumes in om traditional electricity mmkets in California, Permsylvania and Michigan. 
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Retail electticity sales for fiscal 2005 were $186.4 million, a 9% decrease from fiscal 2004. In fiscal 2005, we 
sold 2,631 mUlion kWh, at an average retaU price per kWh of $0,071, as compared to 2,977 million kWh sold at an 
average retail price per kWh of $0,068 m fiscal 2004. Califomia sales were 819 million kWh at an average price 
perkWh of $0,078 ui fiscal 2005, as compared to 993 million kWh sold at an average price per kWh of $0,077 m 
fiscal 2004. Pennsylvania and New Jersey sales were 1,137 million kWh at an average price per kWh of $0,067 in 
fiscal 2005, as compared to 1,275 million kWh at an average price of $0,066 in fiscal 2004. Sales ui Michigan 
decreased to 603 miUion kWh at an average price per kWh of $0,061 hi fiscal 2005, as compmed to 709 million 
kWh at an average price per kWh of $0,058 in fiscal 2004. Sales volumes in Pennsylvania declined reflecting the 
retum, beginning in April 2005, of certam residential and small commercial customers to the incumbent utility based 
upon competitive factors. Similmly, lower sales volumes hi Michigan reflects the frnpact of regulatory changes 
causuig nemly all of Michigan's Imge industrial customers to retum to the incumbent utility during the yem. Sales hi 
Texas, resultmg fi^m the acquisition ofthe ACN Energy Assets, were $9.4 million m fiscal 2005. 

We acqufred om natural gas busuiess in six mmkets in February 2005. In fiscal 2005, natural gas sales were 
$25.5 million. We sold approximately 2.5 million dekatherms, or DTH, in fiscal 2005 al an average price of 
$10.26 per DTH. 

Excess energy sales uicreased to $40.1 miUion m fiscal 2005 compmed to $5.6 miUion hi fiscal 2004 reflecting 
higher demand and supply balancmg activities in om Califomia and Permsylvania markets resultuig prunmily from 
uicreased volatility in the mmket price of electricity. Additionally, excess energy sales mclude $9.3 million realized 
on the sale of Permsylvania electticity supply contracts back to the original supplier. 

We had approxunately 80,000 retaU electticity customers at July 31, 2005 compmed to 102,600 at July 31, 2004. 
This 22% reduction m om retail electricity customers largely reflects the competitive imbalance that occurs when 
we increase om sales price to om customers because of higher wholesale electricity supply and ttansmission costs to 
us, while at the same time the incumbent utilities faced with the same higher costs have not made cortesponding 
price uicreases due to a lack of mmket responsive ralemaking and a lagging regulatory approval process. The 
majority ofthe decluie in om retail electticity customers occurred m om Pennsylvania mmket. Beginning in April 
2005, we relumed approximately 21,000 residential and small commercial customers to the incumbent utility hi the 
Pennsylvania market because we could no longer offer competitive service. In addition, the decluie in om customer 
base is partly attributed to om focus to mcrease om commercial and mdustrial base. We had approxunately 60,000 
natural gas customers at July 31, 2005. 

Direct energy costs 

Direct energy costs, which are recognized concurrently with related energy sales, include the commodity cost of 
n^mal gas and electricity, electticity transmission costs from the ISOs, transportation costs fi*om LDCs and 
pipelmes, other fees and costs uicurred from various energy-related service providers and energy-related taxes that 
caimot be passed dfrectly through to tiie customer. 

Dfrect energy costs for fiscal 2005 totaled $204.8 million and $20.9 million for electticity and natmal gas, 
respectively. Electricity cost uicreased 8% from fiscal 2004 due primarily to the addition of $11.1 mUlion of supply 
cost for the electric customers acqufred in the ACN Energy Transaction. Higher dfrect energy costs for electricity 
due to increases in average cost to $0,065 per kWh for fiscal 2005, as compared to $0,062 per kWh for fiscal 2004, 
were offset by lower kWh pmchases hi fiscal 2005 compmed to fiscal 2004. Direct energy costs for natural gas for 
fiscal 2005 averaged $8.42 per DTH. 

Operating expenses 

Sellhig and marketing expenses were $4.1 mUlion for fiscal 2005, the same as for fiscal 2004. Lower seUuig and 
marketing expenses for fiscal 2005 resulting from reductions in the cost ofom internal customer acquisition efforts 
were offset by the additional sales and mmketing costs related to the ACN Energy Transaction. 
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General and admuiistrative expenses were $31.5 mUlion for fiscal 2005, an mcrease of $5.6 miUion, from 
$25.9 million for fiscal 2004. The uicrease hi fiscal 2005 reflects $5.3 million of added costs related to the acquned 
operations resuhmg from the acquisition of assets in the ACN Energy Transaction and $2.6 million in increased 
severance costs related to the settlement ofthe employment conttacts ofthe former executive officers. These higher 
costs were partly offset by a decrease of $2,0 mUlion m costs related to termination ofom ownership of Summh and 
uivestment ui PEC during fiscal 2004. 

Reorganization and initial public listing expenses 

We uicurred costs of $3.4 million m fiscal 2004 related to om reoi^anization into a Delawme holding company 
stmctme and the initial public listuig of om common stock on the American Stock Exchange. We uicurred no such 
expenses m fiscal 2005. 

Recovery of (provision for) impairment on investments 

We have mvestments in two energy technology companies: Encorp Inc., or Encorp, a developer of softwme and 
hmdware for energy and facility management, mid Power Efficiency Corporation, or PEC, a manufactmer of 
induction motor efficiency products to reduce energy consumption. These two investments and om uivestment in 
Tmbocor B.V., or Tmbocor, sold m July 2005, were previously held by Summit Energy Ventmes, LLC, or Summit, 
which we formed ui July 2001. 

In fiscal 2004, we consolidated Summit and hs majority uiterest in PEC mto om fmancial results. Effective in 
May 2004, om equity uiterest and contractual relationship with Summh were tenninated and we acqufred dfrect 
ownership ui the three companies previously held by Summit As a resuh of terminatuig om relationship whh 
Summit, we no longer consolidated Summit and PEC. Om ownership uiterest in PEC was 15% and 14% as of 
July 31,2005 and 2006, respectively. As of July 31, 2005 and 2006, we held a 1.9% mterest m Encorp. 

In fiscal 2004, we recorded a provision of $7.1 million for unpairment on investments previously held by 
Summit. Such provision included $4,1 million related to om remauimg uivestment hi Turbocor and resulted ui no 
mvestment basis in Turbocor as July 31, 2004, On July 29, 2005, we sold om ownership mterest m Tmbocor for 
$2.0 miUion. 

Initial formation litigation expenses 

In fiscal 2005, we incurred $1.6 million of initial formation litigation costs related to Commonwealth Energy 
Corporation's formation, the same amount as fiscal 2004. Initial formation litigation expenses mclude legal and 
litigation costs associated with tiie initial capital raising. 

Loss on termination of Summit 

In fiscal 2004, we recorded a loss on the termination ofom interest m Summit of $1.9 million. The loss mcluded 
conttactuaUy owed management fees and transaction costs of $1.6 mUlion and a reduction ofom ownership interest 
from 75.9% to 39.9% m PEC to reflect settlement and the termination ofom interest in Summh. We incurred no 
such expenses in fiscal 2005. 

Minority interest share of loss 

Minority interest share of loss represents that portion of PEC's post-consolidation losses that were allocated to the 
non-Summit investors based on then a^?*egate minority ownership interest in PEC. For fiscal 2004, the muiority 
interest share of loss was $1,2 miUion. We incurred no such losses in fiscal 2005. 

Interest income, net 

Our interest income, net was $0.9 million for fiscal 2005, an increase of $0.4 million from $0.5 million in fiscal 
2004, The increase in interest income was primarily due to higher market yields realized on short-term investments. 
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Income before Provisions for Income Taxes 

The loss before provision for uicome taxes was $6.1 million for fiscal 2005, a decrease of $16.6nullion, 
compared to a loss of $22.7 million for fiscal 2004. 

The Company currently has no provision for income taxes for fiscal 2005 compmed to a benefit from income 
taxes of $1.0 miUion for fiscal 2004. Om effective income tax rate was 0,0% for fiscal 2005, compmed to an 
effective uicome tax benefit rate of 4.5% for fiscal 2004. The fiscal 2005 decrease hi om effective income tax rate 
was attributable to an increase hi the valuation allowance equal to the net deferred lax asset due to the uncertainty of 
future realization ofthe remammg net deferted tax as of July 31,2005. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

Our pruicipal somces of liquidity to fund ongomg operations have been existuig cash and cash equivalents on 
hand and cash generated by operations. In June 2006, we entered into a three-yem credit facUity whh a lender to 
uicrease operational liquidity and cash availability. Based upon om current plans, level of operations and business 
conditions, we believe these somces will be sufficient to fimd expected capital expenditmes and to meet om 
working capital requfrements along with other cash needs over the next twelve months. Cash provided by operating 
activities for fiscal 2006 was $6.1 mUlion, compared to cash used m operations of $3.6 mUlion in the prior yem. For 
fiscal 2006, cash provided by operatmg activities was comprised primmily of an mcrease of $8.4 miUion ui prepaid 
expenses and other assets offset by a decrease of $2.8 miUion hi accounts receivables, net of the provision for 
doubtfiil accounts. 

Cash used in uivesting activities was $4.7 mUlion in fiscal 2006, as compmed to $28.0 million provided by 
investing activities in fiscal 2005. The cash used hi investuig activities in fiscal 2006 was primarily for the upgrades 
in om key customer billing, risk management and customer contact platforms. The cash provided in fiscal 2005 
reflects the benefit from a $43.3 mUlion decrease ui short-term investments partly offset by $14.5 million of cash 
used for the pmchase of assets ui the ACN Energy Transaction. 

Cash used in fmmicmg activities during fiscal 2006 was $11.7 million, as compmed to cash used in financmg 
activities of $1.9 mUlion during fiscal 2005. In fiscal 2()06, restricted cash mcreased by $8.9 mUlion which was 
primarily due to requfrements ofom new credit facility. 

Credit terms from om suppliers often requfre us to post collateral agamst om energy pmchases and agauist om 
mmk-to-mmket exposme with certaui ofom suppliers. As of July 31, 2006, we had $17.1 mUlion in restricted cash 
in connection with a $10 miUion requnement ofom new credit facUity and to secme a $6 million letter ofcredit to 
the state of Pennsylvania that was satisfied whh an unsecured bond hi fiscal 2005, We also have $2.5 million in 
deposits pledged as collateral to om energy suppliers in connection with energy pmchase agreements. 

As of July 31, 2006, cash and cash equivalents decreased to $22.9 miUion compared with $33.3 miUion at 
July 31, 2005. This decrease of $10.4 miUion was partly offset by increases of $2.1 million at July 31, 2006 in 
restticted cash, cash equivalents and deposits. Restricted cash and cash equivalents at July 31, 2006 was 
$17.1 miUion, compmed to $8.2 million at July 31, 2005, while cash deposits totaled $2.5 million at July 31, 2006, 
compmed to $11.3 million at July 31,2005. These changes reflect the impact of changing banks and energy supplier 
credit requfrements, implementation of the recent $50 million credit facility, described below, wherein we are 
choosmg to rely more on letters ofcredit rather than cash deposits as collateral. 

Credit Facility 

On June 8, 2006, we entered mto a Loan and Secmity Agreement, or credit facility, with Wachovia Capital 
Fuiance Corporation (Westem), or Agent, for up to $50 million. The three-year credit facility provides for issuance 
of letters of credh and for revolving credit loans which we may use for working capital and general corporate 
purposes and is seemed by substantially all of om assets. The availability of letters of credit and loans under the 
credit facUity is limited by a calculated borrowing base consisting of the majority of om cash, receivables and 
natural gas mventories. As of July 31, 2006, the Agent and The CIT Group/Business Credit, Inc., or the Lenders, 
had issued $17.6 million in letters of credh m om favor, and there were no outstanding borrowings. Fees for letters 
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of credh issued me 1.75 percent per annum, if Excess Availability, as defined hi the credit fecility, is less than 
$25 miUion, and 1.50 percent, if greater. We also pay an unused Ime fee equal to 0.375 percent of the unutilized 
credit line. Generally, outstanduig borrowings under the credit facility are priced at a domestic bank rate plus 
0.25 percent or LIBOR plus 2.75 percent. 

The credit fecility contains covenants, subject lo specific exceptions, restricting Commerce Energy, the Company 
and thefr subsidiaries to: (a) uicm additional uidebtedness; (b) grant certaui liens; (c) dispose of certaui assets; 
(d) make certain restricted payments; (e) enter mto certaui other agreements; and (f) make certaui mvestments. The 
credh facility also restricts om ability to pay cash dividends on om common stock; restricts Commerce Energy from 
making a cash dividend to us without the Lenders' consent and limits the amount ofom annual capital expenditmes 
to $3.5 mUlion without the consent of the Lenders. We must also maintain a minimum of $10 million of Eligible 
Cash Collateral, as defined in the credit fecility, at all times. 

On September 20, 2006, the Company entered mto an amendment ofthe credit facility, or the Ffrst Amendment, 
through which the Lenders waived prior or existuig mstances of non-compliance by Commerce Energy with 
covenants contained in the credit facility relating to maintenance of a Fixed Chmge Coverage Ratio, as defined in 
the credit facility, mamtenance of Eligible Cash Collateral, capital expenditures and the notification to the Lenders 
of the grant of certain liens to a natmal gas supplier. Through the Ffrst Amendment, the Lenders also agreed to 
certaui prospective waivers of covenants in the credh fecility to enable Commerce Energy to consummate the 
HESCO Acquisition in compliance with the credit facility, includmg the requnement that all of om assets be 
pledged under the credit facility, the prohibition against us agreeing to gumantee any other party's obligations, the 
need for us to maintain certaui levels of Excess Availability and Eligible Cash Collateral as of the date of the 
HESCO Acquishion and the requfrement that Commerce Energy provide at least 30 days prior written notice ofthe 
HESCO Acquisition. 

On October 26, 2006, the Company entered into a second amendment of the credit facility, or the Second 
Amendment, through which the Lenders waived prior or existing mstances of non-compliance by Commerce Energy 
with covenants contamed ui the credit facility relating to the mamtenance of a minimum Fixed Chmge Coverage 
Ratio and a minimum amount of Excess Availability. The Lenders also agreed in the Second Amendment to 
(a) defer prospective compliance with the Fixed Chmge Coverage Ratio covenant and (b) reduce the minimum 
amount of Excess Availability that Commerce Energy will be requned to maintain for a period of thne in the futme. 

Planned capital expenditures 

Our planned capital expenditmes for fiscal 2007 are approximately $4.0 million and me comprised of carryover 
expenditures related to key upgrades of om risk management, customer billing and customer load forecasting 
systems that began hi fiscal 2006, and other uiformation systems and hardware upgrades related to improved 
customer order entry and increased customer service. These expenditures me expected to be pro rata throughout the 
year and fimded out of working capital. 

Off-Balance sheet arrangements 

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements and have no ttansactions involving unconsolidated, lunited pmpose 
entities. 

Contractual obligations 

As of July 31, 2006, we had commitments of $51.5 million for energy pmchase, ttansportation and capacity 
conttacts. These contracts are with various suppliers and extend through December 2007. 

Om most significant operating lease pertains to om corporate office facilities. All of our other operatmg leases 
pertain to various equipment, technology, and secondary office facilities. Certain of these operatuig leases me non-
cancelable and contain clauses that pass through increases ui builduig operatuig expenses. We incurred aggregate 
rent expense under operatuig leases of $0.93 miUion, $1.2 million and $0.93 mUlion during fiscal 2006, 2005 and 
2004, respectively. 
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1.088 

$ 50.454 
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£ 3.281 
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$ — 
— 
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More Than 
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$ — 
— 

$ — 

The following table shows our contractual commitments for energy purchase and operating leases as of July 31, 
2006 (dollars ui thousands): 

Pavmente Due bv Period 
Less Th: 

Contractual Obligations Total 

Energy pmchases $ 51,509 
Operating leases 2.226 
Total $ 53.735 

Additionally, as of July 31, 2006, $17.6 million of letters ofcredit has been issued to energy suppliers and others 
pursuant to the terms ofom credit facility. 

Seasonal Influences 

Demand for electricity and natural gas are continually mfluenced by both seasonal and abnormal weather 
pattems. To the extent that one or more of om markets experiences a period of unexpected weather, we may be 
requned to either procme addhional energy to service om customers or to sell surplus energy in the open mmket 
Generally, unexpectedly high or lower than normal energy demand from om customers uicreases the relative cost of 
om energy supplies. 

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 

The following discussion and analysis of om financial condition and operatuig results are based on om 
consolidated fuiancial statements. The preparation of this Annual Report on Form 10-K requfres us to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabiUties, disclosme of contingent assets 
and liabUities at the date of om financial statements, and the reported amount of revenue and expenses during the 
reportmg period. Actual resuhs may differ from those estimates and assumptions. In preparing om fmancial 
statements and accountuig for the underlying transactions and balances, we apply om accounting policies as 
disclosed m om notes to tiie consolidated financial statements. The accounting policies discussed below me those 
that we consider to be critical to an understanding of om financial statements because thefr application places the 
most significant demands on om ability to ju(%e the effect of uiherently uncertain matters on om financial results. 
For all of these policies, we caution that future events rmely develop exactly as forecast, and the best estunates 
routmely requfre adjustment. 

• Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities — We pmchase substantially all of om power 
and natmal gas under forwmd physical delivery conttacts for supply to om retail customers. These forward 
physical delivery conttacts are defined as commodity derivative conttacts under Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standmd, or SFASNo. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedguig Activities". 
Usmg the exemption available for qualifyuig contracts under SFAS No. 133, we apply the normal pmchase and 
normal sale accounting tteatment to a majority of om forward physical delivery conttacts. Accordmgly, we 
record revenue generated from customer sales as energy is delivered to om retail customers and the related 
energy cost under om forwmd physical delivery conttacts is recorded as direct energy costs when received from 
om suppliers. We use financial derivative instmments (such as swaps, options and futmes) as an effective way 
of assisting m managing our price risk in energy supply procmement. For forward or futme conttacts that do not 
meet the qualifyuig criteria for normal pmchase, normal sale accountuig treatment, we elect cash flow hedge 
accountmg. where appropriate. 

We also utilize other financial derivatives, primarily swaps, options and futmes lo hedge om commodity price 
risks. Certain derivative instruments, which are designated as economic hedges or as speculative, do not qualify 
for hedge accountuig tteatment and requfre current period mark to mmket accounting in accordance with 
SFAS No. 133, with fan market value being used to determine the related income or expense that is recorded 
each quarter in the statement of operations. As a result, the changes in fafr value of derivatives tiiat do not meet 
the requfrements of normal pmchase and normal sale accountuig tteatment or cash flow hedge accountuig are 
recorded hi operatuig income (loss) and as a current or long-term derivative asset or liability. The subsequent 
changes in the fafr value of these confracts could resuh in operating income (loss) volatility as the fair value of 
the changes me recorded on a net basis in direct energy costs in om consolidated statement of operations for 
each period. 
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As a resuU of a sale on January 28, 2005 of two significant electricity forwmd physical delivery contracts (on a 
net cash settlement basis) back to the origmal supplier, the normal purchase and normal sale exemption under 
SFAS No. 133 was no longer available for our Pennsylvania mmket (PJM-ISO). Accordingly, for the period from 
Febmary, 2005 through July, 2006, we designated forward physical delivery conttacts entered into for om 
Pennsylvania electticity mmket (PJM-ISO) and certaui other forward fixed price pmchases and financial derivatives 
as cash flow hedges, whereby mmket to market accounting gafris or losses are deferred and reported as a component 
of Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) until the time of physical delivery and the fafr value of the contracts is 
recorded as a current or long-term derivative asset or liability. Subsequent changes hi the fafr value ofthe derivative 
assets and liabilities are recorded on a net basis in Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) and subsequently 
reclassified as dfrect energy cost in om consolidated statement of operations as the power is delivered. To the extent 
that the hedges are not effective, the uieffective portion of the changes hi fafr mmket value is recorded currently in 
dfrect energy costs. 

• Utility and independent system operator — Included in dfrect energy costs, along with the cost of energy that 
we purchase, are scheduling costs. Independent System Operator, or ISO, fees, interstate pipeline costs and 
UtUity service chmges. The actual charges and certaui energy costs me not finalized until subsequent 
settlement processes are performed for all distribution system participants. Prior to the completion of 
settlements (which may take from one to several months), we estimate these costs based on historical ttends 
and preliminary settlement information. The historical ttends and preluninary information may differ drom 
actual information resulting in the need to adjust previous estimates. 

• Allowance for doubtftd accounts — We maintam allowances for doubtfiil accounts for estimated losses 
resultmg from non-payment of customer billings. If the financial conditions of certain ofom customers were 
to deteriorate, resulting in an impafrment of thefr ability to make payments, additional allowances may be 
requfred. 

• Net revenue and unbilled receivables — Om customers are billed monthly at various dates throughout the 
month. Unbilled receivables represent the estimated sale amount for power delivered to a customer at the end 
of a reportuig period, but not yet billed. Unbilled receivables from sales me estimated based upon the amount 
of power delivered, but not yet bUled, muhiplied by the estunated sales price per unit. 

• Inventory— Inventory consist of natural gas in storage as requfred by state regulators and conttacted 
obligations under customer choice programs. Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or mmket. 

• Customer Acquisition Cost— Dfrect Customer acquisition costs paid to thfrd parties and dfrectly related to 
specific new customers are deferred and amortized over tiie life ofthe mitial customer contract, typically one 
yem. 

• Legal matters — From time to time, we may be mvolved ui litigation matters. We regulmly evaluate om 
exposme to threatened or penduig litigation and other business contuigencies and accme for estimated losses 
on such matters in accordance with SFAS No. 5, "Accounting for Contuigencies." As additional uiformation 
about cmrent or fiitme litigation or other contuigencies becomes available, management will assess whether 
such information warrants the recordmg of additional expense relating to om contingencies. Such addhional 
expense could potentially have a material adverse impact on om results of operations and financial position. 

Recent Accounting Standards 

SFAS 154, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections, a replacement of APB 20 and FASB Statement No. 3 
(SFAS 154), applies to all voluntary changes ui accounting pruiciples and to changes requfred by an accounting 
pronouncement in instances where the pronouncement does not uiclude specific transition provisions. APB 20 
previously requfred that most voluntary changes in accounting principle be recognized by includmg ui net uicome of 
the period of the change the cumulative effect of changing to the new accounting principle. SFAS 154 requires 
rettospective application to prior periods' financial statements of changes in accounting principle, unless it is 
impracticable to do so. This statement is effective for accountuig changes and corrections of errors made in fiscal 
years begiiming after December 15,2005. No such changes have been made by us in fiscal 2006. 
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hi Februmy 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 155, an amendment of FASB Statements No. 133 (SFAS 133), 
Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, and No. 140 (SFAS 140), Accounting for Transfers 
and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities. SFAS 155 amends SFAS 133 to allow 
financial instmments that have embedded derivatives to be accounted for as a whole, if the holder elects lo account 
for the whole instrument on a fafr value basis, and provides additional guidance on the applicability of SFAS 133 
and SFAS 140 to certaui fmancial uistruments and subordmated concentrations ofcredit risk. SFAS 155 is effective 
for all hybrid financial instmments acqufred or issued by the company on or after January 1, 2007. We me currently 
evalualuig the impact SFAS 155 will have on its consolidated fmancial statements, but does not expect that the 
impact will be material 

In September 2005, EITF Issue No. 04-13, Accounting for Purchases and Sales of Inventory with the Same 
Counterparty. This consensus concludes that an entity is requfred to tteat sales and pmchases of uiventory between 
the entity and the same counterparty as one transaction for purposes of applymg APB Opinion No. 29, Accounting 
for Nonmonetary Transactions, as amended, when the transactions me entered into hi contemplation of each other. 
In addition, non-monetary exchanges whereby an entity transfers fuiished goods uiventory in exchange for receipt of 
raw materials or work-m-process uiventory withm the same line of busuiess will be recognized at fafr value if 
certaui conditions pertaining to fafr value determination me met The consensuses will be applied to new 
mrangements entered mto, or modifications or renewals of existing arrangements, m the fnst interim or annual 
reporting period beguming after Mmch 15,2006. 

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk. 

Our activities expose us to a variety of market risks principally from the change in and volatility of commodity 
prices. We have established risk management policies and procedmes designed to manage these risks with a sttong 
focus on the retail natme of om busuiess and to reduce the potentially adverse effects these risks may have on om 
operatuig results. Om Bomd of Dfreclors and tiie Audh Committee of the Board oversee the risk management 
program, uicluduig the approval of risk management policies and procedmes. This program is predicated on a strong 
risk management focus combined with the establishment of an effective system of mtemal conttols. We have a Risk 
Oversight Committee, or ROC, that is responsible for establishing risk management policies, reviewing procedmes 
for the identification, assessment, measmement and management of risks, and the moniloruig and reportuig of risk 
exposmes. The ROC is comprised of all key members of senior management and is chafred by the Vice President, 
Risk Management. 

Commodity Risk Management 

Commodity price and volume risk arise from the potential for changes in the price of, and transportation costs for, 
electricity and natmal gas, the volatility of commodity prices, and customer usage fluctuations due to changes in 
weather and/or customer usage pattems. A number of factors associated with the stmctme and operation of the 
energy mmkets significantiy uifluence the level and volatility of prices for energy commodities. These factors 
include seasonal daily and homly changes hi demand, extteme peak demands due to weather conditions, available 
supply resomces, transportation availability and reliability withm and between geographic regions, procedmes used 
to maintain the integrity ofthe physical electricity system dmmg extteme conditions, and changes hi the natme and 
extent of federal and state regulations. These factors can affect energy commodity and derivative prices in different 
ways and to different degrees. 

Supplying electticity and natural gas to om retail customers requfres us to match the projected demand of om 
customers with conttactual purchase commitments from om suppliers at fixed or indexed prices. We primarily use 
forward physical energy pmchases and derivative instmments to minimize significant, unanticipated eamings 
fluctuations caused by commodity price volatility. Derivative instmments are used to limit the unfavorable effect 
that price uicreases will have on electricity and natmal gas pmchases, effectively fixing the futme pmchase price of 
electticity or natural gas for the applicable forecasted usage and protectuig the Company from significant price 
volatility. Derivative instruments measmed at fair market value are recorded on the balance sheet as an asset or 
liability. Changes in fair market value me recognized currently in eamings unless the instmment has met specific 
hedge accounting criteria. Subsequent changes hi the fair value ofthe derivative assets and liabiUties designated as a 
cash flow hedge me recorded on a net basis in Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) and subsequently reclassified as 
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dfrect energy cost m the statement of operations as the energy is delivered. While some of the conttacts we use to 
manage risk represent commodities or uistruments for which prices me available from extemal sources, other 
commodities and certain contracts me not actively traded and me valued using other pricmg somces and modelmg 
techniques to determine expected fiitme mmket prices, conttact quantities, or both. We use om best estimates to 
determine the fafr value of commodity and derivative conttacts we hold and sell. These estimates consider various 
factors mcluding closing exchange and over-the-counter price quotations, time value, volatility factors and credit 
exposme. We do not engage ui ttading activities in the wholesale energy market other than to manage om dfrect 
energy cost hi an attempt to improve the profit mmgin associated with the requfrements ofom retail customers. 

With most electricity and natural gas customers, we have the ability to change prices with short notice; and, 
therefore, the impact on gross profits fi*om increases m energy prices is not material for these customers. However, 
shaip and sustamed price increases could result in customer attrition without corresponding price increases by local 
utilities and other competitors, Approxnnately 22% of om electricity customers and 28% of om natural gas 
customers me subject to multi-month fixed priced unhedged contracts and, accordmgly a $10 per megawatt hom 
mcrease in the cost of purchased power and a $1.00 per mmbtu increase m the cost of pmchased natmal gas could 
resuh in an estimated $860,000 decrease m gross profit for power, and an estunated $540,000 decrease in gross 
profit for natural gas, respectively, for fiscal 2007. 

Credit Risk 

Om primary credit risks are exposme to om retail customers for defeuh on thefr conttactual obligations. Given 
the high credh quality of the majority of om energy suppliers, credit risk resuhmg from failme of om suppliers to 
deliver or perform on thefr contracted energy commitments is not considered significmit 

The retail credh defauh or nonpayment risk is managed through established credh policies which actively requfre 
screening of customer credit prior to conttactuig with a customer, potentially requfring deposhs from customers and 
actively discontinumg busuiess with customers that do not pay as contractually obligated. Retail credit quaUty is 
dependent on the economy and the ability of om customers to manage through unfavorable economic cycles and 
other mmket changes. If the business envfronment were lo be negatively affected by changes in economic or other 
mmket conditions, om retail credit risk may be adversely impacted. 

Counterparty credit risks result primarily from credit extended to us for om pmchases of energy from om 
suppliers. Favorable credit terms from om suppliers make h easier lo procme wholesale energy to service om 
customers; however, adverse mmket conditions or poor financial performance by us may result in a reduction or 
elimination of available unsecmed counterparty credit lines. Additionally, we have significant amounts of energy 
commitments to om conttacted term customers that we have hedged forwmd, often for several months. A significant 
decrease m energy prices could adversely impact om cash collateral requfrements. 

Interest Rate Risk 

Suice we had no short or long-term debt outstanduig al July 31, 2006, om only exposure to mterest rate risks is 
limited to om investment of excess cash balances in interest-bearing instmments. We generally invest cash 
equivalents ui short-term credit uistmments consistuig primmily of high credit quality, short-term money mmket 
fiinds and uismed, re-mmketable government agency securities with interest rale reset maturities of 90 days or less. 
We do not expect any material loss from om investments and we believe that om potential uiterest rate exposme is 
not material. As om practice has been, and currently continues to be, to only invest in high-quality debt instmments 
with matmilies or remmketmg dates of 90 days or less, we currently me not materially susceptible to interest rate 
risks. 

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data. 

The financial statement information, including the reports ofthe independent registered public accountmg firms, 
requfred by this Item 8 is set forth on pages F-l to F-33 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and is hereby 
incorporated uito this Item 8 by reference. The Quarterly Fuiancial Information required by this Item 8 is set forth 
on page F-33 (Note 18 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements) of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and 
is hereby uicorporated into this Item 8 by reference. 
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure. 

None. 

Item9A. Controls and Procedures 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. 

Om Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded, based on thefr evaluations ofthe end of 
the period covered by this report, that om disclosme conttols and procedmes (as defined hi Rule 13a-15(e) or 15d-
15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) are effective to ensme that all information required to 
be disclosed by us m the reports filed or submitted by us under the Securities Exchange Act is recorded, processed, 
summarized and reported whhui the time periods specified hi the SEC's mles and forms and mclude conttols and 
procedures designed to ensme that mformation requfred to be disclosed by us ui such reports is accumulated and 
communicated to om management, including the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, as 
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding requfred disclosure. 

Changes in Internal Controls. 

In connection with the above-referenced evaluation, no change ui om mtemal conttol over financial reportuig 
occurred during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially 
affect, om uitemal control over fmancial reportmg. 

Item9B. Other Information. 

Amendment to Credit Facility 

On October 26, 2006, Commerce Energy, Wachovia Capital Fuiance Corporation (Westem), as agent, for the 
lenders, or the Lenders, and The CIT Group/Busmess Credit, Inc., as co-Lender, entered into a Second Amendment 
lo Loan and Secmity Agreement and Waiver, or the Second Amendment, amending the Loan and Security 
Agreement, or the credit facility, dated June 8, 2006 among Commerce Eneigy and Wachovia Capital Fuiance 
Corporation (Westem), as agent, which was fnst amended on September 20, 2006. Through the Second 
Amendment, the Lenders waived prior or existuig instances of non-compliance by Commerce Energy with 
covenants contained in the credit facility relating to the maintenance of a minimum Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio 
and a minunum amount of Excess Availability, as such terms me defined hi the credit facility. The Lenders also 
agreed hi the Second Amendment to (a) defer prospective compliance with the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio 
covenant and (b) reduce the mmimum amount of Excess Availability that Commerce Energy will be required to 
maintain for a period of tune in the future. 

The foregouig summary ofthe Second Amendment is not complete and is qualified in its entfrety by reference to 
the actual Second Amendment, which is attached hereto as Exhibit 10.91 and uicorporated hereui by reference. 
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PART HI 

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers ofthe Registrant 

Information About Our Directors 

Om Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws provide for a "classified" Board of Dfreclors. The number of 
authorized dfreclors is cmrently seven. Al present, there are two Class I dnectors, whose terms expire at the annual 
meeting of stockholders to be held after the completion of fiscal 2007; two Class II dfreclors, whose terms expfre at 
the Company's annual meeting of stockholders lo be held after the completion of fiscal 2008; and two Class III 
dfreclors, whose terms expire at the upcomuig annual meetuig of stockholders to be held after the completion of 
fiscal 2006. The following lable sets forth mformation regmdmg om directors, mcluding thefr ages as of October 13, 
2006, and busuiess experience during the past five yems. Each ofom dfreclors has served contuiuously as one ofom 
dfreclors since the date indicated m his biography below. 

Name and Positi'on 
Class I Directors 
Stevens. Boss 

Age 

60 

Gary J. Hessenauer 51 

Principal Occupation and Other Information 

Mr. Boss was appouited to the Board of Dfreclors on July 22, 2005 and 
appointed Chief Executive Officer of Commerce Energy Group, Inc. hi 
August 2005. Smce August 2005, Mr. Boss has also served as a 
dfrector and President of Commerce Energy, Inc., and as a dfrector and 
the Chief Executive Officer of Skipping Stone Inc. From 2003 to 
August 2005, Mr. Boss was an attomey m private practice specializmg 
hi the representation of energy companies and commercial energy 
users. From 2000 to 2003, Mr. Boss served as president of Energy 
Buyers Network, LLC, an energy consulting ffrm tiiat provided 
regulatory representation and stmctmed dfrect access energy 
ttansactions for commercial energy users. From 1999 to 2000, he 
served as president of both Sierra Pacific Energy Company and Nevada 
Power Services, non-regulated energy services operatuig subsidiaries of 
Sierra Pacific Resomces. Prior to that, Mr. Boss served in various legal 
and senior management positions in a number of energy companies and 
practiced law in private practice. From 1984 to 1992, Mr. Boss served 
as president and chief executive officer of Simrise Energy Services, 
Inc., an independent natmal gas mmketing company with shmes listed 
on the American and London Stock Exchanges. Mr. Boss received a 
Bachelor of Science hi Aerospace Engineering from the University of 
Texas and a Juris Doctor from the University of Southem Califomia. 
He has been a member ofthe State Bm of Califomia since 1974. 

Mr. Hessenauer has served as a director of Commerce Energy Group, 
Inc. since August 29, 2005. Mr, Hessenauer is a member of the 
Compensation Committee and serves as the Chafr of the Strategic 
Opportunities Committee of the Bomd. Suice 2003, Mr. Hessenauer 
has been an investor and advisor to early stage companies. From 2002 
to 2003, Mr. Hessenauer served as President and Chief Executive 
Officer of Sixth Dimension, an energy technology company that 
developed solutions for real-time monitoring and conttol of dispersed 
energy assets. From 2000 to 2001, he served as Senior Vice President 
of Sempra Energy Solutions, a retail energy services provider that also 
provided non-regulated energy mmketing and trading services, Sempra 
Energy Solutions was a subsidiary of Sempra Energy, a Imge 
disttibutor of natural gas and electricity that is listed on the New York 
Stock Exchange. Prior to that, he served ui management positions with 
a number of public and private companies. These positions included 
Vice President, Marketing and Sales for the retail energy services 
subsidiary of Edison Intemational from 1996 to 1997 and Corporate 
Area General Manager of multiple business unit development 
operations for the General Electtic Company from 1988 to 1994 and 

39 



Name and Position Age Principal Occupation and Other Information 
Regional Sales Manager for General Electric Company's Electrical 
Distribution and Conttol business umt from 1984 to 1987. 
Mr. Hessenauer holds a Bachelor of Science Degree ui Mechanical 
Engineering from the United States Naval Academy and completed 
Stanford University's executive business program. 

Class II Directors 
Mark S. Juergensen 46 Mr. Juergensen has served as a dfrector of Commerce Energy Group, 

Inc. since December 2003. Mr. Juergensen is a member ofthe Audit, 
Compensation, and Strategic Opportunities Committees of the Bomd 
and is the Chafr of the Nominatmg and Corporate Governance 
Committee. He also has served as a dfrector of Commerce Energy, Inc. 
from May 2003 to August 2005 and as a director of Skipping Stone Inc. 
and Utilihost, Inc. from August 2005 to January 2006. Mr. Juergensen 
has served as Vice President of Sales and Mmketuig for Predict Power, 
an energy solution software company he co-founded, smce May 2000. 
Mr. Juergensen also is a director of Sterlmg Energy Intemational, Inc., 
a private management service company in the power generation 
industry, and an investor and advisor to various emly-stage technology 
and energy companies. From Febmary 1995 to June 2000, he served in 
muhiple leadership positions, uicludmg as a Commercial Manager, for 
Solm Tmbuies, Caterpillm's gas tmbine division. From Febmary 1992 
lo Febmary 1995, he served as Director of Management Services for 
Sterlmg Energy Intemational, a power generation management 
consulting fnm he co-founded, Mr. Juergensen received a Bachelor of 
Science degree m Electrical Engineermg from the University of 
Southem Califomia. 

Chmles E. Bayless 63 Mr. Bayless has served as a director of Commerce Energy Group, Inc. 
suice July 2004. Mr. Bayless is a member ofthe Audit and Nominatuig 
and Corporate Govemance Conunittees of the Board. Mr. Bayless has 
been the President of the West Vnginia University Institute of 
Technology smce April 2005. Mr. Bayless held the position of Chief 
Executive Officer and President of Illmova and Illuiois Power from 
July 1998 until September 1999 and served as Chafrman of Illmova and 
Illmois Power from August 1998 until his retfremenl ui December 
1999. Prior to that, he was Chairman, President and Chief Executive 
Officer of Tucson Electric Power, Mr. Bayless served as a Dfrector of 
Illmova and Illuiois Power from 1998 until the closuig ofthe merger 
with Dynegy Inc. m Febmary 2000, and served as a dfrector of Dynegy 
Inc. fit)m February 2000 until May 2006. Mr. Bayless received his 
Bachelor of Science degree m Electrical Engineering from West 
Vfrgfriia Institute of Technology. He eamed a Master of Science degree 
ui Electrical Engineering with a focus in Power Enguieeruig, and hi 
1972 received his law degree, both from West Vfrginia University, 
Mr. Bayless also holds an MBA degree from the Graduate School of 
Business Administration at the University of Michigan. 

Class III Directors 
Dermis R. Leibel 62 Mr. Leibel has served as a director of Commerce Energy Group, Inc. 

smce December 2005. Mr. Leibel is a member of the Audit and 
Strategic Opportunities Committees ofthe Bomd and is the Chafr ofthe 
Compensation Committee. Mr. Leibel served as a founding partner of 
Esqufre Associates LLC, a financial consulting business since 1998. 
Mr. Leibel is also a private mveslor and a retfred fmancial and legal 
executive. Mr. Leibel has served on the board of dfreclors of Microsemi 
Corporation since May 2002 and as its Chairman suice July 2004. 
Mr. Leibel has served on the board of directors of DPAC Corporation 
since Febmary 2006 and chafrs thefr audit committee. Mr. Leibel holds 
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Name and Position Age Principal Occupation and Other Information 
a Bachelor of Science degree ni accountuig from Brooklyn College, a 
Juris Doctor degree from Brooklyn Law School and an LL.M. degree in 
taxation from Boston University School of Law. 

Robert C Perkins 67 Mr. Perkms has been the Chairman of the Bomd of Dfreclors of 
Commerce Energy Group, Inc. suice May 2005. Mr. Perkins has served 
as a dfrector of Commerce Energy Group, Inc. since December 2003 
mid was a dfrector of Commonweahh Energy Corporation from 1999 to 
January 2006. Mr. Perkms is a member of the Compensation, 
Nominatuig and Corporate Govemance and Strategic Opportunities 
Committees of the Bomd and is the Chafr of the Audk Committee. 
Mr. Perkms has served as Chafrman and Chief Executive Officer of 
Hospital Management Services, a provider of financial and 
management consulting services to hospitals and similar institutions 
smce June 1969. Mr. Perkms received his Bachelor of Science degree 
in accounting from Bob Jones University. 

There are no arrangements or other understandings pmsuant lo which any ofthe persons listed m the lable above 
was selected as a dfrector or noramee. 

Information with Respect to Our Executive Officers 

Information regmdmg om executive officers is mcluded hi Item IC of Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K 
under the caption "Executive Officers ofthe Registtant," and is hereby incorporated herem by reference. 

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance 

Section 16(a) ofthe Exchange Act requfres om dfreclors and executive officers, and persons who beneficially 
own more than 10% of a registered class ofom equity securities to file with the SEC initial reports of ownership and 
reports of changes in ownership ofom common stock and other equity securities. Officers, dfreclors and beneficial 
owners of more than 10% of om common stock me required by SEC regulations to fimiish us with copies of all 
Section 16(a) forms they file. 

To om knowledge, based solely on review of the copies of such reports furnished to us and written 
representations that no other reports were requfred dmuig fiscal 2006, and except as disclosed m the followuig 
par^raph, om officers, directors and beneficial owners of more than 10% ofom common stock complied with aU 
Section 16(a) filing requfrements during fiscal 2006. 

The following person made a late filhig of a report under Section 16(a) of tiie Exchange Act that related to a 
ttansaction that occurred during fiscal 2006; Lawrence Clayton, Jr., om Chief Financial Officer, filed a late Form 4 
in connection wilh the pmchase ofom common stock in December 2005. 

Code of Ethics 

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all of om dfreclors, officers and 
employees mcluding om principal executive officer, principal financial officer and principal accoimting officer and 
all of om other officers and employees. In the event that we make any amendment to, or grant any waiver of, a 
provision of the Code of Busuiess Conduct and Ethics that applies to om principal executive officer, principal 
financial officer or pruicipal accounting officer, we intend to disclose such amendment or waiver by including such 
mformation as an exhibit hi fiitme filmgs. 

Audit Committee and Audit Committee Financial Expert 

Chmles E. Bayless, Mmk S. Juergensen, Dennis R. Leibel and Robert C Perkms me the members of om Audit 
Committee. Om Board of Directors has determined that each member ofthe Audh Committee is "uidependenf as 
defmed under the mles of the SEC and the American Stock Exchange. Furthermore, the Board of Directors has 
determmed that Mr. Perkms, the Chafrman of the Audit Committee, is an "audh committee financial expert" as 
defmed under the mles ofthe SEC. 
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Item 11. Executive Compensation, 

Compensation of Executive Officers 

We me required by tiie SEC to disclose compensation paid by us during the last three fiscal yems to (a) any 
person who served as om principal executive officer during fiscal 2006; (b) om fom most highly compensated 
executive officers, other than the principal executive officer, who were servuig as executive officers at the end of 
fiscal 2006; and (c) up to two additional mdividuals for whom such disclosme would have been provided under 
clause (b) above but for the fact that the mdividual was not servuig as an executive officer at the end of fiscal 2006; 
provided, however, that no disclosure need be provided for any executive officer, other than the principal executive 
officer, whose total armual salary and bonus does not exceed $100,000. Accordingly, we me disclosing information 
regmdmg compensation paid by us diuing the last three fiscal years lo (a) Steven S. Boss, om Chief Executive 
Officer; (b) Thomas L. Ufry, om Senior Vice President, Sales and Marketing, and Lawrence Clayton, Jr., om Chief 
Financial Officer, the two most highly-compensated executive officers, other than the chief executive officer, who 
were serving as executive officers al the end of fiscal 2006 and whose salary and bonus exceeded $100,000; 

(c) Peter Weigand, om former President, who served as the Company's chief executive officer in fiscal 2006; and 
(d) Richard L. Boughrum, om former Chief Financial Officer, for whom disclosme would be requfred as one ofom 
most highly-compensated executive officers, but for the fact that he was not serving as an executive officer of the 
Company at the end of fiscal 2006. All of these officers me referred to in this Annual Report as the "Named 
Executive Officers." 

Summary Compensation Table 

The followuig table sets forth for each of the past three fiscal yems, all compensation received for services 
rendered in all capacities by the Named Executive Officers. 

Loag Tenn CompwisatioB 
Awards 

Securities 
Payouts 

Name and Principal Poatioii 
Steven S.Boss(l) 

Chief Executive Officer 

Lawrence Clayton, Jr.(2).,., 
Chief Financial Officer 

Thomas L.Ulry(3) 
Sr. VP, Sales & 
Marketing 

Peter T. Weigand(4) 
Former President 

Richard L. Boughrum(5).... 
Former Chief Financial 2005 $ 350,000 
Officer Senior Vice 2004 $ 114,423 
President and Secretary 

Fiscal 
Year 

2006 $ 
2005 
2004 

2006 $ 
2005 
2004 

2006 $ 
2005 $ 
2004 

2006 $ 
2005 $ 
2004 $ 

2006 $ 

Annual 

Salary 
405,001 

176,960 

227,476 
83,462 

127,752 
400,000 
130,769 

121,215 

Comueiisation 

Bonus 

— 

— 

— 

— 

Other Annual 
ComDensationr6) 

$ 

- $ 

- $ 

— 

— 

Restricted 
stock 

Award(s) 
300,000(7) 

72,000(7) 

45,600(7) 

— 

— 

Underlying 
Options/ 

SARs 
300,000 

120,000 

100,000 

600,000 

— 

LTIP 
Payout? 

— 

— 

— 

— 

Anothe r 
Comnensation 

— 

— 

$ 566,667(9) 

$ 499,874(9) 

$ 288,000(8) 500,000 

(1) Mr. Boss was appouited Chief Executive Officer ofthe Company on August I, 2005. 

(2) Mr. Clayton was appouited mterim Chief Financial Officer and Secretary ofthe Company on August 4, 2005 
and became the Chief Fmancial Officer and Secretary ofthe Company effective December 1,2005. 

(3) Mr. Uhy was appointed Senior Vice President, Sales and Operations on Mm*ch I, 2005, 

(4) Mr. Weigand jouied tiie Compmiy on April I, 2004 and served as the Company's President until October 8, 
2005. 

(5) Mr. Boughmm jouied the Company on April 1, 2004 and served as the Company's Senior Vice President 
and Chief Fmancial Officer until October 8,2005. 
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(6) The aggregate amount of perquisites and other benefits paid did not exceed the lesser of $50,000 or 10% of 
the total annual salary and bonus ofthe Named Executive Officer for the periods covered. 

(7) The Restricted Stock Awmds value was calculated using the closmg market price on the date of tiie award. 
Mr. Boss was issued 200,000 shmes of restricted stock valued at $1.50 per shme, Mr. Clayton was issued 
45,000 shmes of restticted stock valued at $1.60 per shme and Mr. Ulry was issued 40,000 of restricted stock 
valued at $1.14 per share. 

(8) Represents the value on the date of grant of 150,000 shares of restricted stock awarded to Mr. Boughrum, 
based upon an estimated valuation of $1.92 per share of common stock as ofthe date the restricted stock was 
awarded. There was no market value for om common stock prior to om public listing on the AMEX in July 
2004. This valuation was made by om Board of Dfreclors for accounting and financial reportmg purposes 
and does not reflect actual transactions. In October 2005, as a resuh ofthe termination of Mr. Boughmm's 
employment, without cause, all 150,000 shmes of restticted stock became fiilly vested. 

(9) Represent severance payments made to Mr. Weigand and Mr. Boi^hmm pmsuant to settlement agreements 
dated November 17,2005. 
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Stock Options 

Stock Option Grants 

The following table shows stock option grants lo the Named Executive Officers during fiscal 2006. 

Option/SAR Grants in Last Fiscal Year 

Potential 
Realizable Value at 
Assumed Annual 

Rates of Stock Price 
Appreciation 

(b) 

Number of 
Securities 

Underlying 
Options/SARs 

Granted 
f#)fl) 

300,000 

120,000 

Individual Grants 
(c) 

Percentage 
of Total 

Options/SARs 
Granted to 
Employees 
in Fiscal 

Year 
(%)(2) 

62.5% 
37.5% 

(d) 

Exercise 
or Base 
Price 

fS/Sh)f3) 

$ 1.80 
$ 1.68 

(e) 

Expiration 
Date 

8/01/2015 

12/01/2015 
$ 
$ 

for Option 
(D 

5%(S) 

156,090 

81,654 

i Term(4) 
(g) 

10%(S) 

$ 426,248 
$ 243,749 

(a) 

Name 

Stevens. Boss 
Lawrence Clayton, Jr. 
Thomas L. Uhy 
Peter T. Weigand 
Richard L. Boughmm. 

(1) Options were granted on August 1,2005 to Mr. Boss pmsuant to an Employment Agreement dated August 1, 
2005 between Mr. Boss and the Company. Mr, Boss's options have an exercise price equal lo $1.80 per share, 
with vestuig as to 100,000 shmes upon hire and as to 100,000 shares on each ofthe ffrst two anniversmies 
thereafter. Options were granted on December 1, 2005 lo Mr. Clayton pmsuant to an Employment Agreement 
dated December I, 2005 between Mr. Clayton and the Company. Mr. Clayton's options have an exercise 
price equal to $1.68 per shme, with vestmg in equal amounts on each ofthe first three anniversmies ofthe 
date ofthe grant Mr. Boss's and Mr. Clayton's options expfre on or prior lo the ten yem anniversary ofthe 
date of grant. 

(2) Based on an aggregate of 420,000 options granted to all employees during fiscal 2006. 
(3) AU options were granted at an exercise price equal to the cash value ofthe Company's common stock on the 

date of grant, determined by dividing (a) the sum ofthe Company's cash, restricted cash and deposits by 
(b) the number of shmes of common slock outstanduig, in each case as reported in the Company's most 
recent Annual Report on Form 10-K or Quarterly Report on Form lO-Q filed wilh the Secmities and 
Exchange Commission, a price higher than the fafr mmket value on the date of grant. 

(4) The Company is required by the SEC lo use 5% and 10% assumed annualized rate of appreciation over the 
ten year option term. This does not represent the Company's estimate or projection of tiie futme common 
stock price. If the common stock does not appreciate, the Named Executive Officers will receive no benefit 
from the options. 
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option Exercises/Fiscal Year End Value, 

The following table shows stock option exercises by the Named Executive Officers dmuig fiscal 2006 and the 
value of unexercised stock options held by the Named Executive Officers during fiscal 2006. 

Aggregated Option/SAR Exercises in Last Fiscal Year 
and FY-End Option/SAR Values 

Name 

Stevens. Boss 
Lawrence Clayton, Jr 
Thomas L. Ufry 
Peter Weigand 
Richmd L. Boughrum 

Shares Acquired 
on Exercise 

(#) 

— 
— 
— 
— 

Value 
Realized 

(S) 

$ — 
— 
— 
— 
— 

Number of Securities 
Underlying Unexercised 

Options/SARs at 
Exercisable Unexercisable 

200.000 — 
120,000 — 
100,000 — 

— 
— 

Value of Unexercised 
In-the-Money 

Options/SARs at Fiscal 
Year-End 

Exercisable Unexercisable 

$ — — 
— — 
— — 

— 
— 

Employment Agreements 

Steven S. Boss. On August I, 2005. Commerce entered mto an employment agreement with Steven S. Boss as 
om Chief Executive Officer. Pmsuant to the employment agreement, the Company also entered uito a slock option 
agreement, a restricted stock agreement and an indemnification agreement with Mr. Boss. 

Under the employment agreement, Mr. Boss will receive base salary of $412,000 per yem, and is eligible for 
consideration for an uicentive bonus in fiscal 2006 calculated between 50% and 150% of base salary based upon 
achievement of objectives established by the Compensation Committee. For fiscal 2007 and each fiscal year 
thereafter, Mr. Boss will participate ui an uicentive bonus program to be established by the Company as part of a 
comprehensive incentive bonus plan. Mr. Boss was granted an option to pmchase 300,000 shmes of om common 
stock at an exercise price equal to $1.80 per share, with vestuig as to 100,000 shm-es upon hfre and as to 
100,000 shmes on each of the first two anniversaries thereafter, Mr. Boss was also granted 200,000 shmes of 
restricted stock, which vest 50,000 shares on the fnst anniversary of hfre and 50,000 shmes upon the achievement of 
performance targets for fiscal years 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively. The employment agreement has no specific 
term and is subject to lermuiation by either the Company or Mr. Boss without cause upon 60 days written notice. 

The employment agreement provides that if Mr. Boss is tenninated without cause or if he resigns for good reason, 
Mr. Boss will be entitled lo severance equal to 12 months of his then-current base salary payable over a 12-month 
period, plus 12 months accelerated vesting of outstanding unvested stock options and restricted stock. In the event of 
a change of conttol of the Company, Mr. Boss may resign for good reason, as defined in the agreement, within 
180 days after the change of conttol. 

Under the employment agreement, Mr. Boss agreed not to solicit the Company's employees, customers, clients or 
suppliers during the term of his employment and for a period of one year after any period ui which severance 
pajTnents me received, and not lo compete with the Company dming the term of his employment and any period m 
which severance payments me received. Finally, in accordance with the employment agreement, we agreed to 
mdemnify Mr. Boss pmsuant to om standmd form of indemnification agreement. 

Lawrence Clayton, Jr. On August I, 2005, the Company entered uito a consulting agreement with Lawrence 
Clayton, Jr., whom the Company appointed as interim Chief Financial Officer and Secretary on August 4,2005. The 
consultmg agreement provided that Mr. Clayton serve as an independent conttactor and provide fmance, accountmg 
and fmancial oversight services to the Company. Under the consulting agreement, Mr. Clayton was paid $200 per 
hom (with a maximum of $1,500 per day and $7,500 per week). 
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On December I, 2005, we entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Clayton as the Company's Chief 
Fuiancial Officer. Under the terms ofthe employment agreement, Mr. Clayton will receive an aimual base salary of 
$275,000 and will be eligible to receive an incentive bonus for the fiscal 2006 if the Company reaches fmancial 
objectives determined by the Bomd. For fiscal 2007 and each fiscal yem thereafter, Mr. Clayton will participate in 
an incentive bonus program to be established by the Company as part of a comprehensive executive incentive bonus 
plan. In addhion, on December 1,2005 (a) pmsuant to the terras ofthe employment agreement and the stock option 
agreement, we granted to Mr. Clayton an option to pmchase 120,000 shmes ofom common slock, which option will 
vest ui equal amounts on each ofthe first three anniversaries ofthe date ofthe grant; and (b) pursuant to the terms of 
the employment agreement and the restticted stock agreement, we issued to Mr. Cla54on 45,000 shares of restricted 
common stock of the Company, subject to a Company repmchase right which will lapse as to one thfrd of the 
restticted shmes on the first anniversary of the date of issuance and as to one thfrd of the restticted shares on each of 
the next two fiscal years based upon the achievement of performance tmgets. The employment agreement has no 
specific term and is subject to lermuiation by efrher the Company or Mr. Clayton without cause upon 60 days 
written notice. 

The employment agreement provides that if Mr. Clayton's employment is termuiated by the Company without 
cause for good reason, as defined in the agreement, Mr. Clayton will be enthled to severance, as long as Mr. Clayton 
does not accept other employment, equal to 12 months base salary, payable m six equal mstallments commencing on 
the first business day after six months fi*om the dale ofthe termmation, or the severance period, plus reimbmsement 
ofthe cost of continuation coverage under COBRA for 12 months and 12 months accelerated vesting of outstanduig 
options and restricted stock. In the event of a change of conttol of the Company, as defined in the employment 
agreement, Mr. Clayton may resign for good reason whhin 180 days after the change of conttol. 

Under the employment agreement, Mr. Clayton agreed not to solicit customers or employees of the Company 
during his employment with the Company and for a period of one year after the end of the Severance Period, The 
employment agreement fiuther provides that Mr, Claĵ on will not accept employment with, or otherwise engage in, 
any business that competes with the Company during his employment or any period dmmg which he is receiving 
severance payments from the Company. Finally, in accordance with the employment agreement, we indemnified 
Mr. Clayton pursuant to the Company's standmd form of indemnification agreement 

Thomas L. Ulry. On Febmaiy 28, 2005, we entered into an at-will employment letter agreement whh Thomas 
Ufry, om Senior Vice President, Sales and Mmketuig. The agreement provided for an annual base salary of 
$190,000, subject to adjustment based upon the resuhs of a mdependent compensation study commissioned by the 
Compensation Committee, an annual discretionary bonus, as determined by the Compensation Committee, a grant of 
options to pmchase 100,000 shares of om common stock at an exercise price of $3.50 per shme, vestuig equally 
over fom yems, a relocation bonus of $100,000 and reunbursement of actual relocation expenses not to exceed 
$40,000. The agreement also provided for other standmd employee benefits mcluding medical, dental and insmance 
benefits and the right to participate m om 401 (k) Plan. Fmally, the agreement provided for a severance benefit of 
one year's annual base salary if we termuiated Mr. Ufry without cause, as defined in the agreement, prior to 
Mmch 2, 2006. On May 31, 2005, we entered uito a second at-wiU employment letter agreement with Mr. Ulry 
which superseded the February 28, 2005 letter agreement. Pmsuant to the May 31, 2005 agreement, Mr. Ufry's 
mmual base salary was increased lo $225,000, the $100,000 relocation bonus was deleted and the severance benefit 
was amended to state that if we termuiated Mr. Ufry without cause, as defined hi the agreement, dmmg the fnst yem 
after May 31, 2005, Mr. Uhy would be entitled to one year's annual base salary, and if we termuiated him without 
cause at any tune thereafter, an amount equal lo his monthly salary for up to six months or until he fmds other 
emplojmient, whichever is ffrst to occm. All other terms set forth in the Febmary 28,2005 at-will employment letter 
agreement remauied the same. On October 19,2006, the Compensation Committee increased Mr. Uhy's annual base 
salary from $225,000 to $250,000, effective Octt)ber 1,2006 and awmded him a $25,000 discretionary bonus. 

Peter T. Weigand. We entered uito an employment agreement wilh Peter Weigand on April I. 2004. The 
agreement provided for an mitial three year term with automatic extensions for successive one year periods, unless 
superseded by a notice of termination. Under his employment agreement, Mr. Weigand was enthled to a base salmy 
of $400,000. Mr. Weigand also was eligible lo participate in our bonus program at the discretion ofthe Bomd on the 
same basis and terms as are applicable lo other senior executives. Pmsuant to his employment agreement, we 
granted to Mr. Weigand an option to pmchase 600,000 shmes of our common stock at an exercise price of $1.92 per 
shme, expfrmg on Mmch 11, 2014 with 150,000 options vested immediately, 150,000 options vestuig on each of 
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March 29, 2005, 2006 and 2007 and unmediate vestmg upon termination of Mr. Weigand's employment without 
cause, for good reason, as defmed in his employment agreement, or foUowing a change of conttol not approved by 
the Bomd, provided that m each case Mr. Weigand was requfred to agree not to engage in certain prohibhed 
competitive activities for six months following the termmation of employment. 

On August 4, 2005, om Bomd of Dfreclors decided to terminate without cause the employment of Mr. Weigand. 
In accordance with the terms of his employment agreement, the termination of Mr. Weigand's employment became 
effective on October 8, 2005. On October 8, 2005, Mr. Weigand entered into an Agreement Not to Engage in 
Prohibhed Activities, under which he agreed not to directly or hidfrectly engage as an owner, employee, consultant 
or agent of any retail commodity mmketing entity or entity that mmkets energy efficient products or back office 
services for a period of six months following his termmation. Pursuant to the terms of his employment agreement, 
entering uito the Agreement Not to Engage in Prohibited Activities enthled Mr. Weigand to receive severance 
payments equal to his base salary, $400,000 annually, for the remaining term of his employment agreement {Le., 
until April 1, 2007). On November 17, 2005, the Company entered into a Settlement Agreement and General 
Release wilh Mr. Weigand. The Settlement Agreement with Mr. Weigand provides for the Company to make a 
settlement payment to Mr. Weigand on April 10, 2006 ui the amount of $566,666.67 m cash, less customary payroll 
deductions required by law. In addition, Mr. Weigand agreed to sell to the Company 994,479 shmes of common 
stock ofthe Company held by hun for a price $1.50 per share, or $1,491,718.50, in the aggregate, payable in several 
mstallments. In connection with the sale of his shmes of common stock, all 600,000 options to pmchase shmes of 
the Company's common stock were cancelled. The Settlement Agreement entitled Mr. Weigand to receive 
12 months of COBRA coverage. 

Richard L. Boughrum. We entered mto an employment agreement with Richmd Boi^hrum on April 1,2004. The 
agreement provided for an mitial three yem term with automatic extensions for successive one-yem periods, imless 
superseded by a notice of termination. Under his employment agreement, Mr. Boughmm was entitled to a base 
salary of $350,000. Mr. Boughrum also was eligible to participate in om bonus program at the discretion of the 
Bomd on the same basis and terms as to other senior executives. Mr. Boughrum had the right lo pmchase up to 
150,000 shmes of om common stock for a pmchase price of $1.92 per share at any time until 10 days after 
consummation of the reorganization. Mr. Boughrum exercised this option on April 2, 2004. We also granted to 
Mr. Boughrum an option to pmchase 500,000 shmes of common stock at an exercised price of $1.92 per shme 
expfruig ui Mmch 2014, with 125,000 vested immediately, 125,000 options vesting on each of Mmch 29, 2005, 
2006 and 2007. We also granted Mr. Boughrum a restricted stock awmd of 150,000 shmes of common stock, which 
were subject to repmchase by the Company at $0,001 per shme upon termination of Mr. Boughmm's employment. 

On August 4,2005, om Board of Directors decided to termuiate without cause the employment of Mr. Boughrum. 
In accordance with the terms of his employment agreement, the termination of Mr. Boughmm's employment 
became effective on October 8,2005. On October 8,2005, Mr. Boughrum entered into an Agreement Not to Engage 
ui Prohibited Activities, under which he agreed not to dfrectly or uidirectly engage as an owner, employee, 
consultant or ^ent of any retail commodity mmketing entity or entity that mmkets energy efficient products or back 
office services for a period of six months following his termination. Pursuant to the terms of his employment 
agreement, entering into the Agreement Not to Engage in Prohibhed Activities enthled Mr. Boughmm to receive 
severance payments equal to his base salary, $350,000 annually, for the remaining term of his employment 
agreement {i.e., untU April I, 2007). In addition, all 150,000 shmes of Mr. Boughmm's restticted stock immediately 
vested. On November 17, 2005, the Company entered mto a Settlement Agreement and General Release with 
Mr. Boughrum. The Settlement Agreement with Mr. Boughrum provided for the Company to make a settlement 
payment lo Mr. Boughrum on April 10, 2006 hi the amount of $495,833 in cash less customary payroU deductions 
requfred by law. In addition, Mr. Boughrum agreed to sell the Company 300,000 shares of common stock of the 
Company held by Mr. Boughmm for a price of $1.00 per shme or $450,000, in the aggregate payable m several 
installments. In connection wilh the sale of his shm*es of common stock, all 500,000 options to pmchase shmes of 
the Company's common stock were cancelled. The Settlement Agreement entitled Mr. Boughmm to recover 
12 months of COBRA coverage. 
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